# New challenges and future perspectives in parkinson's disease and age-related movement disorders

**Edited by** Danling Wang and Jifeng Guo

**Published in** Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience Frontiers in Public Health





#### FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83251-489-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83251-489-4

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

# New challenges and future perspectives in parkinson's disease and age-related movement disorders

#### **Topic editors**

Danling Wang — University of South China, China Jifeng Guo — Central South University, China

#### Citation

Wang, D., Guo, J., eds. (2023). *New challenges and future perspectives in parkinson's disease and age-related movement disorders*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83251-489-4



# Table of contents

#### 04 Transition and Sustainability of an Online Care Model for People With Parkinson's Disease in Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic

Laura Ketigian, Nicholas Piniella, Kaylie McGivney, Samantha Lui, Austin Dukat, Min-Kyung Jung, Rosemary Gallagher and Adena Leder

- 14 Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer Thickness and Associations With Cognitive Impairment in Parkinson's Disease Zihan Chang, Fen Xie, Hualing Li, Feilan Yuan, Lina Zeng, Lin Shi, Shuzhen Zhu, Xiaohe Lu, Xiaobo Wei and Qing Wang
- 25 Monogenetic Forms of Parkinson's Disease Bridging the Gap Between Genetics and Biomarkers Lars Tönges, Eun Hae Kwon and Stephan Klebe

# 37 Complications After Deep Brain Stimulation: A 21-Year Experience in 426 Patients In-Ho Jung, Kyung Won Chang, So Hee Park, Won Seok Chang,

In-Ho Jung, Kyung Won Chang, So Hee Park, Won Seok Chang, Hyun Ho Jung and Jin Woo Chang

#### 48 Application of Neurotoxin-Induced Animal Models in the Study of Parkinson's Disease-Related Depression: Profile and Proposal

Ya-Kui Mou, Li-Na Guan, Xiao-Yan Yao, Jia-Hui Wang, Xiao-Yu Song, Yong-Qiang Ji, Chao Ren and Shi-Zhuang Wei

- 66 Associations of Sleep Disorders With Depressive Symptoms in Early and Prodromal Parkinson's Disease Jiangnan Ma, Kaixin Dou, Ruize Liu, Yajin Liao, Zengqiang Yuan and Anmu Xie
- 79 New Understanding on the Pathophysiology and Treatment of Constipation in Parkinson's Disease Jianli Xu, Lei Wang, Xi Chen and Weidong Le
- 88 Altered Prefrontal Blood Flow Related With Mild Cognitive Impairment in Parkinson's Disease: A Longitudinal Study Jian Wang, Wei Zhang, Ying Zhou, Jia Jia, Yuanfang Li, Kai Liu, Zheng Ye and Lirong Jin
- 98 Association of Plasma and Electroencephalography Markers With Motor Subtypes of Parkinson's Disease Xiaoxia Yang, Zhen Li, Lipeng Bai, Xiao Shen, Fei Wang, Xiaoxuan Han,

Riaoxia Yang, Zhen Li, Lipeng Bai, Xiao Shen, Fei Wang, Xiaoxuan Han, Rui Zhang, Zhuo Li, Jinghui Zhang, Mengmeng Dong, Yanlin Wang, Tingyu Cao, Shujun Zhao, Chunguang Chu, Chen Liu and Xiaodong Zhu

- 111 Mild cognitive impairment in patients with Parkinson's disease: An updated mini-review and future outlook Rwei-Ling Yu and Ruey-Meei Wu
- 122 Prevalence of lower urinary tract symptoms, urinary incontinence and retention in Parkinson's disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Fang-Fei Li, Yu-Sha Cui, Rui Yan, Shuang-Shuang Cao and Tao Feng





# Transition and Sustainability of an Online Care Model for People With Parkinson's Disease in Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic

Laura Ketigian<sup>1</sup>, Nicholas Piniella<sup>1</sup>, Kaylie McGivney<sup>1</sup>, Samantha Lui<sup>2</sup>, Austin Dukat<sup>1</sup>, Min-Kyung Jung<sup>1</sup>, Rosemary Gallagher<sup>2\*</sup> and Adena Leder<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Osteopathic Medicine, New York Institute of Technology College of Osteopathic Medicine, Old Westbury, NY, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Physical Therapy, New York Institute of Technology School of Health Professions, Old Westbury, NY, United States

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Jifeng Guo, Central South University, China

#### Reviewed by:

Prateek Varshney, National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences (NIMHANS), India Jiali Wang, Central South University, China Alicia Flach, University of South Carolina, United States

\*Correspondence:

Rosemary Gallagher rgalla01@nyit.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Aging and Public Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 08 September 2021 Accepted: 28 December 2021 Published: 02 February 2022

#### Citation:

Ketigian L, Piniella N, McGivney K, Lui S, Dukat A, Jung M-K, Gallagher R and Leder A (2022) Transition and Sustainability of an Online Care Model for People With Parkinson's Disease in Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. Front. Public Health 9:772805. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.772805 **Introduction:** CoronaVirus Disease-2019 (COVID-19) led to social distancing and the need for alternative care models. Telehealth programs for people with Parkinson's (PWP) disease may ensure continuity of care. The goal of this observational survey study was to determine the practicability, satisfaction, and barriers to online programs, their relationship to perceived symptoms, mood, and quality of life, and program sustainability beyond the immediate pandemic.

**Methods:** In-person Parkinson's programs at New York Institute of Technology College of Osteopathic Medicine transitioned online at the start of the pandemic to include Rock Steady Boxing, Support Groups, and Rock Steady Buddies. A custom online survey sent to 150 participants investigated PD history, symptomatology, level of exercise before and during the pandemic, depression (PHQ-9), quality of life (PDQ-39), and practicability and perceived satisfaction related to these online programs. Descriptive statistics were reported.

**Results:** Of 69 respondents [mean age of 70.2y (SD 8.4 yrs)], >75% were satisfied with the transition to online programs. Consistent attendance and minimal barriers to programs indicated practicability, with increased adherence to exercise. Of 66 completed PHQ-9s, 22.7% had scores  $\geq$ 9 (moderate to severe depression); of 61 completed PDQ-39s, scores averaged 21.4; better quality of life than national averages for PWP. Self-perceived physical and mental wellbeing were positively affected.

**Conclusions:** Results suggest the transition to online programs met the needs of the Parkinson's community in a practicable and sustainable manner during the pandemic. With COVID-19 still prevalent, the current model of blending synchronous online and inperson classes provides a more flexible, sustainable format compared to in-person alone. Institutions may consider including online components to existing programs to promote continuity of care for aging populations as part of best practices.

Keywords: Parkinson's disease, COVID-19, telehealth, telerehabilitation, Rock Steady Boxing

4

# INTRODUCTION

During the spring of 2020, the onset of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-COV-2; COVID-19) led to social distancing, shelter-in-place orders, and in some cases, quarantine (1). These measures, enacted to slow the rate of infection, resulted in negative consequences on health and well-being, particularly in older, vulnerable populations such as people with Parkinson's (PWP) disease (2, 3).

The Parkinson's community at New York Institute of Technology's College of Osteopathic Medicine (NYITCOM) and Health Care Center consists of patients, clients, caregivers, medical personnel, and student volunteers carefully and purposefully built over the past several years. The goal is to 'fight back against Parkinson's' through instilling bonds of support and friendship amongst people with a common vision (4). In addition to offering medical and rehabilitation services specific for PWP, other in-person programs include support groups (SG) and a Rock Steady Boxing (RSB) program.

With the onset of COVID-19, however, these in-person programs were no longer feasible. Therefore, an alternative model using an online platform for delivery of care was launched as virtual RSB (vRSB), virtual support groups (vSG), and a new online program developed specifically in response to the pandemic, called Rock Steady Buddies (*Buddies*). These online programs aimed to provide continuity of care with an emphasis on health maintenance, management of symptoms, maintaining community bonds, and reducing the effects of social isolation.

#### Parkinson's Disease and COVID-19

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder caused by the loss of dopaminergic neurons in the brain, typically affecting adults aged 60 and older (5). This chronic disease presents with motor symptoms, such as tremor, rigidity, bradykinesia, and postural instability, non-motor symptoms, including anosmia, sleep disturbance, and cognitive deficits, and neuropsychiatric symptoms, notably depression and anxiety, that can adversely affect quality of life (QoL) (6). Older age and comorbid conditions are a leading risk factor of mortality in patients with COVID-19 (7). Although there are no formal reports suggesting PD increases the risk of contracting COVID-19, PWP are generally older and may have multiple comorbidities-including respiratory issues-thus, increasing their risk of serious illness and complications from COVID-19 (3, 7-10). Parkinson's disease is classically managed with an array of pharmacotherapy, and, adjunctively, exercise. In PWP, exercise has shown to improve clinical signs and symptoms and delay underlying disease processes through its neuroprotective and neuroplastic effects (11).

#### **Exercise in Parkinson's Disease**

Exercise is a subcategory of physical activity that is planned, structured, repetitive, purposeful, and intended to improve one or more components of physical fitness (12). Research shows that exercise benefits motor symptoms in PWP and may affect cognition (11). In older adults, exercise has shown to positively affect the acquisition and retention of memory, cognition, and



depression (13–15). Despite evidence that exercise can reduce disability and improve QoL in PWP, many remain sedentary (11, 16). Common perceived barriers to exercise in PWP include low outcome expectation, lack of time, and fear of falling (16). These barriers can be addressed through communication with patients, exercise education, and behavioral change interventions targeting self-efficacy-including goal setting, social support, monitoring feedback and progress, and using a patient centered approach (17, 18). Exercise programs for PWP include a wide range of activities and formats, including walking, tai chi, and boxing (11). While exercise in general is beneficial for PWP, aerobic, goal-directed and group exercises may be most effective (19, 20).

Group exercise has been shown to enhance social support and peer bonding, increase enjoyment and compliance, and improve perceived health, more so than individual exercise (19, 20). The reciprocality, accessibility, and reliability of social support and connectedness are important in maintaining and/or initiating behavioral change, such as an exercise routine (21, 22). During the pandemic however, in-person group exercise classes were curtailed. Fortunately, video technology and tele-exercise programs have shown to be an effective mode of providing exercise in the home for people with movement disorders (23) including PD (23, 24).

#### Mental Health in Parkinson's Disease

While current interventions for PWP mitigate many of the physical symptoms (5, 25), non-physical symptoms, exacerbated by social isolation and stress from the COVID-19 pandemic, are more difficult to manage. Up to 40% of PWP present with anxiety (26) while 50% present with depression (27); combined with elevated stress levels, social distancing, and lack of usual support systems during the pandemic, feelings of helplessness and isolation may result (28).



Social relationships with family, friends, and support groups—specifically, effective communication and acceptance are necessary to maintain QoL in PWP (29, 30). Coping with the progression of PD presents challenges that may be relieved through support groups, thus improving QoL, depression, and anxiety in PWP (31). Although in-person support groups are common practice for managing the neuropsychiatric symptoms of PD (32), during the COVID-19 pandemic, barriers such as social distancing and shelter-in-place orders rendered in-person programs unavailable. Similar to tele-exercise, technological advances promote the use of online support groups as an alternative model to access care (32), and thus better serve populations with motor disability and disease.

#### **Objectives**

The purpose of this study was to investigate the practicability, perceived satisfaction, and barriers to participation of online programs developed in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, namely, vRSB, vSG, and *Buddies*. Sustainability of the programs, as the COVID-19 pandemic continues, was also considered. Online group exercise programs may be used to address the limited access to in-person programs resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic while preserving social interactions and providing emotional support. The authors hypothesized that the virtual programs were practicable, with low barriers to participation, and high perceived satisfaction. The current study also investigated self-reported symptomatology, mood and QoL of program participants, with expectations that this PD population had more manageable symptoms, less depression and better QoL in relationship to program participation.

# METHODOLOGICAL ASPECTS

#### **Study Design and Approval**

This observational survey study was approved by the Institutional Review Board at New York Institute of Technology.

Instructions for the survey included the agreement of informed consent upon completion and submission of the survey.

## **Participants**

Participants in online Parkinson's programs were recruited from in-person programs for PWP and telemedicine/telerehabilitation visits at the institutions' Academic Health Care Center. The survey was intended for males and females of any age or PD stage who participated in pRSB classes prior to the pandemic and/or attended any of the three online programs during the pandemic. Participants who responded to the survey, but only attended pRSB before the pandemic, were used as a comparison to PWP who attended online programs during the pandemic for certain measures. People with PD who did not participate in pRSB within the past 12 months, did not participate in at least one online program, had a movement disorder diagnosis other than PD, or were involved in RSB at another institution were not included in the survey analysis (Figure 1). Participation in in-person and/or online programs were adjunctive to pharmacological treatment as determined by participants' neurologists on an individual basis.

#### **Survey Measurement**

A custom online observational survey was developed to gather quantitative and qualitative information regarding motivation, satisfaction, and barriers to online programs. An initial version of the survey was developed by medical and physical therapy students with knowledge of the pathophysiology of PD and experience working directly with boxers in the pRSB program. A movement disorder specialist (AL) and physical therapist with expertise in PD (RG) also contributed to question development. Questions were in closed ended format consisting of leading, matrix, multiple choice, drop down, Likert scale, dichotomous scale, and bipolar rating scale questions. Answer choices ranged from a 4-point Likert scale (strongly disagree, disagree, agree, strongly agree), to multiple choice and short answers. Questions regarding PD symptoms were adapted from the Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale (UPDRS) parts I and II (33).

Five domains were addressed:

- 1. Demographics and PD history:
- 2. PD symptomatology since COVID-19: self- assessment of PD progression during the pandemic (\*Due to social distancing and shelter-in-place orders, PD severity could not be objectively measured)
- 3. Exercise participation (pre- and post-pandemic)
- 4. Participation in pRSB: to determine participation in pRSB pre-COVID
- 5. Participation in online programs (vRSB, vSG, *Buddies*): to determine participation in online programs during COVID.

Collection of information in the aforementioned domains was used to determine practicability — defined by attendance and barriers to program participation — satisfaction, and barriers defined as obstacles that prevented PWP from participating in the programs.



Due to the high rates of depression in PWP (27) and its negative effect on QoL (6), two validated questionnaires were also used to better understand the mental health and QoL of the participants. The Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9), a screen for depression, consists of 9 DSM-IV criteria (34) scored from 0 (not at all) to 3 (nearly every day). Scores range from 0 (no depression) to 27 (severe depression) (34, 35). The Parkinson's Disease Questionnaire-39 (PDQ-39), is a commonly used health related QoL measure specific to PD. It consists of 39 items covering eight domains: mobility, activities of daily living, emotional well-being, social support, cognition, communication, and bodily discomfort (36). Each item is scored from 0 (best) to 4 (worst). Domain scores range from 0 (high QoL) to 100 (low QoL) (36).

A survey link was emailed 2–3 times a week (14 total) between July 3 and August 8, 2020, using REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture), a secure, web-based application designed to support data collection and management. The survey was anonymous to reduce evaluator bias and ensure protection of participants' private health information. Approximate survey completion time was 20 min. The survey could be filled out by participants or caregivers if the participant did not have appropriate cognitive reserve to complete the survey independently. The data was analyzed in a descriptive manner.

#### **Description of Programs** In-person Programs: Rock Steady Boxing and Support Groups

Rock Steady Boxing is a non-contact, group-based boxing program that addresses motor and nonmotor symptoms in PWP with the goal to improve coordination, mobility, dexterity, memory, and, ultimately, activities of daily living (11, 20, 37). Prior to the pandemic, the in-person RSB program at NYITCOM consisted of one-hour group exercise classes 3 days/week. Two of the classes were for higher functioning participants and one class for lower functioning participants. Class placement was determined by an evaluation with a physical therapist or movement disorder specialist and included the Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale (UPDRS), the MiniBESTest, and the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MOCA). Attendance tracked participation. Classes included a range of balance and agility exercises and boxing drills based on RSB principles (38).

The in-person support groups consisted of weekly meetings led by trained medical personnel, as well as a weekly peer-facilitated group of PWP. The initial 8 week program was sponsored by the American Parkinson's Disease Association's *Parkinson's Roadmap for Education and Support Services* (PRESS).

#### Virtual Programs: Rock Steady Boxing, Support Group, and Rock Steady Buddies

The pRSB and pSG were transitioned online at the start of the pandemic to become virtual RSB (vRSB) and virtual SG (vSG) respectively. An additional Rock Steady Buddies program was created to provide individual social support to the PD community (**Figure 2**). These virtual programs are described below.

#### Virtual Rock Steady Boxing (VRSB)

In-person RSB transitioned to vRSB in March 2020. Zoom video conferencing (San Jose CA, USA) was used for all RSB sessions. The Consensus on Exercising Reporting Template guidelines was





used as a basis to describe this program (39). Online sessions followed the same format as in-person sessions with modification of activities depending on available equipment at home. Sessions open 15 min prior to class to allow participant interaction, thus encouraging social connections. Each class begins with a 20-min full-body warm-up including stretching, posture, and balance exercises. Next, boxing drills (35 min)—utilizing punching combinations and footwork—stress coordination and balance and challenge the cardiovascular system. A five-minute cool down completes the class. When applicable, modifications are demonstrated by the trained RSB coach (38). Equipment requirements include appropriate clothing, boxing gloves, and a safe space to exercise. Potential adverse events include fatigue and falls; however, boxers are encouraged to sit when needed and many are accompanied by "cornermen" (spouses/caregivers) as a precaution. During the class, coaches instruct and monitor boxers to ensure appropriate form and class participation; volunteers are also present to ensure all boxers participate in the exercises and offer gentle reminders as needed. Although the boxers in this program were a highly motivated group, boxers could see the coach and other boxers, which may have further increased motivation. It has been shown that social connectedness while exercising may improve exercise adherence (19).

#### Virtual Support Groups (vSG)

In March 2020, NYITCOM also restructured its pSG to vSG with a goal to maintain social bonds and provide timely and accurate information about the pandemic — a practice that, along with continuity of care, may prevent acute clinical worsening and complications (40). Meetings, held one to two times a week *via* Zoom and led by a movement disorders specialist, covered topics such as staying fit and active, and how to safely navigate the community. Webinars and presentations from neurologists, neurosurgeons, physical therapists, and front-line COVID-19 physicians were offered.

#### Rock Steady Buddies (Buddies)

*Buddies* is a medical student-run program created in April 2020 with the aim of providing social connections and support systems for PWP. A secondary goal was to provide early patient exposure for medical students during the pandemic. Medical student volunteers were recruited and randomly matched with interested PWP, with preference for first year medical students to promote early patient exposure. Each pair of *Buddies* self-scheduled a minimum one hour per week to connect *via* phone or video conferencing. Students were provided with "ice-breakers" and conversation starters to use at their discretion such as, "What's something that made you laugh today", or "What are some of your hobbies"? Oftentimes, PWP would share personal information regarding their PD diagnosis or treatment, however, students were instructed to refrain from answering medical questions or sharing medical or confidential information.

# RESULTS

#### **Respondent Demographics**

The survey was distributed to 150 PWP who participated in in-person and/or online programs from June 2019 to June 2020 (**Figure 1**). Results are expressed as percentages. Sixty nine respondents with an average age of 70.2 years (SD 8.4, range 47– 88) yielded an overall response rate of 46%, which is considered adequate (41). Respondents were majority male (77%), Caucasian (94%) and college educated (74%). Eight percent identified as Hispanic or Latino. Of the 69 respondents, 62 attended pRSB pre-pandemic and 53 participated in at least one online program, 20 attended at least two online programs and seven participated in all three. Overall, 46 respondents attended vRSB, 17 attended vSG, and 24 participated in *Buddies*. Depression and quality of life were also measured. Of 66 respondents who completed the PHQ-9, 22.7% of the scores were  $\geq$ 9, which indicates moderate depression. This is below the norms reported in the literature for PWP (42). Of 61 completed PDQ-39's, scores averaged 21.4, which indicates better quality of life compared to normative data (43).

## Self-Reported Symptomatology

Reported symptoms spanned motor. non-motor and neuropsychiatric categories. The most common symptoms were difficulty walking/gait impairment (43%), pain/aches/tingling/cramps (42%), and anxiety (52%) (Figure 3). Almost half reported faster perceived PD progression (41%) and worsening mood (43%). Feelings of loneliness/isolation were high (53%), despite most reporting having a good support system (87%). While 90% of respondents reported at least one new or worsening symptom since the start of the pandemic, participants attending online programs reported an average of 1.3 less new or worsening symptoms than those who only participated in pRSB pre-pandemic.

#### Practicability

Prior to the pandemic, an estimated 125 PWP regularly attended at least one pRSB per week. Attendance was not tracked for in person support groups for anonymity purposes. By the end of July 2020, an estimated 75 PWP were taking part in at least one virtual program. Virtual RSB averaged 34 participants for the high functioning class and 21 for the lower functioning class; vSG averaged 30 participants, and Buddies estimated 35 participants. This is in comparison to an estimated average of 20 people per pRSB class, where attendance was capped due to space limitations.

Barriers to participation in online programs were few and unique to each program with the most common barrier to vRSB being 'other' (ex: difficulty focusing) (48%), to vSG, 'not the same as in-person' (25%) and to Buddies, 'it would be awkward/I would have nothing to talk about' (27%) (**Figure 4**).

#### Satisfaction

Overall, perceived improvements in symptoms and mood, together with the majority of respondents reporting 'very satisfied' with each program, underscore satisfaction (**Figure 5**). Here results are presented according to program:

#### vRSB

The majority of vRSB respondents felt the program improved their motor symptoms (83%) and mood (74%), with many reporting they would continue with online classes post pandemic (59%). Satisfaction may also be measured by exercise compliance. Regarding weekly attendance, 62 people (89.9%) reported attending pRSB an average of 1.94 classes per week, whereas 45 people (65.2%) reported attending vRSB an average of 2.67 classes per week. Of the 44 people who reported weekly attendance to *both* pRSB and vRSB, the average increase in classes per week from pRSB to vRSB was 0.55; 59% (n=44) attended vRSB an average of 1.3 classes more per week than pRSB (an average of 1.3 classes).

#### vSG

The majority of vSG participants reported that the program improved mood (94%), reduced isolation (88%), and facilitated connections with friends and their community (81%). Information regarding COVID-19 relieved stress and anxiety in 63% of respondents.

#### Buddies

The majority of participants agreed that meeting with their buddy improved mood (83%) and reduced loneliness (68%). Over 75% reported they would continue meeting with their buddy postpandemic. Qualitative feedback from respondents included, but was not limited to, the following:

"100% satisfied. He's a great kid and we learn from each other. Would love to continue."

"The support student I have now is really great. We discuss many topics and enjoy the depth of our conversations. Since my buddy is a first-year med, I hope to be connected with him for a long time."

*"My buddies are wonderful, caring, empathetic young people. They have the right personal skills to be great doctors."* 

# DISCUSSION

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, NYITCOM transitioned to an online platform for exercise (vRSB) and social support (vSG and *Buddies*) to maintain continuity of care for PWP. The results of a custom online observational survey found the online programs to be practicable, with minimal barriers to participation and high rates of satisfaction. Participants also reported perceived benefits relating to depression and QoL. This practicable and comprehensive online plan increases access to care and is currently ongoing in a hybrid format with the programs that have returned to in-person. The long-term plan is to sustain classes in a hybrid manner even after the pandemic has fully subsided.

# **Practicability & Barriers**

A consistent number of participants and low number of barriers were found in the online classes, thus, attesting to their success and practicability. The literature supports these findings. Telemedicine platforms are a valid and practicable method for assessing PWP (3). When comparing a self-monitored home exercise program to a tele-coach assisted program in PWP, Lai et al. found participants in the tele-coach program had higher attendance (99%) compared to the self-monitored group (35%). More time exercising, especially at a higher intensity, was also found for the tele-coach participants (24), indicating the effectiveness of online exercise programs for PWP.

However, barriers to online programs exist. Older and less educated adults access the internet at a lower rate, 64 and 68% respectively, than younger adults (16). As a demographic, PWP are generally older and experience difficulties with technology that can be further impacted by motor and/or cognitive deficits (44). Despite this, internet access for the vRSB class was a barrier for only 9% of respondents, with little to no internet access problems for vSG or *Buddies*. This may be attributed to the participants in this study living in a suburban area with good internet access, high levels of education and having assistance from family members and/or caregivers. Transportation issues, distance, and weather have also been cited as barriers to exercise (16, 18, 45). Removing the need for travel may have contributed to the facilitation of attendance to online programs.

# Satisfaction, Depression and Quality of Life

Benefits of online programs were underscored by high satisfaction, a perceived positive effect on PD symptoms, and exercise compliance. The findings agree with the literature. Online platforms for health have proven effective for remote diagnosis and treatment (46) including for PWP (3). When compared to in-person visits, telehealth has produced similar satisfaction, patient compliance and QoL (47, 48).

While PHQ-9 and PDQ-39 scores were not obtained prior to COVID-19 for which to compare, the number of PWP reporting depression and poor QoL is relatively low when compared to national averages. This may indicate that these programs and the tight-knit community adequately supported the PWP.

#### The Importance of Physical Activity: VRSB

Exercise is associated with slower progression of disease, and improved function, mobility, and improved QoL in PWP (49). However, quarantining during the pandemic may prevent PWP from an active lifestyle, which may already be impeded by preexisting conditions (3). Group exercise, such as vRSB, using an online platform may be an alternative for managing motor and non-motor symptoms of PD, even post-pandemic. Through group exercise, social interactions and emotional support can be preserved in older adults, which is associated with improved selfefficacy, reduced risk of depression and all-cause mortality, and greater intrinsic motivation for moderate to vigorous physical activity (21, 48).

While RSB is a long-standing national program, to the authors' knowledge it has never before been employed online (38). The urgency of social distancing due to the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in lack of guidelines on how to deliver the classes in an online format, therefore, this may be one of the first studies to do so. Other institutions—such as the Michael J. Fox Foundation (50)—have begun to offer RSB instruction in an online format. This current study may provide valuable information to those institutions who seek to add an online RSB component to their programming.

# The Psychological Importance of Social Connections: vSG and Buddies

Human connection is an innate and essential part of life. Diminished contact with others may be associated with lasting negative consequences on physical and mental health (51). High rates of comorbidity in PWP, including depression and anxiety (52), combined with elevated stress, social distancing, and lack of usual support systems during the pandemic created the potential for feelings of helplessness and isolation (28). Quarantining has been associated with negative psychological effects, especially in people with pre-existing poor mental health (28). This may hold true for PWP due to depletion of dopamine. Dopamine in the mesolimbic circuit regulates the processing of emotion and motivation (53). Chronic stress may reduce dopaminergic neurons in the basal ganglia and worsen mental health, especially in PD, where dopamine is already deficient (54). The American Parkinson's Disease Association encourages PWP to manage stress and mental health by establishing and maintaining social connections (4, 55). Virtual support groups and *Buddies* programs addressed these issues.

The aims of vSG were to maintain social connections and to positively influence QoL (25, 31). Other aims included the provision of timely and accurate information about the pandemic (28, 40), thus providing a forum for participants to discuss concerns and fears regarding the pandemic and its potential impact on their health. The findings of the survey show that vSG helped decrease the effects of isolation, foster connections with others and improve mood; these findings reinforce existing literature (28).

NYITCOM's Buddies program was developed to provide companionship to offset the effects of isolation in PWP during the pandemic. The secondary aim was to provide osteopathic medical students with early patient exposure. The program was based on existing in-person Buddy programs that focused on student education and interactions with geriatric neurologic patients (56). These programs found benefits for students and patients alike. Participants reported a decreased sense of loneliness and improved mood through participation in the program. Anecdotally, as pairs became closer with one another, they discussed more personal issues regarding difficulties faced due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Some pairs added online games, such as chess, to their weekly conversations. Specific positive feedback from participants regarding their experience with Buddies may be interpreted as an indicator of success of the program.

#### Sustainability: Online-Programs Today

Once in-person programs resumed in the Spring of 2021, many participants expressed the desire to continue the online programs. With the return of in-person RSB classes, a new "blended" format was developed; an online component has been added to the in-person classes and are held synchronously for participants who find the online format more amenable to their needs. As high as 30% of boxers continue using the online format at this time. Both groups are able to see and interact with each other, thus keeping with the desire to encourage social bonding and support via group exercise. This same blended format is planned for our support groups once in-person meetings resume. Rock Steady Buddies has continued to be successful among students and PWP alike. Each semester PD participants are paired with a new Buddy with whom to build new relationships. The program has plans to continue and expand to include older adults from local nursing homes.

Implications for further research include investigating the sustainability of these programs beyond the pandemic. In addition, now that online programs have been found to be effective as well as convenient, together with advances in technology, the use of telehealth and telerehab platforms are likely to become a mainstay in healthcare. This program may serve as a model for other institutions to adopt not only for their population with PD, but other patient populations as well.

#### Limitations

Limitations and areas for improvement are addressed here. This was an observational study; therefore, no comparisons were made to pre-COVID-19 program conditions. The PHQ-9 and PDQ-39 are validated tools; however, the survey developed for this study, although based on the UPDRS Parts I and II, was not a validated survey, therefore, future studies may consider utilizing a validated tool. Since the survey was anonymous and completed online, objective measurements of PD severity and participant cognition were not included, therefore, reporting of symptomatology relied on respondents' self-reported scores. Potential response-bias - or more specifically, volunteer or self-selection bias - may have also been present; motivated individuals who enjoyed the programs may have responded to the survey at a higher rate than non-motivated individuals who did not enjoy the programs. Also, while a small subset of participants reported internet access as a barrier to participation, those who responded to the electronically distributed survey inevitably had adequate access to the internet while those with technology challenges may not have participated at all, thus potentially affecting the results. Lastly, results of this study cannot be generalized beyond the demographic group of educated, primarily male, Caucasian, PWP living in a suburban setting.

# CONCLUSION

While the COVID-19 pandemic compromised standard interventions for PWP, it also created an opportunity to develop innovative approaches for alternative care models. The institution pivoted in-person programs to an online format tailored specifically to address the physical and mental wellbeing of PWP during a global pandemic. The practicability of vRSB, vSG, and Buddies programs are underscored by consistent attendance, limited number of barriers to participation, exercise compliance, and the high satisfaction, mood and QoL of participants. This suggests that these programs are beneficial for the physical and mental health of this PD community during the COVID-19 pandemic. Other healthcare and academic institutions may consider implementing similar programs to promote continuity of care for PWP and other aging populations during times of crises, and as part of best practices. Future directions include investigating the sustainability of online programs for PWP and for other patient populations beyond COVID-19.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board at New York Institute of Technology (BHS-1569). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors provided substantial contributions to conception and design, acquisition of data, or analysis and interpretation of data, drafted the article or revised it critically for important intellectual content, gave final approval of the version of the article to be

#### REFERENCES

- Lewnard JA, Lo NC. Scientific and ethical basis for social-distancing interventions against COVID-19. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2020) 20:631–3. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30190-0
- Antonini A, Leta V, Teo J, Chaudhuri KR. Outcome of parkinson's disease patients affected by COVID-19. *Mov Disord*. (2020) 35:905-8. doi: 10.1002/mds.28104
- Papa SM, Brundin P, Fung VSC, Kang UJ, Burn DJ, Colosimo C, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on Parkinson's disease and movement disorders. *Mov Disord Off J Mov Disord Soc.* (2020) 35:711–5. doi: 10.1002/mds.28067
- Online Parkinson's disease resources APDA (2021). Available online at: https://www.apdaparkinson.org/article/online-parkinsons-diseaseresources/
- DeMaagd G, Philip A. Parkinson's disease and its management: part 1: disease entity, risk factors, pathophysiology, clinical presentation, and diagnosis. P T Peer-Rev J Formul Manag. (2015) 40:504–32.
- Martínez-Martín P. An introduction to the concept of "quality of life in Parkinson's disease." J Neurol. (1998) 245:S2–6. doi: 10.1007/PL00007733
- Kurtis M, Mir P. UPDATE: treating COVID-19 in PD and other Movement Disorders: A review of drug interactions. (2020). Available online at: https://www.movementdisorders.org/MDS/Education/Workshops-Conferences/MDS-Webinars/Live/DRUG20WEB2.htm
- Csoti I, Jost WH, Reichmann H. Parkinson's disease between internal medicine and neurology. J Neural Transm. (2016) 123:3–17. doi: 10.1007/s00702-015-1443-z
- Fasano A, Antonini A, Katzenschlager R, Krack P, Odin P, Evans AH, et al. Management of advanced therapies in Parkinson's disease patients in times of humanitarian crisis: The COVID-19 experience. *Mov Disord Clin Pract.* (2020) 7:361–72. doi: 10.1002/mdc3.12965
- Parkinson's UK. Parkinson's and Coronavirus. Your Questions Answered. (2020, May). Available online at: Www.Parkinsons.Org.Uk; https:// www.parkinsons.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-05/Parkinson%27s%20and %20Coronavirus%20-%20your%20questions%20answered.pdf
- Ellis T, Rochester L. Mobilizing Parkinson's Disease: The future of exercise. Brundin P, Langston JW, Bloem BR, editors. J Park Dis. (2018) 8:S95– 100. doi: 10.3233/JPD-181489
- What does "physical activity" mean? Available online at: https://www.euro. who.int/en/health-topics/disease-prevention/physical-activity/news/ 2011/02/being-physically-active-helps-prevent-cancer/what-does-physicalactivity-mean
- Creer DJ, Romberg C, Saksida LM, van Praag H, Bussey TJ. Running enhances spatial pattern separation in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* (2010) 107:2367– 72. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0911725107
- Dunn AL, Trivedi MH, Kampert JB, Clark CG, Chambliss HO. Exercise treatment for depression. Am J Prev Med. (2005). 28:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2004.09.003
- 15. Izquierdo I, Bevilaqua LRM, Rossato JI, Bonini JS, Silva WCD, Medina JH, et al. The connection between the hippocampal and

published, and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the staff of the NYITCOM Academic Health Care Center—Sim Basta, Manager, Rehabilitation Services; Charles Siguenza MS BFA, Parkinson's Wellness Coordinator; Dave Patton, Rock Steady Boxing Coach; John Comeau PT DPT, Rock Steady Boxing Coach; and Rita Eng, PT, MS, Rock Steady Boxing Coach—for making this transition possible.

the striatal memory systems of the brain: A review of recent findings. *Neurotox Res.* (2006) 10:113–21. doi: 10.1007/BF030 33240

- Ellis T, Boudreau JK, DeAngelis TR, Brown LE, Cavanaugh JT, Earhart GM, et al. Barriers to exercise in people with parkinson disease. *Phys Ther.* (2013) 93:628–36. doi: 10.2522/ptj.20120279
- Ene H, McRae C, Schenkman M. Attitudes toward exercise following participation in an exercise intervention study. *J Neurol Phys Ther.* (2011) 35:34–40. doi: 10.1097/NPT.0b013e31820cb917
- Quinn L, Macpherson C, Long K, Shah H. Promoting physical activity via telehealth in people with parkinson disease: the path forward after the COVID-19 pandemic? *Phys Ther.* (2020) 100:1730–6. doi: 10.1093/ptj/pzaa128
- Kanamori S, Takamiya T, Inoue S, Kai Y, Kawachi I, Kondo K. Exercising alone versus with others and associations with subjective health status in older Japanese: The JAGES Cohort Study. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:39151. doi: 10.1038/srep39151
- Petzinger GM, Fisher BE, McEwen S, Beeler JA, Walsh JP, Jakowec MW. Exercise-enhanced neuroplasticity targeting motor and cognitive circuitry in Parkinson's disease. *Lancet Neurol.* (2013) 12:716–26. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70123-6
- Lindsay Smith G, Banting L, Eime R, O'Sullivan G, van Uffelen JGZ. The association between social support and physical activity in older adults: a systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. (2017) 14:56. doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0509-8
- Williams DM. Exercise, Affect, and Adherence: An Integrated Model and a Case for Self-Paced Exercise. J Sport Exerc Psychol. (2008). 30:471– 96. doi: 10.1123/jsep.30.5.471
- Chen JJ, Cooper DM, Haddad F, Sladkey A, Nussbaum E, Radom-Aizik S. Tele-exercise as a promising tool to promote exercise in children with cystic fibrosis. *Front Public Health.* (2018). 6:269. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2018. 00269
- Lai B, Bond K, Kim Y, Barstow B, Jovanov E, Bickel CS. Exploring the uptake and implementation of tele-monitored home-exercise programmes in adults with Parkinson's disease: A mixed-methods pilot study. *J Telemed Telecare*. (2020). 26:53–63. doi: 10.1177/1357633X18794315
- Subramanian I. Virtual Parkinson's disease support groups in the COVID–19 era: social connection in the time of social distancing. *Mov Disord Clin Pract.* (2020). 7:739–40. doi: 10.1002/mdc3.12994
- Chen P-H, Cheng S-J. Depression in Parkinson disease: current understanding and treatment. Int J Gerontol. (2008). 2:172– 82. doi: 10.1016/S1873-9598(09)70006-7
- McDonald WM, Richard IH, DeLong MR. Prevalence, etiology, and treatment of depression in Parkinson's disease. Biol Psychiatry. (2003). 54:363– 75. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00530-4
- Brooks SK, Webster RK, Smith LE, Woodland L, Wessely S, Greenberg N, et al. The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. *The Lancet*. (2020). 395:912–20. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30460-8

- Ghorbani Saeedian R, Nagyova I, Krokavcova M, Skorvanek M, Rosenberger J, Gdovinova Z, et al. The role of social support in anxiety and depression among Parkinson's disease patients. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2014). 36:2044– 9. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2014.886727
- Takahashi K, Kamide N, Suzuki M, Fukuda M. Quality of life in people with Parkinson's disease: the relevance of social relationships and communication. *J Phys Ther Sci.* (2016). 28:541–6. doi: 10.1589/jpts.28.541
- Artigas NR, Striebel VLW, Hilbig A, Rieder CR de M. Evaluation of quality of life and psychological aspects of Parkinson's disease patients who participate in a support group. *Dement Neuropsychol.* (2015). 9:295– 300. doi: 10.1590/1980-57642015dn93000013
- 32. Lieberman MA, Winzelberg A, Golant M, Wakahiro M, Diminno M, Aminoff M, et al. Online support groups for Parkinson's patients: a pilot study of effectiveness. Soc Work Health Care. (2006). 42:23– 38. doi: 10.1300/J010v42n02\_02
- Perlmutter JS. Assessment of Parkinson disease manifestations. Curr Protoc Neurosci. (2009). 49:10.1.1-10.1.14. doi: 10.1002/0471142301.ns1001s49
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The PHQ-9: Validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med. (2001). 16:606– 13. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x
- PHQ-9 Depression Test Questionnaire (2020). Available from: https://patient. info/doctor/patient-health-questionnaire-phq-9
- Nojomi M, Mostafavian Z, Shahidi GA, Jenkinson C. Quality of life in patients with Parkinson's disease: Translation and psychometric evaluation of the Iranian version of PDQ-39. J Res Med Sci Off J Isfahan Univ Med Sci. (2010) 15:63–9.
- Combs SA, Diehl MD, Staples WH, Conn L, Davis K, Lewis N, et al. Boxing training for patients with parkinson disease: a case series. *Phys Ther.* (2011). 91:132–42. doi: 10.2522/ptj.20100142
- 38. Rock Steady. (2020). Available from: https://www.rocksteadyboxing.org/
- Slade SC, Dionne CE, Underwood M, Buchbinder R. Consensus on exercise reporting template (CERT): explanation and elaboration statement. *Br J Sports Med.* (2016). 50:1428–37. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-096651
- Schirinzi T, Cerroni R, Di Lazzaro G, Liguori C, Scalise S, Bovenzi R, et al. Self-reported needs of patients with Parkinson's disease during COVID-19 emergency in Italy. *Neurol Sci.* (2020). 41:1373–5. doi: 10.1007/s10072-020-04442-1
- Story DA, Tait AR. Survey research. Anesthesiology. (2019) 130:192– 202. doi: 10.1097/ALN.00000000002436
- 42. Chagas MHN, Tumas V, Rodrigues GR, Machado-de-Sousa JP, Filho AS, Hallak JEC, et al. Validation and internal consistency of Patient Health Questionnaire-9 for major depression in Parkinson's disease. *Age Ageing*. (2013). 42:645–9. doi: 10.1093/ageing/aft065
- Hagell P, Nygren C. The 39 item Parkinson's disease questionnaire (PDQ-39) revisited: implications for evidence based medicine. *J Neurol Neurosurg Amp Psychiatry*. (2007). 78:1191–8. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2006.111161
- Schneider RB, Biglan KM. The promise of telemedicine for chronic neurological disorders: the example of Parkinson's disease. *Lancet Neurol.* (2017). 16:541–51. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30167-9
- Bland KA, Bigaran A, Campbell KL, Trevaskis M, Zopf EM. Exercising in isolation? The role of telehealth in exercise oncology during the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond. *Phys Ther.* (2020). 100:1713–6. doi: 10.1093/ptj/pzaa141
- Chaet D, Clearfield R, Sabin JE, Skimming K. Ethical practice in telehealth and telemedicine. J Gen Intern Med. (2017). 32:1136–40. doi: 10.1007/s11606-017-4082-2

- Sekimoto S, Oyama G, Hatano T, Sasaki F, Nakamura R, Jo T, et al. A randomized crossover pilot study of telemedicine delivered via iPads in Parkinson's disease. Park Dis. (2019) 2019:1–7. doi: 10.1155/2019/9403295
- 48. Kahn E, Ramsey L, Brownson R, Heath G, Howze E, Powell K, et al. The effectiveness of interventions to increase physical activityA systematic review1 and 2. Am J Prev Med. (2002). 22:73–107. doi: 10.1016/S0749-3797(02)00434-8
- Oguh O, Eisenstein A, Kwasny M, Simuni T. Back to the basics: Regular exercise matters in Parkinson's disease: Results from the National Parkinson Foundation QII Registry study. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*. (2014). 20:1221– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2014.09.008
- 50. Kristy Rose Follmar CPT. Rock steady boxing offers new video series to keep people active, safe and connected | Parkinson's disease. (2021). Available online at: https://www.michaeljfox.org/news/rock-steady-boxingoffers-new-video-series-keep-people-active-safe-and-connected
- Sikali K. The dangers of social distancing: How COVID-19 can reshape our social experience. J Community Psychol. (2020). jcop.22430. doi: 10.1002/jcop.22430
- Timmer MHM, van Beek MHCT, Bloem BR, Esselink RAJ. What a neurologist should know about depression in Parkinson's disease. *Pract Neurol.* (2017). 17:359–68. doi: 10.1136/practneurol-2017-001650
- Douma EH, de Kloet ER. Stress-induced plasticity and functioning of ventral tegmental dopamine neurons. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2020). 108:48– 77. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.10.015
- 54. Sugama S, Sekiyama K, Kodama T, Takamatsu Y, Takenouchi T, Hashimoto M, et al. Chronic restraint stress triggers dopaminergic and noradrenergic neurodegeneration: Possible role of chronic stress in the onset of Parkinson's disease. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2016). 51:39–46. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.08.015
- Simpson J, Haines K, Lekwuwa G, Wardle J, Crawford T. Social support and psychological outcome in people with Parkinson's disease: Evidence for a specific pattern of associations. *Br J Clin Psychol.* (2006). 45:585– 90. doi: 10.1348/014466506X96490
- Cumberland DM, Sawning S, Church-Nally M, Shaw MA, Branch E, LaFaver K. Experiential learning: transforming theory into practice through the parkinson's disease buddy program. *Teach Learn Med.* (2019). 31:453– 65. doi: 10.1080/10401334.2019.1580583

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Ketigian, Piniella, McGivney, Lui, Dukat, Jung, Gallagher and Leder. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer Thickness and Associations With Cognitive Impairment in Parkinson's Disease**

Zihan Chang<sup>1†</sup>, Fen Xie<sup>1†</sup>, Hualing Li<sup>1†</sup>, Feilan Yuan<sup>1</sup>, Lina Zeng<sup>2</sup>, Lin Shi<sup>3</sup>, Shuzhen Zhu<sup>1</sup>, Xiaohe Lu<sup>2\*</sup>, Xiaobo Wei<sup>1\*</sup> and Qing Wang<sup>1\*</sup>

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Danling Wang, University of South China, China

#### Reviewed by:

Liu Jun, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China Jun Xu, Capital Medical University, China

#### \*Correspondence:

Xiaohe Lu Iuxh63@163.com Xiaobo Wei xiaobosswei@foxmail.com Qing Wang denniswq@yahoo.com; wqdennis@hotmail.com † These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Parkinson's Disease and Aging-related Movement Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

Received: 10 December 2021 Accepted: 20 January 2022 Published: 10 February 2022

#### Citation:

Chang Z, Xie F, Li H, Yuan F, Zeng L, Shi L, Zhu S, Lu X, Wei X and Wang Q (2022) Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer Thickness and Associations With Cognitive Impairment in Parkinson's Disease. Front. Aging Neurosci. 14:832768. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.832768 <sup>1</sup> Department of Neurology, Zhujiang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, <sup>2</sup> Department of Ophthalmology, Zhujiang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, <sup>3</sup> Department of Imaging and Interventional Radiology, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China

**Objective:** This study intended to investigate whether retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL) thickness could become a potential marker in patients with Parkinson's disease with cognitive impairment (PD-CI).

**Methods:** Fifty-seven PD patients and 45 age-matched healthy controls (HCs) were recruited in our cross-sectional study and completed optical coherence tomography (OCT) evaluations. PD with normal cognition (PD-NC) and cognitive impairment (PD-CI) patients were divided following the 2015 Movement Disorder Society criteria. RNFL thickness was quantified in subfields of the 3.0-mm circle surrounding the optic disk; while a battery of neuropsychiatric assessments was conducted to estimate the Parkinsonism severity. General linear models and one-way ANOVA were adopted to assess RNFL thickness between subgroups with different cognitive statuses; logistic regression analyses were applied to determine the relation between RNFL and PD-CI cases.

**Results:** Compared with HCs, more thinning of the RNFL was observed in the inferior and temporal sectors in PD patients, especially in the PD-CI group. Inferior RNFL thickness was reduced in PD-CI compared with PD-NC patients. Logistic regression analysis found that inferior RNFL thickness was independently associated with PD-CI cases (odds ratio = 0.923, p = 0.014). Receiver operating characteristic analysis showed that the RNFL-involved combined model provided a high accuracy in screening cognitive deficiency in PD cases (area under the curve = 0.85, p < 0.001).

**Conclusion:** Reduced RNFL thickness especially in the inferior sector is independently associated with PD-CI patients. Our study present new perspectives into verifying possible indicators for neuropathological processes or disease severity in Parkinsonians with cognitive dysfunction.

Keywords: Parkinson's disease, cognitive impairment, retinal nerve fiber layer, indicator, optical coherence tomography

# INTRODUCTION

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a highly prevalent neurodegenerative disorder worldwide with characteristic motor dysfunctions including bradykinesia, stiffness and resting tremor (Tolosa et al., 2021). Ours and other studies have indicated that some indicators such as neuroinflammatory, neuroimaging mediators and serum neurofilament light chain are usually applied as markers in diagnosing and evaluating the progression and severity of PD and PD Syndromes (Wang et al., 2020, 2021; Yang et al., 2020; Zhu et al., 2020, 2021a; Bestwick et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2021; Quadalti et al., 2021). Identifying potential biomarkers for early diagnosis and assessment is one of the research hotspots in the field of PD (Avenali et al., 2020; Papuć and Rejdak, 2020; Ma et al., 2021). Interestingly, recent increasing evidence indicates that dopamine (DA), as a neurotransmitter, plays a critical role in the retina for visual processing (Archibald et al., 2009; Tsokolas et al., 2020), and previous studies found phosphorylated or misfolded alphasynuclein accumulation in retinal cells and progressive retinal degeneration in PD patients. These findings imply that structural or functional deficiency of the retina may reflect pathological deterioration in the brain, and visual dysfunctions, especially retinal impairment, in PD might be associated with disease severity and reflected in neuropathogenesis. Whether retinal changes in PD could be used as a potential marker to evaluate severity remains unknown.

Previous studies have demonstrated that multiple diseasespecifically structural changes have been verified in the retinas of patients with neurological diseases, for instance, Huntington's disease, Alzheimer's disease (AD) and PD. Optical coherence tomography (OCT), a well-developed imaging tool, offers unique high-definition transverse scanning and stereoscopic volume measures of the retina. Several lines of evidence have shown that retinal thickness assessment could provide multiple parameters in distinguishing healthy subjects from those with neurodegenerative diseases (Tsokolas et al., 2020). Previous studies also revealed that the retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL), macula and fovea thickness in PD cases were markedly reduced compared with that of healthy participants (Chrysou et al., 2019; Tsokolas et al., 2020; Zhou et al., 2021). Other studies also described the connection between the RNFL loss and the disease progression (Garcia-Martin et al., 2014; Jimenez et al., 2014), further indicating the potential application of RNFL thickness as a marker in the clinical evaluation of PD.

However, to our knowledge, very few studies have evaluated OCT-based retinal changes in PD patients with cognitive impairment (CI), which is one of the non-motor symptoms in PD at the mid-late stage (Aarsland et al., 2017; Orgeta et al., 2020; Yuan et al., 2020). Exploring potential markers for CI in PD is critical to better comprehend its pathogenesis and monitor disease progression (Schrag et al., 2017; Reyes-Perez and Bandres-Ciga, 2021). Considering that the potential relation between RNFL degeneration and cognitive deterioration in PD remains undiscovered, it would be valuable and fascinating to investigate whether RNFL thickness could become a potential indicator for CI in PD.

In our study, we (1) conducted a well-ordered data collection from PD patients and healthy controls; (2) characterized their OCT examination and undertook cognitive performance; and (3) evaluated the associations between RNFL parameters and Parkinsonian severity. Last, we hypothesized that peripapillary RNFL thinning in a specific sector could be used as a potential indicator for decreased cognition in PD, and the RNFL-involved model might be effective in distinguishing PD cases with normal cognition from participants with poor cognition.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Study Design and Participants**

From July 2020 to May 2021, 57 PD patients and 45 age- and sex-matched healthy controls were prospectively recruited in our cross-sectional observational study from Zhujiang Hospital, Southern Medical University in Guangzhou, P. R. China. The PD patients diagnosed by experienced neurologists specialized in neurodegenerative disorders, met the 2015 Movement Disorder Society criteria (Postuma et al., 2015), and underwent extensive clinical examination. Healthy controls (HCs) lacking a history of neurological or ophthalmological disease were enrolled from the Medical Examination Center of our hospital. The exclusion criteria were listed as below: (1) presence of incapacity owing to neuropsychiatric comorbidities such as severe cerebral ischemia, psychosis, Alzheimer's disease (AD), multiple sclerosis or epilepsy; (2) presence of a history of eve trauma, ocular surgery, glaucoma, retinopathy, fundus disease, severe ocular media opacity that hampers the acquisition of high-quality OCT images, and other comorbid ophthalmic pathologies that might influence retinal thickness; (3) medical drugs or severe somatic diseases that may interfere with the neuropsychiatric assessment (e.g., malignancy, severe heart failure, end-stage renal disease, severe anemia); and (4) inability to cooperate with researchers and complete the whole study.

Parkinson's disease patients were categorized into two groups, comprising the PD with normal cognition (PD-NC) and PD with cognitive impairment (PD-CI), on the basis of MDS Task Force criteria for mild cognitive impairment (PD-MCI) and Parkinson's disease dementia (PDD) and previously published studies (Goldman et al., 2017). In brief, the patients who met clinically established PD diagnosis, presented cognitive decline reported by either the patient, informant or clinician, and impairment on a scale of global cognitive abilities (i.e., the Montreal Cognitive Assessment [MoCA]) without impaired functional independence in daily life were classified as PD-MCI (Litvan et al., 2012); the patients who presented a dementia syndrome developing based on the established PD diagnosis, more than one cognitive domain impairment, functional deficits in daily life, typical cognitive features and behavioral symptoms were classified as PDD (Emre et al., 2007). PD patients who either fulfilled the MDS PD-MCI or PDD criteria were classified together as PD-CI in the current study; PD cases without meeting the MDS PD-MCI criteria and dementia were designated PD-NC.

# Standard Protocol Approvals and Patient Consents

The Ethics Committee of Zhujiang Hospital, Southern Medical University authorized this study (NO: 2020-KY-004-02) and it was performed following the 1999 National Institutes of Health Human Subjects Policies and Guidance and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Every participant was required to provide a written consent for this study to allow investigators to measure their clinical status.

## **Clinical Evaluation**

All PD patients underwent comprehensive neurological evaluation. The Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale (UPDRS) and the modified Hoehn & Yahr scale (H&Y) were applied to determine the Parkinsonism severity and progression (Hoehn and Yahr, 1967; Movement Disorder Society Task Force on Rating Scales for Parkinson's Disease, 2003). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) and Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) were applied to estimate the cognitive function of PD patients (Hoops et al., 2009; Dalrymple-Alford et al., 2010). All the above scales were administered in a blinded manner. Information on sex, age, education, levodopa equivalent daily dosage (LEDD), and disease duration was recorded. Specifically, PD cases were categorized into various subtypes in terms of their parkinsonian symptoms: tremor-dominant (TD) subtype, akinetic rigid/postural instability gait difficulty (AR/PIGD) subtype and mixed subtype according to previously published studies (Marras et al., 2020; Tang et al., 2021; von Coelln et al., 2021).

#### **Optical Coherence Tomography**

We used Spectralis OCT machines in the ophthalmology department of Zhujiang Hospital, Southern Medical University, to obtain the parameters of the peripapillary RNFL. An experienced technician was responsible for performing all the OCT scans and choosing the images of best quality. The diagrammatic map of the OCT examination of participants in the current study is present in Figure 1. The peripapillary region surrounding the optic disk was segmented into four parts, being, superior (S), inferior (I), temporal (T) and nasal (N) sectors. The global (G) RNFL thickness in Figure 1C represents the average thickness of these four sectors. The superior and inferior sectors were further divided into temporal-superior (TS), nasal-superior (NS), temporal-inferior (TI) and nasal-inferior (NI) subregions (Figure 1C). In our study, the RNFL thickness of both eyes in every participant was recorded; then the average of specific RNFL thickness from both eyes of one participant was used in the following analyses.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Participants with missing necessary data were removed from our study before the final analyses. We conducted a chi-square  $(\chi^2)$  test to evaluate differences in gender distribution and one-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA) to determine age differences across the three groups (HCs, PD-NC, and PD-CI). Student's *t* test or Wilcoxon rank-sum/Mann–Whitney *U* test was adopted to compare the differences or distributions of parameters between the PD-NC and PD-CI groups based on whether they met a normal distribution or were ranked data.

For OCT measurements, we performed one-way ANOVA and post hoc Bonferroni-corrected analysis to verify differences in RNFL thickness of different sectors among the three groups listed above. A general linear model was used for further identifying adjusted RNFL thickness between PD-NC and PD-CI patients. Logistic regression analyses were conducted to assess the relation between specific RNFL thickness and impaired cognition in PD. E-values were generated from sensitivity analysis to evaluate the confounding by potential uncontrolled or unmeasured confounders (VanderWeele and Ding, 2017). Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis for RNFL and RNFL-related model was performed to further assess the efficacy of RNFL thickness in identifying cognitive deficiency in PD patients. Binary logistic regression analysis and step forward selection of independent variables were applied to produce the combined models, where the dependent variable was group (PD-CI/PD-NC) and the independent variables were potential influencing factors. The Hosmer-Lemeshow test was conducted to assess the model fitness. P less than 0.05 was accepted as statistically significant. Statistical Product and Service Solutions 23.0 was applied in all these statistical analyses.

# RESULTS

# Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

The demographic and clinical data are reported in **Table 1**. Compared with the PD-NC group, the PD-CI patients showed less educated years and more scores of UPDRS-III, MMSE and MoCA (**Table 1**).

#### Comparison of OCT Measurements Among PD-NC and PD-CI Patients and HCs

One-way ANOVA showed that the thickness of the global RNFL, inferior RNFL and temporal RNFL was markedly reduced in PD-CI cases compared with HCs (**Figures 2B,C** and **Table 2**). Only the inferior RNFL showed significant thinning in the PD-CI group compared with the PD-NC group (126.87  $\pm$  12.53 *vs.* 139.33  $\pm$  11.75, *p* = 0.001, **Figure 2B** and **Table 2**), indicating a potential specific association between inferior RNFL thickness and Parkinsonian cognitive impairment. Similar findings were identified in the temporal-inferior subregion but not in the nasal-inferior subregion (**Figures 2E,F** and **Table 2**).

To further investigate the RNFL thickness in PD patients with different cognitive statuses, we performed general linear model analysis. The thickness of the inferior RNFL and its subregion temporal-inferior RNFL was substantially thinner in PD-CI patients than that of PD-NC group (e.g., inferior RNFL:



RNFL. (C) Segmentation of RNFL. (D) RNFL thickness map.

TABLE 1 Demographic and clinical characteristics of the study subjects.

Variables <sup>†</sup>	Controls (n = 45)		р <sup>‡</sup>		
		All ( <i>n</i> = 57)	PD-NC ( <i>n</i> = 23)	PD-CI ( <i>n</i> = 34)	
Demographic					
Age, years	$61.42 \pm 9.75$	$63.67 \pm 9.27$	$60.52\pm8.68$	$65.79 \pm 9.18$	0.059
Male sex, No. (%)	21 (46.7%)	34 (59.6%)	12 (52.2%)	22 (64.7%)	0.276
Education, years	/	9 (6)	9 (3)	6 (4)	0.009**
Clinical					
H&Y staging	/	2.50 (0.5)	2.00 (0.5)	2.50 (1.0)	0.325
Disease duration, months	/	36 (54)	36 (36)	48 (75)	0.189
LEDD, mg	/	511.50 (242.75)	436.50 (461.50)	515.25 (177.00)	0.083
PD-subtype, No. (%)					0.857
AR/PIGD subtype		34 (59.6%)	14 (60.9%)	20 (58.8%)	/
TD subtype		7 (12.3%)	2 (8.7%)	5 (14.7%)	/
Mixed subtype		16 (28.1%)	7 (30.4%)	9 (26.5%)	/
UPDRS-total	/	46.0 (26.0)	37.0 (26.0)	49.5 (29.0)	0.016*
UPDRS-I	/	4.0 (3.0)	3.0 (3.0)	4.0 (3.0)	0.137
UPDRS-II	/	15.0 (9.0)	13.0 (8.0)	16.0 (9.0)	0.022*
UPDRS-III	/	25.0 (16.0)	22.0 (17.0)	26.5 (19.0)	0.037*
UPDRS-IV	/	3.0 (4.0)	3.0 (4.0)	3.50 (5.0)	0.094
MMSE	/	25.0 (4.0)	28.0 (2.0)	24.5 (3.0)	< 0.001***
MoCA	/	22.5 (8.0)	24.5 (2.0)	19.5 (7.0)	< 0.001***

<sup> $\ddagger$ </sup>The continuous variables are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation or median with interquartile range according to normality test; the categorical variables are presented with percentages. <sup> $\ddagger$ </sup>From Chi-square ( $\chi^2$ ) test for gender and one-way ANOVA for age differences across three groups (healthy controls, PD-NC and PD-CI); Wilcoxon rank-sum/Mann-Whitney U test for education, H&Y staging, disease duration, LEDD, UPDRS, MMSE and MoCA differences between PD-NC and PD-CI group; Chi-square ( $\chi^2$ ) test for PD-subtype difference between PD-NC and PD-CI group. PD, Parkinson's disease; PD-NC, PD with normal cognition; PD-CI, PD with cognitive impairment; LEDD, levodopa equivalent daily dosage; AR/PIGD, akinetic-rigid/postural instability gait difficulty; TD, tremor-dominant; UPDRS: Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale; H&Y, modified Hoehn and Yahr staging scale; MMSE, mini-mental state examination; MoCA, Montreal Cognitive Assessment.

TABLE 2 | Comparisons of retinal nerve fiber layer among different groups based on one-way ANOVA.

RNFL (μ m)	Controls	PD-NC	PD-CI	Р	p	р
	Group A	Group B	Group C	A vs. B	A vs. C	B vs. C
Global	$107.02 \pm 6.55$	$104.48 \pm 9.07$	$98.50 \pm 9.95$	0.719	< 0.001***	0.029*
Superior	$134.82 \pm 10.83$	$128.37 \pm 16.81$	$129.57 \pm 15.42$	0.221	0.301	1.000
Inferior	$138.98 \pm 13.31$	$139.33 \pm 11.75$	$126.87 \pm 12.53$	1.000	< 0.001***	0.001**
temporal	$82.31 \pm 12.65$	$76.83 \pm 12.01$	$70.78 \pm 16.09$	0.369	0.001**	0.321
Nasal	$73.29 \pm 12.14$	$73.63 \pm 13.53$	$67.79 \pm 14.62$	1.000	0.217	0.323
sub-region:						
temporal-superior	$149.04 \pm 17.13$	$142.07 \pm 16.15$	$140.62 \pm 20.64$	0.412	0.132	1.000
nasal-superior	$121.33 \pm 16.33$	$114.52 \pm 20.09$	$117.85 \pm 19.49$	0.449	1.000	1.000
temporal-inferior	$158.22 \pm 17.68$	$160.46 \pm 14.94$	$140.79 \pm 18.97$	1.000	< 0.001***	< 0.001***
nasal-inferior	$120.14 \pm 16.22$	$117.98 \pm 20.69$	$113.01 \pm 19.58$	1.000	0.276	0.963

\* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001. RNFL: retinal nerve fiber layer; PD: Parkinson's disease; PD-NC: PD with normal cognition; PD-CI: PD with cognitive impairment.

**TABLE 3** | General linear model analysis in the RNFL levels in PD patients with different cognitive status.

RNFL	Global RNFL (μ m)		p †	Inferior	p †	
	PD-NC	PD-CI		PD-NC	PD-CI	
(A)						
Unadjusted	$104.48 \pm 9.07$	$98.50 \pm 9.95^{*}$	0.025	$139.33 \pm 11.75$	126.87 ± 12.53***	<0.001
Adjusted	$103.16\pm9.63$	$99.39 \pm 9.48$	0.166	$138.03 \pm 12.41$	$127.75 \pm 12.22^{**}$	0.005
RNFL	RNFL Temporal-inferior RNFL (µ m)		p†	Nasal-inferi	or RNFL (μ m)	p †
	PD-NC	PD-CI		PD-NC	PD-CI	
(B)						
Unadjusted	$160.46 \pm 14.94$	140.79 ± 18.97***	< 0.001	$117.98 \pm 20.69$	$113.01 \pm 19.58$	0.363
Adjusted	$159.64 \pm 18.20$	141.34 ± 17.92**	0.001	$116.20 \pm 21.29$	$114.22 \pm 20.96$	0.740

<sup>†</sup>p values were produced from analysis of covariance, after adjusting for pairwise comparisons. The covariates comprised age, sex, H&Y staging, LEDD, disease duration and PD-subtype. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, vs. PD-NC Group.

Abbreviations: RNFL: retinal nerve fiber layer; PD: Parkinson's disease; PD-NC: PD with normal cognition; PD-Cl: PD with cognitive impairment.

TABLE 4 | Logistic regression analysis for the relation between RNFL and the impaired cognition in PD patients.

Global RNFL	Cognitive Impairment (CI)		p†	Inferior RNFL	Cognitive Impairment (CI)		<b>p</b> †
	OR	95% confidence intervals			OR	95% confidence intervals	
(A)							
Unadjusted	0.935*	0.897 – 0.994	0.032	Unadjusted	0.922**	0.877 – 0.970	0.002
Adjusted	0.962	0.893 – 1.037	0.314	Adjusted	0.923* <b>‡</b>	0.865 – 0.984	0.014
Temporal-inferior RNFL	Cognitive Impairment (CI)		p †	Nasal-inferior RNFL	Cognitive Impairment (CI)		p†
	OR	95% confidence intervals			OR	95% confidence intervals	
(B)							
Unadjusted	0.932**	0.894 – 0.973	0.001	Unadjusted	0.987	0.961 – 1.015	0.358
Adjusted	0.923**\$	0.870 – 0.978	0.007	Adjusted	0.991	0.959 - 1.023	0.558

<sup>†</sup>the covariates included age, sex, disease duration, H&Y staging, LEDD, PD-subtype, education level, and UPDRS score. <sup>‡</sup>the E-value generated from sensitivity analysis for OR and upper limit of confidence interval is 1.25 and 1.14, respectively. **§**the E-value for OR and upper limit of confidence interval is 1.25 and 1.17, respectively. <sup>\*</sup>p < 0.05, <sup>\*\*</sup>p < 0.01. RNFL, retinal nerve fiber layer; PD, Parkinson's disease; CI, cognitive impairment; OR, odds ratio.



(nasal-inferior, **F**) sectors. \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001.

127.75  $\pm$  12.22 vs. 138.03  $\pm$  12.41, p = 0.005, **Table 3**) after adjusting for other confounders.

## Logistic Regression and Correlation Analyses Between RNFL Thickness and Cognitive Impairment

Logistic regression analyses were implemented to further estimate the relation between RNFL thinning and cognitive

deficiency in participants with PD. By means of adjusting for possible confounders including sex, age, disease duration, H&Y staging, LEDD, PD subtype, education level, and UPDRS score, inferior RNFL was independently associated with decreased cognition in PD (odds ratio [OR] = 0.923 for every one-micrometer increase, 95% confidence interval 0.865–0.984, p = 0.014; **Table 4A**). Similar findings were confirmed in the logistic regression analysis of temporal-inferior RNFL thickness (**Table 4B**). In contrast, no such associations were identified

between superior, temporal and nasal RNFL thickness and cognitive impairment (**Supplementary Table 1**). Correlation analysis confirmed a positive correlation between inferior RNFL thickness and MMSE/MoCA scores (**Supplementary Table 2**).

#### Discriminative Efficacy of the RNFL-Involved Model in the Identification of Parkinsonian Cognitive Impairment

ROC analysis was applied to investigate whether RNFL thickness could offer reliable differentiation between PD cases with good cognition and the others with impaired cognition. We found that among the several sectors, only inferior and temporally inferior RNFL thickness exhibited a moderate accuracy in distinguishing PD-CI from PD-NC patients (*e.g.*, AUC of temporal-inferior RNFL thickness: 0.78, p < 0.001, **Figure 3A**; cutoff thickness: 138.8 µm, sensitivity: 52.94%, specificity: 100%).

Then, after stepwise forward selection of demographic, clinical and OCT variables, temporal-inferior RNFL thickness, education level and UPDRS-III were screened out in logistic regression analysis to compose the discriminative model (**Supplementary Table 3**). This combined model revealed higher accuracy for discrimination than RNFL thickness alone (AUC = 0.85, p < 0.001, **Figure 3B**; cutoff value: 0.56 in the algorithm of the model, sensitivity: 88.24%, specificity: 69.57%).

## DISCUSSION

The present study showed an independent association between peripapillary RNFL thinning and CI in PD. Our findings presented several original observations. First, the RNFL thickness of specific inferior region was declined in PD-CI patients compared with PD-NC subjects by adjusting for confounders, including sex, age, H&Y staging, disease duration, LEDD and PD subtypes. Second, we identified that inferior RNFL thickness was closely associated with CI in PD with logistic regression analysis, independent of various other factors. Third, our study indicated that the RNFL-involved model might be useful to discriminate PD patients with normal cognition from those with impaired cognition. This study suggests that the inferior RNFL thickness may become a possible marker for parkinsonian cognitive impairment.

Recently increasing evidences show that neuroimaging or neuroinflammatory markers are closely related with the pathological neurodegeneration in PD (Lian et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020; Anandhan et al., 2021; Li et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2021; Que et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2021; Zhu et al., 2021b). These humoral inflammatory or imaging biomarkers may provide valuable information for early identification, differential diagnosis, assessment of severity and even prognosis prediction for PD patients (Avenali et al., 2020; Beheshti et al., 2020). As a window to the brain, the retina may consistently suffer inflammation and degeneration, and provide potential neuroimaging, or, neuroinflammatory markers (Ramirez et al., 2017; Fernández et al., 2021). The uncovering of the disease-specific biomarker  $\alpha$ -synuclein accompanied by the retinal progressive degeneration further emphasizes the potential role of the retina in the pathological process or pathogenesis of PD (Adam et al., 2013; Bodis-Wollner, 2013; Bodis-Wollner et al., 2014; Ortuno-Lizaran et al., 2018). One OCT study found thinner RNFL thickness of the inferior quadrant of PD cases than that of healthy subjects, with the inferotemporal area being the thinnest region (Inzelberg et al., 2004). Ahn and his colleague observed RNFL thinning in the inferior and temporal 2.22-mm sectors in drug-naive patients with PD (Ahn et al., 2018). Some meta-analyses further summarized a remarkable loss of the peripapillary RNFL in PD patients, with one article describing an exception for the nasal sector (Chrysou et al., 2019; Zhou et al., 2021). Consistent with previous studies, we found evident peripapillary RNFL thinning particularly in the inferior and temporal sectors in PD cases (Table 2 and Figures 2B,C).

Strikingly, RNFL thinning in the current study was more significant in PD-CI cases than in PD-NC cases (Table 2 and Figure 2), implying that patients with PD-CI may suffer more severe retinal degeneration. General linear model analysis further verified this hypothesis and showed a remarkable decline in the RNFL thickness of the inferior sector and its temporalinferior subregion in PD-CI subjects compared with the PD-NC subjects (Table 3). Few studies, as we know, have explored OCT parameters especially in individuals suffering from Parkinsonian disease with cognitive impairment. Yıldız et al. described significant parallel association between MMSE-recall score and RNFL-right in PD in a cross-sectional study (Yıldız et al., 2019). Other compelling evidence about OCT investigations on cognitive dysfunction emerged mostly from studies in mild cognitive impairment or AD, demonstrating a reduction of the RNFL thickness surrounding the optic papilla, particularly in the superior and inferior quadrants (Doustar et al., 2017; Kashani et al., 2021). This current study observed a different changing pattern showing a thickness loss in specific inferior RNFL in PD-CI cases (Tables 2, 3 and Figure 2B), implying that the inferior RNFL, to some extent, is more likely to be injured than the other three peripapillary sectors in PD cases with CI. Consequently, the pathological mechanisms underlying the specificity of inferior RNFL thinning in PD patients with CI have become an interesting question.

Evidences from previous studies have indicated that the aggregation of phosphorylated  $\alpha$ -synuclein and its subsequent DA loss within the retina may be the primary cause of visual dysfunctions including reduced visual acuity, hallucinations and abnormal spatial contrast sensitivity in individuals with PD (Jackson and Owsley, 2003; Hamedani and Willis, 2020; Mohana Devi et al., 2020). These retinal alterations suggest simultaneous changes in the brain (Kashani et al., 2021). Another study proposed that neurodegenerative pathology in the central nervous system (CNS) may cause retrograde degeneration toward the axon and related soma of retinal ganglion cells (Peng et al., 2020). These studies strongly implied that the specific thinning of the peripapillary RNFL may be triggered by local disease-specific protein inclusions. Similar studies showed that AB plaques with concurrent neuronal degeneration were substantial in the superior and inferior retinal quadrants in



cases with AD (Koronyo et al., 2017). Since there is a partial overlap of the pathological abnormalities among varieties of neurodegenerative disorders such as AD and PD (Aarsland et al., 2017; Kotagal et al., 2018; Ghadery et al., 2020), the vulnerability of inferior or temporal peripapillary RNFL in PD-CI (shown in **Tables 2,3**) may suggest more misfolded protein aggregation in these retinal segments, which should be addressed in future studies (Doustar et al., 2017).

Logistic regression analyses were implemented to further investigate the relation between RNFL thickness and cognitive impairment. It showed that inferior and temporal-inferior thickness was associated with decreased cognition in PD, independently of various risk factors for parkinsonian cognitive deterioration including age, sex, H&Y staging, levodopa usage, disease duration, akinetic-rigid/postural instability gait difficulty (AR/PIGD) phenotype, education level and UPDRS score (Table 4; Vasconcellos and Pereira, 2015; Aarsland et al., 2017; Baiano et al., 2020). Meanwhile, inferior RNFL thickness was positively correlated with MoCA and MMSE scores (Supplementary Table 2). Previous studies have implied that the retinal thinning correlated with disease duration or parkinsonian severity as measured by UPDRS or H&Y staging (Garcia-Martin et al., 2014; Jimenez et al., 2014). However, few studies declared the relationship between retinal thinning and parkinsonian cognitive deficiency. Thus, we provided an interesting finding to indicate inferior RNFL thickness as an independent marker in PD-CI patients.

Finally, the discriminative efficacy of retinal thinning for parkinsonian cognitive impairment was investigated. The RNFL thickness of the inferior sector, especially the temporal-inferior subregion, exhibited a moderate accuracy in differentiating PD-CI from PD-NC patients (**Figure 3A**); the RNFL-involved model revealed a higher accuracy in distinguishing PD-CI from PD-NC patients in comparison to temporal-inferior RNFL thickness alone (**Figure 3B**) when three variables (i.e., temporal-inferior RNFL thickness, education level and UPDRS-III) were screened out in this model. This implies that even though various demographic and clinical variables have been documented as hazard factors for cognitive deficiency in PD, inferior RNFL thickness could still become a possible indicator for cognitive impairment in PD (Vasconcellos and Pereira, 2015; Guo et al., 2019; Baiano et al., 2020).

The first limitation in our investigation arises from the relatively small sample size, though the statistical power is sufficient. Besides, due to this relatively small sample, we did not specifically divide PD-CI patients into PD-MCI and PDD groups. Thus, the disease-specific changing pattern of RNFL thinning in parkinsonian cognitive deterioration deserves further investigation. Given the trend of inferior RNFL thickness with increasing cognitive impairment in PD at a cross sectional level, longitudinal follow-up is needed to determine inferior RNFL thickness changes over time and to offer insight into predictors of cognitive deterioration in PD. A previous study found the inner retinal layers suffered more obvious thinning in PD patients with long disease duration (Garcia-Martin et al., 2014). Another study reported a regression equation that could predict the UPDRS score with using RNFL thickness as an independent variable (Jimenez et al., 2014). From the perspective of cognition, whether RNFL be used to predict cognitive impairment when a PD patient still has normal cognition at early stage remains an unsolved question. Thus, the advantage and significance of our study is that we first provide additional evidence to show the relation between RNFL thinning and cognitive impairment in PD cases, and further present new perspectives into verifying possible predictors for parkinsonian cognitive deterioration in future longitudinal studies.

#### CONCLUSION

In brief, we confirmed that inferior RNFL thickness was specifically decreased in PD patients with cognitive impairment compared with those with normal cognition; RNFL thinning of the peripapillary inferior sector is a possible indicator of decreased cognition in PD. Our data further indicate the integral roles of retinal degeneration in the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying cognitive deficiency in PD. Large PD cohorts and longitudinal studies are needed to verify our results. Further studies are encouraged to reveal more precise features of peripapillary RNFL thinning in various PD subgroups (e.g., PD-MCI versus PDD; PD-MCI single-domain versus PD-MCI multiple-domain) and PD-plus.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Ethics Committee of Zhujiang Hospital,

#### REFERENCES

- Aarsland, D., Creese, B., Politis, M., Chaudhuri, K. R., Ffytche, D. H., Weintraub, D., et al. (2017). Cognitive decline in Parkinson disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 13, 217–231. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2017.27
- Adam, C. R., Shrier, E., Ding, Y., Glazman, S., and Bodis-Wollner, I. (2013). Correlation of inner retinal thickness evaluated by spectral-domain optical coherence tomography and contrast sensitivity in Parkinson disease. J. Neuroophthalmol. 33, 137–142. doi: 10.1097/WNO.0b013e318 28c4e1a
- Ahn, J., Lee, J.-Y., Kim, T. W., Yoon, E. J., Oh, S., Kim, Y. K., et al. (2018). Retinal thinning associates with nigral dopaminergic loss in de novo Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 91:e01003-12. doi: 10.1212/wnl.000000000006157
- Anandhan, A., Nguyen, N., Syal, A., Dreher, L. A., Dodson, M., Zhang, D. D., et al. (2021). NRF2 loss accentuates parkinsonian pathology and behavioral dysfunction in human  $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpressing mice. *Aging Dis.* 12, 964–982. doi: 10.14336/ad.2021.0511
- Archibald, N. K., Clarke, M. P., Mosimann, U. P., and Burn, D. J. (2009). The retina in Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 132, 1128–1145. doi: 10.1093/brain/awp068
- Avenali, M., Blandini, F., and Cerri, S. (2020). Glucocerebrosidase defects as a major risk factor for Parkinson's disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 12:97. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2020.00097
- Baiano, C., Barone, P., Trojano, L., and Santangelo, G. (2020). Prevalence and clinical aspects of mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: a metaanalysis. *Mov. Disord.* 35, 45–54. doi: 10.1002/mds.27902
- Beheshti, I., Mishra, S., Sone, D., Khanna, P., and Matsuda, H. (2020). T1-weighted MRI-driven Brain age estimation in Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. Aging Dis. 11, 618–628. doi: 10.14336/ad.2019.0617
- Bestwick, J. P., Auger, S. D., Simonet, C., Rees, R. N., Rack, D., Jitlal, M., et al. (2021). Improving estimation of Parkinson's disease risk-the enhanced

Southern Medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

ZC, XW, SZ, and QW conceived and designed the study. ZC, FX, HL, LZ, and FY performed the study. XL and LS revised the article for intellectual content. XW and ZC performed data statistics and analysis. ZC, XW, and QW wrote the article. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

#### FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No: 82071414), Initiated Foundation of Zhujiang Hospital (No: 02020318005), and Science and Technology Program of Guangdong of China (No: 2020A0505100037) to QW; and National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 81801252) to XW.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi. 2022.832768/full#supplementary-material

PREDICT-PD algorithm. NPJ Parkinsons Dis. 7:33. doi: 10.1038/s41531-021-00176-9

- Bodis-Wollner, I. (2013). Foveal vision is impaired in Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 19, 1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2012.07.012
- Bodis-Wollner, I., Kozlowski, P. B., Glazman, S., and Miri, S. (2014). α-synuclein in the inner retina in parkinson disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 75, 964–966. doi: 10.1002/ ana.24182
- Chrysou, A., Jansonius, N. M., and Van Laar, T. (2019). Retinal layers in Parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis of spectral-domain optical coherence tomography studies. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 64, 40–49. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2019. 04.023
- Dalrymple-Alford, J. C., Macaskill, M. R., Nakas, C. T., Livingston, L., Graham, C., Crucian, G. P., et al. (2010). The MoCA: well-suited screen for cognitive impairment in Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 75, 1717–1725. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 0b013e3181fc29c9
- Doustar, J., Torbati, T., Black, K. L., Koronyo, Y., and Koronyo-Hamaoui, M. (2017). Optical coherence tomography in Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative diseases. *Front. Neurol.* 8:701. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017. 00701
- Emre, M., Aarsland, D., Brown, R., Burn, D. J., Duyckaerts, C., Mizuno, Y., et al. (2007). Clinical diagnostic criteria for dementia associated with Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 22, 1689–1707; quiz 1837. doi: 10.1002/mds.21507
- Fernández, D., Geisse, A., Bernales, J. I., Lira, A., and Osorio, F. (2021). The unfolded protein response in immune cells as an emerging regulator of neuroinflammation. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 13:682633. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021. 682633
- Garcia-Martin, E., Larrosa, J. M., Polo, V., Satue, M., Marques, M. L., Alarcia, R., et al. (2014). Distribution of retinal layer atrophy in patients with Parkinson disease and association with disease severity and duration. *Am. J. Ophthalmol.* 157, 470–478.e472. doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2013.09.028

- Ghadery, C., Koshimori, Y., Christopher, L., Kim, J., Rusjan, P., Lang, A. E., et al. (2020). The interaction between neuroinflammation and  $\beta$ -amyloid in cognitive decline in Parkinson's disease. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 57, 492–501. doi: 10. 1007/s12035-019-01714-6
- Goldman, J. G., Bledsoe, I. O., Merkitch, D., Dinh, V., Bernard, B., and Stebbins, G. T. (2017). Corpus callosal atrophy and associations with cognitive impairment in Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 88, 1265–1272. doi: 10.1212/wnl. 000000000003764
- Guo, Y., Xu, W., Liu, F. T., Li, J. Q., Cao, X. P., Tan, L., et al. (2019). Modifiable risk factors for cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Mov. Disord.* 34, 876–883. doi: 10.1002/mds.27665
- Hamedani, A. G., and Willis, A. W. (2020). Self-reported visual dysfunction in Parkinson disease: the survey of health, ageing and retirement in Europe. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 27, 484–489. doi: 10.1111/ene.14092
- Hoehn, M. M., and Yahr, M. D. (1967). Parkinsonism: onset, progression and mortality. *Neurology* 17, 427–442. doi: 10.1212/wnl.17.5.427
- Hoops, S., Nazem, S., Siderowf, A. D., Duda, J. E., Xie, S. X., Stern, M. B., et al. (2009). Validity of the MoCA and MMSE in the detection of MCI and dementia in Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 73, 1738–1745. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 0b013e3181c34b47
- Inzelberg, R., Ramirez, J. A., Nisipeanu, P., and Ophir, A. (2004). Retinal nerve fiber layer thinning in Parkinson disease. *Vision Res.* 44, 2793–2797. doi: 10.1016/j. visres.2004.06.009
- Jackson, G. R., and Owsley, C. (2003). Visual dysfunction, neurodegenerative diseases, and aging. *Neurol. Clin.* 21, 709–728. doi: 10.1016/s0733-8619(02) 00107-x
- Jimenez, B., Ascaso, F. J., Cristobal, J. A., and Lopez Del Val, J. (2014). Development of a prediction formula of Parkinson disease severity by optical coherence tomography. *Mov. Disord.* 29, 68–74. doi: 10.1002/mds.25747
- Kashani, A. H., Asanad, S., Chan, J. W., Singer, M. B., Zhang, J., Sharifi, M., et al. (2021). Past, present and future role of retinal imaging in neurodegenerative disease. Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 83:100938. doi: 10.1016/j.preteyeres.2020.100938
- Koronyo, Y., Biggs, D., Barron, E., Boyer, D. S., Pearlman, J. A., Au, W. J., et al. (2017). Retinal amyloid pathology and proof-of-concept imaging trial in Alzheimer's disease. *JCI Insight* 2:e93621. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.93621
- Kotagal, V., Spino, C., Bohnen, N. I., Koeppe, R., and Albin, R. L. (2018). Serotonin, β-amyloid, and cognition in Parkinson disease. Ann. Neurol. 83, 994–1002. doi: 10.1002/ana.25236
- Li, Y., Chen, Y., Jiang, L., Zhang, J., Tong, X., Chen, D., et al. (2021). Intestinal Inflammation and Parkinson's Disease. *Aging Dis.* 12, 2052–2068. doi: 10.14336/ ad.2021.0418
- Lian, T. H., Guo, P., Zhang, Y. N., Li, J. H., Li, L. X., Ding, D. Y., et al. (2020). Parkinson's disease with depression: the correlations between neuroinflammatory factors and neurotransmitters in cerebrospinal fluid. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 12:574776. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2020.574776
- Litvan, I., Goldman, J. G., Troster, A. I., Schmand, B. A., Weintraub, D., Petersen, R. C., et al. (2012). Diagnostic criteria for mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: movement disorder society task force guidelines. *Mov. Disord*. 27, 349–356. doi: 10.1002/mds.24893
- Liu, H., Deng, B., Xie, F., Yang, X., Xie, Z., Chen, Y., et al. (2021). The influence of white matter hyperintensity on cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease. *Ann. Clin. Transl. Neurol.* 8, 1917–1934. doi: 10.1002/acn3.51429
- Ma, X., Li, S., Li, C., Wang, R., Chen, M., Chen, H., et al. (2021). Total cerebral small vessel score association with Hoehn and Yahr stage in Parkinson's Disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 13:682776. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.682776
- Marras, C., Chaudhuri, K. R., Titova, N., and Mestre, T. A. (2020). Therapy of Parkinson's disease subtypes. *Neurotherapeutics* 17, 1366–1377. doi: 10.1007/ s13311-020-00894-7
- Mohana Devi, S., Mahalaxmi, I., Aswathy, N. P., Dhivya, V., and Balachandar, V. (2020). Does retina play a role in Parkinson's disease? *Acta Neurol. Belg.* 120, 257–265. doi: 10.1007/s13760-020-01274-w
- Movement Disorder Society Task Force on Rating Scales for Parkinson's Disease (2003). The Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale (UPDRS): status and recommendations. *Mov. Disord.* 18, 738–750. doi: 10.1002/mds.10473
- Orgeta, V., Mcdonald, K. R., Poliakoff, E., Hindle, J. V., Clare, L., and Leroi, I. (2020). Cognitive training interventions for dementia and mild cognitive

impairment in Parkinson's disease. Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 2:Cd011961. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011961.pub2

- Ortuno-Lizaran, I., Beach, T. G., Serrano, G. E., Walker, D. G., Adler, C. H., and Cuenca, N. (2018). Phosphorylated alpha-synuclein in the retina is a biomarker of Parkinson's disease pathology severity. *Mov. Disord.* 33, 1315–1324. doi: 10.1002/mds.27392
- Papuć, E., and Rejdak, K. (2020). Increased CSF NFL in non-demented Parkinson's disease subjects reflects early white matter damage. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 12:128. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2020.00128
- Peng, C., Trojanowski, J. Q., and Lee, V. M. (2020). Protein transmission in neurodegenerative disease. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 16, 199–212. doi: 10.1038/s41582-020-0333-7
- Postuma, R. B., Berg, D., Stern, M., Poewe, W., Olanow, C. W., Oertel, W., et al. (2015). MDS clinical diagnostic criteria for Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 1591–1601. doi: 10.1002/mds.26424
- Quadalti, C., Calandra-Buonaura, G., Baiardi, S., Mastrangelo, A., Rossi, M., Zenesini, C., et al. (2021). Neurofilament light chain and α-synuclein RT-QuIC as differential diagnostic biomarkers in parkinsonisms and related syndromes. *NPJ Parkinsons Dis.* 7:93. doi: 10.1038/s41531-021-00232-4
- Que, R., Zheng, J., Chang, Z., Zhang, W., Li, H., Xie, Z., et al. (2021). Dl-3-nbutylphthalide rescues dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease models by inhibiting the NLRP3 inflammasome and ameliorating mitochondrial impairment. *Front. Immunol.* 12:794770. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021. 794770
- Ramirez, A. I., De Hoz, R., Salobrar-Garcia, E., Salazar, J. J., Rojas, B., Ajoy, D., et al. (2017). The role of microglia in retinal neurodegeneration: Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson, and glaucoma. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 9:214. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017. 00214
- Reyes-Perez, P., and Bandres-Ciga, S. (2021). Identifying genetic markers associated with the progression of cognitive decline in Parkinson's disease: a call out for replication. *Mov. Disord.* 36, 2506–2507. doi: 10.1002/mds.28798
- Schrag, A., Siddiqui, U. F., Anastasiou, Z., Weintraub, D., and Schott, J. M. (2017). Clinical variables and biomarkers in prediction of cognitive impairment in patients with newly diagnosed Parkinson's disease: a cohort study. *Lancet Neurol.* 16, 66–75. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(16)30328-3
- Tang, X., Zhang, Y., Liu, D., Hu, Y., Jiang, L., and Zhang, J. (2021). Association of gyrification pattern, white matter changes, and phenotypic profile in patients with Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 96, e02387–e2394. doi: 10.1212/wnl. 000000000011894
- Tolosa, E., Garrido, A., Scholz, S. W., and Poewe, W. (2021). Challenges in the diagnosis of Parkinson's disease. *Lancet Neurol.* 20, 385–397. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(21)00030-2
- Tsokolas, G., Tsaousis, K. T., Diakonis, V. F., Matsou, A., and Tyradellis, S. (2020). Optical coherence tomography angiography in neurodegenerative diseases: a review. *Eye Brain* 12, 73–87. doi: 10.2147/EB.S193026
- VanderWeele, T. J., and Ding, P. (2017). Sensitivity analysis in observational research: introducing the E-Value. Ann. Intern. Med. 167, 268–274. doi: 10. 7326/M16-2607
- Vasconcellos, L. F. R., and Pereira, J. S. (2015). Parkinson's disease dementia: diagnostic criteria and risk factor review. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 37, 988– 993. doi: 10.1080/13803395.2015.1073227
- von Coelln, R., Gruber-Baldini, A. L., Reich, S. G., Armstrong, M. J., Savitt, J. M., and Shulman, L. M. (2021). The inconsistency and instability of Parkinson's disease motor subtypes. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 88, 13–18. doi: 10.1016/j. parkreldis.2021.05.016
- Wang, Q., Luo, Y., Ray Chaudhuri, K., Reynolds, R., Tan, E. K., and Pettersson, S. (2021). The role of gut dysbiosis in Parkinson's disease: mechanistic insights and therapeutic options. *Brain* 144, 2571–2593. doi: 10.1093/brain/awab156
- Wang, T., Yuan, F., Chen, Z., Zhu, S., Chang, Z., Yang, W., et al. (2020). Vascular, inflammatory and metabolic risk factors in relation to dementia in Parkinson's disease patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Aging (Albany NY)* 12, 15682– 15704. doi: 10.18632/aging.103776
- Yang, W., Chang, Z., Que, R., Weng, G., Deng, B., Wang, T., et al. (2020). Contra-directional expression of plasma superoxide dismutase with lipoprotein cholesterol and high-sensitivity C-reactive protein as important markers of Parkinson's disease severity. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 12:53. doi: 10.3389/fnagi. 2020.00053

- Yıldız, D., Pekel, N. B., Yener, N. P., Seferoğlu, M., Günes, A., and Sığırlı, D. (2019). Assessment of neurodegeneration by optical coherence tomography and mini-mental test in Parkinson's disease. *Ann. Indian Acad. Neurol.* 22, 212–216.
- Yuan, F., Guo, X., Wei, X., Xie, F., Zheng, J., Huang, Y., et al. (2020). Lee Silverman Voice Treatment for dysarthria in patients with Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 27, 1957–1970. doi: 10. 1111/ene.14399
- Zhou, W. C., Tao, J. X., and Li, J. (2021). Optical coherence tomography measurements as potential imaging biomarkers for Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 28, 763–774. doi: 10.1111/ ene.14613
- Zhu, S., Deng, B., Huang, Z., Chang, Z., Li, H., Liu, H., et al. (2021a). "Hot cross bun" is a potential imaging marker for the severity of cerebellar ataxia in MSA-C. NPJ Parkinsons Dis. 7:15. doi: 10.1038/s41531-021-00159-w
- Zhu, S., Li, H., Deng, B., Zheng, J., Huang, Z., Chang, Z., et al. (2020). Various diseases and clinical heterogeneity are associated with "Hot Cross Bun". Front. Aging Neurosci. 12:592212. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2020.592212
- Zhu, S., Li, H., Xu, X., Luo, Y., Deng, B., Guo, X., et al. (2021b). The pathogenesis and treatment of cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction in Parkinson's disease:

what we know and where to go. Aging Dis. 12, 1675–1692. doi: 10.14336/ad. 2021.0214

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Chang, Xie, Li, Yuan, Zeng, Shi, Zhu, Lu, Wei and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Monogenetic Forms of Parkinson's Disease – Bridging the Gap Between Genetics and Biomarkers

Lars Tönges<sup>1,2</sup>, Eun Hae Kwon<sup>1</sup> and Stephan Klebe<sup>3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neurology, St. Josef-Hospital, Ruhr-University Bochum, Bochum, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Center for Protein Diagnostics (ProDi), Ruhr University Bochum, Bochum, Germany, <sup>3</sup> Department of Neurology, University Hospital Essen, Essen, Germany

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Danling Wang, University of South China, China

#### Reviewed by:

Jieqiong Tan, Central South University, China David Brooks, Imperial College London, United Kingdom Ellen Sidransky, National Human Genome Research Institute (NIH), United States

> \***Correspondence:** Stephan Klebe stephan.klebe@uk-essen.de

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Parkinson's Disease and Aging-related Movement Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

Received: 26 November 2021 Accepted: 08 February 2022 Published: 03 March 2022

#### Citation:

Tönges L, Kwon EH and Klebe S (2022) Monogenetic Forms of Parkinson's Disease – Bridging the Gap Between Genetics and Biomarkers. Front. Aging Neurosci. 14:822949. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.822949 The therapy of neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson's disease (PD) is still limited to the treatment of symptoms and primarily aimed at compensating for dopaminergic hypofunction. Numerous disease-modifying therapies currently in the pipeline attempt to modify the underlying pathomechanisms. In recent decades, the results of molecular genetics and biomarker research have raised hopes of earlier diagnosis and new neuroprotective therapeutic approaches. As the disease-causing processes in monogenetic forms of PD are better understood than in sporadic PD, these disease subsets are likely to benefit first from disease-modifying therapies. Recent studies have suggested that disease-relevant changes found in genetically linked forms of PD (i.e., PARK-LRRK2, PARK-GBA) can also be reproduced in patients in whom no genetic cause can be found, i.e., those with sporadic PD. It can, therefore, be assumed that as soon as the first causal therapy for genetic forms of PD is approved, more patients with PD will undergo genetic testing and counseling. Regarding future neuroprotective trials in neurodegenerative diseases and objective parameters such as biomarkers with high sensitivity and specificity for the diagnosis and course of the disease are needed. These biomarkers will also serve to monitor treatment success in clinical trials. Promising examples in PD, such as alpha-synuclein species, lysosomal enzymes, markers of amyloid and tau pathology, and neurofilament light chain, are under investigation in blood and CSF. This paper provides an overview of the opportunities and current limitations of monogenetic diagnostic and biomarker research in PD and aims to build a bridge between current knowledge and association with PD genetics and biomarkers.

Keywords: genetic, biomarkers, Parkinson's disease, alpha-synuclein, LRRK2

# INTRODUCTION

Parkinson's disease (PD) [sporadic (sPD) and (mono)genetic forms of PD (gPD)] represents a heterogeneous group of disorders with the pathophysiological shared end of a dopaminergic deficit. Therapy of PD is still limited to the treatment of symptoms and is primarily aimed at compensating for dopaminergic hypofunction. Accurate diagnosis of PD according to the underlying pathophysiology is important because of current and future treatment options. In recent years, many efforts have been made to identify specific and sensitive biomarkers (Parnetti et al., 2019;

Lawton et al., 2020). Because of its proximity to neuronal structures, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) is, of course, the most promising liquid biomarker for neurodegenerative diseases. Nevertheless, blood, saliva, skin biopsies, and urine also appear to be good candidates as they are easily accessible and less invasive. Biomarkers from body fluids, skin biopsies, or imaging studies have the advantage of identifying the risk for future PD, diagnosing PD early, and monitoring disease progression, and can serve to monitor possible treatment success in clinical trials. Hence, biomarkers should also be able to distinguish between different entities of neurodegenerative diseases [e.g., sPD vs. gPD vs. atypical Parkinson's syndromes (aPD)] to decrease the number of false-positive diagnosed patients. An unmet need for future neuroprotective trials in neurodegenerative diseases is an objective parameter such as biomarkers with high specificity and sensibility for the diagnosis and course of the disease. Promising examples in PD, such as alpha-synuclein species, lysosomal enzymes, markers of amyloid and tau pathology, and neurofilament light chain, are under investigation in the blood and CSF (Parnetti et al., 2019). Unfortunately, it has not been possible to date to implement a robust biomarker in the early diagnosis or follow-up of PD. One reason is that biomarker profiles vary from patient to patient due to the great heterogeneity of the disease.

In contrast to sPD, in which the etiology remains elusive for most cases, gPD offer the possibility of better understanding the cause of the disease. Many autosomal dominant and recessive genes have been found since the first description of SNCA as a genetic cause of PD in 1997 (Polymeropoulos et al., 1997). The clinical symptoms between sPD and a monogenetic form are similar in most cases. However, since the course of PD can differ greatly from individual to individual, the question arises whether the etiological heterogeneity might have different causes. Examples include the tremor-dominant or akinetic rigid subtypes of sPD or the early cognitive involvement in some patients with PD. The results of molecular genetics and biomarker research have raised hopes of resolving these unanswered questions in PD and finding new neuroprotective therapeutic approaches. As the disease-causing processes in gPD are better understood than in sPD, patients with these subsets of the disease are likely to benefit first from diseasemodifying therapies. A synergistic effect between research on monogenetic forms of the disease and sPD is also likely. Recent studies have suggested that disease-relevant changes found in genetically linked forms of PD (i.e., PARK-LRRK2, PARK-GBA) can also be reproduced in patients in whom no genetic cause can be found (Di Maio et al., 2018). Even if these patients with gPD currently represent only a small group (approximately 10%) (Cook et al., 2021), it is expected that availability of a causal therapy for genetic forms of PD will substantially increase demand for genetic testing and counseling. Therefore, we aim to provide an overview of the most common genetically linked forms of PD and the associated biomarker studies. Table 1 summarizes the genetic causes of PD with regard to the corresponding biomarker.

**TABLE 1** | An overview of the genetic causes of Parkinson's disease (PD), the corresponding biomarker, and the diagnostic and/or prognostic value.

Genetics	Source	Biomarker	Findings (diagnostic/ prognostic*)	Study
SNCA	Blood	Oligomeric aSyn	↑sPD vs. HC (sensitivity 75%; specificity 100%)	Williams et al., 2016
	CSF	Total aSyn	↓sPD vs. HC	Mollenhauer et al., 2008
			↑PARK-LRRK2/HC vs. sPD	Vilas et al., 2016
		Oligomeric aSyn	↑sPD vs. HC (sensitivity 71%; specificity 64%)	Eusebi et al., 2017
			↑sPD vs. HC (RT-QuIC) (sensitivity 95%; specificity 100%)	Fairfoul et al., 2016; Sano et al., 2018; Shahnawaz et al., 2020
		Phosphorylated aSyn	∱sPD vs. HC vs. PSP	Eusebi et al., 2017
GBA	CSF	GCase activity	↓sPD vs. HC	Parnetti et al., 2014a; Lerche et al., 2021
			↓PARK-GBA vs. HC	Xicoy et al., 2019
			↓PARK-LRRK2 vs. HC	
			↓PARK-PRKN vs. HC	
	Blood		Positive correlation with disease duration*	Kim et al., 2016
LRRK2	Blood	Total LRRK2	∱sPD vs. HC	Atashrazm et al., 2019
			sPD = PARK- LRRK2/HC	Padmanabhar et al., 2020
		pS935-LRRK2	↓PARK-LRRK2 vs. sPD/HC	Padmanabhar et al., 2020
			∱sPD vs. HC	Melachroinou et al., 2020
		pRab10	PARK- LRRK2 = sPD/HC	Atashrazm et al., 2019
	CSF	Total LRRK2	↑PARK-LRRK2 vs. sPD/HC	Mabrouk et al. 2020
		pS1292- LRRK2	PARK- LRRK2 = sPD/HC	Wang et al., 2017
		Aβ1-42, total-, phospho-Tau	PARK- LRRK2 = sPD/HC	Vilas et al., 2016
	Urine	pS1292/total LRRK2	↑PARK-LRRK2 vs. sPD/HC	Fraser et al., 2016
	Neuro- imaging	PET multitracer	↓LRRK2 vs. controls	Nandhagopal et al., 2008
		I-123 FP-CIT SPECT	LRRK2 PD conversion rate = 16%*	Sánchez- Rodríguez et al., 2021

(Continued)

#### TABLE 1 | (Continued)

Genetics	Source	Biomarker	Findings (diagnostic/ prognostic*)	Study
PRKN/ PINK1	Blood	pS65-Ub	↓PARK-PINK1 vs. HC	Watzlawik et al., 2020
		Ccf-mtDNA	∱PARK- PRKN/PINK1 vs. sPD/HC	Borsche et al., 2020
		IL6	†sPD vs. HC	Qin et al., 2016
			Positive correlation with disease severity*	Green et al., 2019
			↑PARK- PRKN/PINK1 vs. sPD vs. HC	Borsche et al., 2020
	CSF	Ccf-mtDNA	↓sPD vs. HC	Pyle et al., 2015
	Neuro- imaging	PET 18F-BCPP-EF tracer	sPD = HC	Wilson et al., 2020
		31P-MR- spectroscopy	∱PARK-PINK1 vs. HC	Hilker et al., 2012
DJ-1	CSF	DJ1	Conflicting results in sPD	
	Saliva		Conflicting results in sPD	
	Urine	Oxidized DJ1	↑sPD vs. controls	Jang et al., 2018

aSyn, alpha-synuclein; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; GCase, activity of the lysosomal hydrolase β-glucocerebrosidase; HC, healthy controls; IL6, interleukin 6; PET, Positron emission tomography; RT-QuIC, real-time quaking-induced conversion; sPD, sporadic Parkinson's disease; SPECT, single photon emission computed tomography; ↑, increased levels; ↓, decreased levels; \*, prognostic.

# ALPHA-SYNUCLEIN

Alpha-synuclein (aSyn) is a rather small protein (14 kDa) that is widely expressed in the brain (Braak et al., 2003). It seems to play a role in the stability of neuronal membranes, influencing presynaptic signaling and membrane trafficking through vesicular transport (Henderson et al., 2019). Several papers show that aSyn can be released from neurons and taken up by surrounding neurons or other cell types (Henderson et al., 2019). Therefore, it is not surprising that aSyn, despite constituting an intracellular protein, can be found in CSF, blood, and plasma (Atik et al., 2016; Maass et al., 2019). aSyn aggregates represent the main component of Lewy bodies (LB) (Spillantini et al., 1997). Therefore, PD, together with dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB) and multiple system atrophy (MSA), is referred to as a-synucleinopathy. LB are found in various regions of the CNS, depending on the disease stage (for example, substantia nigra, the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus, nucleus basalis of Meynert, the locus coeruleus, and diffusely in late stages of the disease) (Forno, 1996). However, LB are also found in the peripheral nervous system in early or prodromal stages of the disease (e.g., sympathetic ganglia, sympathetic cardiac nerves,

cholinergic nerve endings of salivary glands, autonomic nerve fibers of the skin).

First described with point mutations, the gene for aSyn (SNCA) was the first gene to be associated with the development of PD with an autosomal-dominant transmission (Polymeropoulos et al., 1997). Over time, duplications and triplications of SNCA have also been shown to play a causal role in hereditary forms of PD. Regarding symptoms, SNCA point mutations are associated with an earlier age at the onset (Ibáñez et al., 2009). SNCA gene duplications are associated with a mean age of the onset and clinical phenotype that overlaps with sPD (Ibáñez et al., 2009). SNCA triplications are associated with the early age of the onset, more rapid progression, and memory impairment (Ibáñez et al., 2009). Nonetheless, mutations in SNCA as a disease cause in PD remain rare.

Total aSyn and isoforms of aSyn appear to play a major role in PD pathogenicity and, accordingly, are also available as a candidate biomarker. The concentration of total aSyn in CSF may discriminate between patients with PD and healthy controls (Wang et al., 2012), and has been found at a lower concentration in patients with PD (Mollenhauer et al., 2008). This was confirmed in early-diagnosed, treatment-naïve patients (Stewart et al., 2014).

However, no uniform picture emerges regarding total aSyn. In patients with LRRK2 mutations, total aSyn CSF levels were increased in LRRK2-associated PD, non-manifesting carriers, and healthy controls compared to sPD (Vilas et al., 2016). In another study, lower but not statistically significant total aSyn CSF levels were recognized in LRRK2-associated PD, non-manifesting carriers, and sPD compared to healthy controls (Aasly et al., 2014). Follow-up data in patients with PD from the DATATOP study revealed an increase of total aSyn after 2 years (Majbour et al., 2016). An increase in total aSyn has also been reported over 2 years in another study with 63 patients with PD and 21 controls (Hall et al., 2016). In the latter study, higher total aSyn values were associated with longer disease duration (Hall et al., 2016). The authors hypothesized that total aSyn levels were bimodal, with a decrease in early disease stages followed by an increase with advanced neurodegeneration.

Unfortunately, unlike MSA or progressive supranuclear palsy (PSP), it is not possible to distinguish between sPD and aPD based on the aSyn concentration. Therefore, total aSyn is unable to distinguish between alpha-synucleinopathies (sPD, MSA) or between alpha-synucleinopathies and aPD such as PSP or corticobasal degeneration. Because of the cognitive impairment in *SNCA* triplication carriers, an association between total aSyn and patients with PD with dementia (PDD) could be considered. However, similar levels of total aSyn have been reported for patients with PD and PDD (Farotti et al., 2017).

The reason for the large heterogeneity of the results with respect to total aSyn is likely due to clinical heterogeneity, the number of included patients, and methodological differences that could compromise diagnostic accuracy. Another important confounding variable is hemolysis during the specimen collection, where contamination of blood or CSF leads to increased total aSyn levels (Barkovits et al., 2020).

Before aSyn aggregates into mature amyloid fibrils in LB, aSyn undergoes oligomerization. There is strong evidence that oligomeric aSyn is a key player in PD pathophysiology (Conway et al., 2000). It has been found at higher concentration in patients with PD compared to controls, but with poor diagnostic sensitivity and specificity (Parnetti et al., 2014b; Eusebi et al., 2017). However, there are conflicting results with respect to oligomeric aSyn reported over recent years. One example is the results in asymptomatic and symptomatic PARK-LRRK2 mutation carriers. Asymptomatic PARK-LRRK2 mutation carriers showed elevated oligomeric aSyn levels compared to healthy controls (Aasly et al., 2014); that oligomeric aSyn reflects a presymptomatic precursor of the disease cannot be concluded with certainty because symptomatic PARK-LRRK2 mutation carriers in the same study showed no difference to healthy controls (Aasly et al., 2014). Again, there is no evidence that oligomeric aSyn in the CSF might distinguish between sPD, gPD, and/or aPD. Among the isoforms of aSyn, phosphorylated 129 aSyn has been reported to enhance synuclein toxicity both in vivo and in vitro due to increasing formation of aSyn aggregates (Fujiwara et al., 2002; Smith et al., 2005), whereas a protective effect of phosphorylated 129 aSyn has also been described (Gorbatyuk et al., 2008; Da Azeredo Silveira et al., 2009). Another biomarker could be the 129 aSyn/total aSyn ratio, which seems to be elevated in PD (Wang et al., 2012). Regarding aSyn aggregates, in vitro conversion methods such as real-time quaking-induced conversion (RT-QuIC) have been developed as promising new methods for measuring aggregated aSyn in the CSF of patients with PD. RT-QuIC was originally developed for the detection of the abnormal form of prion protein, e.g., in Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. In alpha-synucleinopathies, RT-QuIC has been reported with a high sensitivity and specificity of 95-100% for alpha-synucleinopathies (Fairfoul et al., 2016; Sano et al., 2018; Shahnawaz et al., 2020) and a positive predictive value of > 90% (van Rumund et al., 2019), but only 75% sensitivity in patients with an unclear diagnosis of parkinsonism (van Rumund et al., 2019). In addition, RT-QuIC does not appear to be suitable for monitoring the disease course (Nakagaki et al., 2021). The method has also been used to distinguish between alpha-synucleinopathies and other neurodegenerative diseases (Groveman et al., 2018). Due to an improved aSyn RT-QuIC test, a diagnostic sensitivity of 93% and 100% specificity has been achieved when comparing nine patients with synucleinopathy (12 PD; 17 DLB) and 31 non-synucleinopathy controls (including 16 patients with Alzheimer's diseases). A recent study has presumed that RT-QuIC of aSyn in the CSF could be a promising candidate for prodromal stages for PD and DLB. In patients with isolated REM sleep behavior disorder (RBD), a known risk factor in the development of PD and DLB, a sensitivity and specificity of 90% have been shown (Iranzo et al., 2021). In addition, these patients had a subsequent higher risk of developing PD or DLB. Nearly two-thirds of the patients with RBD were diagnosed with PD or DLB, a mean 3.4 years after the aSyn measurement, of whom 97% were aSyn positive at the baseline (Iranzo et al., 2021). This finding of aSyn in the CSF by RT-QuIC and its value in presymptomatic patients is important, but must be confirmed by further studies.

The different forms of aSyn (total aSyn, oligomeric aSyn, phosphorylated aSyn) also reveal different results in blood serum and plasma. For total aSyn, conflicting results of increased, decreased, or unchanged total aSyn levels have been reported (Parnetti et al., 2019). Oligomeric aSyn in blood serum or red blood cells seems valuable candidates, with a sensitivity of 75% and specificity of up to 100% (Williams et al., 2016). However, these results must be confirmed in larger studies.

#### **B-GLUCOCEREBROSIDASE**

Lysosomes are one of the key players for protein degradation in human cells, including a-Syn (Webb et al., 2003). It is obvious that lysosome malfunction leads to an accumulation of dysfunctional proteins and cell organelles. This pathway is shared by several monogenetic forms of PD, including *SNCA*, *ATP13A2*, *VPS35*, *DNAJC6*, *SYNJ1*, *LRRK2*, *RAB39B9*) (Abeliovich and Gitler, 2016). An association between aSyn and lysosomes has long been hypothesized. It is assumed that a disturbed autophagy-lysosomal pathway is directly related to aSyn aggregates (Sardi et al., 2011; Bae et al., 2015; Suzuki et al., 2015).

Mutations in the corresponding gene for ß-glucocerebrosidase (GBA) are considered the most common genetic risk factor in PD, meaning that not every carrier of a GBA mutation will develop PD. Historically, the observation of an increased risk of PD in type I Gaucher disease (GD) and its families was first surmised from clinical findings (Neudorfer et al., 1996). GD type I represents an autosomal-recessive systemic disorder that can present with various degrees of systemic and neurological manifestations, usually manifesting in childhood. Since the first description, more than 300 different genetic alterations, such as point mutations, insertion, deletion, missense mutations, and splice junctions, have been described in the literature (Beutler et al., 2005; Hruska et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2017). Among GBA mutation carriers, an increasing penetrance of PD (PARK-GBA) with age has been reported (Anheim et al., 2012). Penetrance ranges from 7.6% at age 50 years to 30% at age 80 (Anheim et al., 2012). If patients have two homozygous mutations and thus affected with GD, the risk of PD is higher and the age at the onset (AAO) is earlier (Thaler et al., 2017). Depending on the origin of the patients, the frequency of GBA mutations varies. For example, GBA mutations can be found in 10-31% of patients with Ashkenazi background but only in 2.3% of Norwegian patients (Neumann et al., 2009). For the European non-Ashkenazi patients, the range is between 3 and 12% (Neumann et al., 2009).

Clinical differentiation between sPD and gPD caused by a heterozygous *GBA* mutation (PARK-GBA) is not possible. However, the AAO of PARK-GBA is 3–6 years earlier than in sPD (Riboldi and Di Fonzo, 2019). The progression of PARK-GBA is more often characterized by prominent cognitive impairment, hallucination, and RBD. Due to the phenotypic description, it is not surprising that *GBA* mutations have also been found in cases of DLB (Nalls et al., 2013). The frequency of patients with DLB with *GBA* mutations was up to 13% in pathologically proven patients with DLB (Gámez-Valero et al., 2016).

A few studies have focused on the activity of the lysosomal hydrolase ß-glucocerebrosidase (GCase) in alphasynucleinopathies, with a significant decrease of GCase activity in the CSF of patients with PD compared to controls (Parnetti et al., 2014a; Lerche et al., 2021). As a biomarker decreased, GCase activity was consistently found in PARK-GBA (see below) but also in other gPD (PARK-LRRK2, PARK-SNCA, PARK-RKN) (Xicov et al., 2019). The overall utility of GBA as biomarkers in peripheral biosamples of sPD is highly controversial because, as with the results in CSF, dried blood spots are conflicting (Balducci et al., 2007; Parnetti et al., 2017; Pchelina et al., 2017). In a very recently published work, the authors have hypothesized that low GCase activity was not responsible for the phenotype because low GCase activity has been found in patients with PARK-GBA and non-manifesting GBA carriers (Omer et al., 2022). However, patients with PARK-GBA were nearly 10 years older than non-manifesting GBA carriers (64.9 vs. 53.4 years, respectively). An additional role could be the respective GBA mutation, as there are indications that this causes different changes in GCase activity (Lerche et al., 2021). GCase activity could also be promising as a progression parameter in leukocytes, as a positive correlation between GCase levels in leukocytes and disease duration has been reported in sPD (Kim et al., 2016). Unfortunately, the treatments currently available for patients with GD do not reach the CNS. Hence, these treatment options do not play a role in PARK-GBA. However, there are several approaches to therapy development. One example is the capacity to increase GCase levels, currently being tested using the chaperone ambroxol in patients with PARK-GBA in an ongoing study (NCT02914366) (Mullin et al., 2020). The rationale behind this is that mutant GBA is unable to fold the endoplasmic reticulum correctly and thus promotes protein aggregation. Chaperone proteins able to facilitate the refolding of their substrates were tested. Another approach is gene replacement therapy via adeno-associated virus 9 to deliver a functional copy of the GBA gene to the CNS (Du et al., 2019; Abeliovich et al., 2021). In several animal models of PD or GBA-associated PD, direct application to the CNS was successful (Rocha et al., 2015; Jackson et al., 2019). Accordingly, a phase 1/2a study using these techniques has been recently started (NCT04127578).

# LEUCINE-RICH REPEAT KINASE

Mutations in the leucine-rich repeat kinase (*LRRK2*) gene are the most common genetic cause of autosomal-dominant lateonset PD (Paisán-Ruíz et al., 2004; Zimprich et al., 2004). *LRRK2* variants are also considered significant risk factors in sPD cases (Kluss et al., 2019). G2019S is the most frequent variant, accounting for 4% of gPD and 1% of sPD, with variable distribution among different ethnic populations and incomplete, age-related penetrance (26–84%) (Healy et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2017). *LRRK2* encodes a multifunctional protein with a catalytic core of kinase and GTPase activity. Physiologically, LRRK2 is involved in various cellular processes, encompassing cytoskeletal maintenance, vesicular trafficking, mitochondrial function, autophagy, lysosomal degradation, and the inflammatory response (Jeong and Lee, 2020; Mancini et al., 2020). Most *LRRK2* mutations cause a toxic gain of function with increased kinase activity. In viral and transgenic rodent models, overexpression of *LRRK2* G2019S induced striatal neurodegeneration in a kinase-dependent manner (Lee et al., 2010; Tsika et al., 2015). There is also evidence that LRRK2 interacts with aSyn, mediating its aggregation and propagation (O'Hara et al., 2020).

The phenotype of PARK-LRRK2 resembles that of sPD in terms of cardinal motor features and good response to levodopa (Healy et al., 2008; Marras et al., 2011). PD symptoms manifest at a slightly younger age (57 years). Several studies have observed a more benign disease course in G2019S mutation carriers with a slower decline in motor scores, albeit a similar risk for motor complications (Healy et al., 2008; Marras et al., 2016; Ben Romdhan et al., 2018; Saunders-Pullman et al., 2018) that could not be confirmed by other studies that report no difference (Nabli et al., 2015) or even worse motor symptoms and a higher rate of dyskinesia (Nishioka et al., 2010; Shu et al., 2018). Various studies have indicated that PARK-LRRK2 is associated with less non-motor involvement. Hyposmia and RBD are less prevalent compared to sPD (Saunders-Pullman et al., 2015; Marras et al., 2016), and cognitive function seems to be more mildly impaired, even after many years of disease duration (Aasly et al., 2005; Alcalay et al., 2015).

Given the therapeutic advances of small molecule kinase inhibitors and antisense oligonucleotides to diminish LRRK2 activity, reliable and feasible biomarkers that reflect LRRK2related pathways are mandatory. LRRK2 is highly expressed in peripheral tissues, such as lung, kidney, and blood cells (Fuji et al., 2015), and the latter serves as an easily accessible source [i.e., peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs)]. Indeed, by using flow cytometry, significantly elevated LRRK2 levels have been detected in B cells, T cells, CD16 + monocytes (Cook et al., 2017), and neutrophils of subjects with sPD compared to controls (Atashrazm et al., 2019), supporting the link to immune regulation. However, no difference in total LRRK2 levels could be detected in PBMCs among various sample groups, irrespective of PD or LRRK2 mutation status (Melachroinou et al., 2020; Padmanabhan et al., 2020). Alterations of total LRRK2 levels in PBMCs could be obscured by cellular heterogeneity. Considering cell-specific expression patterns of LRRK2, it seems important to purify and analyze different subcellular types separately in future investigations. A prominent site for heterologous LRRK2 phosphorylation is at serine 935 (pS935) that has been shown to be significantly reduced in PBMCs of affected G2019S carriers, distinguishing them from sPD, healthy G2019S carriers, and controls (Padmanabhan et al., 2020). Another study reported significantly elevated in vitro kinase activity of LRRK2 in PBMCs from LRRK2 G2019S mutation carriers in comparison to non-carriers, while the pS935-LRRK2 level was increased in sPD compared to controls (Melachroinou et al., 2020). The molecular mechanisms that alter the regulation of \$935 phosphorylation are not fully understood and need further clarification. Moreover, LRRK2 is sensitized to dephosphorylation by LRRK2 kinase inhibitors, with reduced pS935-LRRK2 that could be used as a marker of pharmacological

LRRK2 inhibition (Dzamko et al., 2010). Whether the GTPase Rab10, the key substrate of LRRK2 that can be pharmacologically modified, could serve as a marker for target engagement is still inconclusive and needs further assessment (Steger et al., 2016; Thirstrup et al., 2017). At least, for discriminative purposes, Rab10 cannot be suggested since no difference could be found in blood cells between patients with PD and controls (Fan et al., 2018; Atashrazm et al., 2019). Although it has been challenging to directly measure LRRK2 in CSF, LRRK2 quantification in CSF could be obtained by an improved monoclonal antibody technique that has revealed significantly higher CSF LRRK2 levels in G2019S-PD compared to sPD, healthy controls, and non-manifesting G2019 carriers (Mabrouk et al., 2020). Autophosphorylation of LRRK2 at serine 1292 (pS1292) reflects kinase activity that is measurable in CSF, but possibly masked by saturation effects no changes in pS1292 levels could be detected in the CSF of G2019S carriers (Wang et al., 2017). As mentioned in the previous section, CSF protein analysis revealed the differential pha-synuclein profiles of individuals with LRRK2 mutation (Aasly et al., 2014; Vilas et al., 2016) that could result from the variable presence of LB pathology in PARK-LRRK2. No differences were found in terms of the AD-related proteins amyloid-\beta1-42, total-tau, or phospho-tau (Vilas et al., 2016). Fraser et al. (2013) demonstrated the presence of LRRK2 in urinary exosomes, small endosomal-derived vesicles released from cells to the periphery. Intriguingly, G2019S carriers with PD displayed higher pS1292 to the total LRRK2 ratio in urinary exosomes compared to non-carriers and even asymptomatic G2019S carriers, indicating the potential for risk prediction (Fraser et al., 2016). Further studies on LRRK2 exosomes will explore their biomarker potential in PD.

positron Regarding imaging biomarkers, emission tomography (PET) detected reduced tracer binding in presymptomatic LRRK2 mutation carriers compared to controls, with greater progression of dopaminergic dysfunction (Nandhagopal et al., 2008). In this PET study, multiple tracers were applied, including multitracer PET using 18F-6-fluoro-l-dopa,  $11C-(\pm)-\alpha$ -dihydrotetrabenazine and 11C-d-threo-methylphenidate. Dopamine transporter imaging with I-123 FP-CIT showed potential to monitor progression, although a certain degree of intraindividual variability limited its ability to predict phenoconversion (Sánchez-Rodríguez et al., 2021). Studies that investigate markers to discriminate LRRK2-PD from aPD are lacking.

#### **PRKN/PINK1**

Given the common biological pathways affecting mitochondrial function and biomarker studies, including both *PRKN* and *PINK1* mutations, these genes are discussed together.

The majority of early-onset parkinsonism with autosomalrecessive inheritance is linked to mutations of the *PRKN/PARK2* gene (Kitada et al., 1998; Lücking et al., 2000). More than 130 disease-causing mutations have been identified throughout all 12 exons, including point mutations, exon rearrangements, and small deletions (Kasten et al., 2018). Whereas biallelic *PRKN* mutation results in overt disease, the question whether heterozygous mutations predispose to disease risk still remains an issue of debate (Huttenlocher et al., 2015; Lubbe et al., 2021; Yu et al., 2021). The encoded Parkin protein is an E3-ubiquitin ligase that transfers ubiquitin to protein substrates, thus targeting them to proteasomal degradation (Shimura et al., 2000; Moore, 2006). Moreover, Parkin regulates mitochondrial quality control and clearance of damaged mitochondria through mitophagy in concert with the other PD-linked gene *PINK1* (Narendra et al., 2012). In the Drosophila model, mutant *PRKN* caused a *degenerative phenotype with* flight muscle defects, *mitochondrial alterations, and abnormalities of dopaminergic neurons (Greene et al., 2003; Pickrell and Youle, 2015).* 

PARK-PRKN is characterized by a slowly progressive disease course at an early age of the onset (mean, 31 years) (Khan et al., 2003; Kasten et al., 2018). Beyond the typical clinical triad, hyperreflexia can be present, and dystonia, often affecting the lower limb, can be an initial sign (Khan et al., 2003; Grünewald et al., 2013). The marked and sustained response to levodopa is complicated by frequently associated levodopainduced motor fluctuations and dyskinesias (Clarimon et al., 2005). With regard to non-motor aspects, olfactory function and cognition are mostly well preserved (Khan et al., 2004; Alcalay et al., 2015; Abeliovich and Gitler, 2016). However, a multicenter, case-control study reported an earlier occurrence and a higher frequency and severity of impulsive-compulsive behaviors in PARK-PRKN (Morgante et al., 2016).

Mutations in the phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN)induced putative kinase 1 (PINK1) gene represent the second most frequent cause of autosomal-recessive inherited early-onset parkinsonism (Valente et al., 2004). The frequency of PINK1 mutations ranges between 1 and 9%, with variations across different ethnic populations (Schulte and Gasser, 2011; Klein and Westenberger, 2012). Mutations are highly diverse and include missense, non-sense, frameshift mutations, and deletions. As with PRKN, the role of heterozygous PINK1 mutation as a risk factor in PD has not yet been clarified (Krohn et al., 2020). PINK1 encodes a serine/threonine kinase involved in the regulation of the mitophagy pathway by activating ubiquitin and Parkin through phosphorylation (Valente et al., 2004; Narendra et al., 2010; Kane et al., 2014). Drosophila-lacking PINK1 exhibited mitochondrial abnormalities and muscle and neuronal degeneration that could be rescued by PRKN overexpression but not vice versa, suggesting that PINK1 acts upstream of Parkin in the shared pathway (Clark et al., 2006; Park et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2006).

In general, PARK-PINK1 shares similar features as PARK-PRKN regarding early AAO (mean, 32 years), slow disease progression, and excellent levodopa response, although associated with motor fluctuations and dyskinesias (Bonifati et al., 2005; Ibáñez et al., 2006; Kasten et al., 2018). Dystonia at the onset and hyperreflexia are also described in patients with *PINK1* mutation. However, non-motor symptoms are more pronounced. Hyposmia is commonly reported (Ferraris et al., 2009). Neuropsychiatric features are multifaceted, including mostly depression and anxiety but also traits of the schizophrenic spectrum and obsessive-compulsive personality disorder (Ephraty et al., 2007; Steinlechner et al., 2007; Ricciardi et al., 2014). Although cognitive function was thought to be less affected (Bonifati et al., 2005; Kasten et al., 2018), a recent study has observed a higher rate of cognitive dysfunction in *PINK1* mutations (Piredda et al., 2020).

Biomarkers for mitochondrial integrity are not only required to prove target engagement and drug-induced effects but also to identify patients who will most likely benefit from mitophagytargeted treatments. PINK1 phosphorylates ubiquitin at a serine residue (pS65-Ub), which could reflect PINK1 activity. Autopsy studies have revealed elevated pS65-Ub levels in brain tissues of patients with sPD, DLB, and normal elderly controls, suggesting that pS65-Ub accumulates upon mitochondrial stress during disease or aging (Fiesel et al., 2015; Hou et al., 2018). In contrast, PINK1/PRKN mutants lacked pS65-Ub signals, consistent with their loss of function to label damaged mitochondria. More intriguingly, pS65-Ub signals detected by sensitive enzymelinked immunosorbent assay were significantly reduced in blood plasma of patients with homozygous PINK1-mutation carriers compared to controls with heterozygous mutation and noncarriers (Watzlawik et al., 2020). Whether pS65-Ub levels can be used as a diagnostic or prognostic disease marker in blood needs to be confirmed in further investigations. Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) is closely related to mitochondrial function. Whereas reduced mtDNA copy numbers were reported in the substantia nigra of PD postmortem brains (Pyle et al., 2016), the findings in peripheral blood are inconclusive (Gui et al., 2015; Pyle et al., 2016; Davis et al., 2020). Circulating cell-free mtDNA (ccf-mtDNA) is a fragment of mtDNA released from cells in response to stress. Reduced ccf-mtDNA levels were reported in the CSF of patients with sPD (Pyle et al., 2015), showing an inverse correlation with treatment (Lowes et al., 2020). Notably, a recent study has observed higher ccf-mtDNA levels in the sera of PRKN and PINK1 biallelic mutation carriers and affected heterozygotes compared to patients with sPD, possibly resulting from impaired mitophagy in PRKN/PINK1-associated PD (Borsche et al., 2020). As inflammation evidently contributes to PD pathogenesis and progression, peripheral inflammatory cytokines have been attributed biomarker potential. Among these, interleukin-6 (IL6) levels were elevated in blood samples from patients with PD (Qin et al., 2016), correlating with motor severity. A recent study has reported higher serum IL6 levels in patients with biallelic PRKN/PINK1 mutations compared to healthy controls, whereas heterozygous PRKN/PINK1 mutation carriers and sPD showed only a trend toward elevated IL6 levels, indicating a gene dosage effect (Borsche et al., 2020). Moreover, IL6 levels correlated only in affected PRKN/PINK1 mutation carriers with disease duration. Mitochondrial dysfunction is also implied in the pathophysiology of a PD such as MSA and PSP (Nicoletti et al., 2021). Comparative studies exploring discriminative biomarkers of PRKN/PINK1-associated PD vs. aPD have not yet been conducted.

Imaging methods can be useful to monitor mitochondrial energy metabolism. Mitochondrial complex I activity can be assessed *in vivo* by the PET radiotracer <sup>18</sup>F-BCPP-EF, which is reduced in a non-human primate model for PD (Tsukada et al., 2016) but could not be translated to patients with PD (Wilson et al., 2020). Alternatively, phosphorus magnetic resonance spectroscopy (<sup>31</sup>P-MRS) can visualize cerebral mitochondrial metabolism by measuring phosphorous-containing energy metabolites (Henchcliffe et al., 2008). Increased putaminal levels of high-energy phosphates distinguished homozygous *PINK1* mutation carriers from heterozygous mutation carriers and controls (Hilker et al., 2012). This finding was interpreted as compensatory mechanisms with respect to the impaired cellular stress resistance.

Two current trials testing vitamin K2 (Prasuhn et al., 2020) and coenzyme Q10 (Prasuhn et al., 2019) include *Parkin/PINK1* mutation carriers and use <sup>31</sup>P-MRS for patient stratification and as a secondary end point.

## DJ1

DJ-1 is a widely expressed protein that participates in antioxidative stress mechanisms and mitochondrial regulation (Dolgacheva et al., 2019). Mutations in the corresponding gene *DJ-1* are responsible for an autosomal-recessive form of gPD (PARK-DJ-1). The phenotype of patients with PARK-DJ-1 consists of an early onset and slow progression of the disease and is, therefore, comparable with other autosomal-recessive forms like PARK-PRKN or PARK-PINK1. However, mutations in *DJ-1* are less frequent than PARK-PRKN or PARK-PINK1.

There are conflicting results regarding DJ-1 as a biomarker in the CSF and peripheral tissues, with increased and decreased DJ-1 levels in patients with sPD (Saito, 2014; Farotti et al., 2017). The same conflicting results were obtained when DJ-1 in the CSF was examined in the differential diagnosis of sPD vs. aPD (Farotti et al., 2017). A few studies with a low number of patients have investigated the concentration of DJ-1 in saliva in sPD with conflicting results. Therefore, DJ-1 in saliva does not play a role in daily routine (Farah et al., 2018). Another option is to determine the concentration of oxidized DJ-1 in blood or urine. Oxidized DJ-1 is induced by oxidative stress, which plays a major role in the pathophysiology of neurodegenerative diseases. Increased levels of oxidized DJ-1 have been described in patients with sPD compared to controls (Jang et al., 2018).

# CONCLUSION

A biomarker with a high sensitivity and specificity that could be introduced into clinical routine is currently not available. Biomarker research for PD has made great progress in recent years. Nevertheless, there is still a lack of robust biomarkers with high sensitivity and specificity that would satisfy diagnostic requirements. This is also true for monitoring disease progression and differential diagnosis of sPD, gPD, and aPD. Even for the most common monogenetic forms described here, this has not yet been achieved. This is true for the different forms of PD, including sPD, gPD, and aPD. Further research activity will be necessary to improve or find new techniques (e.g., RT-QuIC) and find the most suitable liquid biomaterial. The key to the diagnosis of PD, especially for future disease-modifying therapies, is likely to be a combination of different biomarkers with different modalities. In addition to peripheric biomarkers and CSF, imaging techniques (nuclear medicine, MRI, etc.) will play a crucial role.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

LT and SK contributed to conception and design of the study. SK and EK wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors

#### REFERENCES

- Aasly, J. O., Johansen, K. K., Brønstad, G., Warø, B. J., Majbour, N. K., Varghese, S., et al. (2014). Elevated levels of cerebrospinal fluid α-synuclein oligomers in healthy asymptomatic LRRK2 mutation carriers. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 6:248. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00248
- Aasly, J. O., Toft, M., Fernandez-Mata, I., Kachergus, J., Hulihan, M., White, L. R., et al. (2005). Clinical features of LRRK2-associated Parkinson's disease in central Norway. *Ann. Neurol.* 57, 762–765. doi: 10.1002/ana.20456
- Abeliovich, A., and Gitler, A. D. (2016). Defects in trafficking bridge Parkinson's disease pathology and genetics. *Nature* 539, 207–216. doi: 10.1038/nature20414
- Abeliovich, A., Hefti, F., and Sevigny, J. (2021). Gene therapy for Parkinson's disease associated with GBA1 mutations. J. Parkinsons Dis. 11, S183–S188. doi: 10.3233/JPD-212739
- Alcalay, R. N., Mejia-Santana, H., Mirelman, A., Saunders-Pullman, R., Raymond, D., Palmese, C., et al. (2015). Neuropsychological performance in LRRK2 G2019S carriers with Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 21, 106– 110. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2014.09.033
- Anheim, M., Elbaz, A., Lesage, S., Durr, A., Condroyer, C., Viallet, F., et al. (2012). Penetrance of Parkinson disease in glucocerebrosidase gene mutation carriers. *Neurology* 78, 417–420. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e318245f476
- Atashrazm, F., Hammond, D., Perera, G., Bolliger, M. F., Matar, E., Halliday, G. M., et al. (2019). LRRK2-mediated Rab10 phosphorylation in immune cells from Parkinson's disease patients. *Mov. Disord.* 34, 406–415. doi: 10.1002/mds.27601
- Atik, A., Stewart, T., and Zhang, J. (2016). Alpha-synuclein as a biomarker for Parkinson's disease. *Brain Pathol.* 26, 410–418. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12370
- Bae, E.-J., Yang, N. Y., Lee, C., Lee, H.-J., Kim, S., Sardi, S. P., et al. (2015). Loss of glucocerebrosidase 1 activity causes lysosomal dysfunction and  $\alpha$ -synuclein aggregation. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 47:e153. doi: 10.1038/emm.2014.128
- Balducci, C., Pierguidi, L., Persichetti, E., Parnetti, L., Sbaragli, M., Tassi, C., et al. (2007). Lysosomal hydrolases in cerebrospinal fluid from subjects with Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 22, 1481–1484. doi: 10.1002/mds.21399
- Barkovits, K., Kruse, N., Linden, A., Tönges, L., Pfeiffer, K., Mollenhauer, B., et al. (2020). Blood contamination in CSF and its impact on quantitative analysis of alpha-synuclein. *Cells* 9:370. doi: 10.3390/cells9020370
- Ben Romdhan, S., Farhat, N., Nasri, A., Lesage, S., Hdiji, O., Ben Djebara, M., et al. (2018). LRRK2 G2019S Parkinson's disease with more benign phenotype than idiopathic. Acta Neurol. Scand. 138, 425–431. doi: 10.1111/ane.12996
- Beutler, E., Gelbart, T., and Scott, C. R. (2005). Hematologically important mutations: gaucher disease. *Blood Cells Mol. Dis.* 35, 355–364. doi: 10.1016/j. bcmd.2005.07.005
- Bonifati, V., Rohé, C. F., Breedveld, G. J., Fabrizio, E., Mari, M., de, et al. (2005). Early-onset parkinsonism associated with PINK1 mutations: frequency, genotypes, and phenotypes. *Neurology* 65, 87–95. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl. 0000167546.39375.82
- Borsche, M., König, I. R., Delcambre, S., Petrucci, S., Balck, A., Brüggemann, N., et al. (2020). Mitochondrial damage-associated inflammation highlights biomarkers in PRKN/PINK1 parkinsonism. *Brain* 143, 3041–3051. doi: 10. 1093/brain/awaa246
- Braak, H., Del Tredici, K., Rüb, U., Vos, R. A. I., de, Jansen Steur, E. N. H., et al. (2003). Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 24, 197–211. doi: 10.1016/s0197-4580(02)00065-9

contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

### FUNDING

We acknowledge support by the Open Access Publication Fund of the University of Duisburg-Essen. This work was further supported by the Bundesministerium für Forschung und Bildung (BMBF) through funding for the TreatHSP network ( $N^{\circ}01GM1905$  to SK).

- Clarimon, J., Johnson, J., Djaldetti, R., Hernandez, D., Hattori, N., Sroka, H., et al. (2005). Mutation of the Parkin gene in a Persian family: clinical progression over a 40-year period. *Mov. Disord.* 20, 887–890. doi: 10.1002/mds.20495
- Clark, I. E., Dodson, M. W., Jiang, C., Cao, J. H., Huh, J. R., Seol, J. H., et al. (2006). Drosophila pink1 is required for mitochondrial function and interacts genetically with parkin. *Nature* 441, 1162–1166. doi: 10.1038/nature04779
- Conway, K. A., Lee, S. J., Rochet, J. C., Ding, T. T., Williamson, R. E., and Lansbury, P. T. (2000). Acceleration of oligomerization, not fibrillization, is a shared property of both alpha-synuclein mutations linked to early-onset Parkinson's disease: implications for pathogenesis and therapy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 571–576. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.2.571
- Cook, D. A., Kannarkat, G. T., Cintron, A. F., Butkovich, L. M., Fraser, K. B., Chang, J., et al. (2017). LRRK2 levels in immune cells are increased in Parkinson's disease. NPJ Parkinsons Dis. 3:11. doi: 10.1038/s41531-017-0010-8
- Cook, L., Schulze, J., Naito, A., and Alcalay, R. N. (2021). The role of genetic testing for Parkinson's disease. *Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep.* 21:17.
- Da Azeredo, Silveira, S., Schneider, B. L., Cifuentes-Diaz, C., Sage, D., Abbas-Terki, T., et al. (2009). Phosphorylation does not prompt, nor prevent, the formation of alpha-synuclein toxic species in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 18, 872–887. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddn417
- Davis, R. L., Wong, S. L., Carling, P. J., Payne, T., Sue, C. M., and Bandmann, O. (2020). Serum FGF-21, GDF-15, and blood mtDNA copy number are not biomarkers of Parkinson disease. *Neurol. Clin. Pract.* 10, 40–46. doi: 10.1212/ CPJ.00000000000000702
- Di Maio, R., Hoffman, E. K., Rocha, E. M., Keeney, M. T., Sanders, L. H., Miranda, B. R., et al. (2018). LRRK2 activation in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 10:eaar5429. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aar5429
- Dolgacheva, L. P., Berezhnov, A. V., Fedotova, E. I., Zinchenko, V. P., and Abramov, A. Y. (2019). Role of DJ-1 in the mechanism of pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 51, 175–188. doi: 10.1007/s10863-019-09798-4
- Du, S., Ou, H., Cui, R., Jiang, N., Zhang, M., Li, X., et al. (2019). Delivery of glucosylceramidase beta gene using AAV9 vector therapy as a treatment strategy in mouse models of gaucher disease. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 30, 155–167. doi: 10. 1089/hum.2018.072
- Dzamko, N., Deak, M., Hentati, F., Reith, A. D., Prescott, A. R., Alessi, D. R., et al. (2010). Inhibition of LRRK2 kinase activity leads to dephosphorylation of Ser(910)/Ser(935), disruption of 14-3-3 binding and altered cytoplasmic localization. *Biochem. J.* 430, 405–413. doi: 10.1042/BJ2010 0784
- Ephraty, L., Porat, O., Israeli, D., Cohen, O. S., Tunkel, O., Yael, S., et al. (2007). Neuropsychiatric and cognitive features in autosomal-recessive early parkinsonism due to PINK1 mutations. *Mov. Disord.* 22, 566–569. doi: 10.1002/ mds.21319
- Eusebi, P., Giannandrea, D., Biscetti, L., Abraha, I., Chiasserini, D., Orso, M., et al. (2017). Diagnostic utility of cerebrospinal fluid α-synuclein in Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mov. Disord.* 32, 1389–1400. doi: 10.1002/mds.27110
- Fairfoul, G., McGuire, L. I., Pal, S., Ironside, J. W., Neumann, J., Christie, S., et al. (2016). Alpha-synuclein RT-QuIC in the CSF of patients with alpha-synucleinopathies. Ann. Clin. Transl. Neurol. 3, 812–818. doi: 10.1002/ acn3.338

- Fan, Y., Howden, A. J., Sarhan, A. R., Lis, P., Ito, G., Martinez, T. N., et al. (2018). Interrogating Parkinson's disease LRRK2 kinase pathway activity by assessing Rab10 phosphorylation in human neutrophils. *Biochem. J.* 475, 23–44. doi: 10.1042/BCJ20170803
- Farah, R., Haraty, H., Salame, Z., Fares, Y., Ojcius, D. M., and Said Sadier, N. (2018). Salivary biomarkers for the diagnosis and monitoring of neurological diseases. *Biomed. J.* 41, 63–87. doi: 10.1016/j.bj.2018.03.004
- Farotti, L., Paciotti, S., Tasegian, A., Eusebi, P., and Parnetti, L. (2017). Discovery, validation and optimization of cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers for use in Parkinson's disease. *Expert Rev. Mol. Diagn.* 17, 771–780. doi: 10.1080/ 14737159.2017.1341312
- Ferraris, A., Ialongo, T., Passali, G. C., Pellecchia, M. T., Brusa, L., Laruffa, M., et al. (2009). Olfactory dysfunction in Parkinsonism caused by PINK1 mutations. *Mov. Disord.* 24, 2350–2357. doi: 10.1002/mds.22816
- Fiesel, F. C., Ando, M., Hudec, R., Hill, A. R., Castanedes-Casey, M., Caulfield, T. R., et al. (2015). (Patho-)physiological relevance of PINK1-dependent ubiquitin phosphorylation. *EMBO Rep.* 16, 1114–1130. doi: 10.15252/embr. 201540514
- Forno, L. S. (1996). Neuropathology of Parkinson's disease. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 55, 259–272. doi: 10.1097/00005072-199603000-00001
- Fraser, K. B., Moehle, M. S., Alcalay, R. N., West, A. B., Bressman, S., Giladi, N., et al. (2016). Urinary LRRK2 phosphorylation predicts parkinsonian phenotypes in G2019S LRRK2 carriers. *Neurology* 86, 994–999. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.000000000002436
- Fraser, K. B., Moehle, M. S., Daher, J. P. L., Webber, P. J., Williams, J. Y., Stewart, C. A., et al. (2013). LRRK2 secretion in exosomes is regulated by 14-3-3. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 22, 4988–5000. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt346
- Fuji, R. N., Flagella, M., Baca, M., Baptista, M. A. S., Brodbeck, J., Chan, B. K., et al. (2015). Effect of selective LRRK2 kinase inhibition on nonhuman primate lung. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 7:273ra15. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa3634
- Fujiwara, H., Hasegawa, M., Dohmae, N., Kawashima, A., Masliah, E., Goldberg, M. S., et al. (2002). alpha-Synuclein is phosphorylated in synucleinopathy lesions. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 4, 160–164. doi: 10.1038/ncb748
- Gámez-Valero, A., Prada-Dacasa, P., Santos, C., Adame-Castillo, C., Campdelacreu, J., Reñé, R., et al. (2016). GBA mutations are associated with earlier onset and male sex in dementia with lewy bodies. *Mov. Disord.* 31, 1066–1070. doi: 10.1002/mds.26593
- Gorbatyuk, O. S., Li, S., Sullivan, L. F., Chen, W., Kondrikova, G., Manfredsson, F. P., et al. (2008). The phosphorylation state of Ser-129 in human alphasynuclein determines neurodegeneration in a rat model of Parkinson disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 763–768. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0711053105
- Green, H. F., Khosousi, S., and Svenningsson, P. (2019). Plasma IL-6 and IL-17A correlate with severity of motor and non-motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease. J. Parkinsons Dis. 9, 705–709. doi: 10.3233/JPD-191699
- Greene, J. C., Whitworth, A. J., Kuo, I., Andrews, L. A., Feany, M. B., and Pallanck, L. J. (2003). Mitochondrial pathology and apoptotic muscle degeneration in *Drosophila* parkin mutants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 4078–4083. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0737556100
- Groveman, B. R., Orrù, C. D., Hughson, A. G., Raymond, L. D., Zanusso, G., Ghetti, B., et al. (2018). Rapid and ultra-sensitive quantitation of disease-associated α-synuclein seeds in brain and cerebrospinal fluid by αSyn RT-QuIC. *Acta Neuropathol. Commun.* 6:7. doi: 10.1186/s40478-018-0508-2
- Grünewald, A., Kasten, M., Ziegler, A., and Klein, C. (2013). Next-generation phenotyping using the parkin example: time to catch up with genetics. *JAMA Neurol.* 70, 1186–1191. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.488
- Gui, Y.-X., Xu, Z.-P., Lv, W., Zhao, J.-J., and Hu, X.-Y. (2015). Evidence for polymerase gamma, POLG1 variation in reduced mitochondrial DNA copy number in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinson. Relat. Disord.* 21, 282–286. doi: 10. 1016/j.parkreldis.2014.12.030
- Hall, S., Surova, Y., Öhrfelt, A., Blennow, K., Zetterberg, H., and Hansson, O. (2016). Longitudinal measurements of cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 31, 898–905. doi: 10.1002/mds.26578
- Healy, D. G., Falchi, M., O'Sullivan, S. S., Bonifati, V., Durr, A., Bressman, S., et al. (2008). Phenotype, genotype, and worldwide genetic penetrance of LRRK2associated Parkinson's disease: a case-control study. *Lancet Neurol.* 7, 583–590. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70117-0
- Henchcliffe, C., Shungu, D. C., Mao, X., Huang, C., Nirenberg, M. J., Jenkins, B. G., et al. (2008). Multinuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy for in vivo

assessment of mitochondrial dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1147, 206–220. doi: 10.1196/annals.1427.037

- Henderson, M. X., Trojanowski, J. Q., and Lee, V. M.-Y. (2019). α-Synuclein pathology in Parkinson's disease and related α-synucleinopathies. *Neurosci. Lett.* 709, 134316. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2019.134316
- Hilker, R., Pilatus, U., Eggers, C., Hagenah, J., Roggendorf, J., Baudrexel, S., et al. (2012). The bioenergetic status relates to dopamine neuron loss in familial PD with PINK1 mutations. *PLoS One* 7:e51308. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051308
- Hou, X., Fiesel, F. C., Truban, D., Castanedes Casey, M., Lin, W., Soto, A. I., et al. (2018). Age- and disease-dependent increase of the mitophagy marker phospho-ubiquitin in normal aging and Lewy body disease. *Autophagy* 14, 1404–1418. doi: 10.1080/15548627.2018.1461294
- Hruska, K. S., LaMarca, M. E., Scott, C. R., and Sidransky, E. (2008). Gaucher disease: mutation and polymorphism spectrum in the glucocerebrosidase gene (GBA). *Hum. Mutat.* 29, 567–583. doi: 10.1002/humu.20676
- Huttenlocher, J., Stefansson, H., Steinberg, S., Helgadottir, H. T., Sveinbjörnsdóttir, S., Riess, O., et al. (2015). Heterozygote carriers for CNVs in PARK2 are at increased risk of Parkinson's disease. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 24, 5637–5643. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddv277
- Ibáñez, P., Lesage, S., Janin, S., Lohmann, E., Durif, F., Destée, A., et al. (2009). Alpha-synuclein gene rearrangements in dominantly inherited parkinsonism: frequency, phenotype, and mechanisms. *Arch. Neurol.* 66, 102–108. doi: 10. 1001/archneurol.2008.555
- Ibáñez, P., Lesage, S., Lohmann, E., Thobois, S., Michele, G., de, et al. (2006). Mutational analysis of the PINK1 gene in early-onset parkinsonism in Europe and North Africa. *Brain* 129, 686–694. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awl005
- Iranzo, A., Fairfoul, G., Ayudhaya, A. C. N., Serradell, M., Gelpi, E., Vilaseca, I., et al. (2021). Detection of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in CSF by RT-QuIC in patients with isolated rapid-eye-movement sleep behaviour disorder: a longitudinal observational study. *Lancet Neurol.* 20, 203–212. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(20) 30449-X
- Jackson, K. L., Viel, C., Clarke, J., Bu, J., Chan, M., Wang, B., et al. (2019). Viral delivery of a microRNA to Gba to the mouse central nervous system models neuronopathic Gaucher disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 130:104513. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd. 2019.104513
- Jang, J., Jeong, S., Lee, S. I., Seol, W., Seo, H., Son, I., et al. (2018). Oxidized DJ-1 levels in urine samples as a putative biomarker for Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsons Dis.* 2018:1241757. doi: 10.1155/2018/1241757
- Jeong, G. R., and Lee, B. D. (2020). Pathological functions of LRRK2 in Parkinson's disease. *Cells* 9:2565. doi: 10.3390/cells9122565
- Kane, L. A., Lazarou, M., Fogel, A. I., Li, Y., Yamano, K., Sarraf, S. A., et al. (2014). PINK1 phosphorylates ubiquitin to activate Parkin E3 ubiquitin ligase activity. J. Cell Biol. 205, 143–153. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201402104
- Kasten, M., Hartmann, C., Hampf, J., Schaake, S., Westenberger, A., Vollstedt, E.-J., et al. (2018). Genotype-phenotype relations for the Parkinson's disease genes parkin, PINK1, DJ1: MDSGene systematic review. *Mov. Disord.* 33, 730–741. doi: 10.1002/mds.27352
- Khan, N. L., Graham, E., Critchley, P., Schrag, A. E., Wood, N. W., Lees, A. J., et al. (2003). Parkin disease: a phenotypic study of a large case series. *Brain* 126, 1279–1292. doi: 10.1093/brain/awg142
- Khan, N. L., Katzenschlager, R., Watt, H., Bhatia, K. P., Wood, N. W., Quinn, N., et al. (2004). Olfaction differentiates parkin disease from early-onset parkinsonism and Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 62, 1224–1226. doi: 10.1212/ 01.WNL.0000118281.66802.81
- Kim, H.-J., Jeon, B., Song, J., Lee, W.-W., Park, H., and Shin, C.-W. (2016). Leukocyte glucocerebrosidase and β-hexosaminidase activity in sporadic and genetic Parkinson disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 23, 99–101. doi: 10.1016/ j.parkreldis.2015.12.002
- Kitada, T., Asakawa, S., Hattori, N., Matsumine, H., Yamamura, Y., Minoshima, S., et al. (1998). Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism. *Nature* 392, 605–608. doi: 10.1038/33416
- Klein, C., and Westenberger, A. (2012). Genetics of Parkinson's disease. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2:a008888. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a0 08888
- Kluss, J. H., Mamais, A., and Cookson, M. R. (2019). LRRK2 links genetic and sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 47, 651–661. doi: 10.1042/ BST20180462

- Krohn, L., Grenn, F. P., Makarious, M. B., Kim, J. J., Bandres-Ciga, S., Roosen, D. A., et al. (2020). Comprehensive assessment of PINK1 variants in Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 91, 168.e1–168.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging. 2020.03.003
- Lawton, M., Baig, F., Toulson, G., Morovat, A., Evetts, S. G., Ben-Shlomo, Y., et al. (2020). Blood biomarkers with Parkinson's disease clusters and prognosis: the oxford discovery cohort. *Mov. Disord.* 35, 279–287. doi: 10.1002/mds.27888
- Lee, A. J., Wang, Y., Alcalay, R. N., Mejia-Santana, H., Saunders-Pullman, R., Bressman, S., et al. (2017). Penetrance estimate of LRRK2 p.G2019S mutation in individuals of non-Ashkenazi Jewish ancestry. *Mov. Disord.* 32, 1432–1438. doi: 10.1002/mds.27059
- Lee, B. D., Shin, J.-H., VanKampen, J., Petrucelli, L., West, A. B., Ko, H. S., et al. (2010). Inhibitors of leucine-rich repeat kinase-2 protect against models of Parkinson's disease. *Nat. Med.* 16, 998–1000. doi: 10.1038/nm.2199
- Lerche, S., Schulte, C., Wurster, I., Machetanz, G., Roeben, B., Zimmermann, M., et al. (2021). The Mutation Matters: CSF Profiles of GCase, Sphingolipids, α-Synuclein in PDGBA. *Mov. Disord.* 36, 1216–1228. doi: 10.1002/mds.28472
- Lowes, H., Pyle, A., Santibanez-Koref, M., and Hudson, G. (2020). Circulating cell-free mitochondrial DNA levels in Parkinson's disease are influenced by treatment. *Mol. Neurodegener*. 15:10. doi: 10.1186/s13024-020-00362-y
- Lubbe, S. J., Bustos, B. I., Hu, J., Krainc, D., Joseph, T., Hehir, J., et al. (2021). Assessing the relationship between monoallelic PRKN mutations and Parkinson's risk. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 30, 78–86. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddaa273
- Lücking, C. B., Dürr, A., Bonifati, V., Vaughan, J., Michele, G., de, et al. (2000). Association between early-onset Parkinson's disease and mutations in the parkin gene. N. Engl. J. Med. 342, 1560–1567. doi: 10.1056/ NEJM200005253422103
- Maass, F., Schulz, I., Lingor, P., Mollenhauer, B., and Bähr, M. (2019). Cerebrospinal fluid biomarker for Parkinson's disease: an overview. *Mol. Cell Neurosci.* 97, 60–66. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2018.12.005
- Mabrouk, O. S., Chen, S., Edwards, A. L., Yang, M., Hirst, W. D., and Graham, D. L. (2020). Quantitative measurements of LRRK2 in human cerebrospinal fluid demonstrates increased levels in G2019S patients. *Front. Neurosci.* 14:526. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2020.00526
- Majbour, N. K., Vaikath, N. N., Eusebi, P., Chiasserini, D., Ardah, M., Varghese, S., et al. (2016). Longitudinal changes in CSF alpha-synuclein species reflect Parkinson's disease progression. *Mov. Disord.* 31, 1535–1542. doi: 10.1002/mds. 26754
- Mancini, A., Mazzocchetti, P., Sciaccaluga, M., Megaro, A., Bellingacci, L., Beccano-Kelly, D. A., et al. (2020). From synaptic dysfunction to neuroprotective strategies in genetic Parkinson's disease: lessons from LRRK2. *Front. Cell Neurosci.* 14:158. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2020.00158
- Marras, C., Alcalay, R. N., Caspell-Garcia, C., Coffey, C., Chan, P., Duda, J. E., et al. (2016). Motor and nonmotor heterogeneity of LRRK2-related and idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 31, 1192–1202. doi: 10.1002/mds.26614
- Marras, C., Schüle, B., Schuele, B., Munhoz, R. P., Rogaeva, E., Langston, J. W., et al. (2011). Phenotype in parkinsonian and nonparkinsonian LRRK2 G2019S mutation carriers. *Neurology* 77, 325–333. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 0b013e318227042d
- Melachroinou, K., Kang, M. S., Liong, C., Narayan, S., Levers, N., Joshi, N., et al. (2020). Elevated in vitro kinase activity in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 G2019S carriers: a novel enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay-based method. *Mov. Disord.* 35, 2095–2100. doi: 10. 1002/mds.28175
- Mollenhauer, B., Cullen, V., Kahn, I., Krastins, B., Outeiro, T. F., Pepivani, I., et al. (2008). Direct quantification of CSF alpha-synuclein by ELISA and first crosssectional study in patients with neurodegeneration. *Exp. Neurol.* 213, 315–325. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2008.06.004
- Moore, D. J. (2006). Parkin: a multifaceted ubiquitin ligase. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 34, 749–753. doi: 10.1042/BST0340749
- Morgante, F., Fasano, A., Ginevrino, M., Petrucci, S., Ricciardi, L., Bove, F., et al. (2016). Impulsive-compulsive behaviors in parkin-associated Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 87, 1436–1441. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000003177
- Mullin, S., Smith, L., Lee, K., D'Souza, G., Woodgate, P., Elflein, J., et al. (2020). Ambroxol for the treatment of patients with parkinson disease with and without glucocerebrosidase gene mutations: a nonrandomized. *Noncontrol. Trial. JAMA Neurol.* 77, 427–434. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.4611

- Nabli, F., Ben Sassi, S., Amouri, R., Duda, J. E., Farrer, M. J., and Hentati, F. (2015). Motor phenotype of LRRK2-associated Parkinson's disease: a Tunisian longitudinal study. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 253–258. doi: 10.1002/mds.26097
- Nakagaki, T., Nishida, N., and Satoh, K. (2021). Development of α-synuclein real-time quaking-induced conversion as a diagnostic method for α-synucleinopathies. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 13:703984. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021. 703984
- Nalls, M. A., Duran, R., Lopez, G., Kurzawa-Akanbi, M., McKeith, I. G., Chinnery, P. F., et al. (2013). A multicenter study of glucocerebrosidase mutations in dementia with Lewy bodies. *JAMA Neurol.* 70, 727–735. doi: 10.1001/ jamaneurol.2013.1925
- Nandhagopal, R., Mak, E., Schulzer, M., McKenzie, J., McCormick, S., Sossi, V., et al. (2008). Progression of dopaminergic dysfunction in a LRRK2 kindred: a multitracer PET study. *Neurology* 71, 1790–1795. doi: 10.1212/01. wnl.0000335973.66333.58
- Narendra, D., Walker, J. E., and Youle, R. (2012). Mitochondrial quality control mediated by PINK1 and Parkin: links to parkinsonism. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 4:a011338. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a011338
- Narendra, D. P., Jin, S. M., Tanaka, A., Suen, D.-F., Gautier, C. A., Shen, J., et al. (2010). PINK1 is selectively stabilized on impaired mitochondria to activate Parkin. *PLoS Biol.* 8:e1000298. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1000298
- Neudorfer, O., Giladi, N., Elstein, D., Abrahamov, A., Turezkite, T., Aghai, E., et al. (1996). Occurrence of Parkinson's syndrome in type I Gaucher disease. *QJM* 89, 691–694. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/89.9.691
- Neumann, J., Bras, J., Deas, E., O'Sullivan, S. S., Parkkinen, L., Lachmann, R. H., et al. (2009). Glucocerebrosidase mutations in clinical and pathologically proven Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 132, 1783–1794. doi: 10.1093/brain/awp044
- Nicoletti, V., Palermo, G., Del Prete, E., Mancuso, M., and Ceravolo, R. (2021). Understanding the multiple role of mitochondria in Parkinson's disease and related disorders: lesson from genetics and protein-interaction network. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 9:636506. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.636506
- Nishioka, K., Kefi, M., Jasinska-Myga, B., Wider, C., Vilariño-Güell, C., Ross, O. A., et al. (2010). A comparative study of LRRK2, PINK1 and genetically undefined familial Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 81, 391–395. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2009.185231
- O'Hara, D. M., Pawar, G., Kalia, S. K., and Kalia, L. V. (2020). LRRK2 and αsynuclein: distinct or synergistic players in Parkinson's disease? *Front. Neurosci.* 14:577. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2020.00577
- Omer, N., Giladi, N., Gurevich, T., Bar-Shira, A., Gana-Weisz, M., Glinka, T., et al. (2022). Glucocerebrosidase activity is not associated with Parkinson's disease risk or severity. *Mov. Disord.* 37, 190–195. doi: 10.1002/mds.28792
- Padmanabhan, S., Lanz, T. A., Gorman, D., Wolfe, M., Joyce, A., Cabrera, C., et al. (2020). An assessment of LRRK2 serine 935 phosphorylation in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells in idiopathic Parkinson's disease and G2019S LRRK2 cohorts. J. Parkinsons Dis. 10, 623–629. doi: 10.3233/JPD-191786
- Paisán-Ruíz, C., Jain, S., Evans, E. W., Gilks, W. P., Simón, J., van der Brug, M., et al. (2004). Cloning of the gene containing mutations that cause PARK8-linked Parkinson's disease. *Neuron* 44, 595–600. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.10.023
- Park, J., Lee, S. B., Lee, S., Kim, Y., Song, S., Kim, S., et al. (2006). Mitochondrial dysfunction in Drosophila PINK1 mutants is complemented by parkin. *Nature* 441, 1157–1161. doi: 10.1038/nature04788
- Parnetti, L., Farotti, L., Eusebi, P., Chiasserini, D., Carlo, C., de, et al. (2014b). Differential role of CSF alpha-synuclein species, tau, and Aβ42 in Parkinson's disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 6:53. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00053
- Parnetti, L., Chiasserini, D., Persichetti, E., Eusebi, P., Varghese, S., Qureshi, M. M., et al. (2014a). Cerebrospinal fluid lysosomal enzymes and alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 29, 1019–1027. doi: 10.1002/mds.25772
- Parnetti, L., Gaetani, L., Eusebi, P., Paciotti, S., Hansson, O., El-Agnaf, O., et al. (2019). CSF and blood biomarkers for Parkinson's disease. *Lancet Neurol.* 18, 573–586. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(19)30024-9
- Parnetti, L., Paciotti, S., Eusebi, P., Dardis, A., Zampieri, S., Chiasserini, D., et al. (2017). Cerebrospinal fluid  $\beta$ -glucocerebrosidase activity is reduced in parkinson's disease patients. *Mov. Disord.* 32, 1423–1431. doi: 10.1002/mds. 27136
- Pchelina, S., Emelyanov, A., Baydakova, G., Andoskin, P., Senkevich, K., Nikolaev, M., et al. (2017). Oligomeric α-synuclein and glucocerebrosidase activity levels

in GBA-associated Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci. Lett.* 636, 70–76. doi: 10.1016/ j.neulet.2016.10.039

- Pickrell, A. M., and Youle, R. J. (2015). The roles of PINK1, parkin and mitochondrial fidelity in Parkinson's disease. *Neuron* 85, 257–273. doi: 10.1016/ j.neuron.2014.12.007
- Piredda, R., Desmarais, P., Masellis, M., and Gasca-Salas, C. (2020). Cognitive and psychiatric symptoms in genetically determined Parkinson's disease: a systematic review. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 27, 229–234. doi: 10.1111/ene. 14115
- Polymeropoulos, M. H., Lavedan, C., Leroy, E., Ide, S. E., Dehejia, A., Dutra, A., et al. (1997). Mutation in the alpha-synuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. *Science* 276, 2045–2047. doi: 10.1126/science.276.5321.2045
- Prasuhn, J., Brüggemann, N., Hessler, N., Berg, D., Gasser, T., Brockmann, K., et al. (2019). An omics-based strategy using coenzyme Q10 in patients with Parkinson's disease: concept evaluation in a double-blind randomized placebocontrolled parallel group trial. *Neurol. Res. Pract.* 1:31. doi: 10.1186/s42466-019-0033-1
- Prasuhn, J., Kasten, M., Vos, M., König, I. R., Schmid, S. M., Wilms, B., et al. (2020). The use of vitamin K2 in patients with parkinson's disease and mitochondrial dysfunction (PD-K2): a theranostic pilot study in a placebo-controlled parallel group design. *Front. Neurol.* 11:592104. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.5 92104
- Pyle, A., Anugrha, H., Kurzawa-Akanbi, M., Yarnall, A., Burn, D., and Hudson, G. (2016). Reduced mitochondrial DNA copy number is a biomarker of Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 38, 216.e7–216.e10. doi: 10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2015.10.033
- Pyle, A., Brennan, R., Kurzawa-Akanbi, M., Yarnall, A., Thouin, A., Mollenhauer, B., et al. (2015). Reduced CSF mitochondrial DNA is a biomarker for early-stage Parkinson's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 78, 1000–1004. doi: 10.1002/ana.24515
- Qin, X.-Y., Zhang, S.-P., Cao, C., Loh, Y. P., and Cheng, Y. (2016). Aberrations in peripheral inflammatory cytokine levels in parkinson disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Neurol.* 73, 1316–1324. doi: 10.1001/ jamaneurol.2016.2742
- Riboldi, G. M., and Di Fonzo, A. B. (2019). GBA, gaucher disease, and Parkinson's disease: from genetic to clinic to new therapeutic approaches. *Cells* 8:364. doi: 10.3390/cells8040364
- Ricciardi, L., Petrucci, S., Guidubaldi, A., Ialongo, T., Serra, L., Ferraris, A., et al. (2014). Phenotypic variability of PINK1 expression: 12 Years' clinical follow-up of two Italian families. *Mov. Disord.* 29, 1561–1566. doi: 10.1002/mds.25994
- Rocha, E. M., Smith, G. A., Park, E., Cao, H., Brown, E., Hayes, M. A., et al. (2015). Glucocerebrosidase gene therapy prevents α-synucleinopathy of midbrain dopamine neurons. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 82, 495–503. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2015.09.009
- Saito, Y. (2014). Oxidized DJ-1 as a possible biomarker of Parkinson's disease. J. Clin. Biochem. Nutr. 54, 138-144. doi: 10.3164/jcbn.13-108
- Sánchez-Rodríguez, A., Martínez-Rodríguez, I., Sánchez-Juan, P., Sierra, M., González-Aramburu, I., Rivera-Sánchez, M., et al. (2021). Serial DaT-SPECT imaging in asymptomatic carriers of LRRK2 G2019S mutation: 8 years' followup. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 28, 4204–4208. doi: 10.1111/ene.15070
- Sano, K., Atarashi, R., Satoh, K., Ishibashi, D., Nakagaki, T., Iwasaki, Y., et al. (2018). Prion-like seeding of misfolded  $\alpha$ -synuclein in the brains of dementia with lewy body patients in RT-QUIC. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 55, 3916–3930. doi: 10.1007/s12035-017-0624-1
- Sardi, S. P., Clarke, J., Kinnecom, C., Tamsett, T. J., Li, L., Stanek, L. M., et al. (2011). CNS expression of glucocerebrosidase corrects alpha-synuclein pathology and memory in a mouse model of Gaucher-related synucleinopathy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 12101–12106. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1108197108
- Saunders-Pullman, R., Alcalay, R. N., Mirelman, A., Wang, C., Luciano, M. S., Ortega, R. A., et al. (2015). REM sleep behavior disorder, as assessed by questionnaire, in G2019S LRRK2 mutation PD and carriers. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 1834–1839. doi: 10.1002/mds.26413
- Saunders-Pullman, R., Mirelman, A., Alcalay, R. N., Wang, C., Ortega, R. A., Raymond, D., et al. (2018). Progression in the LRRK2-associated parkinson disease population. *JAMA Neurol.* 75, 312–319. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017. 4019
- Schulte, C., and Gasser, T. (2011). Genetic basis of Parkinson's disease: inheritance, penetrance, and expression. *Appl. Clin. Genet.* 4, 67–80. doi: 10.2147/TACG. S11639

- Shahnawaz, M., Mukherjee, A., Pritzkow, S., Mendez, N., Rabadia, P., Liu, X., et al. (2020). Discriminating α-synuclein strains in Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy. *Nature* 578, 273–277. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-1984-7
- Shimura, H., Hattori, N., Kubo, S. I, Mizuno, Y., Asakawa, S., Minoshima, S., et al. (2000). Familial Parkinson disease gene product, parkin, is a ubiquitin-protein ligase. *Nat. Genet.* 25, 302–305. doi: 10.1038/77060
- Shu, L., Zhang, Y., Pan, H., Xu, Q., Guo, J., Tang, B., et al. (2018). Clinical heterogeneity among LRRK2 variants in Parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 10:283. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2018.00283
- Smith, L., Mullin, S., and Schapira, A. H. V. (2017). Insights into the structural biology of Gaucher disease. *Exp. Neurol.* 298, 180–190. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol. 2017.09.010
- Smith, W. W., Margolis, R. L., Li, X., Troncoso, J. C., Lee, M. K., Dawson, V. L., et al. (2005). Alpha-synuclein phosphorylation enhances eosinophilic cytoplasmic inclusion formation in SH-SY5Y cells. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 5544–5552. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0482-05.2005
- Spillantini, M. G., Schmidt, M. L., Lee, V. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., Jakes, R., and Goedert, M. (1997). Alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies. *Nature* 388, 839–840. doi: 10.1038/42166
- Steger, M., Tonelli, F., Ito, G., Davies, P., Trost, M., Vetter, M., et al. (2016). Phosphoproteomics reveals that Parkinson's disease kinase LRRK2 regulates a subset of Rab GTPases. *eLife* 5:12813. doi: 10.7554/eLife.12813
- Steinlechner, S., Stahlberg, J., Völkel, B., Djarmati, A., Hagenah, J., Hiller, A., et al. (2007). Co-occurrence of affective and schizophrenia spectrum disorders with PINK1 mutations. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 78, 532–535. doi: 10.1136/ jnnp.2006.105676
- Stewart, T., Liu, C., Ginghina, C., Cain, K. C., Auinger, P., Cholerton, B., et al. (2014). Cerebrospinal fluid α-synuclein predicts cognitive decline in Parkinson disease progression in the DATATOP cohort. *Am. J. Pathol.* 184, 966–975. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.12.007
- Suzuki, M., Fujikake, N., Takeuchi, T., Kohyama-Koganeya, A., Nakajima, K., Hirabayashi, Y., et al. (2015). Glucocerebrosidase deficiency accelerates the accumulation of proteinase K-resistant  $\alpha$ -synuclein and aggravates neurodegeneration in a *Drosophila* model of Parkinson's disease. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 24, 6675–6686. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddv372
- Thaler, A., Gurevich, T., Bar Shira, A., Gana Weisz, M., Ash, E., Shiner, T., et al. (2017). A "dose" effect of mutations in the GBA gene on Parkinson's disease phenotype. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 36, 47–51. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis. 2016.12.014
- Thirstrup, K., Dächsel, J. C., Oppermann, F. S., Williamson, D. S., Smith, G. P., Fog, K., et al. (2017). Selective LRRK2 kinase inhibition reduces phosphorylation of endogenous Rab10 and Rab12 in human peripheral mononuclear blood cells. *Sci. Rep.* 7:10300. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-10501-z
- Tsika, E., Nguyen, A. P. T., Dusonchet, J., Colin, P., Schneider, B. L., and Moore, D. J. (2015). Adenoviral-mediated expression of G2019S LRRK2 induces striatal pathology in a kinase-dependent manner in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 77, 49–61. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2015.02.019
- Tsukada, H., Kanazawa, M., Ohba, H., Nishiyama, S., Harada, N., and Kakiuchi, T. (2016). PET imaging of mitochondrial complex I with 18F-BCPP-EF in the brains of MPTP-treated monkeys. J. Nucl. Med. 57, 950–953. doi: 10.2967/ jnumed.115.169615
- Valente, E. M., Abou-Sleiman, P. M., Caputo, V., Muqit, M. M. K., Harvey, K., Gispert, S., et al. (2004). Hereditary early-onset Parkinson's disease caused by mutations in PINK1. *Science* 304, 1158–1160. doi: 10.1126/science.109 6284
- van Rumund, A., Green, A. J. E., Fairfoul, G., Esselink, R. A. J., Bloem, B. R., and Verbeek, M. M. (2019). α-Synuclein real-time quaking-induced conversion in the cerebrospinal fluid of uncertain cases of parkinsonism. *Ann. Neurol.* 85, 777–781. doi: 10.1002/ana.25447
- Vilas, D., Shaw, L. M., Taylor, P., Berg, D., Brockmann, K., Aasly, J., et al. (2016). Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers and clinical features in leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 (LRRK2) mutation carriers. *Mov. Disord.* 31, 906–914. doi: 10.1002/ mds.26591
- Wang, S., Liu, Z., Ye, T., Mabrouk, O. S., Maltbie, T., Aasly, J., et al. (2017). Elevated LRRK2 autophosphorylation in brain-derived and peripheral exosomes in LRRK2 mutation carriers. *Acta Neuropathol. Commun.* 5:86. doi: 10.1186/ s40478-017-0492-y
- Wang, Y., Shi, M., Chung, K. A., Zabetian, C. P., Leverenz, J. B., Berg, D., et al. (2012). Phosphorylated α-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 4:121ra20. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3002566
- Watzlawik, J. O., Hou, X., Fricova, D., Ramnarine, C., Barodia, S. K., Gendron, T. F., et al. (2020). Sensitive ELISA-based detection method for the mitophagy marker p-S65-Ub in human cells, autopsy brain, and blood samples. *Autophagy* 17, 2613–2628. doi: 10.1080/15548627.2020.1834712
- Webb, J. L., Ravikumar, B., Atkins, J., Skepper, J. N., and Rubinsztein, D. C. (2003). Alpha-Synuclein is degraded by both autophagy and the proteasome. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 25009–25013. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M300227200
- Williams, S. M., Schulz, P., and Sierks, M. R. (2016). Oligomeric α-synuclein and β-amyloid variants as potential biomarkers for Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 43, 3–16. doi: 10.1111/ejn.13056
- Wilson, H., Pagano, G., Natale, E. R., de, Mansur, A., Caminiti, S. P., et al. (2020). Mitochondrial complex 1, sigma 1, and synaptic vesicle 2A in early drug-naive Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 35, 1416–1427. doi: 10.1002/mds. 28064
- Xicoy, H., Peñuelas, N., Vila, M., and Laguna, A. (2019). Autophagic- and Lysosomal-Related Biomarkers for Parkinson's disease: lights and shadows. *Cells* 8:1317. doi: 10.3390/cells8111317
- Yang, Y., Gehrke, S., Imai, Y., Huang, Z., Ouyang, Y., Wang, J.-W., et al. (2006). Mitochondrial pathology and muscle and dopaminergic neuron degeneration caused by inactivation of *Drosophila* Pink1 is rescued by Parkin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 10793–10798. doi: 10.1073/pnas.060249 3103

- Yu, E., Rudakou, U., Krohn, L., Mufti, K., Ruskey, J. A., Asayesh, F., et al. (2021). Analysis of heterozygous PRKN variants and copy-number variations in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 36, 178–187. doi: 10.1002/mds. 28299
- Zimprich, A., Biskup, S., Leitner, P., Lichtner, P., Farrer, M., Lincoln, S., et al. (2004). Mutations in LRRK2 cause autosomal-dominant parkinsonism with pleomorphic pathology. *Neuron* 44, 601–607. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.11. 005

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Tönges, Kwon and Klebe. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## **Complications After Deep Brain Stimulation: A 21-Year Experience in 426 Patients**

In-Ho Jung<sup>1,2</sup>, Kyung Won Chang<sup>1</sup>, So Hee Park<sup>1</sup>, Won Seok Chang<sup>1</sup>, Hyun Ho Jung<sup>1</sup> and Jin Woo Chang<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neurosurgery, Brain Research Institute, Yonsei University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea, <sup>2</sup> Department of Neurosurgery, Dankook University College of Medicine, Cheonan, South Korea

**Background:** Deep brain stimulation is an established treatment for movement disorders such as Parkinson's disease, essential tremor, and dystonia. However, various complications that occur after deep brain stimulation are a major concern for patients and neurosurgeons.

**Objective:** This study aimed to analyze various complications that occur after deep brain stimulation.

### OPEN ACCESS

### Edited by:

Jifeng Guo, Central South University, China

#### Reviewed by:

Jean-Jacques Lemaire, Université Clermont Auvergne, France Ling Chen, The First Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University, China

> \*Correspondence: Jin Woo Chang jchang@yuhs.ac

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Parkinson's Disease and Aging-related Movement Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

Received: 22 November 2021 Accepted: 11 March 2022 Published: 07 April 2022

#### Citation:

Jung I-H, Chang KW, Park SH, Chang WS, Jung HH and Chang JW (2022) Complications After Deep Brain Stimulation: A 21-Year Experience in 426 Patients. Front. Aging Neurosci. 14:819730. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.819730 **Methods:** We reviewed the medical records of patients with a movement disorder who underwent bilateral deep brain stimulation between 2000 and 2020. Among them, patients requiring revision surgery were analyzed.

**Results:** A total of 426 patients underwent bilateral deep brain stimulation for a movement disorder. The primary disease was Parkinson's disease in 315 patients, followed by dystonia in 71 patients and essential tremor in 40 patients. Twenty-six (6.1%) patients had complications requiring revision surgery; the most common complication was infection (12 patients, 2.8%).

**Conclusion:** Various complications may occur after deep brain stimulation, and patient prognosis should be improved by reducing complications.

Keywords: deep brain stimulation, complication, Parkinson's disease, essential tremor, dystonia, movement disorder, postoperative infection, intracerebral hemorrhage

## INTRODUCTION

Deep brain stimulation (DBS) is non-destructive and reversible compared with ablative stereotactic neurosurgical procedures, such as thalamotomy and pallidotomy. Therefore, DBS is currently considered a conventional treatment for movement disorders, including Parkinson's disease, essential tremor, and dystonia (Limousin et al., 1998; Schuurman et al., 2000; Simuni et al., 2002; Umemura et al., 2003; Okun, 2012; Larson, 2014; Krack et al., 2019).

However, various complications occurring after DBS are a major concern for patients and neurosurgeons (Umemura et al., 2003; Voges et al., 2006; Larson, 2014). For example, due to intracranial electrode insertion, DBS can cause intracerebral hemorrhage (ICH). In addition, DBS may cause skin erosion and infection because of the subcutaneous placement of a bulky foreign body called an internal pulse generator (IPG) and a long extension. The complications that require revision surgery after DBS exhaust patients physically, mentally, and economically (Chen et al., 2017).

Short-term studies with less than 4 years of mean follow-up on the complications occurring after DBS have been published, but no long-term follow-up studies have been conducted (Oh et al., 2002; Umemura et al., 2003; Lyons et al., 2004; Voges et al., 2006). Therefore, we aimed to conduct a large long-term study to review bilateral DBS performed by a single neurosurgeon at a single institution for 21 years. The complications that required revision surgery after DBS were analyzed, and our efforts to reduce the complication rate were described.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

Unilateral or bilateral DBS stimulation is performed for movement disorders (Parkinson's disease, essential tremor, and dystonia), psychiatric disorders (Tourette's syndrome and obsessive-compulsive disorder), and pain disorders. However, only patients with movement disorder who underwent bilateral DBS were included in this study to reduce bias due to various characteristics of the study subjects.

We selected the research subjects by reviewing medical records based on the following criteria: (1) patients who underwent bilateral DBS surgery (2) diagnosis of movement disorders such as Parkinson's disease, essential tremor, and dystonia (3) DBS performed during the period from January 2000 to August 2020 and (4) postoperative follow-up period of more than 1 year.

Six hundred and ten patients who underwent DBS surgery between 2000 and 2010 were identified. A total of 109 patients underwent unilateral DBS, and 501 underwent bilateral DBS. Among the 501 patients, 450 had bilateral DBS for movement disorders, such as Parkinson's disease, essential tremor, and dystonia. Twenty-four patients who were followed up for less than 1 year were excluded from the study. Four hundred and twenty-six patients who underwent bilateral DBS were finally enrolled and analyzed retrospectively.

Patients who underwent bilateral DBS surgery for movement disorders (Parkinson's disease, essential tremor, and dystonia) between January 2000 and August 2020 and who had a followup period of more than 1 year were included in the study. All surgeries were performed by the same neurosurgeon (JWC).

We defined complications requiring revision surgery as an additional surgical treatment performed due to complications after DBS. In addition, complications after DBS surgery were divided into hardware- and surgery-related complications. Hardware-related complications were caused by device problems such as extension fracture or disconnection. Surgery-related complications were defined as complications caused by the surgical technique and included postoperative infection and ICH.

We divided the 426 cases of bilateral DBS surgery performed in the 21-year period into four chronological groups based on the operation date. Group A included 106 cases (March 2000–June 2007), group B, 106 cases (June 2007–March 2011), group C, 107 cases (April 2011–February 2017), and group D, 107 cases (March 2017–September 2020). The operation time, complication rate, and infection rate for each group were compared. Comparing these four chronological groups, it was possible to identify changes in surgical outcomes according to our institution's surgical method and learning curve.

This study was conducted following the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Institutional Review Board of our institute (4-2021-1273). The requirement to obtain the patient's written consent was waived as this was a retrospective study.

### **Surgical Procedure**

The process of mounting the stereotactic frame and the magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) for planning has been described in our previous report (Park et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2020; Jung et al., 2021). All patients were mounted on the Leksell stereotactic frame G (Elekta Instruments AB, Stockholm, Sweden) under local anesthesia on the day of the surgery. After the stereotactic frame was fixed to the head, the patients underwent an MRI evaluation (1.5 Tesla Philips Achieva). The MRI sequences for the stereotactic biopsy included gadolinium-enhanced T1weighted images with a slice thickness of 1.5 mm and T2weighted images with a slice thickness of 2.5 mm. The DBS surgery consists of two stages. The first stage is the insertion of an intracranial electrode, and the second stage is the insertion of an IPG. The first stage was usually performed with local anesthesia, but if the patient could not tolerate the intracranial procedure with local anesthesia, the procedure was performed under general anesthesia. After creating a burr hole, a 2-3-mm dura incision was made. The microTargeting Single Insertion Electrode (FHC, Inc., Bowdoin, ME, United States) was inserted as planned using the microTargeting Drive System (FHC, Inc.). An intracranial lead was inserted when the final electrode target was determined through a microelectrode recording. In patients with Parkinson's disease, the target of the DBS electrode was the subthalamic nucleus or globus pallidus internus. In patients with essential tremor, the target was the ventralis intermedius nucleus, and in patients with dystonia, the target was the globus pallidus internus. When the first stage (i.e., insertion of the intracranial electrode) was completed, brain computed tomography (CT) was used to verify the accuracy of the DBS electrode placement and detect hemorrhage. The second stage was performed under general anesthesia, and an IPG was inserted into the anterior chest wall pocket above the pectoralis major muscle. After surgery, the condition of the device was checked using a cranial and chest X-ray.

### **Statistical Analysis**

Patients visited the outpatient clinic regularly to get an IPG check and medication adjustment. We identified the complications requiring revision operation during the follow-up period. The complications were divided into hardware- and surgery-related complications. The IBM SPSS Statistics software (version 25.0; IBM, Armonk, NY, United States) was used for the statistical analyses. The categorical variables were evaluated using the chisquare and Fisher's exact tests. The continuous variables were evaluated using Student's T-test, and the equality of variance



was considered using Levene's test. A *p*-value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

### RESULTS

Four hundred and twenty-six patients who underwent bilateral DBS were finally included and analyzed retrospectively. The analyzed patients comprised 227 (53.3%) women and 199 (46.7%) men. The mean age of the patients at the time of surgery was 57.5 years (range 8–77, standard deviation [SD] 11.9). The mean follow-up was 79.4 months (range 0–239, SD 54.6). The primary disease was Parkinson's disease in 315 (73.9%) patients, followed by dystonia in 71 (16.7%) patients and essential tremor in 40 (9.4%) patients. The mean operation time was 287.2 min (range 135–581, SD 74.9), the mean blood loss was 19.8 mL (range 5–540, SD 49.3), and the mean patients' body mass index (BMI) was 22.8 (range 12.6–41.4, SD 3.3).

The mortality rate was 0.5% (2/426). One patient died from aspiration pneumonia during the management of ICH and intraventricular hemorrhage (IVH) caused by intracranial electrode insertion. The other died from ventricular tachycardia during general anesthesia regardless of the surgical procedure. The morbidity rate was 1.4% (six patients; one intracranial abscess, two minor intracranial hemorrhages, and three major intracranial hemorrhages).

Among the 426 patients, 27 (6.3%) had complications requiring revision surgery. Three of the 27 patients had hardware-related complications, and 24 patients had surgery-related complications (Figure 1). All three hardware-related complications were impedance problems due to extension fracture or disconnection (Figures 1B, 2). The problems were solved by replacing the extensions. They occurred a

minimum of 3 years after surgery (39.7 months, 48.7 months, and 116.3 months).

Among the surgery-related complications, infection was the most common, accounting for 44.4% (12/27 patients) of all complications. Most cases (11 patients) involved extracranial infections, but one case described a brain abscess located at the intracranial electrode. Of the 12 cases, infection occurred after the primary DBS operation and after battery change operation in eight and four cases, respectively. After the last operation, infection occurred after an average of 23.7 months (range 5.2-47.1, SD 14.7). Two of the 12 cases had infection after skin laceration due to trauma, and four cases had the wire exposed due to skin erosion. The characteristics of the 12 patients who developed infection are detailed in Table 1, and their characteristics were compared with those of the 414 patients who did not develop infection (Table 2). Sex, age, primary disease, operation time, blood loss, BMI, hypertension, and diabetes mellitus were not significantly different between the two groups. However, the BMI of patients who had infection tended to be lower than that of patients who had no infection (p = 0.080).

In surgery-related complications, DBS removal or intracranial electrode reinsertion was performed in six patients due to lower DBS effects than expected. IPG repositioning was also performed in three patients because of a problem in the interrogation and charging of the IPG. In one patient, the IPG was firmly fixed by revision surgery due to Twiddler's syndrome (**Figure 3**). This syndrome is the conscious or subconscious manipulation of an IPG within its subcutaneous pocket, leading to twisting of extension wires and, ultimately, wire fracture.

Asymptomatic minor ICH that did not require surgical management occurred in four patients, and symptomatic minor ICH that did not require surgical management occurred in three patients. Major ICH requiring surgical treatment was observed in three patients. In one patient, no abnormalities were observed



**FIGURE 2** The two patients with bilateral DBS with high impedance due to extension wire fracture or disconnection. **(A,B)** A 63-year-old woman with Parkinson's disease experienced sudden worsening of symptoms 3 years after bilateral DBS. The examination revealed high impedance of the patient's left DBS system due to extension fracture (**A,B** arrows). After the revision operation to replace the extension wire, the patient's DBS system was restored to normal function. **(C,D)** A 48-year-old woman with Parkinson's disease experienced worsening symptoms 4 years after bilateral DBS. The examination revealed high impedance of the patient's left DBS system and an extension wire abnormality (**C,D** arrows). After the revision operation to replace the electrode and the extension wire, the patient's DBS system was restored to normal function. DBS, deep brain stimulation.

on brain CT immediately after surgery, but an ICH developed in the right frontal lobe with seizures 8 h after surgery. The patient underwent craniotomy and hematoma evacuation due to the large ICH, increased edema, and a midline shift. The patient was transferred for rehabilitation (**Figures 4A–C**). In another patient, right thalamic ICH and IVH were observed on the brain CT after intracranial electrode insertion, and a hematoma catheter insertion was performed immediately. After 1 month, the ICH was resolved, and the patient was transferred for rehabilitation (**Figures 4D–F**). Finally, in one patient, no abnormalities were observed on the brain CT immediately after surgery, but right thalamic ICH and IVH were observed on brain CT 16 h after the operation, and a hematoma catheter insertion was performed. The hematoma was resolved, but the patient died from aspiration pneumonia on postoperative day 30 (**Figures 4G–I**).

The characteristics of the 10 patients who developed ICH were compared with those of 416 patients who did not develop ICH

(**Table 3**). Sex, age, primary disease, operation time, blood loss, BMI, hypertension, and diabetes mellitus were not significantly different between the two groups.

We divided the 426 cases of bilateral DBS surgery performed for 21 years into four groups based on the operation date. Group A included 106 cases operated between March 2000 and June 2007; group B, 106 cases operated between June 2007 and March 2011; group C, 107 cases operated between April 2011 and February 2017; and group D, 107 cases operated between March 2017 and September 2020. The operation time, complication rate, and infection rate for each group are described in **Figure 5**. The average operation time initially exceeded 300 min, but recently, with the accumulated experience, the average operation time had been reduced to < 200 min. In addition, the recent complications and infections rates were also lower than those in the early days of DBS surgery.

Patient No.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
Sex	М	М	М	М	F	М	М	F	М	F	F	F
Age at diagnosis	58	44	68	49	57	72	41	60	54	12	52	57
Last operation	DBS insertion	IPG change	DBS insertion	DBS insertion	DBS insertion	IPG change	DBS insertion	DBS insertion	DBS insertion	IPG change	IPG change	DBS insertion
Estimated blood loss (cc)	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	100	<10	<10	<10
Infection period (months)	13.2	40.9	36.3	47.1	34.1	26.0	9.5	13.3	37.0	12.6	9.8	5.2
Scalp laceration due to trauma					$\checkmark$							$\checkmark$
Skin erosion	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$					$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				
Microbiology culture	No growth	Staphylococcus aureus	Pseudomonas aeruginosa	No growth	Staphylococcus aureus	Staphylococcus epidermidis	Staphylococcus aureus	s No growth	Staphylococcus epidermidis	Staphylococcus epidermidis	Staphylococcus, coagulase negative	Staphylococcus aureus
Device removal	Only debridement	Only debridement	Bilateral intracranial & IPG removal	Lt intracranial & IPG removal	Lt intracranial & IPG removal	Lt intracranial & IPG removal	Lt intracranial & IPG removal	Rt intracranial & IPG removal	Bilateral intracranial & IPG removal	Lt intracranial & IPG removal	Bilateral intracranial & IPG removal	Bilateral intracranial & IPG removal
BMI	18.4	24.7	21.1	19.3	18.2	23.9	25.3	21.9	24.7	12.6	18.9	24.7

 TABLE 1 | Twelve cases of infection after deep brain stimulation.

DBS, deep brain stimulation; IPG, internal pulse generator.

<b>TABLE 2</b>   Characteristics of patients who developed infection after deep brain
stimulation surgery.

	Normal cases	Cases with infection	р
Characteristics	(N = 414)	(N = 12)	
Sex			0.600
Female	222 (53.6%)	5 (41.7%)	
Male	192 (46.4%)	7 (58.3%)	
Age (y)	$57.7 \pm 11.7$	$52.0 \pm 15.4$	0.102
Primary disease			0.156
Parkinson's disease	309 (74.6%)	6 (50.0%)	
Dystonia	67 (16.2%)	4 (33.3%)	
Essential tremor	38 (9.2%)	2 (16.7%)	
Operation time (min)	$287.3\pm74.6$	$285.9\pm85.8$	0.952
Blood loss (mL)	$20.0\pm49.8$	$12.9\pm27.4$	0.406
BMI	$22.8\pm3.3$	$21.1 \pm 3.8$	0.080
Hypertension	88 (21.3%)	4 (33.3%)	0.518
Diabetes mellitus	38 (9.2%)	1 (8.3%)	1.000

BMI, body mass index.

### DISCUSSION

Complications that can occur after DBS surgery are diverse, and these severely affect doctors and patients. Among the 426 patients with movement disorders who underwent bilateral DBS insertion, 27 (6.3%) patients had complications requiring revision operation. Infection was the cause of the complication in 12 patients. The infection rate was 2.8%, lower than the 2.95–6.2% reported in previous studies (Umemura et al., 2003; Lyons et al., 2004; Voges et al., 2006; Pepper et al., 2013; Tolleson et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2017; Doshi et al., 2021). Infection after DBS surgery is the most frustrating complication because, in many cases, all devices inserted during the primary operation must be removed (Voges et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2017; Kim et al., 2020). The DBS system is physically connected from the intracranial electrode to the IPG by an extension wire. Once an infection occurs, the bacteria spread readily along the wire. Therefore, infection after DBS surgery cannot be resolved with only local debridement without device removal. Among the 12 cases with infection, only two were resolved with simple debridement and antibiotics without device removal. In six of the remaining 10 cases, the extension wire, IPG, and an intracranial electrode on the side of the infection were all removed. In the remaining four cases, the infection was resolved after removing the infected side and the opposite site device.

Short-term follow-up studies with less than 4 years of mean follow-up of complications occurring after DBS have been published (Oh et al., 2002; Umemura et al., 2003; Lyons et al., 2004; Voges et al., 2006), but no long-term follow-up studies have been conducted. Our study had a mean follow-up period of 79.4 months (6.6 years). Therefore, we consider that our study has an adequate power due to its larger size and follow-up duration than previous studies. In addition, the postoperative infection of the 12 patients developed at an average of 23.8 months (5.2– 47.1 months) after the DBS surgery. It is noteworthy that no infection was identified after 4 years post-surgery. Hence, our investigation has a longer follow-up period than the previous ones, but the complication rate is not higher.

In six of the 12 cases, infection occurred after external environment connection, e.g., scalp laceration and skin erosion. Defects of the skin barrier are a common finding in patients with infection after DBS surgery because they provide an entrance for causative bacteria (Oh et al., 2002; Kenney et al., 2007; Sillay et al., 2008; Fily et al., 2011). Therefore, patients with DBS should avoid trauma-related laceration, and neurosurgeons



FIGURE 3 | A 70-year-old woman with Parkinson's disease had a broken extension wire due to Twiddler's syndrome 3 months after primary DBS surgery. The skull and chest X-rays demonstrate twisted and broken extension wires due to Twiddler's syndrome (arrows). The patient underwent revision surgery to replace the extension wire and perform multiple firm internal pulse generator anchor sutures. DBS, deep brain stimulation.



FIGURE 4 | Major ICH requiring surgical treatment is observed in three cases. In one patient, no abnormalities are observed on brain CT immediately after surgery (A), but ICH developed in the right frontal lobe with seizures 8 h after surgery (B). The patient underwent craniotomy and hematoma evacuation due to a large ICH, increased edema, and a midline shift. Two months later, the patient was transferred for rehabilitation (C). In another patient, right thalamic ICH and IVH are observed on brain CT after intracranial electrode insertion (D), and hematoma catheter insertion was performed immediately (E arrow). After 1 month, the ICH was resolved, and the patient was transferred for rehabilitation (F). In another patient (D), and hematoma catheter insertion was performed on brain CT immediately after surgery (G), but right thalamic ICH and IVH are observed on brain CT immediately after surgery (G), but right thalamic ICH and IVH are observed on brain CT immediately after surgery (G), but right thalamic ICH and IVH are observed on brain CT 16 h after the surgery, and hematoma catheter insertion was performed (H arrow). The hematoma is resolved (I), but the patient died from aspiration pneumonia on postoperative day 30. ICH, intracerebral hemorrhage; CT, computed tomography; IVH, intraventricular hemorrhage.

should perform subcutaneous tunneling of extension wires at an appropriate depth during surgery. Skin erosion may occur later if the tunneling at a subcutaneous level is too shallow and close to the skin. We predicted that people with low BMI have a thin subcutaneous fat layer, so the extension passes close to the skin, increasing the occurrence of skin erosion and infection. However, our prediction did not achieve statistical significance in this study but only a statistical tendency. In patients with a thin subcutaneous fat layer, additional small skin incisions in the retro auricular or peri clavicle areas could help in subcutaneous tunneling at the appropriate depth.

Although statistical significance was not reached in the present study, many studies had reported that operation time and blood loss affect postoperative infection in DBS surgery (Ogihara et al., 2009; Wong et al., 2012; Tolleson et al., 2014). Therefore, we attempted to minimize operation time and blood loss in DBS surgery. The average operation time at our institution was 326.7 min in the beginning, but recently, it has been greatly reduced to 215.5 min. The primary reason for the shortened surgery time is the application of a single subcutaneous tunneling and a single battery insertion by using one double-channel battery instead of two single-channel batteries in bilateral DBS surgery since 2017. The second reason is using intraoperative CT, performed in our institution since 2018. Previously, after the first stage of intracranial electrode insertion, the patient had to leave the operating room and move to the CT room to verify electrode location. After the introduction of intraoperative CT, performing CT scans in the operating room allowed shortening

	Normal case	Case with ICH	р
Characteristics	(N = 416)	( <i>N</i> = 10)	
Sex			0.756
Female	221 (53.1%)	6 (60.0%)	
Male	195 (46.9%)	4 (40.0%)	
Age (y)	$57.5 \pm 11.9$	$60.1\pm9.1$	0.488
Primary disease			0.644
Parkinson's disease	306 (73.6%)	9 (90.0%)	
Dystonia	70 (16.8%)	1 (10.0%)	
Essential tremor	40 (9.6%)	0 (0.0%)	
Operation time (min)	$288.2\pm74.7$	$245.5\pm74.5$	0.075
Blood loss (mL)	$19.3\pm47.8$	$41.0 \pm 95.0$	0.490
BMI	$22.8\pm3.3$	$23.0\pm3.2$	0.827
Hypertension	88 (21.2%)	4 (40.0%)	0.233
Diabetes mellitus	37 (8.9%)	2 (20.0%)	0.231

TABLE 3 | Characteristics of patients who developed intracerebral hemorrhage after deep brain stimulation surgery.

ICH, intracerebral hemorrhage; BMI: body mass index.

of the operation time. The last reason is the accumulation of experience. This includes advances in the skills of the neurosurgeon, such as skin incision, drilling, and suture, and the rapid assessment of microelectrode recording when inserting intracranial electrodes. In addition, fast and accurate reading of the microelectrode recording is important for the proper placement of the intracranial electrode (Kocabicak et al., 2019; Soares et al., 2019; Reddy et al., 2020). We consider that the accumulation of experience and the technological advances in DBS surgery could shorten the operation time and reduce the complications and infections rates.

Intracerebral hemorrhage caused by intracranial electrode insertion is the most fatal among the complications after the DBS surgery; it is the most common cause of mortality and morbidity in DBS surgery. In this study, asymptomatic minor ICH that did not require surgical management occurred in four patients, symptomatic minor ICH that did not require surgical management occurred in three patients, and major ICH that required surgical management occurred in three patients. After the DBS surgery, the incidence of all ICH is 2.3%, and the incidence of a major ICH is 0.7%. In previous investigations, the incidence of an ICH after DBS surgery was 2.5-5.1% (Schuurman et al., 2000; Oh et al., 2002; Fenoy and SimpsonJr., 2014; Falowski et al., 2015; Park et al., 2017). Since the target location is fixed in DBS surgery, neurosurgery can modify the intracranial electrode trajectory by moving the entry point. Therefore, the neurosurgeon should carefully analyze the preoperative MRI to establish a trajectory to avoid arteries and veins. Although hypertension was not significantly higher in patients who developed ICH after DBS surgery in this study, previous investigations reported hypertension as a risk factor for ICH after DBS surgery. Voges et al. (2007) found that arterial hypertension and coagulopathy are risk factors for ICH after DBS surgery in patients aged  $\geq$  60 years. Yang et al. (2020) reported that male sex and hypertension are risk factors for ICH after



FIGURE 5 | The 426 cases of bilateral DBS surgery were divided into four chronological groups based on their operation date. The recent average operation time and complications and infections rates were reduced. DBS, deep brain stimulation.

DBS in Parkinson's disease. Two of the three patients with major ICH had no specific findings on immediate postoperative CT, but an ICH was observed on follow-up CT within 16 h of surgery. Therefore, we recommend careful blood pressure control during DBS surgery and up to 1 day after surgery.

Apart from infection and ICH, surgery-related complications include IPG repositioning, removal due to low therapeutic effect, and intracranial electrode repositioning.

Internal pulse generator repositioning was performed in three cases due to interrogation or recharging problems. This problem was not due to a defective device but due to an improper fixation of the IPG. Therefore, we classified these three cases of IPG repositioning as surgery-related complications and not hardware-related complications. IPG repositioning causes discomfort to the patient and may cause the IPG to overturn, thus interfering with the interrogation and recharging of the IPG. In addition, the continuation of IPG movement is the cause of the Twiddler's syndrome mentioned earlier. The Twiddler's syndrome was first described in patients with pacemakers and has been occasionally reported in patients with DBS (Burdick et al., 2010; Gelabert-Gonzalez et al., 2010; Penn et al., 2012; Franzini et al., 2018; Jackowiak et al., 2019; Adams and Shivkumar, 2020). This syndrome occurs because of the manipulation of the IPG within its subcutaneous pocket by the patient, leading to twisting of the extension wires and eventually an extension wire fracture. In previous studies, loose subcutaneous tissue, obesity, old age, obsessive-compulsive behavior, large subcutaneous pockets, and inappropriate IPG fixation were reported as predisposing factors for Twiddler's syndrome (Machado et al., 2005; Geissinger and Neal, 2007; Israel and Spivak, 2008; Burdick et al., 2010; Gelabert-Gonzalez et al., 2010; Astradsson et al., 2011; Silva et al., 2014; Sobstyl et al., 2015, 2017). Neurosurgeons cannot change patient characteristics such as subcutaneous tissue, age, and behavior. However, the IPG repositioning revision surgery incidence can be reduced by creating an appropriately sized subcutaneous pocket and performing firm multiple suture anchors.

Low therapeutic effect removal was performed in three cases. The device was removed or repositioned when the patient's symptoms did not improve despite the precise placement of the intracranial electrode in the planned location. The incidence of these complications requiring revision surgery may be reduced through a more careful patient selection and better preoperative target planning.

There were three cases where intracranial electrode repositioning was performed due to displacement of the intracranial electrode from our planned location. These complications can be reduced if the neurosurgeon fixes the electrode firmly and prevents the electrode from moving during skin and subcutaneous sutures.

Hardware-related complications occurred in three patients, including fracture or disconnection of extension wires. Normal DBS function was restored in all three patients by replacing the defective extension wire. Hardware-related complications accounted for a small proportion of the complications requiring revision surgery after DBS (3/27, 11.1%). We expect that advances in technology and improvement of DBS devices will further lower the hardware-related complication rate. All hardware-related complications occurred before 2010, and none occurred after 2010.

Our study is limited by its retrospective study design. In addition, since the number of infection cases (12 cases) and ICH cases (10 cases) was small, there may be a bias in statistical analyses identifying their characteristics. Therefore, caution should be exercised in the interpretation of the statistical analyses.

In conclusion, various complications can occur after DBS surgery. Twenty-six (6.1%) patients had complications requiring revision surgery, with the most common complication being infection (12 patients, 2.8%). These complications worsen the patient's prognosis. We attempted through this study to share our experience in the management of DBS complications and our efforts to reduce them. We believe that our experience is potentially helpful for neurosurgeons performing DBS surgery.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of Severance Hospital. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

I-HJ: original draft, data curation, formal analysis, and methodology. KC and SP: data curation and formal analysis. WC and HJ: review and editing. JC: supervision, resources, review, and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Eun Jung Kweon (registered nurse, masters prepared nurses, Korean oncology advanced practice nurse), Sang Keum Pak (registered nurse, masters prepared nurses), and Seung Jun Kim (registered nurse) for their tremendous dedication in the Stereotactic and Functional neurosurgery department of Severance hospital.

### REFERENCES

- Adams, J., and Shivkumar, V. (2020). Twiddler's Syndrome in Deep Brain Stimulation. *Mov. Disord. Clin. Pract.* 7, 859–860. doi: 10.1002/mdc3.13035
- Astradsson, A., Schweder, P. M., Joint, C., Green, A. L., and Aziz, T. Z. (2011). Twiddler's syndrome in a patient with a deep brain stimulation device for generalized dystonia. *J. Clin. Neurosci.* 18, 970–972. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2010. 11.012
- Burdick, A. P., Okun, M. S., Haq, I. U., Ward, H. E., Bova, F., Jacobson, C. E., et al. (2010). Prevalence of Twiddler's syndrome as a cause of deep brain stimulation hardware failure. *Stereotact Funct. Neurosurg.* 88, 353–359. doi: 10.1159/000319039
- Chen, T., Mirzadeh, Z., Lambert, M., Gonzalez, O., Moran, A., Shetter, A. G., et al. (2017). Cost of Deep Brain Stimulation Infection Resulting in Explantation. *Stereotactic Funct. Neurosurg.* 95, 117–124. doi: 10.1159/000457964
- Doshi, P. K., Rai, N., and Das, D. (2021). Surgical and Hardware Complications of Deep Brain Stimulation-A Single Surgeon Experience of 519 Cases Over 20 Years. *Neuromodulation* [Epub ahead of print]. doi: 10.1111/ner.13360
- Falowski, S. M., Ooi, Y. C., and Bakay, R. A. (2015). Long-Term Evaluation of Changes in Operative Technique and Hardware-Related Complications With Deep Brain Stimulation. *Neuromodulation* 18, 670–677. doi: 10.1111/ner.12335
- Fenoy, A. J., and Simpson, R. K. Jr. (2014). Risks of common complications in deep brain stimulation surgery: management and avoidance. J. Neurosurg. 120, 132–139. doi: 10.3171/2013.10.Jns131225
- Fily, F., Haegelen, C., Tattevin, P., Buffet-Bataillon, S., Revest, M., Cady, A., et al. (2011). Deep Brain Stimulation Hardware-Related Infections: a Report of 12 Cases and Review of the Literature. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 52, 1020–1023. doi: 10. 1093/cid/cir065
- Franzini, A., Ranieri, R., Gambini, O., and Messina, G. (2018). Manipulating an internal pulse generator until twiddler's syndrome in a patient treated with deep brain stimulation for obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Acta Neurochir*. 160, 389–392. doi: 10.1007/s00701-017-3412-9
- Geissinger, G., and Neal, J. H. (2007). Spontaneous twiddler's syndrome in a patient with a deep brain stimulator. *Surg. Neurol.* 68, 454–456. doi: 10.1016/j.surneu. 2006.10.062
- Gelabert-Gonzalez, M., Relova-Quinteiro, J. L., and Castro-García, A. (2010). "Twiddler syndrome" in two patients with deep brain stimulation. Acta Neurochir. 152, 489–491. doi: 10.1007/s00701-009-0366-6
- Israel, Z., and Spivak, A. (2008). A tremulous twiddler. Stereotact Funct. Neurosurg. 86, 297–299. doi: 10.1159/000155231
- Jackowiak, E., Patil, P. G., and Chou, K. L. (2019). The Deep Brain Stimulation "Twiddler Syndrome". JAMA Neurol. 76:620. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2019. 0691
- Jung, I. H., Chang, K. W., Park, S. H., Moon, J. H., Kim, E. H., Jung, H. H., et al. (2021). Stereotactic biopsy for adult brainstem lesions: a surgical approach and its diagnostic value according to the 2016 World Health Organization Classification. *Cancer Med.* 10, 7514–7524. doi: 10.1002/cam4.4272
- Kenney, C., Simpson, R., Hunter, C., Ondo, W., Almaguer, M., Davidson, A., et al. (2007). Short-term and long-term safety of deep brain stimulation in the treatment of movement disorders. *J. Neurosurg.* 106, 621–625. doi: 10.3171/jns. 2007.106.4.621
- Kim, M., Jung, N. Y., and Chang, J. W. (2020). Image analysis of the intracranial lead bending phenomenon during deep brain stimulation. *PLoS One* 15:e0237537. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0237537
- Kocabicak, E., Alptekin, O., Aygun, D., Yildiz, O., and Temel, Y. (2019). Microelectrode Recording for Deep Brain Stimulation of the Subthalamic Nucleus in Patients with Advanced Parkinson's Disease: advantage or Loss of Time? *Turk. Neurosurg.* 29, 677–682. doi: 10.5137/1019-5149.Jtn.23307-18.3
- Krack, P., Volkmann, J., Tinkhauser, G., and Deuschl, G. (2019). Deep Brain Stimulation in Movement Disorders: from Experimental Surgery to Evidence-Based Therapy. *Mov. Disord.* 34, 1795–1810. doi: 10.1002/mds. 27860
- Larson, P. S. (2014). Deep brain stimulation for movement disorders. Neurotherapeutics 11, 465–474. doi: 10.1007/s13311-014-0274-1
- Limousin, P., Krack, P., Pollak, P., Benazzouz, A., Ardouin, C., Hoffmann, D., et al. (1998). Electrical stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus in advanced Parkinson's disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 339, 1105–1111. doi: 10.1056/ nejm199810153391603

- Lyons, K. E., Wilkinson, S. B., Overman, J., and Pahwa, R. (2004). Surgical and hardware complications of subthalamic stimulation: a series of 160 procedures. *Neurology* 63, 612–616. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000134650.91974.1a
- Machado, A. G., Hiremath, G. K., Salazar, F., and Rezai, A. R. (2005). Fracture of subthalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation hardware as a result of compulsive manipulation: case report. *Neurosurgery* 57:E1318. doi: 10.1227/01. neu.0000187566.01731.51
- Ogihara, H., Takeuchi, K., and Majima, Y. (2009). Risk factors of postoperative infection in head and neck surgery. *Auris Nasus Larynx* 36, 457–460. doi: 10.1016/j.anl.2008.10.005
- Oh, M. Y., Abosch, A., Kim, S. H., Lang, A. E., and Lozano, A. M. (2002). Longterm hardware-related complications of deep brain stimulation. *Neurosurgery* 50, 1268–1274. doi: 10.1097/00006123-200206000-00017
- Okun, M. S. (2012). Deep-brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 367, 1529–1538. doi: 10.1056/NEJMct1208070
- Park, C. K., Jung, N. Y., Kim, M., and Chang, J. W. (2017). Analysis of Delayed Intracerebral Hemorrhage Associated with Deep Brain Stimulation Surgery. *World Neurosurg*. 104, 537–544. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2017.05.075
- Park, Y. S., Kang, J. H., Kim, H. Y., Kang, D. W., Chang, W. S., Kim, J. P., et al. (2011). A combination procedure with double C-shaped skin incision and dual-floor burr hole method to prevent skin erosion on the scalp and reduce postoperative skin complications in deep brain stimulation. *Stereotact Funct. Neurosurg.* 89, 178–184. doi: 10.1159/000324903
- Penn, D. L., Wu, C., Skidmore, C., Sperling, M. R., and Sharan, A. D. (2012). Twiddler's syndrome in a patient with epilepsy treated with deep brain stimulation. *Epilepsia* 53, e119–e121. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012. 03489.x
- Pepper, J., Zrinzo, L., Mirza, B., Foltynie, T., Limousin, P., and Hariz, M. (2013). The Risk of Hardware Infection in Deep Brain Stimulation Surgery Is Greater at Impulse Generator Replacement than at the Primary Procedure. *Stereotactic Funct. Neurosurg.* 91, 56–65. doi: 10.1159/000343202
- Reddy, S. T., Fenoy, A. J., Furr-Stimming, E., Schiess, M. C., and Mehanna, R. (2020). Influence of Intraoperative Microelectrode Recording in Deep Brain Stimulation. *Neurologist* 25, 151–156. doi: 10.1097/nrl.000000000 000289
- Schuurman, P. R., Bosch, D. A., Bossuyt, P. M., Bonsel, G. J., van Someren, E. J., de Bie, R. M., et al. (2000). A comparison of continuous thalamic stimulation and thalamotomy for suppression of severe tremor. N. Engl. J. Med. 342, 461–468. doi: 10.1056/nejm200002173420703
- Sillay, K. A., Larson, P. S., and Starr, P. A. (2008). Deep brain stimulator hardwarerelated infections: incidence and management in a large series. *Neurosurgery* 62, 360–366. doi: 10.1227/01.neu.0000316002.03765.33
- Silva, P. A., Chamadoira, C., Costa, H., Linhares, P., Rosas, M. J., and Vaz, R. (2014). Twiddler (or Not) Syndrome: questioning etiology for an uncommon form of hardware malfunction in deep brain stimulation. *Surg. Neurol. Int.* 5, S410–S412. doi: 10.4103/2152-7806.140201
- Simuni, T., Jaggi, J. L., Mulholland, H., Hurtig, H. I., Colcher, A., Siderowf, A. D., et al. (2002). Bilateral stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus in patients with Parkinson disease: a study of efficacy and safety. *J. Neurosurg.* 96, 666–672. doi: 10.3171/jns.2002.96.4.0666
- Soares, M. I., Soares-Dos-Reis, R., Rosas, M. J., Monteiro, P., and Massano, J. (2019). Intraoperative microelectrode recording in Parkinson's disease subthalamic deep brain stimulation: analysis of clinical utility. *J. Clin. Neurosci.* 69, 104–108. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2019.08.021
- Sobstyl, M., Zabek, M., Górecki, W., and Brzuszkiewicz-Kuźmicka, G. (2015). Twiddler syndrome in a patient with tremor dominant Parkinson's disease. A Case Report Literature Review. *Neurol. Neurochir. Pol.* 49, 467–471. doi: 10.1016/j.pjnns.2015.10.004
- Sobstyl, M. R., Ząbek, M., Brzuszkiewicz-Kuźmicka, G., and Pasterski, T. (2017). Dual Anchor Internal Pulse Generator Technique May Lower Risk of Twiddler's Syndrome: a Case Series and Literature Review. *Neuromodulation* 20, 606–612. doi: 10.1111/ner.12581
- Tolleson, C., Stroh, J., Ehrenfeld, J., Neimat, J., Konrad, P., and Phibbs, F. (2014). The factors involved in deep brain stimulation infection: a large case series. *Stereotact Funct. Neurosurg.* 92, 227–233. doi: 10.1159/00 0362934
- Umemura, A., Jaggi, J. L., Hurtig, H. I., Siderowf, A. D., Colcher, A., Stern, M. B., et al. (2003). Deep brain stimulation for movement disorders: morbidity and

mortality in 109 patients. J. Neurosurg. 98, 779–784. doi: 10.3171/jns.2003.98.4. 0779

- Voges, J., Hilker, R., Bötzel, K., Kiening, K. L., Kloss, M., Kupsch, A., et al. (2007). Thirty days complication rate following surgery performed for deep-brainstimulation. *Mov. Disord.* 22, 1486–1489. doi: 10.1002/mds.21481
- Voges, J., Waerzeggers, Y., Maarouf, M., Lehrke, R., Koulousakis, A., Lenartz, D., et al. (2006). Deep-brain stimulation: long-term analysis of complications caused by hardware and surgery–experiences from a single centre. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 77, 868–872. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2005.081232
- Wong, J. M., Ziewacz, J. E., Ho, A. L., Panchmatia, J. R., Bader, A. M., Garton, H. J., et al. (2012). Patterns in neurosurgical adverse events: cerebrospinal fluid shunt surgery. *Neurosurg. Focus* 33, E13. doi: 10.3171/2012.7.Focus12179
- Yang, C., Qiu, Y., Wang, J., Wu, Y., Hu, X., and Wu, X. (2020). Intracranial hemorrhage risk factors of deep brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease: a 2-year follow-up study. J. Int. Med. Res. 48:300060519856747. doi: 10.1177/ 0300060519856747

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Jung, Chang, Park, Chang, Jung and Chang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Application of Neurotoxin-Induced Animal Models in the Study of Parkinson's Disease-Related Depression: Profile and Proposal

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Danling Wang, University of South China, China

#### Reviewed by:

Roberta Marongiu, Cornell University, United States Xian-Si Zeng, Jiaxing University, China

#### \*Correspondence:

Shi-Zhuang Wei weishizhuangyhdyy@163.com Chao Ren renchaotg@126.com Yong-Qiang Ji boltonjq@126.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Parkinson's Disease and Aging-related Movement Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

> Received: 06 March 2022 Accepted: 27 April 2022 Published: 13 May 2022

#### Citation:

Mou Y-K, Guan L-N, Yao X-Y, Wang J-H, Song X-Y, Ji Y-Q, Ren C and Wei S-Z (2022) Application of Neurotoxin-Induced Animal Models in the Study of Parkinson's Disease-Related Depression: Profile and Proposal. Front. Aging Neurosci. 14:890512. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.890512 Ya-Kui Mou<sup>1†</sup>, Li-Na Guan<sup>2†</sup>, Xiao-Yan Yao<sup>3†</sup>, Jia-Hui Wang<sup>4</sup>, Xiao-Yu Song<sup>1</sup>, Yong-Qiang Ji<sup>5</sup>\*, Chao Ren<sup>1,3</sup>\* and Shi-Zhuang Wei<sup>1</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Department of Otolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery, Yantai Yuhuangding Hospital, Qingdao University, Yantai, China, <sup>2</sup>Department of Neurosurgical Intensive Care Unit, Yantai Yuhuangding Hospital, Qingdao University, Yantai, China, <sup>3</sup>Department of Neurology, Yantai Yuhuangding Hospital, Qingdao University, Yantai, China, <sup>4</sup>Department of Central Laboratory, Yantai Yuhuangding Hospital, Qingdao University, Yantai, China, <sup>5</sup>Department of Nephrology, Yantai Yuhuangding Hospital, Qingdao University, Yantai, China

Depression can be a non-motor symptom, a risk factor, and even a co-morbidity of Parkinson's disease (PD). In either case, depression seriously affects the quality of life of PD patients. Unfortunately, at present, a large number of clinical and basic studies focused on the pathophysiological mechanism of PD and the prevention and treatment of motor symptoms. Although there has been increasing attention to PD-related depression, it is difficult to achieve early detection and early intervention, because the clinical guidelines mostly refer to depression developed after or accompanied by motor impairments. Why is there such a dilemma? This is because there has been no suitable preclinical animal model for studying the relationship between depression and PD, and the assessment of depressive behavior in PD preclinical models is as well a very challenging task since it is not free from the confounding from the motor impairment. As a common method to simulate PD symptoms, neurotoxin-induced PD models have been widely used. Studies have found that neurotoxin-induced PD model animals could exhibit depression-like behaviors, which sometimes manifested earlier than motor impairments. Therefore, there have been attempts to establish the PD-related depression model by neurotoxin induction. However, due to a lack of unified protocol, the reported results were diverse. For the purpose of further promoting the improvement and optimization of the animal models and the study of PD-related depression, we reviewed the establishment and evaluation strategies of the current animal models of PD-related depression based on both the existing literature and our own research experience, and discussed the possible mechanism and interventions, in order to provide a reference for future research in this area.

Keywords: Parkinson's disease, non-motor symptoms, depression, animal model, neurotoxin

## INTRODUCTION

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the most common degenerative dyskinesia disease at present. Motor retardation is the core diagnostic symptom of PD (Postuma et al., 2015). Pathologically, the progressive loss of dopaminergic neurons in substantia nigra and the formation of Lewy bodies are its main features (Ross and Bu, 2018). It has been more than 200 years since our recognition of PD (Zeng et al., 2018b), but its real etiology and pathogenesis are still unclear. The mainstream hypothesis is that PD is triggered by multiple factors including environmental, genetic, and aging factors (Fleming, 2017). Under the predicament that overemphasis on the diagnosis and treatment of motor symptoms still fails to stop the progression of the disease, people gradually realize that the non-motor symptoms (such as depression and olfactory disorder) that may manifest before the motor symptoms are potential indicators for early detection and early intervention of PD (Hasegawa, 2012). Depression, as one of the indicators, is receiving more and more attention. Similar to the effects of depression on other neurological diseases, it can cause many adverse consequences in PD patients (Menon et al., 2015) such as increasing the difficulty in the diagnosis and treatment of PD, inducing or aggravating PD symptoms, reducing patient compliance to treatment and rehabilitation, significantly increasing the rates of functional disability, recurrence, and mortality, severely reducing the quality of life of patients, and significantly increasing the economic burden on society. Although physicians and neuroscientists have been trying to solve the problem of PD-related depression, unfortunately, the relationship between depression and PD is still unclear. In the past, it was believed that depression is only a psychological stress reaction to the diagnosis of PD, just like people's pessimistic reaction to other chronic diseases such as diabetes. However, depression actually more commonly affects PD patients than people with other chronic diseases, it shows that the rate of severe depression is twice that seen in other equivalently disabled patients (Remy et al., 2005). Especially, there is a high risk of depression in the first year after the initial diagnosis of PD (Galts et al., 2019). Therefore, it is definitely not as simple as a psychological stress reaction after the diagnosis of the disease. Of course, it is also not likely that depression occurs solely as a secondary reaction to motor deficits in PD because the natural history of depression in PD does not parallel the progression of physical symptoms (Lemke et al., 2004).

With the progress of the study, people also found that depression may be a non-motor symptom in the whole course of PD, which can occur before (in the prodromal phase), synchronous to, and after the manifestation of motor symptoms (Storch et al., 2008). A recent-year study showed that the incidence of PD is higher in people with depression than in those without depression (Schuurman et al., 2002), which suggested that depression may also be a pathogenic factor of PD (Gustafsson et al., 2015). Based on these, we can see that the relationship between depression and PD is very complex. This also explains why there are big differences in the incidence (between 4% and 75%) and prevalence (between 2.7% and

90%) of PD-related depression based on epidemiological surveys (Reijnders et al., 2008). Whether depression is a premonitory non-motor symptom (Lemke et al., 2004), a risk factor (Ishihara and Brayne, 2006), or a co-morbidity of PD (Yapici Eser et al., 2017) is still unanswered at present. However, in either case, depression will lead to catastrophic consequences, as it increases the risk of developing PD and aggravates the conditions of PD patients. Therefore, early detection, diagnosis, and treatment of PD-related depression are particularly important. Especially if depression acts as a risk factor or non-motor symptom in the prodromal period of PD, we could stretch its potential as a biological marker to assist diagnosis, guide intervention, and predict prognosis before the occurrence of motor impairment, in order to maintain the health of patients.

Unfortunately, the reality is not optimistic. At present, a large number of clinical and basic studies are focused on how to better prevent and treat depression secondary to or combined with PD. Therefore, it is difficult to really achieve the early detection, diagnosis, and treatment. Why is there such a dilemma? The lack of systematic and standardized establishment and application of the animal model of PD-related depression may be an important reason. As we all know, the utilization of PD animal models has been very mature, especially the neurotoxin-induced model (Schober, 2004; Zeng et al., 2018a), and more and more studies have found that many non-motor symptoms similar to clinical patients, including depression-like behavior, can be seen in neurotoxin-induced PD animal models (Faivre et al., 2019). Therefore, it is worth thinking whether the neurotoxin-induced PD model can be used directly or after modification in the study of PD-related depression. This article comprehensively reviewed the general depression-like phenotype of PD animal models induced by different neurotoxins, and summarized the possible mechanisms and effective intervention measures, in order to provide new ideas for the study of PD-related depression.

### 1-METHYL-4-PHENYL-1,2,3,6-TETRAHYDROPYRIDINE (MPTP) AND PD-RELATED DEPRESSION

The induction of Parkinsonian-like symptoms by MPTP was discovered in the 1980s from the misuse of defective chemosynthetic drugs by drug users (Schintu et al., 2012). Since then, with the in-depth study of the role of environmental toxins in the development of PD, MPTP has received widespread attention as an experimental tool to simulate PD, especially in the establishment of PD animal models. Non-human primates and mice are common MPTP-induced PD model animals, and other models using rats, guinea pigs, and miniature pigs have also been reported. However, it is worth noting that rats are not sensitive to MPTP due to the limited ability of transforming MPTP to its active form 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridium (MPP<sup>+</sup>). Therefore, rats should be induced directly with MPP+for the modeling of PD. In general, MPTP is mostly administered by intraperitoneal injection (Airavaara et al., 2020), and of course, there are other routes including subcutaneous injection, intramuscular injection, intravascular injection, tube feeding,

nasal dripping, and brain stereotactic injection. According to the dose and frequency of intraperitoneal injection of MPTP, the MPTP-induced PD models can be divided into three types: acute, subacute, and chronic (Jackson-Lewis and Przedborski, 2007). In the acute model, MPTP was administered at 15-20 mg/kg every 2 h for four times. In the subacute model, the animals were treated with 25 mg/kg MPTP per day for five consecutive days. In the chronic model, also called the "progressive model", MPTP was given at 25 mg/kg every 3.5 days for 5 weeks, with the addition of Probenecid before each injection to increase the abundance of MPTP in the brain. Each type has its own pros and cons, and the phenotypes varied with the type and age of animals. In either type, most animal studies simulated the motor impairment symptoms of PD, but non-motor symptoms, especially depression-like behavior, were still inconclusive. With the continuous attempts at modification of the MPTP induction method, some studies have developed potential MPTP-induced animal models that could be used for the study of PD-related depression.

### General State of PD-Related Depression Model Induced by MPTP

As summarized in Table 1, the administration route of MPTP in PD-related depression models included intraperitoneal injection (Krupina et al., 2000, 2002, 2006, 2010; Pankova et al., 2004; Khlebnikova et al., 2009a,b, 2013; Chung et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2015, 2016; Li et al., 2018; Sampaio et al., 2018; Kiselev et al., 2019; Okano et al., 2019; Tang et al., 2020; Yan et al., 2020), intranasal injection (Castro et al., 2013; Schamne et al., 2018), and stereotactic injection (Santiago et al., 2010; Barbiero et al., 2014; Moretti et al., 2015; Cunha et al., 2017), of which intraperitoneal injection was the main route. However, there were differences in the dose and time of MPTP administration. Notably, the neurotoxic effects of MPTP seem to be mediated by its active oxidative product MPP<sup>+</sup>. In addition, it was also reported that MPP+ was directly used to induce PD-related depression (Moretti et al., 2015; Cunha et al., 2017). It is worth noting that in the MPTP-induced model of PD-related depression, some only showed depression behavior without causing motor damage (Castro et al., 2013; Moretti et al., 2015; Cunha et al., 2017), which well simulated PD-related depression that occurs as a premonitory symptom to motor symptoms. Depression-like behaviors in MPTP-induced PD models were mostly evaluated by a set of classical animal behavior tests, such as the learned helplessness paradigm (Winter et al., 2007), including the forced swimming test (FWT), and tail suspension test (TST), which mainly manifested a helpless state of animals. Additionally, the splash test (ST) and the sucrose preference test (SPT), which were performed as an indicator of anhedonia (Matheus et al., 2016) also can be considered using. The brain regions studied were mainly the hippocampus, frontal cortex, and striatum. In particular, some studies reported the incidence of depression in the MPTP-induced PD model. For example, Tang et al. injected MPTP (30 mg/kg/day for 7 days) into 6-8week old male C57BL/6 mice, and found about 60% of mice showed depression-like behavior (Tang et al., 2020), while Zhang et al. (2015) reported depression behavior in 66.7% of 22-26 g C57BL/6 mice after injection of MPTP (20 mg/kg/day for 7 days). Dissimilarly, some studies performed on MPTP models show no depressive symptoms in the SPT (Vucković et al., 2008; Gorton et al., 2010), FST (Santiago et al., 2010), and TST (Gorton et al., 2010). Another issue is that most MPTP-induced PD-related depression models used male rodents, whereas Schamne et al. induced PD model by intranasal administration of MPTP (1 mg/nostril) to female C57BL/6 mice of different ages (some underwent ovariectomy) to investigate the effects of gender and age (which actually reflect different hormone levels) on PD-related depression. It was found that adult female mice treated with MPTP were more likely to develop PD-related depression, and the manifestations were more diverse (such as easy to despair, anhedonia, and apathy; Schamne et al., 2018). Interestingly, anxiety-like behavior and cognitive memory impairment could also be seen in the MPTP-induced PD-related depression model (Cunha et al., 2017; Li et al., 2018). And PD models with the coexistence of pain and depression were also reported (Krupina et al., 2002, 2010).

# Possible Mechanism of PD-Related Depression Induced by MPTP

Current research hotspot of the mechanism of PD-related depression in the MPTP-induced PD model lies in whether depressive behavior is accompanied by changes in neurotransmitters, neurotrophic factors, neuroinflammatory factors, oxidative stress, nerve regeneration, and synaptic plasticity. However, there have been few reports of altered signaling pathways, one of which is the PKA-CREB pathway (Zhang et al., 2016). The involvement of the mTOR-regulated VTA-mPFC (Ventral tegmental area-medial prefrontal cortex) neural loop on PD-related depression in the MPTP-induced mouse model has been reported (Tang et al., 2020), which for the first time verified the neural loop hypothesis in PD-related depression using PD animal model. Another research team explored the electrophysiological mechanism of MPTP-induced PD-related depression (Pankova et al., 2004). In addition, abnormal peripheral blood granulocyte count (suggesting changes in anti-inflammation and immune status) might play an important role in the development of PD-related depression (Krupina et al., 2000). Some studies also revealed that the changes in prolyl endopeptidase and dipeptidyl peptidase IV activities were also important influencing factors of PD-related depression (Bastías-Candia et al., 2019; Khlebnikova et al., 2009a).

# Possible Interventions in PD-Related Depression Induced by MPTP

At present, therapeutic intervention against depression in MPTP-induced PD models mainly includes transmitter supplementation, anti-inflammation, anti-oxidation, promoting nerve regeneration, etc., and most of the drugs used are "traditional" drugs. Among them, the use of lipid-lowering agents has been mentioned by several studies. A nasal drip of Atorvastatin could improve the MPTP-induced depression behavior by increasing the levels of nerve growth factors in the striatum and hippocampus (Castro et al., 2013). Simvastatin

Mou et al.

TABLE 1         Summary of animal models of PD-related depression induced by MP	TP.
---	-----

Number	Reference	Model animal	Gender	Route	Dosage of MPTP/MPP+	Assessment of depression behavior
1	Zhang et al. (2016)	8-week 24–26 g C57BL/6 mice	Male	i.p.	MPTP (25 mg/kg) once a day for five consecutive days	FST∱, TST∱
2	Chung et al. (2015)	8–9-week 18–25 g C57BL/6 and ICR mice	Male	i.p.	MPTP (20 mg/kg) every 2 h for three times in one day	TST↑
3	Okano et al. (2019)	8–10-week 20–27 g C57BL/6J mice	Male	i.p.	MPTP (16, 17.5, 19, 20 mg/kg) every 2 h for four times in one day	TST↑
4	Sampaio et al. (2018)	90-day 22–30 g C57BL/6 mice	Male	i.p.	MPTP (20 mg/kg) every 2 h for four times in one day	FST↑
5	Yan et al. (2020)	C57BL-6 mice	Male	i.p.	MPTP (30 mg/kg) once a day for five consecutive days	TST↑, ST↓
6	Tang et al. (2020)	6–8-week C57BL/6 mice	Male	i.p.	MPTP (30 mg/kg) once a day for seven consecutive days	TST∱, FST∱, SPT↓
7	Zhang et al. (2015)	22–26 g C57BL/6 mice	Male	i.p.	MPTP (25 mg/kg) once a day for seven consecutive days	SPT↓, FST↑, TST↑
8	Krupina et al. (2000)	320–380 g albino Wistar rats	Male	i.p.	MPTP (20 mg/kg) once a day for 14 consecutive days	SPT↓, FST↑
9	Pankova et al. (2004)	380–430 g Wistar rats	Male	i.p.	MPTP (20 mg/kg) once a day for 13 consecutive days	/
10	Krupina et al. (2006)	320–450 g Wistar rats	Male	i.p.	MPTP (20 mg/kg) once a day for 14 consecutive days	SPT↓, FST↑
11	Khlebnikova et al. (2009a)	400–450 g Wistar rats	Male	i.p.	MPTP (20 mg/kg) once a day for 14 consecutive days	SPT↓, FST↑
12	Khlebnikova et al. (2013)	340–400 g Wistar rats	Male	i.p.	MPTP (20 mg/kg) once a day for 14 consecutive days	SPT↓, FST↑
13	Khlebnikova et al. (2009b)	320–450 g Wistar rats	Male	i.p.	MPTP (20 mg/kg) once a day for 14 consecutive days	SPT↓, FST↑
14	Kiselev et al. (2019)	20–22 g outbred mice, 24–26 g inbred C57BL/6 mice, 250–280 g outbred albino rats	Male	i.p.	MPTP (30 mg/kg)	FST↑
15	Li et al. (2018)	8-week C57BL/6 mice	Male	i.p.	MPTP (25 mg/kg) once a day for five consecutive days	SPT↓, FST↑, TST↑
16	Krupina et al. (2010)	350–450 g Wistar rats	Male	i.p.	MPTP (20 mg/kg) once a day for 2 weeks	SPT↓, FST↑

(Continued)

Neurotoxins Deciphering PD-Depression?

### TABLE 1 | Continued

Number	Reference	Model animal	Gender	Route	Dosage of MPTP/MPP <sup>+</sup>	Assessment of depression behavior
17	Krupina et al. (2002)	350–450 g albino Wistar rats	Male	i.p.	MPTP (20 mg/kg) once a day for 16 consecutive days	SPT↓, FST↑
18	Schamne et al. (2018)	3-month 20–25 g C57BL/6 mice (some were ovariectomized at 2 months old) and 20-month 25–30 g female C57BL/6 mice	Male Female	bilateral nasal drip	MPTP (1 mg/nostril)	SPT↓, ST↓, TST↑, FST↑
19	Castro et al. (2013)	4-month 300–350 g Wistar rats, 25–30 day Wistar rats	Male	bilateral nasal drip	MPTP (1 mg/nostril)	FST↑, SPT↓
20	Barbiero et al. (2014)	3-month 280–320 g Wistar rats	Male	stereotactic injection (bilateral SN)	MPTP (100 $\mu$ g/site)	FST↑
21	Santiago et al. (2010)	280–320 g Wistar rats	Male	stereotactic injection (bilateral SN)	MPTP (100 µg/site)	ModifiedFST∱, SPT↓
22	Moretti et al. (2015)	3-month 30–35 g C57BL/6 mice	Male	stereotactic injection (bilateral SN)	MPP+ (8 µg/site)	TST∱, ST↓
23	Cunha et al. (2017)	60–75-day 25–35 g C57BL/6 mice	Male	stereotactic injection (bilateral SN)	MPP+ (1.8 μg/mouse and 18 μg/mouse)	FST∱, TST∱, ST↓

i.p., intraperitoneal injection; SN, substantia nigra; FST, forced swimming test; TST, tail suspension test; SPT, sucrose preference test; ST, spatter test.  $\uparrow$ , The increased immobility time;  $\downarrow$ , The presence of anhedonia.

treatment alleviated hippocampal nerve inflammation and to some extent reversed the depression symptoms of PD mice (Yan et al., 2020). In addition to statins, Fenofibrate, a fibrate type of lipid-lowering drug, has been found to have antidepressant effects in MPTP-induced PD Wistar rats (Barbiero et al., 2014). At present, among the widely used antidepressants, only Fluoxetine has been used in the treatment of MPTP-induced PD-related depression (Zhang et al., 2015), and its antidepressant effect was not achieved through the classical pathway, but by affecting the expression of the 5-HT2B receptor on astrocytes. The role of Praxol, an antidepressant drug recommended in the clinical guidelines, on MPTP-induced PD-related depression was only mentioned when compared to the antidepressant effect of Selegiline, a monoamine oxidase B (MAOB) inhibitor (Okano et al., 2019). In addition, it was found that 1-[2-(4-Benzyloxyphenoxy) Ethyl] Imidazole could also improve the motor and depression symptoms of MPTP-induced mice by inhibiting MAOB (Chung et al., 2015). Other drugs, such as Crocin (Tang et al., 2020), dopamine D1 receptor agonist (Zhang et al., 2016), Pioglitazone (Barbiero et al., 2014), 7-Fluoro-1, 3-diphenylisoquinoline (Sampaio et al., 2018), Agmatine (Moretti et al., 2015), N-(5-Hydroxynicotinoyl)-L-glutamic acid (Khlebnikova et al., 2009a; Kiselev et al., 2019), benzyloxycarbonyl-methionyl-2(S)-cyanopyrrolidine (Khlebnikova et al., 2009b, 2013), and serum albumin (Pankova et al., 2004) also showed different degrees of anti-depressant effects in MPTP-induced PD models.

### 6-HYDROXYDOPAMINE (6-OHDA) AND PD-RELATED DEPRESSION

6-OHDA is a neurotoxin formed by the reaction of dopamine quinone (a substance produced by the redox reaction of dopamine during oxidation) in the presence of iron. It was found in the 1960s that 6-OHDA could lead to the degeneration of the substantia nigra-striatum system. In the 1970s, 6-OHDA was successfully used to establish the first animal model of PD with substantia nigra-striatum lesions (Airavaara et al., 2020). After that, there were more studies on 6-OHDA-induced PD models in vivo, and all of them have achieved good results. The animals used were mainly rodents (rats, mice, and guinea pigs), cats, and primates, and the most popular method was the injection of 6-OHDA into the medial forebrain bundle (MFB), substantia nigra, and striatum. As more and more studies have confirmed that there is a window between 6-OHDA-induced substantia nigra degeneration and the appearance of dyskinesia, which emphasizes its value in the preclinical study of PD (Branchi et al., 2008).

## General State of PD-Related Depression Induced by 6-OHDA

As shown in **Table 2**, the administration route of 6-OHDAinduced PD-related depression models was only stereotactic cerebral injection. Besides the three common injection sites MFB, substantia nigra, and striatum, injection in the locus ceruleus (Szot et al., 2016; Sampaio et al., 2019), lateral ventricle (Chenu et al., 2007), and ventral tegmental area of the midbrain (Furlanetti et al., 2016) have also been reported. Injections can be bilateral or unilateral, and the MFB is the most common site for unilateral injection, whereas the striatum is the most common site for bilateral injections. One study compared bilateral striatum injection and unilateral substantia nigra injection (Chen et al., 2014). In terms of the choice of animals, rats were most commonly used and mice accounted for only 8 out of 45 studies. The dosage of 6-OHDA is not uniform at present. The depression phenotypes were evaluated by behavioral tests such as SPT, FST, TST, and ST, but it is worth noting that more than half of the studies (28/45) used only one test to evaluate depression-like behavioral changes, which was mostly FST (16/28). PD-related depression is more common in 6-OHDA-induced animals with motor impairment and is sometimes combined with other non-motor manifestations such as anxiety, cognitive memory impairment, olfactory disorder, and rhythm disorder. Meanwhile, it is encouraging that the study of depression as a prodrome of motor impairment is increasing (Branchi et al., 2008; Matheus et al., 2016; Szot et al., 2016; Marques et al., 2019; Sampaio et al., 2019), in which a small dose injection of 6-OHDA in locus ceruleus is worthy of attention. In addition, it is worth further investigation that some 6-OHDA-induced models developed transient hypokinesia that spontaneously remitted, but with a persistent depressant phenotype. The exploration of the influence of gender on PD-related depression has also been reported in the 6-OHDA-induced model (Sullivan et al., 2014). Interestingly, this study not only looked into the gender factor but also compared the correlations between each cerebral hemisphere and PD-related depression. Other studies on 6-OHDA induction combined life stress (Furlanetti et al., 2015; Dallé et al., 2020) suggested that stress+neurotoxin might be a better composite model for the study of PD-related depression.

### Possible Mechanism of PD-Related Depression Induced by 6-OHDA

The exploration of the mechanism of PD-related depression using the 6-OHDA induction model is currently focused on the changes in nerve regeneration, neurotransmitter, oxidative stress, nerve inflammation, neuronutrition, etc. The hotspot brain area of study included the striatum, hippocampus, nucleus accumbens, lateral habenular nucleus, and ventral tegmental area, but there were still few studies on signaling pathways, including the BDNF-TrkB (brainderived neurotrophic factor-tyrosine kinase receptor B; Tuon et al., 2014; Sun et al., 2016) and Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathways (Singh et al., 2017; Mishra et al., 2019). In the studies of 6-OHDA-induced PD-related depression, there was no report on the involvement of the neural loop. But some studies, suggested that the ipsilateral and contralateral connections between the midbrain dopamine system and the medial prefrontal cortex might play an important role (Petri et al., 2015).

### TABLE 2 | Summary of animal models of PD-related depression induced by 6-OHDA.

Number	Reference	Model animal	Gender	Location of stereotactic cerebral injection	Dosage of 6-OHDA	Assessment of depression behavior
1	Santiago et al. (2010)	280–320 g Wistar rat	Male	bilateral SN	6 μg/side	Modified FST↑, SPT↓
2	Matheus et al. (2016)	12–16-week Wistar rats	Male	bilateral dorsal striatum	10 µg/side	SPT↓, ST↓, FST↑
3	Kamińska et al. (2017)	290–320 g Wistar Han rats	Male	unilateral MFB	8, 12, 16 µg	SPT↓
4	Alzoubi et al. (2018)	150–200 g adult Wistar rats	/	unilateral MFB	4 µg	TST↑
5	Souza et al. (2018)	75-day 280–320 g Wistar rats	Male	bilateral SN	6 μg/side	SPT↓
6	Beppe et al. (2015)	350 g Wistar rats	Male	unilateral SN	12.5 µg	FST↑
7	Feng et al. (2020)	350–400 g Wistar rats	Male	unilateral MFB	8 <b>µ</b> g	FST↑
8	Santiago et al. (2015)	280–320 g Wistar rat	Male	bilateral SN	6 µg/side	Modified FST, ↑ SPT↓
9	Santiago et al. (2014)	280–320 g Wistar rat	Male	bilateral SN	6 µg/side	Modified FST↑, SPT↓
10	Kumari et al. (2018)	250–270 g adult Wistar albino rats	/	unilateral MFB	10 µg	FST↑
11	Casas et al. (2011)	60–120-day 280–340 g Sprague-Dawley rats	Male	unilateral striatum	2 µg	FST↑
12	Prakash et al. (2013)	180–250 g adult Wistar rats	Male	unilateral SN	12 µg	FST↑
13	Antunes et al. (2014)	18-month 25–35 g C57BL/6 mice	Female	unilateral striatum	5μg	TST↑
14	Yan et al. (2019)	8-week 20–25 g C57BL/6 mice	Male	unilateral MFB	4 µg	SPT↓
15	Sampaio et al. (2019)	3-month 180–220 g Wistar rats	Male	bilateral locus ceruleus	5, 10, 20 µg/side	FST↑, SPT↓
16	Szot et al. (2016)	3-month 25 g adult C57BL/6 mice	Male	bilateral locus ceruleus	5, 10, 14 µg/side	FST∱, SPT↓
17	Kuter et al. (2011)	300–360 g Wistar rats	Male	bilateral ventrolateral region of caudate nucleus	$3.75 \ \mu g/side$	FST↑
18	Bonato et al. (2018)	280–320 g Wistar rats	Male	bilateral SN	6 μg/side	FST↑
19	Chenu et al. (2007)	4-week 18–20 g Swiss mice	Male	bilateral lateral ventricle	10, 20, 30 µg	FST↑
20	Guo et al. (2021)	adult 220–250 g Sprague-Dawley rats	Male	unilateral SN	12 µg	FST↑, SPT↓
21	Tuon et al. (2014)	25–30 g adult C57BL mice	Male	bilateral striatum	4 µg /side	FST↑
22	llkiw et al. (2019)	280–320 g Wistar rat	Male	bilateral SN	3 µg /side	Modified FST↑, SPT↓
23	Hsueh et al. (2018)	8–12-week-old 200 g–300 g Sprague-Dawley rats	Female	unilateral MFB	8 μg	FST↑
24	Marques et al. (2019)	3-month 300–350 g Wistar rats	Male	bilateral dorsal striatum	10 $\mu$ g/side	SPT↓, ST↓, FST↑

Mou et al.

(Continued)

Neurotoxins Deciphering PD-Depression?

### TABLE 2 | Continued

Number	Reference	Model animal	Gender	Location of stereotactic cerebral injection	Dosage of 6-OHDA	Assessment of depression behavior
25	Vecchia et al. (2018)	270–300 g Wistar rats	Male	bilateral SN	6 µg/side	SPT↓
26	Silva et al. (2016)	3-month 270–300 g Wistar rats	Male	bilateral dorsal striatum	12 µg/side	SPT↓
27	Campos et al. (2013)	300–350 g young adult Wistar rats	Male	bilateral SN	8 or 6 $\mu$ g/side	FST↑, SPT↓
28	Goes et al. (2014)	90-day 20–30 g C57BL/6J mice	Male	unilateral striatum	5μg	TST↑
29	Chiu et al. (2015)	12-week C57BL/6 mice	Male	bilateral SN	4 µg/side	FST↑
30	Tadaiesky et al. (2008)	250 g-370 g Wistar rats	Male	bilateral dorsal striatum	12 µg/side	SPT↓, FST↑
31	Furlanetti et al. (2016)	250 g adult Sprague-Dawley rats	Female	bilateral ventral tegmental area of midbrain	3.6 µg/side	FST↑, SPT↓
32	Furlanetti et al. (2015)	250 g adult Sprague-Dawley rats	Female	unilateral MFB	19.8 µg	FST↑, SPT↓
33	Sun et al. (2016)	200–220 g adult Sprague-Dawley rats	/	unilateral MFB	8 µg	FST↑, SPT↓
34 35	Yu et al. (2020) Bonito-Oliva et al. (2014)	adult Sprague-Dawley rats 25–30 g C57BL/6J mice	Male Male	unilateral striatum bilateral dorsal striation	20 µg 4 µg/side	FST↑, TST↑ TST↑, FST↑
36	Sinen et al. (2021)	3-month 250–300 g Wistar rats	Male	unilateral MFB	12 µg	SPT↓
37	Masini et al. (2018)	3-month 25–30 g C57BL/6J mice	Male	bilateral dorsal striatum	4 µg/side	FST↑
38	Petri et al. (2015)	220–280 g adult Wistar rats	Male	unilateral MFB	12.48 µg	FST↑
39	Branchi et al. (2008)	4-month Wistar rats	/	bilateral dorsal striatum	10.5 µg/side	FST↑, SPT↓
40	Chen et al. (2014)	280–300 g Wistar rats	Male	bilateral striatum, unilateral SN	12 μg/side of striatum; 8 μg per SN	SPT↓
41	Foyet et al. (2011)	$230\pm50~{ m g}$ Wistar rats	Male	unilateral SN	8 µg	FST↑
42	Dallé et al. (2020)	PND60-day 300 g Sprague-Dawley rats	Male	unilateral MFB	5 µg	SPT↓
43	Singh et al. (2017)	200–250 g Sprague-Dawley rats	Male	unilateral MFB	16 µg	FST↑
44	Sullivan et al. (2014)	250–275 g, Sprague-Dawley rats	Male, Female	left, right hemispheres (not bilateral)	4 µg	SPT↓
45	Mishra et al. (2019)	200–250 g adult Sprague Dawley rats	Male	unilateral MFB	16 µg	FST↑

PND, postnatal Day; SN, substantia nigra; MFB, medial forebrain bundle; FST, forced swimming test; SPT, sucrose preference test; ST, spatter test; TST, tail suspension test;  $\uparrow$ , The increased immobility time;  $\downarrow$ , The presence of anhedonia.

# Possible Interventions in PD-Related Depression Induced by 6-OHDA

Among the many studies that discussed the prevention and treatment of PD-related depression in the 6-OHDA-induced models, a drug intervention is the most common method. Dixipramine (Kamińska et al., 2017), Piroxicam (Santiago et al., 2014), 5-HT4R agonists (Guo et al., 2021), Reboxetine (Bonito-Oliva et al., 2014), and Fluvoxamine (Dallé et al., 2020) could improve the depression symptoms in the 6-OHDA-induced models by increasing the level of relevant neurotransmitters. Etazolate (Alzoubi et al., 2018), aqueous extract of albizia leaves (Beppe et al., 2015), 1-(7-imino-3-propyl-2, 3-dihydrothiazolo [4, 5-d] pyrimidin-6(7H)-yl)urea (IDPU; Kumari et al., 2018), hesperidin (Antunes et al., 2014) and methanol extract of cottonrose hibiscus leaves (Foyet et al., 2011) could antagonize 6-OHDA-induced PD-related depression through the antioxidant stress response. Schisanhenol A (Yan et al., 2019) has been reported to improve depression symptoms in the 6-OHDAinduced PD model through the anti-inflammatory pathway. Although the antidepressant effect of Praxol has been verified in the 6-OHDA-induced PD model, its mechanism might involve changes in hippocampal regeneration (Chiu et al., 2015). In addition, MK-801 (Diazolizepine; Singh et al., 2017) and D1 receptor agonist (Mishra et al., 2019) were also suggested to improve depression behavior in 6-OHDA-induced PD model by promoting hippocampal nerve regeneration. Other drugs that could improve depression behaviors in 6-OHDA-induced PD models included Agametine (Souza et al., 2018), progesterone (Casas et al., 2011), granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF; Prakash et al., 2013), \u03b3-adrenergic receptor agonist (Sampaio et al., 2019), Pioglitazone (Bonato et al., 2018), guanosine (Marques et al., 2019), Ketamine (Vecchia et al., 2018), imipramine (Vecchia et al., 2018), neuropeptide-S (Szot et al., 2016), Rapamycin (Masini et al., 2018) and Apamin (a selective blocker of small conductance calcium-activated potassium channels; Chen et al., 2014). It is alarming that Agomelatine has the risk of aggravating rhythm disorder besides its antidepressant effect (Souza et al., 2018). Excitingly, transcranial direct current stimulation (Feng et al., 2020), deep brain stimulation (Furlanetti et al., 2015, 2016), electroacupuncture (Sun et al., 2016; Yu et al., 2020), and exercise therapy (Goes et al., 2014; Tuon et al., 2014; Hsueh et al., 2018) also demonstrated certain effects on the improvement of depression in 6-OHDA-induced PD models, and most of them had multiple targets.

## ROTENONE AND PD-RELATED DEPRESSION

With the in-depth epidemiological investigation of PD, more and more attention has been attracted to the relationship between environmental toxins, especially pesticides used in agriculture, and the development of PD, and Rotenone is one of them. Rotenone is an insecticidal flavonoid found in many legumes and has been used as fish poison in Peru. It was later found to have high lipophilicity and therefore easy to pass through the bloodbrain barrier. Like MPTP, Rotenone leads to PD-like symptoms by inhibiting mitochondrial complex I and causing oxidative stress (Heinz et al., 2017). Also, it mediates the degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra striatum caused by the accumulation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein. Notably, rotenone leads to non-specific toxicity and motor impairment unrelated to nigral cell damage as well (Fleming et al., 2004; Klein et al., 2011). At present, Rotenone is often used to induce PD models in zebrafish and rodents, and the latter is mainly achieved by systemic injection or direct stereotactic injection. High-dose Rotenone effectively induces motor dysfunction but produces a significant lethal effect. Based on this, people have tried to modify its application to achieve a proper balance between efficacy and lethality. It is under this background that Rotenone-induced non-motor phenotypes of PD have also attracted much attention (Fontoura et al., 2017), among which the depression phenotype is one of the research hot spots.

## General State of PD-Related Depression Induced by Rotenone

As shown in Table 3 (Santiago et al., 2010; Morais et al., 2012; Noseda et al., 2014; Zaminelli et al., 2014; Shin et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2017; Madiha and Haider, 2019), there are less than 10 reports on Rotenone-induced PD-related depression by now, with most reports using rats as the model animal (6/8), and one report each with mouse and zebrafish. The number of reports of each administration route of Rotenone were: brain stereotactic injection (3/8), intraperitoneal injection (2/8), subcutaneous injection (2/8), and addition in water (similar to environmental exposure; 1/8). And the dosage of Rotenone was different in each report, even with the same administration route. As predicted, the brain areas affected were mostly the hippocampus and striatum, and in one article the dorsal raphe nucleus was affected (Shin et al., 2017). In terms of behavioral evaluation, due to the restriction in the living environment of zebrafish, the depression-like behavioral changes could only be evaluated by limited methods, which was the dark box test in this study (Wang et al., 2017). For the behavioral evaluation of rats and mice induced by rotenone, only SPT and FST, but no TST or ST were reported. In addition, the depression-like behavioral changes mostly occurred after the manifestation of dyskinesia, of course, occasionally accompanied by anxiety, olfactory disorders, and other non-motor symptoms. In addition, some studies have used a compound model of rotenone combined with rapid eye movement sleep deprivation (Noseda et al., 2014).

# Possible Mechanism of PD-Related Depression Induced by Rotenone

Like the small number of total reports, there were few literatures on the mechanism of PD-related depression induced by Rotenone, which generally involved oxidative stress or neurotransmitter changes, whereas no specific signaling pathways or neural loops were involved.

## Possible Interventions in PD-Related Depression Induced by Rotenone

In the limited number of reports, curcumin (Madiha and Haider, 2019), ibuprofen (Zaminelli et al., 2014), the melatonin

Number	Reference	Model animal	Gender	Administration route	Dosage of Rotenone	Assessment of depression behavior
-	Santiago et al. (2010)	280-320 g Wistar rats	Male	stereotactic injection (bilateral SN)	12 µg/side	ModifiedFST↑, SPT↓
0	Madiha and Haider (2019)	15–200 g Albino-Wistar rats	~	°. O	1.5 mg/kg/day for eight consecutive days	FST↑, SPT↓
e	Morais et al. (2012)	200–230 g Wistar rats	Male	i.p.	<ol> <li>2.5 or 5 mg/kg/day for</li> <li>10 consecutive days</li> </ol>	Modified FST↑, SPT↓
4	Zaminelli et al. (2014)	12-week 290–330 g Wistar rats	Male	i.p.	2.5 mg/kg/day for 10 consecutive days	Modified FST↑
5	Wang et al. (2017)	5-7 month wild-type Danio rerio	Male	in water	2 µg/L for 4 weeks	Dark box test
6	Noseda et al. (2014)	28–320 g Wistar rats	Male	stereotactic injection (bilateral SN)	12 µg/side	Modified FST $\uparrow$
2	Chen et al. (2017)	8-week ICR mice	Male	stereotactic injection (unilateral lateral cerebroventricle)	0.2 µmol/kg, 5 µl	SPT↓, FST↑
00	Shin et al. (2017)	9-week Sprague-Dawley rats	Male	S.C.	3.0 mg/kg/day for 10 consecutive days	FST↑

MT2 receptor-selective antagonist 4-P-PDOT (Noseda et al., 2014), and exercise therapy (Shin et al., 2017) were found to improve the depression symptoms in the Rotenone-induced PD model.

### LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE (LPS) AND PD-RELATED DEPRESSION

LPS is an endotoxin released from the destroyed outer cell wall of Gram-negative bacteria. LPS can activate epithelial cells, mononuclear macrophages, and endothelial cells to synthesize and release many inflammatory mediators and cytokines through a variety of signaling pathways, thus triggering a series of reactions in the body (Morris and Li, 2012). In general, a high concentration of LPS causes an extensive and strong inflammatory response, while an appropriate concentration can initiate a moderate immune response to enhance immune function. With the increasing attention on the role of neuroinflammation in the development of PD (Vivekanantham et al., 2015), the successful establishment of animal PD models induced by LPS (Joers et al., 2017), and the in-depth exploration of the function of LPS in depression, the reports of LPS in the study of PD-related depression are also gradually increasing.

### General Status of PD-Related Depression Induced by LPS

As shown in **Table 4**, there were fewer reports of PD-related depression induced by LPS. In the six studies we retrieved, the PD models were mainly induced by intraperitoneal injection of LPS in mice (4/6), with variance in sex and dose. The remaining two articles reported LPS-induced depression in PD rats, one by intraperitoneal injection and the other by brain stereotactic injection. Interestingly, despite the limited number of articles, several studies attempted low-dose LPS induction that caused only depression but no motor damage. In addition, FST was used in all six studies, either alone or in combination with SPT, SP, or TST. The only other non-motor symptom manifested was anxiety-like behavioral changes in these models.

## Possible Mechanism of PD-Related Depression Induced by LPS

As LPS induces a strong inflammatory response, the mechanism of PD-related depression induced by LPS is generally considered to be related to neuroinflammation and neuroimmunity. As a matter of fact, neuronutrition and oxidative stress may also play important roles, especially the changes in the BDNF signaling pathway.

## Possible Interventions in PD-Related Depression Induced by LPS

Based on the pro-inflammatory role of LPS, in theory, anti-inflammatory therapy should be the first choice of intervention for LPS-induced PD-related depression. However, among the interventional studies, there was only one literature that suggested improved depression symptoms in the LPS-induced PD model "simply" through anti-inflammatory

TABLE 4	TABLE 4   Summary of animal models of PD-related depression i	elated depression induced by lipopolysaccharide (LPS).	charide (LPS).			
Number	Reference	Model animal	Gender	Administration route	Dosage of LPS	Assessment of depression behavio
	Chen et al. (2017)	8-week ICR mice	Male	i.p.	0.8 mg/kg	FST↑, SPT↓
2	Hritcu and Gorgan (2014)	3-month 200 $\pm$ 50 g Wistar rats	Male	stereotactic injection (unilateral SN)	3 µg/kg, 10µg/kg	FST↑
ო	Ventorp et al. (2017)	200 g Wistar rats	Male	i.p.	1 mg/kg	FST↑
4	Lieberknecht et al. (2017)	60–120-day 40–55 g Swiss mice	Female	i.p.	0.1 mg/kg	FST↑, ST↓
5	Yuan et al. (2020)	20-25 g C57BL/6 mice	Male	i.p.	0.83 mg/kg	FST↑, TST↑
9	Yang et al. (2016)	12-week adult mice	/	i.p.	330 µg/kg	FST↑, TST↑
7	Santiago et al. (2010)	Male Wistar rats	Male	stereotactic injection	2 µ.g/side	SPT↓, Modified FST↑
i.p., intraperit	oneal injection; SN, substantia nigra; F	ST, forced swimming test; SPT, sucrose prefe	erence test; ST, s	i.p., intraperitoneal injection; SN, substantia nigra; FST, forced swimming test; SPT, sucrose preference test; ST, splatter test; TST, tail suspension test. 1, The increased immobility time; 4, The presence of anhedonia.	creased immobility time; ↓, T	he presence of anhedonia.

therapy using not conventional drugs but dopamine receptor agonist Praxol (Lieberknecht et al., 2017). In addition, BCG vaccination could improve LPS-induced PD-related depression through immune regulation, which was a far-fetched evidence of the interventional efficacy of anti-inflammation on PD-related depression (Yang et al., 2016). Although Besarotene was reported to play certain roles against LPS-induced PD-related depression through anti-inflammation, this effect might be mainly related to the restoration of dysregulated CREB/BDNF/ERK signaling pathway (Yuan et al., 2020). More surprisingly, the anti-depressant effect of Exendin-4, a glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) receptor peptide agonist, does not involve antiinflammation, but to a large extent related to its effect on the synthesis or metabolism of dopamine (Ventorp et al., 2017). As previously mentioned, oxidative stress is one of the mechanisms of LPS-induced PD-related depression, Resveratrol might effectively intervene the depression symptoms in the LPS-induced PD model through blockade of oxidative stress (Chen et al., 2017).

### **OTHERS: PARAQUAT AND LACTOCIN AND** PD-RELATED DEPRESSION

In addition to the above neurotoxins, paraquat, and lactocin were also reported to induce depression in PD animal models. Since there were only two reports of depression induced by paraquat and one report by lactocin, they are discussed together here.

### Paraguat and PD-Related Depression

Paraquat (N,N'-dimethyl-4,4'-bipyridine) is an herbal compound with a similar structure to MPP+, and is used as a herbicide in agriculture. It is specifically toxic to many organs of the human body. It crosses the blood-brain barrier into brain dopaminergic neurons unreliable on DAT but may be transported by neutral amino acid transporters in an age-dependent manner. The mechanism of paraquat-induced cell death is also different from that of MPP<sup>+</sup> and rotenone, because it cannot effectively block mitochondrial complex I, but involves the mitochondrial endogenous pathway (Fei et al., 2008). As paraquat can induce the accumulation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein and the degeneration of dopamine neurons in substantia nigra, it was also used to establish PD animal models (Bastías-Candia et al., 2019). However, the phenotypes of models constructed by different studies were not consistent, and even contradictive in some cases, which more or less restricted its application. With the accumulating evidences that combined the use of paraquat with other compounds (such as manganic manganese) could cause more severe motor damage, its application in the establishment of PD models has regained new attention. Of course, its effects on PD-related depression and other non-motor disorders are also worthy of study.

Between the two studies of paraquat-induced PD models, one of them successfully induced PD-related depression by combined use of paraquat with mancozeb (Hou et al., 2019). Three-month-old male C57BL/6J mice received intraperitoneal

2 |

injection of paraquat (10 mg/kg) + mancozeb (30 mg/kg) twice a week for 4 weeks. Depression-like behavior was verified by FST. At the same time, this model also displayed non-motor functional changes such as constipation, learning difficulty, and memory impairment. In addition, this study inversely proved through pharmacological approaches that depression symptoms in the PD model might not be related to locus coeruleus and norepinephrine. In another report, a miniature osmotic pump was implanted in the subscapular area to introduce paraquat at a rate of 0.7 mg/day for 28 days, which successfully induced motor disorders as well as depression and anxiety (Campos et al., 2013).

### Lactocin and PD-Related Depression

Lactocin, a proteasome inhibitor, is derived from the metabolites of Streptomyces in soil and widely exists in the environment (Kisselev and Goldberg, 2001). When susceptible people ingest Lactocin through daily contact and diet, it can cause functional deficiency of the ubiquitin-proteasome system by inhibiting the 20S/26S proteasome function, leading to the accumulation of abnormal proteins, and inducing a variety of diseases including PD. This is mainly because it can cause synuclein accumulation similar to the effect of paraquat, selectively kill dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra-striatum system, and decrease the level of striatal dopamine, resulting in motor dysfunction (Niu et al., 2009).

Some researchers have successfully constructed PD animal models using Lactocin, which showed typical PD symptoms that progressively aggravated (Harrison et al., 2019). There was no toxin accumulation in the animals and did not cause animal death or paralysis. However, some researchers believed that this model has poor repeatability which might be due to the poor absorption of Lactocin by the brain tissue due to the low solubility of Lactocin before administration or due to the formation of precipitation after injection, which could easily lead to the failure of the experiment. But it is still a method worth exploring if this problem can be solved. Recent studies have optimized the dose of Lactocin or used it in combination with other drugs such as LPS and observed a more significant phenotype of PD (Deneyer et al., 2019). However, the research on non-motor symptoms such as depression in Lactocin-induced models is still rarely reported. Only one study detected signs of depression for the first time in a preclinical experimental model of PD rat induced by intranasal administration of Lactocin (Ekimova et al., 2018).

## **REFLECTION AND CONCLUSION**

The negative influences of depression in PD patients are more and more recognized. However, because of the complex relationship between depression and PD, the definition and classification of "PD-related depression" are not uniform at present. Accumulating clinical evidences show that depression is not only a risk factor for PD, but also a non-motor symptom, or even a co-morbidity of PD. When regarded as a non-motor symptom of PD, depression can appear synchronous with, before or after the motor impairment. Based on previous reports and our own clinical experience, we summarized the above issues in Figure 1, and put forward some thoughts on PD-related depression. Firstly, all the clinical cases of "depression" and "PD" encountered at present can be collectively referred to as "depression related to PD". When depression is "as a risk factor" of PD, it can be called "PD associated with depression", when "as a non-motor symptom" can be called "depression in PD", and when "as a co-morbidity" can be called "PD with depression." Secondly, it is unfortunate for individual patients no matter which of the above situations, therefore proper identification and treatment are most important. But from the aspect of community prevention and control, the situations shown in "1" and "2a" in Figure 1 are the key nodes to achieve early detection and early intervention to avoid or delay subsequent dopaminergic neuronal damage, and to achieve proper neuroprotection. Thirdly, in the current clinical prevention and treatment guidelines for PD, treatment of depression is mostly based on the treatment of motor impairments. This is inevitable because as required by the current evidence-based medical principles, a patient with depression but without motor symptoms cannot be treated as PD-related depression in the first place even if the patient later developed PD symptoms. To resolve this dilemma, on one hand, it is necessary to launch large-scale prospective cohort studies in the target population, for example, the "Taicang cohort study" led by Professor Chun-feng Liu of our research team, which is currently carried out in Taicang, China. On the other hand, it is necessary to establish a suitable preclinical animal model for basic research. This is because when the neurobiological nature of PD-related depression is not yet fully understood, the use of animal models is still of great significance to improve our understanding of the etiology, pathophysiology, and molecular mechanism of PD. Besides, the research time for constructing animal models is relatively short. It will undoubtedly accelerate the research of PD-related depression if we can establish a suitable animal model.

At present, many animal models of PD have been recognized and widely used, which can be divided into two categories (Blesa et al., 2012): one is by damaging dopaminergic neurons using natural (e.g., Rotenone, LPS, Lactocin) or synthetic neurotoxins (e.g., MPTP, 6-OHDA, paraquat), and the other is by using transgenic animals containing PD-related gene variants. At present, the transgenic PD model is actually limited to transgenic mice with synaptic dopamine depletion, and the behavioral phenotype is usually not obvious. In addition, although there are several gene variants associated with the development of non-motor symptoms in PD patients (e.g., LRRK2, SNCA, Parkin, and VPS35), only a few studies have explored their effects on depression-like behavior in mice (Fontoura et al., 2017). It is worth noting that some studies have constructed a depression-PD co-morbidity animal model using Pitx3 (a risk gene of PD) deficient mice (Kim et al., 2014) or mice treated intraperitoneally with reserpine (Skalisz et al., 2002). Another study found Reserpine could be used to establish the depression-PD association animal model. An ideal PD-related depression animal model has four characteristics: (1) with significant and detectable depress



symptoms; (b) and appears after motor symptoms; and (c) in case 3, it appears as an independent disease and comorbidity of PD.

phenotype; (2) with typical and detectable PD-specific motor impairment that aggravates progressively with aging; (3) simulates the clinical pathophysiological evolution of patients with PD-related depression; and (4) reproduces the progressive changes of neurotransmitters in different brain regions of patients with PD-related depression. Regardless of whether the above co-morbidity models meet these characteristics, they still fail the "early detection and early intervention" requirement in situations "1" and "2a" (Figure 1). Although situation "1" has been achieved through initial induction of PD by stress, followed by induction of motor impairment by neurotoxin (Hemmerle et al., 2012), this protocol might actually complicate the situation, because more and more studies found that the PD model induced by neurotoxin alone exhibited depression-like behavior. And as we have previously concluded, after administration of neurotoxin, depression changes can occur before motor damage, which simulates the "2a" situation, and may even partially represent the "1" situation. In summary, under the current condition of lacking spontaneous PD-related depression models, the PD models induced by neurotoxins may be used at this stage or even for a long time in the future. Due to the differences in the phenotype of PD-related depression induced by different neurotoxins, it is a difficult problem for the majority of

researchers at present to select the appropriate neurotoxin, method, and dose in the construction of PD-related depression models. Facing this predicament, researchers compared the effects of different neurotoxins on PD-relation depression models. For example, a study used rats matched with age, body weight, and sex and induced by stereotactic injection of MPTP, 6-OHDA, Rotenone, and LPS in bilateral substantia nigra (Santiago et al., 2010). All but LPS induced depression-like behavior, and 6-OHDA had the best phenotype. Another study compared the non-motor symptoms of three PD models (Campos et al., 2013): 6-OHDA (8 or  $6 \mu g$ , stereotactic injection of bilateral substantia nigra pars compacta), paraquat (microosmotic pump implanted in the subscapular area at the rate of 0.7 mg/day for 28 days) and a-synuclein overexpression transgenic model, and found that 6-OHDA and paraguatinduced depression-like behavioral changes in model animals. From the above two comparative studies, it is not difficult to find that the 6-OHDA might have the best effect in inducing PD-related depression. From Tables 1-4 we can also find that there were the largest number of reports of 6-OHDA-induced PD-related depression, and unilateral MFB brain stereotactic injection was the first choice of administration route. However, the specific dosage of 6-OHDA should be determined according to the actual conditions of animals, as there is no unified standard at present, which inevitably leads to a variety of study results. What we can do is to carefully analyze and identify the genuinely useful information.

In addition to the usage of different types of neurotoxins and their dosage, the success rate of model construction also needs to be considered. At present, the incidence of PD-related depression induced by neurotoxins has only been reported in MPTP-induced models. Of course, the conditions of animals such as species, sex, age, bodyweight, etc., also need to be concerned, especially the sex factor itself has an impact on depression and PD in humans (both occur more in women than in men), which have been particularly emphasized in some studies (Sullivan et al., 2014; Schamne et al., 2018). Another factor that requires comprehensive analysis is the behavioral evaluation of model animals. As we have summarized in Tables 1-4, a single behavioral test was used in many neurotoxin-induced PD-related depression models, which would affect the extrapolation of the results to certain extents. For example, FST, TST, and ST all involve "movement", therefore, it is necessary to rule out the interference of motor impairment. On the other hand, as the SPT test involves the taste function as well as the motor function of the animal, the interference of both factors should be excluded for proper evaluation of depression behaviors. At the same time, different behavioral testing operations are different (specific operations are not described here due to limited space and specific literature can be searched), and their sensitivities are also different. Therefore, we suggest that multiple behavioral tests should be used for cross-validation, and even introduce a rescue experiment for forward and backward validation. Of course, if the model modulates situations "1" and "2a", the interference of motor factor is neglectable, but it is important to truly rule out motor dysfunction through movement experiments. Further, there is also an important challenge that the results of these depressive behavior tests have not been convincingly coupled to neuropathological changes (Nestler et al., 2002).

Last but not least, the purpose of establishing a PD-related depression animal model is to facilitate the study of the pathogenesis and prevention and treatment strategies of PD-related depression. At present, the research on the mechanism of PD-related depression in neurotoxin-induced animal models is mostly originated from the hypothetical factors of the development of PD-related depression, such as the neurotransmitters, neuronutrition, nerve regeneration, nerve inflammation, and oxidative stress. However, there are very few studies on the involvement of the nerve loop, which is the focus of clinical study, in the PD-related depression model induced by neurotoxin. Moreover, the intrinsic differences of toxins in generic models may also play a role in the mechanisms underlying the depression phenotype. It is worth mentioning that their effects on the neurotransmitter system are different. For example, both MPTP and 6-OHDA can act on the mitochondrial complex in the cell and produce cytotoxicity, resulting in the disorder of

neurotransmitters in the dopamine system, but it seems that 6-OHDA can also cause other neurotransmitter changes, such as 5-HT (Zhang et al., 2010). More interestingly, rotenone increased the level of 4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenylacetic, a norepinephrine metabolite, in the striatum (Thiffault et al., 2000). These tips NA-5HT-DA cross-link in the neurotoxin PD models may be an important breakthrough to explore the mechanism of PD depression. As is known to all, structures define functions, so the structural alterations of depression-related brain areas (Remy et al., 2005), for example, the amygdala and hippocampus, in the neurotoxin PD model should also be concerned. With the continuous improvement of optogenetics and single-cell analysis technology, we believed that there will be a more and more precise exploration in this field in the future. In the meantime, it is encouraging that in the exploration of effective prevention and treatment of PD-related depression using neurotoxininduced models, deep brain stimulation, electrostimulation, and exercise therapy have emerged besides pharmacological interventions. However, there has been no report using the noninvasive transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) that may be effective in the clinical treatment of PD-related depression patients. We look forward to future research that uses TMS in animal models of PD-related depression induced by neurotoxin.

In conclusion, in order to better reveal the relevant changes in the development of PD-related depression and its possible mechanism, and to develop targeted prevention and treatment strategies, it is the key point in current studies to establish a preclinical animal model that is generally in line with the three validity criteria [predictive validity (the ability of the model to predict certain clinical events), face validity (phenomenological similarities between models and clinical conditions), and construct validity (similarities between potential mechanisms of animal behavior and psychological or neurobiological mechanisms under clinical conditions)] (Skalisz et al., 2002) and infinitely close to the four characteristics of ideal PD-related depression models. Neurotoxin-induced PD-related depression models are worthy of further improvement and optimization.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

S-ZW: conception and design. CR and Y-QJ: administrative support. X-YS, J-HW, and Y-QJ: provision of study materials. X-YY, L-NG, and Y-KM: collection and assembly of data. CR and S-ZW: data analysis and interpretation. All authors: manuscript writing and final approval of manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### FUNDING

This work was supported by the key project of Shandong Provincial Natural Science Foundation (ZR2020KH024), Yantai Science and technology innovation development plan (2022YD004), and the outstanding young talents project in health of Qilu.

### REFERENCES

- Airavaara, M., Parkkinen, I., Konovalova, J., Albert, K., Chmielarz, P., and Domanskyi, A. (2020). Back and to the future: from neurotoxin-induced to human Parkinson's disease models. *Curr. Protoc. Neurosci.* 91:e88. doi: 10.1002/cpns.88
- Alzoubi, K. H., Mokhemer, E., and Abuirmeileh, A. N. (2018). Beneficial effect of etazolate on depression-like behavior and, learning and memory impairment in a model of Parkinson's disease. *Behav. Brain Res.* 350, 109–115. doi: 10.1016/j. bbr.2018.05.004
- Antunes, M. S., Goes, A. T., Boeira, S. P., Prigol, M., and Jesse, C. R. (2014). Protective effect of hesperidin in a model of Parkinson's disease induced by 6-hydroxydopamine in aged mice. *Nutrition* 30, 1415–1422. doi: 10.1016/j.nut. 2014.03.024
- Barbiero, J. K., Santiago, R. M., Persike, D. S., da Silva Fernandes, M. J., Tonin, F. S., da Cunha, C., et al. (2014). Neuroprotective effects of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor alpha and gamma agonists in model of parkinsonism induced by intranigral 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahyropyridine. *Behav. Brain Res.* 274, 390–399. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2014.08.014
- Bastías-Candia, S., Zolezzi, J. M., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2019). Revisiting the paraquat-induced sporadic Parkinson's disease-like model. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 56, 1044–1055. doi: 10.1007/s12035-018-1148-z
- Beppe, G. J., Dongmo, A. B., Foyet, H. S., Dimo, T., Mihasan, M., and Hritcu, L. (2015). The aqueous extract of Albizia adianthifolia leaves attenuates 6hydroxydopamine-induced anxiety, depression and oxidative stress in rat amygdala. BMC Complement. Altern. Med. 15:374. doi: 10.1186/s12906-015-0912-0
- Blesa, J., Phani, S., Jackson-Lewis, V., and Przedborski, S. (2012). Classic and new animal models of Parkinson's disease. J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2012:845618. doi: 10.1155/2012/845618
- Bonato, J. M., Bassani, T. B., Milani, H., Vital, M. A. B. F., and de Oliveira, R. M. W. (2018). Pioglitazone reduces mortality, prevents depressive-like behavior and impacts hippocampal neurogenesis in the 6-OHDA model of Parkinson's disease in rats. *Exp. Neurol.* 300, 188–200. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2017. 11.009
- Bonito-Oliva, A., Masini, D., and Fisone, G. (2014). A mouse model of non-motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease: focus on pharmacological interventions targeting affective dysfunctions. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 8:290. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00290
- Branchi, I., D'Andrea, I., Armida, M., Cassano, T., Pèzzola, A., Potenza, R. L., et al. (2008). Nonmotor symptoms in Parkinson's disease: investigating early-phase onset of behavioral dysfunction in the 6-hydroxydopamine-lesioned rat model. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 86, 2050–2061. doi: 10.1002/jnr.21642
- Campos, F. L., Carvalho, M. M., Cristovão, A. C., Je, G., Baltazar, G., Salgado, A. J., et al. (2013). Rodent models of Parkinson's disease: beyond the motor symptomatology. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 7:175. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2013. 00175
- Casas, S., García, S., Cabrera, R., Nanfaro, F., Escudero, C., and Yunes, R. (2011). Progesterone prevents depression-like behavior in a model of Parkinson's disease induced by 6-hydroxydopamine in male rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 99, 614–618. doi: 10.1016/j.pbb.2011.06.012
- Castro, A. A., Wiemes, B. P., Matheus, F. C., Lapa, F. R., Viola, G. G., Santos, A. R., et al. (2013). Atorvastatin improves cognitive, emotional and motor impairments induced by intranasal 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) administration in rats, an experimental model of Parkinson's disease. *Brain Res.* 1513, 103–116. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2013.03. 029
- Chen, L., Deltheil, T., Turle-Lorenzo, N., Liberge, M., Rosier, C., Watabe, I., et al. (2014). SK channel blockade reverses cognitive and motor deficits induced by nigrostriatal dopamine lesions in rats. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 17, 1295–1306. doi: 10.1017/S1461145714000236
- Chen, W. J., Du, J. K., Hu, X., Yu, Q., Li, D. X., Wang, C. N., et al. (2017). Protective effects of resveratrol on mitochondrial function in the hippocampus improves inflammation-induced depressive-like behavior. *Physiol Behav.* 182, 54–61. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.09.024
- Chenu, F., Dailly, E., and Bourin, M. (2007). Effect of antidepressant drugs on 6-OHDA-treated mice in the FST. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 17, 187–193. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2006.04.006

- Chiu, W. H., Depboylu, C., Hermanns, G., Maurer, L., Windolph, A., Oertel, W. H., et al. (2015). Long-term treatment with L-DOPA or pramipexole affects adult neurogenesis and corresponding non-motor behavior in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Neuropharmacology* 95, 367–376. doi: 10.1016/j. neuropharm.2015.03.020
- Chung, J. Y., Lee, J. W., Ryu, C. H., Min, H. K., Yoon, Y. J., Lim, M. J., et al. (2015). 1–[2-(4-Benzyloxyphenoxy)Ethyl]Imidazole inhibits monoamine oxidase B and protects against neuronal loss and behavioral impairment in rodent models of Parkinson's disease. J. Neurosci. Res. 93, 1267–1278. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23577
- Cunha, M. P., Pazini, F. L., Lieberknecht, V., Budni, J., Oliveira, Á., Rosa, J. M., et al. (2017). MPP<sup>+</sup>-lesioned mice: an experimental model of motor, emotional, memory/learning and striatal neurochemical dysfunctions. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 54, 6356–6377. doi: 10.1007/s12035-016-0147-1
- Dallé, E., Daniels, W. M. U., and Mabandla, M. V. (2020). Long-term treatment with fluvoxamine decreases nonmotor symptoms and dopamine depletion in a postnatal stress rat model of Parkinson's disease. Oxid. Med. Cell Longev. 2020:1941480. doi: 10.1155/2020/1941480
- Deneyer, L., Albertini, G., Bentea, E., and Massie, A. (2019). Systemic LPS-induced neuroinflammation increases the susceptibility for proteasome inhibitioninduced degeneration of the nigrostriatal pathway. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 68, 26–32. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2019.09.025
- Ekimova, I. V., Gazizova, A. R., Karpenko, M. N., and Plaksina, D. V. (2018). Priznaki angedonii i destruktivnye izmeneniia v ventral'noĭ oblasti pokryshki srednego mozga v modeli doklinicheskol stadii bolezni Parkinsona v éksperimente [Signs of anhedonia and destructive changes in the ventral tegmental area of the midbrain in the model of the preclinical Parkinson's disease stage in experiment]. *Zh. Nevrol Psikhiatr. Im S S Korsakova* 118, 61–67. doi: 10.17116/jnevro201811809161
- Faivre, F., Joshi, A., Bezard, E., and Barrot, M. (2019). The hidden side of Parkinson's disease: studying pain, anxiety and depression in animal models. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 96, 335–352. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.10.004
- Fei, Q., McCormack, A. L., Di Monte, D. A., and Ethell, D. W. (2008). Paraquat neurotoxicity is mediated by a Bak-dependent mechanism. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 3357–3364. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M708451200
- Feng, X. J., Huang, Y. T., Huang, Y. Z., Kuo, C. W., Peng, C. W., Rotenberg, A., et al. (2020). Early transcranial direct current stimulation treatment exerts neuroprotective effects on 6-OHDA-induced Parkinsonism in rats. *Brain Stimul.* 13, 655–663. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2020.02.002
- Fleming, S. M. (2017). Mechanisms of gene-environment interactions in Parkinson's disease. *Curr. Environ. Health Rep.* 4, 192–199. doi: 10.1007/s40572-017-0143-2
- Fleming, S. M., Zhu, C., Fernagut, P. O., Mehta, A., DiCarlo, C. D., Seaman, R. L., et al. (2004). Behavioral and immunohistochemical effects of chronic intravenous and subcutaneous infusions of varying doses of rotenone. *Exp. Neurol.* 187, 418–429. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2004.01.023
- Fontoura, J. L., Baptista, C., Pedroso, F. B., Pochapski, J. A., Miyoshi, E., and Ferro, M. M. (2017). Depression in Parkinson's disease: the contribution from animal studies. *Parkinsons Dis.* 2017:9124160. doi: 10.1155/2017/9124160
- Foyet, H. S., Hritcu, L., Ciobica, A., Stefan, M., Kamtchouing, P., and Cojocaru, D. (2011). Methanolic extract of Hibiscus asper leaves improves spatial memory deficits in the 6-hydroxydopamine-lesion rodent model of Parkinson's disease. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* 133, 773–779. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2010.11.011
- Furlanetti, L. L., Coenen, V. A., Aranda, I. A., and Döbrössy, M. D. (2015). Chronic deep brain stimulation of the medial forebrain bundle reverses depressive-like behavior in a hemiparkinsonian rodent model. *Exp. Brain Res.* 233, 3073–3085. doi: 10.1007/s00221-015-4375-9
- Furlanetti, L. L., Coenen, V. A., and Döbrössy, M. D. (2016). Ventral tegmental area dopaminergic lesion-induced depressive phenotype in the rat is reversed by deep brain stimulation of the medial forebrain bundle. *Behav. Brain Res.* 299, 132–140. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2015.11.036
- Galts, C. P. C., Bettio, L. E. B., Jewett, D. C., Yang, C. C., Brocardo, P. S., Rodrigues, A. L. S., et al. (2019). Depression in neurodegenerative diseases: common mechanisms and current treatment options. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 102, 56–84. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.04.002
- Goes, A. T., Souza, L. C., Filho, C. B., Del Fabbro, L., De Gomes, M. G., Boeira, S. P., et al. (2014). Neuroprotective effects of swimming training in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease induced by 6-hydroxydopamine. *Neuroscience* 256, 61–71. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.09.042

- Gorton, L. M., Vuckovic, M. G., Vertelkina, N., Petzinger, G. M., Jakowec, M. W., and Wood, R. I. (2010). Exercise effects on motor and affective behavior and catecholamine neurochemistry in the MPTP-lesioned mouse. *Behav. Brain Res.* 213, 253–262. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2010.05.009
- Guo, Y., Zhang, L., Zhang, J., Lv, S. X., Du, C. X., Wang, T., et al. (2021). Activation and blockade of serotonin-4 receptors in the lateral habenula produce antidepressant effects in the hemiparkinsonian rat. *Neuropsychobiology* 80, 52–63. doi: 10.1159/000508680
- Gustafsson, H., Nordström, A., and Nordström, P. (2015). Depression and subsequent risk of Parkinson disease: a nationwide cohort study. *Neurology* 84, 2422–2429. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000001684
- Harrison, I. F., Powell, N. M., and Dexter, D. T. (2019). The histone deacetylase inhibitor nicotinamide exacerbates neurodegeneration in the lactacystin rat model of Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 148, 136–156. doi: 10.1111/jnc. 14599
- Hasegawa, K. (2012). [Does early detection of non-motor symptoms facilitate early treatment of Parkinson's disease?]. Brain Nerve 64, 453–461. doi. 10.11477/mf.1416101175
- Heinz, S., Freyberger, A., Lawrenz, B., Schladt, L., Schmuck, G., and Ellinger-Ziegelbauer, H. (2017). Mechanistic investigations of the mitochondrial complex I inhibitor rotenone in the context of pharmacological and safety evaluation. *Sci. Rep.* 7:45465. doi: 10.1038/srep45465
- Hemmerle, A. M., Herman, J. P., and Seroogy, K. B. (2012). Stress, depression and Parkinson's disease. *Exp. Neurol.* 233, 79–86. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.09. 035
- Hou, L., Sun, F., Sun, W., Zhang, L., and Wang, Q. (2019). Lesion of the locus coeruleus damages learning and memory performance in paraquat and maneb-induced mouse Parkinson's disease model. *Neuroscience* 419, 129–140. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2019.09.006
- Hritcu, L., and Gorgan, L. D. (2014). Intranigral lipopolysaccharide induced anxiety and depression by altered BDNF mRNA expression in rat hippocampus. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 51, 126–132. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2014.01.016
- Hsueh, S. C., Chen, K. Y., Lai, J. H., Wu, C. C., Yu, Y. W., Luo, Y., et al. (2018). Voluntary physical exercise improves subsequent motor and cognitive impairments in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:508. doi: 10.3390/ijms19020508
- Ilkiw, J. L., Kmita, L. C., Targa, A. D. S., Noseda, A. C. D., Rodrigues, L. S., Dorieux, F. W. C., et al. (2019). Dopaminergic lesion in the olfactory bulb restores olfaction and induces depressive-like behaviors in a 6-OHDA model of Parkinson's disease. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 56, 1082–1095. doi: 10.1007/s12035-018-1134-5
- Ishihara, L., and Brayne, C. (2006). A systematic review of depression and mental illness preceding Parkinson's disease. Acta Neurol. Scand. 113, 211–220. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2006.00579.x
- Jackson-Lewis, V., and Przedborski, S. (2007). Protocol for the MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Nat. Protoc.* 2, 141–151. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2006. 342
- Joers, V., Tansey, M. G., Mulas, G., and Carta, A. R. (2017). Microglial phenotypes in Parkinson's disease and animal models of the disease. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 155, 57–75. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2016.04.006
- Kamińska, K., Lenda, T., Konieczny, J., Czarnecka, A., and Lorenc-Koci, E. (2017). Depressive-like neurochemical and behavioral markers of Parkinson's disease after 6-OHDA administered unilaterally to the rat medial forebrain bundle. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 69, 985–994. doi: 10.1016/j.pharep.2017.05.016
- Khlebnikova, N. N., Krupina, N. A., Bogdanova, N. G., Orlova, I. N., and Zolotov, N. N. (2013). Effect of prolyl endopeptidase inhibitor benzyloxycarbonyl-methionyl-2(S)-cyanopyrrolidine on the course of experimental depressive syndrome in rats. *Bull. Exp. Biol. Med.* 155, 190–193. doi: 10.1007/s10517-013-2109-1
- Khlebnikova, N. N., Krupina, N. A., Bogdanova, N. G., Zolotov, N. N., and Kryzhanovskii, G. N. (2009a). Effects of prolylendopeptidase inhibitor benzyloxycarbonyl-methionyl-2(S)-cyanopyrrolidine on experimental depressive syndrome development in rats. *Bull. Exp. Biol. Med.* 147, 26–30. doi: 10.1007/s10517-009-0458-6
- Khlebnikova, N. N., Krupina, N. A., Orlova, I. N., Bogdanova, N. G., Zolotov, N. N., and Kryzhanovskii, G. N. (2009b). Effect of a prolyl endopeptidase inhibitor benzyloxycarbonyl-alanyl-proline on the development

of experimental depressive syndrome in rats. *Bull. Exp. Biol. Med.* 147, 291–295. doi: 10.1007/s10517-009-0494-2

- Kim, K. S., Kang, Y. M., Kang, Y., Park, T. S., Park, H. Y., Kim, Y. J., et al. (2014). Pitx3 deficient mice as a genetic animal model of co-morbid depressive disorder and parkinsonism. *Brain Res.* 1552, 72–81. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.01.023
- Kiselev, A. V., Vedenkin, A. S., Stovbun, I. S., Sergienko, V. I., and Kalinina, T. S. (2019). Calcium salt of N-(5-Hydroxynicotinoyl)-L-glutamic acid weakens depressive-like behavior and parkinsonian syndrome in experiment on rodents. *Bull. Exp. Biol. Med.* 168, 48–51. doi: 10.1007/s10517-019-04643-5
- Kisselev, A. F., and Goldberg, A. L. (2001). Proteasome inhibitors: from research tools to drug candidates. *Chem. Biol.* 8, 739–758. doi: 10.1016/s1074-5521(01)00056-4
- Klein, A., Gidyk, D. C., Shriner, A. M., Colwell, K. L., Tatton, N. A., Tatton, W. G., et al. (2011). Dose-dependent loss of motor function after unilateral medial forebrain bundle rotenone lesion in rats: a cautionary note. *Behav. Brain Res.* 222, 33–42. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2011.03.018
- Krupina, N. A., Davydova, T. V., Fomina, V. G., Kryzhanovskii, G. N., and Orlova, I. N. (2000). Count and phagocytic activity of leukocytes in rats with experimental depressive syndrome caused by systemic administration of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine. *Bull. Exp. Biol. Med.* 130, 1041–1044. doi: 10.1007/BF02688173
- Krupina, N. A., Khlebnikova, N. N., Orlova, I. N., Grafova, V. N., Smirnova, V. S., Rodina, V. I., et al. (2010). Experimental model of combined pain and depression status in rats. *Bull. Exp. Biol. Med.* 149, 479–484. doi: 10.1007/s10517-010-0975-3
- Krupina, N. A., Orlova, I. N., Khlebnikova, N. N., Grafova, V. N., Smirnova, V. S., Kukushkin, M. L., et al. (2002). Experimental depressive-pain syndrome in rats with initial various anxiety-phobic levels: a behavioral study. *Bull. Exp. Biol. Med.* 133, 548–552. doi: 10.1023/a:1020217421991
- Krupina, N. A., Zolotov, N. N., Bogdanova, N. G., Orlova, I. N., Khlebnikova, N. N., and Kryzhanovskii, G. N. (2006). Activities of prolyl endopeptidase and dipeptidyl peptidase IV in brain structures of rats with dopamine deficiency-dependent MPTP-induced depressive syndrome. *Bull. Exp. Biol. Med.* 142, 554–556. doi: 10.1007/s10517-006-0416-5
- Kumari, N., Agrawal, S., Kumari, R., Sharma, D., and Luthra, P. M. (2018). Neuroprotective effect of IDPU (1-(7-imino-3-propyl-2,3-dihydrothiazolo [4,5-d]pyrimidin-6(7H)-yl)urea) in 6-OHDA induced rodent model of hemiparkinson's disease. *Neurosci. Lett.* 675, 74–82. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2018. 03.040
- Kuter, K., Kolasiewicz, W., Goembiowska, K., Dziubina, A., Schulze, G., Berghauzen, K., et al. (2011). Partial lesion of the dopaminergic innervation of the ventral striatum induces "depressive-like" behavior of rats. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 63, 1383–1392. doi: 10.1016/s1734-1140(11)70702-2
- Lemke, M. R., Fuchs, G., Gemende, I., Herting, B., Oehlwein, C., Reichmann, H., et al. (2004). Depression and Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurol.* 251, VI24–VI27. doi: 10.1007/s00415-004-1606-6
- Li, Y., Jiao, Q., Du, X., Bi, M., Han, S., Jiao, L., et al. (2018). Investigation of behavioral dysfunctions induced by monoamine depletions in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Front. Cell Neurosci.* 12:241. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2018. 00241
- Lieberknecht, V., Cunha, M. P., Junqueira, S. C., Coelho, I. D., de Souza, L. F., Dos Santos, A. R., et al. (2017). Antidepressant-like effect of pramipexole in an inflammatory model of depression. *Behav. Brain Res.* 320, 365–373. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2016.11.007
- Madiha, S., and Haider, S. (2019). Curcumin restores rotenone induced depressive-like symptoms in animal model of neurotoxicity: assessment by social interaction test and sucrose preference test. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 34, 297–308. doi: 10.1007/s11011-018-0352-x
- Marques, N. F., Binder, L. B., Roversi, K., Sampaio, T. B., Constantino, L. C., Prediger, R. D., et al. (2019). Guanosine prevents depressive-like behaviors in rats following bilateral dorsolateral striatum lesion induced by 6hydroxydopamine. *Behav. Brain Res.* 372:112014. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2019. 112014
- Masini, D., Bonito-Oliva, A., Bertho, M., and Fisone, G. (2018). Inhibition of mTORC1 signaling reverts cognitive and affective deficits in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Front. Neurol.* 9:208. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00208
- Matheus, F. C., Rial, D., Real, J. I., Lemos, C., Takahashi, R. N., Bertoglio, L. J., et al. (2016). Temporal dissociation of striatum and prefrontal cortex uncouples

anhedonia and defense behaviors relevant to depression in 6-OHDA-lesioned rats. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 53, 3891–3899. doi: 10.1007/s12035-015-9330-z

- Menon, B., Nayar, R., Kumar, S., Cherkil, S., Venkatachalam, A., Surendran, K., et al. (2015). Parkinson's disease, depression and quality-of-life. *Indian J. Psychol. Med.* 37, 144–148. doi: 10.4103/0253-7176.155611
- Mishra, A., Singh, S., Tiwari, V., Parul, , and Shukla, S. (2019). Dopamine D1 receptor activation improves adult hippocampal neurogenesis and exerts anxiolytic and antidepressant-like effect via activation of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathways in rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurochem. Int.* 122, 170–186. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2018.11.020
- Morais, L. H., Lima, M. M., Martynhak, B. J., Santiago, R., Takahashi, T. T., Ariza, D., et al. (2012). Characterization of motor, depressive-like and neurochemical alterations induced by a short-term rotenone administration. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 64, 1081–1090. doi: 10.1016/s1734-1140(12)70905-2
- Moretti, M., Neis, V. B., Matheus, F. C., Cunha, M. P., Rosa, P. B., Ribeiro, C. M., et al. (2015). Effects of agmatine on depressive-like behavior induced by intracerebroventricular administration of 1-Methyl-4-phenylpyridinium (MPP<sup>+</sup>). *Neurotox. Res.* 28, 222–231. doi: 10.1007/s12640-015-9540-1
- Morris, M., and Li, L. (2012). Molecular mechanisms and pathological consequences of endotoxin tolerance and priming. Arch. Immunol. Ther. Exp. (Warsz) 60, 13–18. doi: 10.1007/s00005-011-0155-9
- Nestler, E. J., Barrot, M., DiLeone, R. J., Eisch, A. J., Gold, S. J., and Monteggia, L. M. (2002). Neurobiology of depression. *Neuron* 34, 13–25. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(02)00653-0
- Niu, C., Mei, J., Pan, Q., and Fu, X. (2009). Nigral degeneration with inclusion body formation and behavioral changes in rats after proteasomal inhibition. *Stereotact. Funct. Neurosurg.* 87, 69–81. doi: 10.1159/000202972
- Noseda, A. C., Rodrigues, L. S., Targa, A. D., Aurich, M. F., Vital, M. A., Da Cunha, C., et al. (2014). Putative role of monoamines in the antidepressant-like mechanism induced by striatal MT2 blockade. *Behav. Brain Res.* 275, 136–145. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2014.09.007
- Okano, M., Takahata, K., Sugimoto, J., and Muraoka, S. (2019). Selegiline recovers synaptic plasticity in the medial prefrontal cortex and improves corresponding depression-like behavior in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 13:176. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2019.00176
- Pankova, N. B., Vetrilé, L. A., Basharova, L. A., Krupina, N. A., Khlebnikova, N. N., Rodina, V. I., et al. (2004). Immunization of rats with conjugates of dopamine and serotonin with bovine serum albumin prevents the development of experimental MPTP-induced depressive syndrome (electrophysiological parameters). *Neurosci. Behav. Physiol.* 34, 131–138. doi: 10.1023/b:neab. 0000009207.38914.2b
- Petri, D., de Souza Silva, M. A., Chao, O. Y., Schnitzler, A., and Huston, J. P. (2015). Serotonergic interaction between medial prefrontal cortex and mesotelencephalic DA system underlies cognitive and affective deficits in hemiparkinsonian rats. *Neuroscience* 307, 51–63. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience. 2015.08.022
- Postuma, R. B., Berg, D., Stern, M., Poewe, W., Olanow, C. W., Oertel, W., et al. (2015). MDS clinical diagnostic criteria for Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 1591–1601. doi: 10.1002/mds.26424
- Prakash, A., Chopra, K., and Medhi, B. (2013). Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor improves Parkinson's disease associated with co-morbid depression: an experimental exploratory study. *Indian J. Pharmacol.* 45, 612–615. doi: 10.4103/0253-7613.121374
- Reijnders, J. S., Ehrt, U., Weber, W. E., Aarsland, D., and Leentjens, A. F. (2008). A systematic review of prevalence studies of depression in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 23, 183–189. doi: 10.1002/mds.21803
- Remy, P., Doder, M., Lees, A., Turjanski, N., and Brooks, D. (2005). Depression in Parkinson's disease: loss of dopamine and noradrenaline innervation in the limbic system. *Brain* 128, 1314–1322. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh445
- Ross, O. A., and Bu, G. (2018). A novel link between trafficking and Lewy body disorders. *Lancet Neurol*. 17, 571–573. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30214-X
- Sampaio, T. B., Marcondes Sari, M. H., Pesarico, A. P., Mantovani, A. C., Zeni, G., and Nogueira, C. W. (2018). 7-Fluoro-1,3-diphenylisoquinoline reverses motor and non-motor symptoms induced by MPTP in mice: role of striatal neuroinflammation. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 819, 129–135. doi: 10.1016/j. ejphar.2017.12.001
- Sampaio, T. B., Soares de Souza, B., Roversi, K., Schuh, T., Poli, A., Takahashi, R. N., et al. (2019). Temporal development of behavioral

impairments in rats following locus coeruleus lesion induced by 6-hydroxydopamine: involvement of  $\beta$ 3-adrenergic receptors. Neuropharmacology 151, 98–111. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2019.04.006

- Santiago, R. M., Barbieiro, J., Lima, M. M., Dombrowski, P. A., Andreatini, R., and Vital, M. A. (2010). Depressive-like behaviors alterations induced by intranigral MPTP, 6-OHDA, LPS and rotenone models of Parkinson's disease are predominantly associated with serotonin and dopamine. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 34, 1104–1114. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp. 2010.06.004
- Santiago, R. M., Barbiero, J., Gradowski, R. W., Bochen, S., Lima, M. M., Da Cunha, C., et al. (2014). Induction of depressive-like behavior by intranigral 6-OHDA is directly correlated with deficits in striatal dopamine and hippocampal serotonin. *Behav. Brain Res.* 259, 70–77. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2013. 10.035
- Santiago, R. M., Tonin, F. S., Barbiero, J., Zaminelli, T., Boschen, S. L., Andreatini, R., et al. (2015). The nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug piroxicam reverses the onset of depressive-like behavior in 6-OHDA animal model of Parkinson's disease. *Neuroscience* 300, 246–253. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroscience.2015.05.030
- Schamne, M. G., Mack, J. M., Moretti, M., Matheus, F. C., Walz, R., Lanfumey, L., et al. (2018). The gender-biased effects of intranasal MPTP administration on anhedonic- and depressive-like behaviors in C57BL/6 mice: the role of neurotrophic factors. *Neurotox. Res.* 34, 808–819. doi: 10.1007/s12640-018-9912-4
- Schintu, N., Zhang, X., and Svenningsson, P. (2012). Studies of depressionrelated states in animal models of Parkinsonism. J. Parkinsons Dis. 2, 87–106. doi: 10.3233/JPD-2012-12076
- Schober, A. (2004). Classic toxin-induced animal models of Parkinson's disease: 6-OHDA and MPTP. *Cell Tissue Res.* 318, 215–224. doi: 10.1007/s00441-004-0938-y
- Schuurman, A. G., van den Akker, M., Ensinck, K. T., Metsemakers, J. F., Knottnerus, J. A., Leentjens, A. F., et al. (2002). Increased risk of Parkinson's disease after depression: a retrospective cohort study. *Neurology* 58, 1501–1504. doi: 10.1212/wnl.58.10.1501
- Shin, M. S., Kim, T. W., Lee, J. M., Sung, Y. H., and Lim, B. V. (2017). Treadmill exercise alleviates depressive symptoms in rotenone-induced Parkinson disease rats. J. Exerc. Rehabil. 13, 124–129. doi: 10.12965/jer.1734966.483
- Silva, T. P., Poli, A., Hara, D. B., and Takahashi, R. N. (2016). Time course study of microglial and behavioral alterations induced by 6-hydroxydopamine in rats. *Neurosci. Lett.* 622, 83–87. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.04.049
- Sinen, O., Bülbül, M., Derin, N., Ozkan, A., Akcay, G., Aslan, M. A., et al. (2021). The effect of chronic neuropeptide-S treatment on non-motor parameters in experimental model of Parkinson's disease. *Int. J. Neurosci.* 131, 765–774. doi: 10.1080/00207454.2020.1754213
- Singh, S., Mishra, A., Srivastava, N., and Shukla, S. (2017). MK-801 (Dizocilpine) regulates multiple steps of adult hippocampal neurogenesis and alters psychological symptoms via Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling in Parkinsonian rats. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 8, 592–605. doi: 10.1021/acschemneuro.6b00354
- Skalisz, L. L., Beijamini, V., Joca, S. L., Vital, M. A., Da Cunha, C., and Andreatini, R. (2002). Evaluation of the face validity of reserpine administration as an animal model of depression–Parkinson's disease association. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 26, 879–883. doi: 10.1016/s0278-5846(01)00333-5
- Souza, L. C., Martynhak, B. J., Bassani, T. B., Turnes, J. M., Machado, M. M., Moura, E., et al. (2018). Agomelatine's effect on circadian locomotor rhythm alteration and depressive-like behavior in 6-OHDA lesioned rats. *Physiol. Behav.* 188, 298–310. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2018.02.033
- Storch, A., Ebersbach, G., Fuchs, G., Jost, W. H., Odin, P., Reifschneider, G., et al. (2008). Depression beim idiopathischen Parkinson-Syndrom. Teil
  1: Epidemiologie, Pathophysiologie, Klinik und Diagnostik [Depression in Parkinson's disease. Part 1: epidemiology, signs and symptoms, pathophysiology and diagnosis]. Fortschr. Neurol. Psychiatr. 76, 715–724. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1038293
- Sullivan, R. M., Dufresne, M. M., Siontas, D., Chehab, S., Townsend, J., and Laplante, F. (2014). Mesocortical dopamine depletion and anxietyrelated behavior in the rat: sex and hemisphere differences. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 54, 59–66. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp. 2014.05.002

- Sun, M., Wang, K., Yu, Y., Su, W. T., Jiang, X. X., Yang, J., et al. (2016). Electroacupuncture alleviates depressive-like symptoms and modulates BDNF signaling in 6-hydroxydopamine rats. *Evid. Based Complement. Alternat. Med.* 2016:7842362. doi: 10.1155/2016/7842362
- Szot, P., Franklin, A., Miguelez, C., Wang, Y., Vidaurrazaga, I., Ugedo, L., et al. (2016). Depressive-like behavior observed with a minimal loss of locus coeruleus (LC) neurons following administration of 6-hydroxydopamine is associated with electrophysiological changes and reversed with precursors of norepinephrine. *Neuropharmacology* 101, 76–86. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm. 2015.09.003
- Tadaiesky, M. T., Dombrowski, P. A., Figueiredo, C. P., Cargnin-Ferreira, E., Da Cunha, C., and Takahashi, R. N. (2008). Emotional, cognitive and neurochemical alterations in a premotor stage model of Parkinson's disease. *Neuroscience* 156, 830–840. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.08.035
- Tang, J., Lu, L., Wang, Q., Liu, H., Xue, W., Zhou, T., et al. (2020). Crocin reverses depression-like behavior in Parkinson disease mice via VTA-mPFC pathway. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 57, 3158–3170. doi: 10.1007/s12035-020-01941-2
- Thiffault, C., Langston, J. W., and Di Monte, D. A. (2000). Increased striatal dopamine turnover following acute administration of rotenone to mice. *Brain Res.* 885, 283–288. doi: 10.1016/s0006-8993(00)02960-7
- Tuon, T., Valvassori, S. S., Dal Pont, G. C., Paganini, C. S., Pozzi, B. G., Luciano, T. F., et al. (2014). Physical training prevents depressive symptoms and a decrease in brain-derived neurotrophic factor in Parkinson's disease. *Brain Res. Bull.* 108, 106–112. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2014.09.006
- Vecchia, D. D., Kanazawa, L. K. S., Wendler, E., de Almeida Soares Hocayen, P., Bruginski, E., Campos, F. R., et al. (2018). Effects of ketamine on vocal impairment, gait changes and anhedonia induced by bilateral 6-OHDA infusion into the substantia nigra pars compacta in rats: therapeutic implications for Parkinson's disease. *Behav. Brain Res.* 342, 1–10. doi: 10.1016/j. bbr.2017.12.041
- Ventorp, F., Bay-Richter, C., Nagendra, A. S., Janelidze, S., Matsson, V. S., Lipton, J., et al. (2017). Exendin-4 treatment improves LPS-induced depressive-like behavior without affecting pro-inflammatory cytokines. *J. Parkinsons Dis.* 7, 263–273. doi: 10.3233/JPD-171068
- Vivekanantham, S., Shah, S., Dewji, R., Dewji, A., Khatri, C., and Ologunde, R. (2015). Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease: role in neurodegeneration and tissue repair. *Int. J. Neurosci.* 125, 717–725. doi: 10.3109/00207454.2014. 982795
- Vucković, M. G., Wood, R. I., Holschneider, D. P., Abernathy, A., Togasaki, D. M., Smith, A., et al. (2008). Memory, mood, dopamine and serotonin in the 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine-lesioned mouse model of basal ganglia injury. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 32, 319–327. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2008.07.015
- Wang, Y., Liu, W., Yang, J., Wang, F., Sima, Y., Zhong, Z. M., et al. (2017). Parkinson's disease-like motor and non-motor symptoms in rotenone-treated zebrafish. *Neurotoxicology* 58, 103–109. doi: 10.1016/j.neuro.2016.11.006
- Winter, C., von Rumohr, A., Mundt, A., Petrus, D., Klein, J., Lee, T., et al. (2007). Lesions of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta and in the ventral tegmental area enhance depressive-like behavior in rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 184, 133–141. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2007.07.002
- Yan, J., Liu, A., Fan, H., Qiao, L., Wu, J., Shen, M., et al. (2020). Simvastatin improves behavioral disorders and hippocampal inflammatory reaction by NMDA-mediated anti-inflammatory function in MPTP-treated mice. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 40, 1155–1164. doi: 10.1007/s10571-020-00804-7
- Yan, T., Sun, Y., Gong, G., Li, Y., Fan, K., Wu, B., et al. (2019). The neuroprotective effect of schisandrol A on 6-OHDA-induced PD mice may be related

to PI3K/AKT and IKK/IkBa/NF-kB pathway. Exp. Gerontol. 128:110743. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2019.110743

- Yang, J., Qi, F., and Yao, Z. (2016). Neonatal Bacillus Calmette-Guérin vaccination alleviates lipopolysaccharide-induced neurobehavioral impairments and neuroinflammation in adult mice. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 14, 1574–1586. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2016.5425
- Yapici Eser, H., Bora, H. A., and Kuruoğlu, A. (2017). Depression and Parkinson disease: prevalence, temporal relationship and determinants. *Turk. J. Med. Sci.* 47, 499–503. doi: 10.3906/sag-1603-101
- Yu, J., Min, D., Bai, Y., Qu, L., Zou, T., and Wang, S. (2020). Electroacupuncture alleviates Parkinson disease and regulates the expression of brain-gut peptides. *Exp. Anim.* 69, 448–460. doi: 10.1538/expanim.19-0153
- Yuan, C., Dai, C., Li, Z., Zheng, L., Zhao, M., and Dong, S. (2020). Bexarotene improve depression-like behaviour in mice by protecting against neuro-inflammation and synaptic damage. *Neurochem. Res.* 45, 1500–1509. doi: 10.1007/s11064-020-03012-3
- Zaminelli, T., Gradowski, R. W., Bassani, T. B., Barbiero, J. K., Santiago, R. M., Maria-Ferreira, D., et al. (2014). Antidepressant and antioxidative effect of Ibuprofen in the rotenone model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurotox. Res.* 26, 351–362. doi: 10.1007/s12640-014-9467-y
- Zeng, X. S., Geng, W. S., Jia, J. J., Chen, L., and Zhang, P. P. (2018a). Cellular and molecular basis of neurodegeneration in Parkinson disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 10:109. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2018.00109
- Zeng, X. S., Geng, W. S., and Jia, J. J. (2018b). Neurotoxin-induced animal models of Parkinson disease: pathogenic mechanism and assessment. ASN Neuro 10:1759091418777438. doi: 10.1177/1759091418777438
- Zhang, T., Hong, J., Di, T., and Chen, L. (2016). MPTP impairs dopamine d1 receptor-mediated survival of newborn neurons in ventral hippocampus to cause depressive-like behaviors in adult mice. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 9:101. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2016.00101
- Zhang, X., Song, D., Gu, L., Ren, Y., Verkhratsky, A., and Peng, L. (2015). Decrease of gene expression of astrocytic 5-HT2B receptors parallels development of depressive phenotype in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Front. Cell Neurosci.* 9:388. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00388
- Zhang, S. J., Wang, H., Xue, Y., Yung, W. H., and Chen, L. (2010). Behavioral and electrophysiological effects of 5-HT in globus pallidus of 6-hydroxydopamine lesioned rats. J. Neurosci. Res. 88, 1549–1556. doi: 10.1002/jnr.22325

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Mou, Guan, Yao, Wang, Song, Ji, Ren and Wei. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Associations of Sleep Disorders With Depressive Symptoms in Early and Prodromal Parkinson's Disease

Jiangnan Ma<sup>1</sup>, Kaixin Dou<sup>1</sup>, Ruize Liu<sup>2</sup>, Yajin Liao<sup>3</sup>, Zengqiang Yuan<sup>1,3\*</sup> and Anmu Xie<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Departmentof Neurology, Affiliated Hospital of Qingdao University, Qingdao, China, <sup>2</sup> Department of Intensive Care Unit, Affiliated Qingdao Municipal Hospital of Qingdao University, Qingdao, China, <sup>3</sup> The Brain Science Center, Beijing Institute of Basic Medical Sciences, Beijing, China

**Background:** Non-motor symptoms, including sleep disorders and depression, are common in Parkinson's disease (PD). The purpose of our study is to explore the effect of sleep disorders, including the probable rapid eye movement (REM) sleep behavior disorder (pRBD) and the daytime sleepiness, on depressive symptoms in patients with early and prodromal PD.

### OPEN ACCESS

### Edited by:

Jifeng Guo, Central South University, China

### Reviewed by:

Ming-Hong Chang, National Chung Hsing University, Taiwan Liu Jun, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China

\*Correspondence:

Zengqiang Yuan zqyuan@bmi.ac.cn Anmu Xie xieanmu@163.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Parkinson's Disease and Aging-related Movement Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

> Received: 17 March 2022 Accepted: 26 April 2022 Published: 10 June 2022

#### Citation:

Ma J, Dou K, Liu R, Liao Y, Yuan Z and Xie A (2022) Associations of Sleep Disorders With Depressive Symptoms in Early and Prodromal Parkinson's Disease. Front. Aging Neurosci. 14:898149. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.898149 **Methods:** A total of 683 participants who obtained from the Parkinson Progression Markers Initiative (PPMI) were included, consisting of 423 individuals with early PD, 64 individuals with prodromal PD, and 196 healthy controls (HCs), who were followed up to 5 years from baseline. Multiple linear regression models and linear mixed-effects models were conducted to explore the relationship between sleep disorders and depression at baseline and longitudinally, respectively. Multiple linear regression models were used to further investigate the association between the change rates of daytime sleepiness score and depression-related score. Mediation analyses were also performed.

**Results:** At baseline analysis, individuals with early and prodromal PD, who had higher RBD screening questionnaire (RBDSQ) score, or who were considered as pRBD, or who manifested specific behaviors of RBD (things falling down when sleep or disturbance of sleep), showed significantly the higher score of depression-related questionnaires. Our 5-year follow-up study showed that sleep disorders, including pRBD and daytime sleepiness, were associated with the increased depressive-related score in individuals with early and prodromal PD. Interestingly, we also found that the increased possibilities of daytime sleepiness were associated with depressive-related score. Finally, mediation analysis demonstrated that the relationship between RBD and depressive symptoms was partially mediated by autonomic symptoms, such as postural hypertension, salivation, dysphagia, and constipation.

**Conclusion:** Our study shows that sleep disorders, including pRBD and daytime sleepiness, are associated with depression at baseline and longitudinally, which is partially mediated by the autonomic dysfunction in early and prodromal PD, with an implication that sleep management is of great value for disease surveillance.

Keywords: Parkinson's disease, sleep disorders, depression, rapid-eye-movement sleep behavior disorder, daytime sleepiness, autonomic dysfunction

## INTRODUCTION

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disease characterized by bradykinesia, tremor at rest, rigidity, and postural instability. However, various non-motor symptoms, including depression, sleep disorders, constipation, and hyposmia, often predate the motor symptoms, with the most common being depression (Postuma et al., 2015b; Schapira et al., 2017). In total, 90.3% of patients with PD had prodromal non-motor symptoms before the clinical diagnosis of PD (Durcan et al., 2019). Most notably rapid eye movement (REM), sleep behavior disorder (RBD), and olfactory, autonomic, neuropsychiatric, and cognitive dysfunctions, are relatively frequent in patients who progress into PD in the future (Moscovich et al., 2020).

Sleep disorders are considered one of the potential risks and progression factors of PD and a significant source of disability (Dauvilliers et al., 2018; Bohnen and Hu, 2019). Insomnia, RBD, excessive daytime sleepiness (EDS), and restless legs are common sleep disorders in PD. RBD, which is considered as parasomnia, is characterized by loss of normal muscle atonia, accompanied by violent motor manifestations of undesirable dreams during REM sleep (Dauvilliers et al., 2018). RBD is a promising risk marker of synucleinopathies such as PD. Approximately 50% patients with PD have RBD (Barone and Henchcliffe, 2018). Prodromal RBD is related to more rapid motor progression and non-motor PD subtypes, especially depressive disorders and cognitive decline (Ferini-Strambi et al., 2014; Barone and Henchcliffe, 2018; Bohnen and Hu, 2019). Comorbidity of idiopathic RBD and depression accelerates the neurodegenerative process (Ghazi Sherbaf et al., 2018). EDS is characterized by the inability to maintain wakefulness during the daytime, with sleep occurring unintentionally or at inappropriate times (Hustad and Aasly, 2020). EDS, as one of the earliest and most common non-motor symptoms of PD, substantially impacts the quality of life (Yousaf et al., 2018; Xiang et al., 2019). Patients who are tended by night shift nurses have a higher risk of PD, indicating that circadian rhythm disorder is related to the progression of PD (Zverev and Misiri, 2009; Hustad and Aasly, 2020). One of the pathologic features of PD is the aggregation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein ( $\alpha$ -syn) into proteinaceous inclusions (Lewy bodies, LBs). The spread of  $\alpha$ -syn in the brain leads to the decline of the total cerebrospinal fluid (CSF)  $\alpha$ syn levels (Dolatshahi et al., 2018). Both pRBD and daytime sleepiness were significantly related to lower and decreased levels of CSF  $\alpha$ -syn, suggesting a higher risk of PD progression (Wang et al., 2021).

The most common psychiatric symptom in PD is anxiety and depression (Grover et al., 2015). Compared with motor symptoms, sleep disorders, constipation, and other non-motor symptoms, depression has not been paid high attention. Metaanalyses have confirmed the incidence of depression in patients with PD is around 23% (Goodarzi et al., 2016), which is higher than in the ordinary elderly or in patients suffering from other chronic and disabling diseases (Chwastiak et al., 2002; Nilsson et al., 2002). The occurrence of depression is closely related to the course of PD. As the duration of PD progresses, the incidence of depression will increase exponentially (Cooney and Stacy, 2016). However, depression often overlaps with other symptoms of PD. Patients with PD and their caregivers are rarely aware of the manifestation of depression, which results in the delay in diagnosis and earlier treatment, and finally leads to the poor living quality of patients with PD. Many factors can predict the prognosis of PD, including age, depression, and gait disorder (Louis et al., 1999; Soh et al., 2011; Postuma and Berg, 2019; Sklerov et al., 2020). With the progress of the disease, depression will eventually affect the daily life activities in patients with PD (Ravina et al., 2007; Lawrence et al., 2014). Previous studies revealed that sleep disorders were independently associated with depressed mood and autonomic symptoms (Chung et al., 2013). PD and sleep disorders comorbidities indicate more non-motor symptoms, including depressive symptoms, lower quality of life, and poor cognition, and fatigue (Neikrug et al., 2013). Therefore, the early identification of high-risk patients for depressive symptoms is of great significance for improving the prognosis and the quality of life of patients with PD.

However, the associations of RBD and daytime sleepiness with depressive symptoms have not yet been clarified. Therefore, we examined the associations of sleep disorders with depressive symptoms in patients from the Parkinson's Progression Markers Initiative (PPMI) database, by using cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses. In addition, mediating effect analyses were also performed for this study.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Participants From Parkinson Progression Markers Initiative

Data used in this study were obtained from the PPMI database, a comprehensive observational, international, multicenter study aimed at identifying PD progression biomarkers. The detailed information is available online,1 including inclusion/exclusion criteria, sites, complete lists of evaluations, and procedures. Our cohort was made up of healthy controls (HCs), prodromal PD (refers to the stage in which the condition has not yet progressed sufficiently to be defined as clinical PD, but several non-motor symptoms or signs of neurodegeneration are detectible), and early PD (refers to the stage where individuals were diagnosed with PD within 2 years but had not been treated with anti-parkinsonian therapy) (Postuma and Berg, 2019). In the PPMI database, hyposmia and RBD are used as the criteria for prodromal PD enrollment. Each individual participating in the cross-sectional analysis has completed the RBD screening questionnaire (RBDSQ) and Epworth sleep scale (ESS), and depression-related assessments (Geriatric Depression Scale [GDS]-short form and the Movement Disorder Society Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale [MDS-UPDRS] Part I Depressed Mood) at baseline. The clinical parameters included in our study were age, gender, years of education, blinded site, ethnicity, race, and Montreal Cognitive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.ppmi-info.org

Assessment (MoCA) score. We did not find any participants with severe neurological disorders that may affect the results. All research procedures included in PPMI were approved by the local Institutional Review Boards of the participating centers. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants before study enrollment (Parkinson Progression, and Marker, 2011).

### Sleep Characterization in Parkinson Progression Markers Initiative

Sleep-related characteristics of participants were evaluated by RBDSQ and ESS, which were both patient self-assess questionnaires. RBDSQ consists of 10 items covering the clinical symptoms of RBD and dichotomic responses (Yes = 1 or No = 0) (Stiasny-Kolster et al., 2007). Items 1-4 enquire about the frequencies and contents of dreams and the relationship between dreams and actions. Item 5 enquires about self-injury and others' injuries. Item 6 is divided into 4 subitems to assess specific conditions of abnormal movements, such as speaking in sleep, sudden limb movements, and complex movements. Items 7 and 8 enquire about the awakening at night, and item 9 enquires about the overall sleep. Item 10 concerning central nervous system diseases is excluded from our study. The total score of RBDSQ is 13 points. The best threshold for diagnosing RBD in the general population is 5 points. Probable RBD (pRBD) is screened using RBDSQ with a cutoff of 6 in patients with PD (Stiasny-Kolster et al., 2007; Miyamoto et al., 2009; Nomura et al., 2011). ESS is a handy questionnaire for patients to self-evaluate the degree of daytime sleepiness, which simulates eight scenarios to assess the possibility of drowsiness (never = 0, slight = 1, moderate = 2, and high = 3). The highest score of ESS is 24 points, and EDS is diagnosed with ESS > 10 (Simuni et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2021).

### Depression Characterization in Parkinson Progression Markers Initiative

Depression-related characteristics of participants were evaluated by GDS (short form) and MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood. GDS comprises 15 items to evaluate the following symptoms of people over 56 years old: depression, decreased activity, irritability, withdrawal, and negative evaluation of the past and present. A higher score of GDS indicates a higher burden of depression. A score of 5 or more suggests depression. MDS-UPDRS is divided into five items. Item 1 concerning mentation, behavior, and mood includes the assessment of the degree of depressive symptoms (normal = 0, slight = 1, mild = 2, moderate = 3, and severe = 4). The higher the score, the more serious the depression is.

# Autonomic Dysfunction Assessments in Parkinson Progression Markers Initiative

Autonomic dysfunction has been confirmed to be related to depression and affects daily function in PD. The overall morbidity of autonomic dysfunction varies from 2% for urinary incontinence to 72% for constipation in patients with PD. To some extent, they were associated with disease duration, severity, or use of antiparkinsonian drugs (Visser et al., 2004). Autonomic dysfunctions were assessed by the Scales for Outcomes in Parkinson's Disease-Autonomic (SCOPA-AUT), which consists of 25 items evaluating the six regions: gastrointestinal (GI, 7 subitems), urinary (6 subitems), cardiovascular (3 subitems), thermoregulatory (4 subitems), pupillomotor (1 subitem), and sexual (2 subitems for men and 2 subitems for women) dysfunction (never = 1, sometimes = 2, regularly = 4, and often = 4). A higher score of SCOPA-AUT indicates a higher burden of autonomic dysfunction (Sklerov et al., 2020).

### **Data Analysis**

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize the basic characteristics of participants. Age, gender, years of education, MoCA score, ethnicity, and race were considered as covariates. The differences between the three groups were compared by the Kruskal–Wallis test.

In the cross-sectional analyses, multiple linear regression models were used separately for combinations of every sleep subitems with the depression-related questionnaires, using the score of GDS or MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood as the dependent variable and sleep subitem as the independent variable after controlling possible covariates.

In the longitudinal analyses, the impacts of baseline sleep behaviors on the longitudinal depression-related questionnaires were investigated by the fitted linear mixed-effects model. The interaction between time and baseline score of RBDSQ or ESS was used as a predictor. We additionally calculated change rates of the possibility of daytime sleepiness and the score of GDS or MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood during the follow-up by the sim function in the "arm" package with 1,000 replicates via linear mixed-effects models. Then multiple linear regression models were used to investigate the associations between the change rates of ESS subitems and depression-related questionnaires. Due to fewer patients with prodromal PD included, we combined patients with early PD with patients with prodromal PD into a group, collectively referred to as the PD group. All the above analyses were carried out in PD and HC participants separately. Figure 1 shows the flowchart of this study.

Mediation analyses were performed to investigate whether autonomic dysfunction, as measured by the SCOPA-AUT, might mediate the association between sleep disorders, as measured by the RBDSQ and ESS, with depressive symptoms, as measured by the GDS and MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood. The detection of the mediation effect is carried out by bootstrapping using the "mediation" package in R language.

Statistical significance was determined at a two-tailed p-value < 0.05. All statistical analyses and figure design were carried out in R version 4.1.2.

## RESULTS

## Characterization of Participants at Baseline

The demographic characteristics of participants is shown in **Table 1**. A total of 683 individuals were included, consisting of



423 individuals with early PD, 64 individuals with prodromal PD, and 196 HCs. Individuals with prodromal PD had a mean age of 68.93 (SD: 5.788) years, which was more significant than those of early PD and HC groups. There were no statistically significant differences in the sex ratio of the samples among the three groups. The mean education years of different groups were all 15 years roughly. The participants were all cognitively well with the mean MoCA scores above 25. Total score of RBDSQ and ESS of prodromal PD group were higher than those of early PD and HC groups. The total score of MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood was lower in the HC group than early PD and prodromal groups. After excluding the population vounger than 56 years old (including 116 individuals with early PD and 55 HCs), a total of 512 individuals were included in the statistics of GDS, consisting of 307 individuals with early PD, 64 individuals with prodromal PD, and 141 HCs. The total score of GDS was lower in the HC group than those of the other two groups. The proportion of participants with depression (assessed by GDS or MDS-UPDRS) and pRBD, and EDS in each group is shown in Table 1. In addition, there was no significant difference in the proportion of depression between prodromal and early PD groups, assessed by either

GDS (p = 0.841) or MDS-UPDRS (p = 0.6079). In term of the abnormalities of sleep pattern, the pRBD (p = 1.338e-11), but not EDS (p = 0.2335) was significantly different between these two groups.

### The Associations of Sleep Disorders With Depressive Symptoms in Cross–Sectional Analyses

The associations between sleep disorders and depressive symptoms were revealed at baseline (**Figure 2**). Individuals with PD who had a higher RBDSQ score ( $\beta = 0.128939$ ; p = 0.00121) or who were considered as pRBD ( $\beta = 0.771984$ ; p = 0.00421) had a higher score of GDS. Moreover, individuals with PD who manifested specific behaviors of RBD, such as aggressive or action-packed dreams ( $\beta = 0.5929138$ ; p = 0.0280), moving arms/legs during sleep ( $\beta = 0.656553$ ; p = 0.0110), sudden limb movements ( $\beta = 0.739566$ ; p = 0.00484), complex movements ( $\beta = -1.088929$ ; p = 0.0012), things falling down when sleep ( $\beta = -1.189109$ ; p = 0.00297), being awakened by one's own movements ( $\beta = 0.636220$ ; p = 0.0215), and disturbance of sleep ( $\beta = 1.002893$ ; p = 0.000175) showed significantly

Variables	Early PD	Prodromal PD	НС	p-values
	n = 423	<i>n</i> = 64	<i>n</i> = 196	
Age				
Mean $\pm$ SD	$61.66\pm9.706$	$68.93 \pm 5.788$	$60.82 \pm 11.23$	2.53E-08
(min, max)	(33.50, 84.88)	(58.91, 82.53)	(30.62, 83.68)	
Sex (n, %)				0.1064
male	277 (65.48%)	50 (78.12%)	126 (64.29%)	
female	146 (34.52%)	14 (21.88%)	70 (35.71%)	
Educate years				0.1387
$Mean\pmSD$	$15.56\pm2.968$	$14.67\pm4.511$	$16.04\pm2.891$	
(min, max) MOCA	(5.00, 26.00)	(0.00, 23.00)	(8.00, 24.00)	
Mean $\pm$ SD (min, max)	27.13 ± 2.318 (17, 30)	26.22 ± 3.494 (11, 30)	28.23 ± 1.106 (26, 30)	7.03E-09
RBDSQ total scores				<2.2e-16
$Mean\pmSD$	$4.121 \pm 2.690$	$7.297\pm3.736$	$2.827\pm2.258$	
(min, max) ESS total scores	(0, 12)	(1, 13)	(0, 11)	0.03226
Mean $\pm$ SD	$5.801 \pm 3.460$	$7.094 \pm 4.245$	$5.621 \pm 3.425$	
(min, max) GDS	(0, 20)	(0, 20)	(0, 19)	9.42E-07
$Mean \pm SD$	$2.251 \pm 2.348$	$2.250 \pm 2.323$	$1.418 \pm 2.306$	
(min, max) MDS- UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood	(0, 14)	(0, 10)	(0, 15)	0.004643
Mean $\pm$ SD	$0.2766 \pm 0.543$	$50.2500 \pm 0.590$	9 0.1487 ± 0.4580	
(min, max)	(0, 4)	(0, 3)	(0, 4)	
Depression (n, %)				
Assessed by GDS	41 (13.44%)	8 (14.29%)	11 (7.69%)	
Assessed by MDS- UPDRS	100 (23.64%)	12 (18.75%)	24 (12.31%)	
	40 (07 400())	108 (25.53%)	25 (12.76%)	
pRBD (n, %)	43 (67.19%)	100 (20.0070)	20 (12.1070)	

PD, Parkinson's disease; HC, healthy control; SD, standard deviation; MoCA, Montreal Cognitive Assessment; RBDSQ, rapid eye movement sleep behavior disorder screening questionnaire; ESS Epworth sleepiness scale, GDS, Geriatric Depression Scale, MDS-UPDRS, Movement Disorder Society-Sponsored Revision Unified Parkinson's disease rating scale, pRBD, probable RBD, EDS, excessive daytime sleepiness.

The bold font of P-values means P value < 0.05.

a higher total score of GDS (**Figure 3** and **Supplementary Table 1**). In addition, individuals with PD who had a higher RBDSQ score ( $\beta = 0.021491$ ; p = 0.011292) or who were considered as pRBD ( $\beta = 0.143605$ ; p = 0.009413) had a higher score of MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood. Moreover, individuals with PD who manifested specific behaviors of RBD, such as hurting bed partner ( $\beta = 0.139480$ ; p = 0.035867), speaking in sleep ( $\beta = 0.114828$ ; p = 0.03070), sudden limb movements ( $\beta = 0.106329$ ; p = 0.048694), things falling down when sleep ( $\beta = 0.263490$ ; p = 0.00185), and disturbance of sleep ( $\beta = 0.121387$ ; p = 0.02337) showed significantly a higher total score of MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood (**Supplementary Figure 1** and **Supplementary Table 2**). However, there was no significant association between daytime sleepiness and GDS or MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood in individuals with PD (**Supplementary Tables 3, 4**).

Furthermore, we found HCs who had specific behaviors of RBD, such as moving arms/legs during sleep ( $\beta = 0.90715$ ; p = 0.0355) and disturbance of sleep ( $\beta = 0.89649$ ; p = 0.0450) showed a higher total score of GDS, and who had disturbance of sleep ( $\beta = 0.1939777$ ; p = 0.0179) showed a higher total score of MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood (**Supplementary Tables 1, 2**). There was no significant association between daytime sleepiness and GDS in HCs *via* cross-sectional analyses. And HCs with higher possibilities of daytime sleepiness when lying down to rest in the afternoon ( $\beta = -0.0689633$ ; p = 0.0404) showed a significantly a higher total score of MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood (**Supplementary Tables 3, 4**).

### The Effects of Sleep Disorders at Baseline on Depressive Symptoms in Longitudinal Analyses

Excluding 23 individuals without follow-up data of GDS (early PD: n = 16; prodromal PD: n = 3; HC: n = 4) and 31 individuals without follow-up data of MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood (early PD: n = 19; prodromal PD: n = 3; HC: n = 9) during the 5-year follow-up (baseline, 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th, and 5th annual follow-up): Associations of sleep disorders with depression during the follow-up are shown in Figure 4. As for individuals with PD with only disturbance of sleep (a specific behavior of RBD) were significantly associated with an increased total score of GDS ( $\beta = 0.1549074$ ; p = 0.0429) during the follow-up (Supplementary Table 5). Individuals with PD who had a higher RBDSQ score ( $\beta = 2.872e-02$ ; p = 0.00707), who were considered as pRBD ( $\beta = 2.201e-01$ ; p = 0.001114), or had things falling down when sleep  $(\beta = 3.089e - 01; p = 0.00367)$ , showed an increasing trend of MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood (Supplementary Table 6). The PD participants with higher possibilities of daytime sleepiness when sitting inactive in public places ( $\beta = 9.717e - 02$ ; p = 0.03279) or stopped in traffic in a car ( $\beta = 1.830e-01$ ; p = 0.04692) showed an increasing total score of MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood (Figure 5 and Supplementary Tables 7, 8).

In HCs, we did not identify any associations between daytime sleepiness and changes of depressive-related assessments. However, HCs who were considered as pRBD ( $\beta = -0.3860169$ ; p = 0.0353) or had vivid dreams ( $\beta = -0.2347880$ ; p = 0.0484) and moving arms/legs during sleep ( $\beta = 0.3253684$ ; p = 0.0090) were found with an increased trend of GDS. Among the behaviors



of RBD, only moving arms/legs during sleep ( $\beta = 0.228169$ ; p = 0.035525) and complex movements ( $\beta = 0.472286$ ; p = 0.036917) showed a significant development in MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood.

### Associations Between Longitudinal Changes in Scores of Epworth Sleep Scale and Change Rates of Geriatric Depression Scale or Movement Disorder Society Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale Part I Depressed Mood

Excluding 4 prodromal individuals without change rates of ESS: Associations between longitudinal change rates of daytime sleepiness and GDS or MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood in individuals with PD and HCs are shown in **Supplementary** Figure 2. As for individuals with PD, increased total score of ESS ( $\beta = 0.0937800$ ; p = 0.001248) and increased possibilities of daytime sleepiness on four occasions (sitting and reading  $[\beta = 0.420573; p = 0.040591]$ , sitting inactive in public places  $[\beta = 0.5232037; p = 0.003995]$ , sitting quietly after lunch  $[\beta = 1.0065711; p = 4.95e-06]$ , and stopped in traffic in a car  $[\beta = 0.3770992; p = 0.038161])$  showed significant associations with a greater incline in GDS (Supplementary Table 9). While a greater increase in total score of ESS ( $\beta = 1.236e - 02$ ; p = 0.000279) and possibilities of daytime sleepiness on six occasions (sitting and reading [ $\beta = 5.877e - 02$ ; p = 0.0155], sitting inactive in public places [ $\beta = 6.492e - 02$ ; p = 0.00448], staying in a car as a passenger for an hour without a break  $[\beta = 7.551e - 02; p = 0.00477]$ , sitting and talking to someone

 $[\beta = 6.852e-02; p = 0.00436]$ , sitting quietly after lunch  $[\beta = 9.400e-02; p = 0.000386]$ , and stopped in traffic in a car  $[\beta = 9.500e-02; p = 1.05e-05]$ ) were significantly associated with a greater increase of MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood (**Supplementary Figure 3** and **Supplementary Table 10**).

In HCs, change rates of the total score of ESS ( $\beta = 0.105651$ ; p = 0.0191) and the possibility of daytime sleepiness only in a situation when sitting quietly after lunch ( $\beta = 1.015139$ ; p = 0.000901) showed significant associations with change rates of GDS. Given that, an increasing daytime sleepiness score contributed to the greater incline in depressive-related scales, which was mainly found in individuals with PD.

### Analysis of Mediating Effect Between Sleep Disorders and Depressive Symptoms

To date, there is no significant association found between daytime sleepiness and depression at baseline, so a mediation analysis was performed to investigate whether the association between RBD and depression is mediated by autonomic symptoms. The results showed a significant indirect effect of RBD on GDS through the SCOPA-AUT total score ( $\beta = 0.0698$ , 95% CI: 0.0354–0.11, p < 2e-16), cardiovascular subscore ( $\beta = 0.0558$ , 95% CI: 0.0288–0.09, p < 2e-16), GI subscore ( $\beta = 0.0509$ , 95% CI: 0.0218–0.09, p < 2e-16), thermoregulatory subscore ( $\beta = 0.03872$ , 95% CI: 0.01415–0.07, p < 2e-16), and urinary subscore ( $\beta = 0.02231$ , 95% CI: 0.00352–0.05, p < 2e-16) at baseline, indicating that autonomic dysfunction, especially cardiovascular, GI, and thermoregulatory dysfunction acted as full mediators


FIGURE 3 | Individuals with PD with pRBD (A) and specific behaviors – aggressive or action-packed dreams (B), moving arms/legs during sleep (C), sudden limb movements (D), complex movements (E), things falling down when sleep (F), being awakened by one's own movements (G), and disturbance of sleep (H) contribute to a higher score of GDS.





between RBD and GDS, and also urinary dysfunction as a part mediator (**Figure 6** and **Supplementary Tables 11, 12**). Similarly, the indirect effect of the total score of SCOPA-AUT ( $\beta = 0.01206, 95\%$  CI: 0.00605–0.02, p < 2e-16), cardiovascular

subscore ( $\beta$  = 0.005397, 95% CI: 0.000956–0.01, p < 2e-16), GI subscore ( $\beta$  = 0.00840, 95% CI: 0.00324–0.02, p < 2e-16), pupillomotor subscore ( $\beta$  = 0.00243, 95% CI: 0.000134–0.01, p = 0.04), thermoregulatory subscore ( $\beta$  = 0.005054, 95% CI:



FIGURE 6 | Autonomic dysfunctions mediate the effects of RBD on GDS. The significant mediating effect of RBD on GDS through the SCOPA-AUT total score (A), cardiovascular dysfunction (B), gastrointestinal dysfunction (C), thermoregulatory dysfunction (D), and urinary dysfunction (E) at baseline. Path a indicates the direct effect of RBD on autonomic symptoms. Path b indicates the direct effect of autonomic symptoms on depression. GDS, Geriatric Depression Scale; RBD, rapid eye movement sleep behavior disorder; SCOPA-AUT, Scales for Outcomes in Parkinson's Disease-Autonomic.



Parkinson's disease rating scale.

0.000314–0.01, p < 2e-16), and urinary subscore ( $\beta = 0.004379$ , 95% CI: 0.000895–0.01, p < 2e-16) were strong predictors of increase in MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood at baseline (**Figure 7** and **Supplementary Tables 13, 14**).

We further tested whether autonomic dysfunctions mediate the relationship between RBD and depression in HCs. The total score of SCOPA-AUT ( $\beta = 0.00976, 95\%$  CI: 0.00102–0.02, p = 0.04) was a strong harbinger of the

association between RBD and GDS. This analysis also revealed a significant indirect effect of RBD on MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood score through the SCOPA-AUT total score ( $\beta = 0.00976$ , 95% CI: 0.00102–0.02, p = 0.04), GI subscore ( $\beta = 0.0143$ , 95% CI: 0.0043–0.03, p < 2e-16), and sexual subscore ( $\beta = 0.00849$ , 95% CI: 0.00113–0.02, p = 0.04) at baseline.

Taken together, autonomic dysfunctions, especially cardiovascular, GI, thermoregulatory, and urinary dysfunction, are mediating effects between RBD and depressive symptoms in PD.

## DISCUSSION

Non-motor symptoms in the early/prodromal stages of PD act as useful biomarkers for predicting the onset of motor symptoms and diagnosing PD, and identifying patients at risk of developing other complications (Bang et al., 2021).

Our findings suggested at baseline, a higher RBDSQ score was associated with a higher depression-related score in the PD group compared with HCs. In individuals with PD, patients with pRBD are significantly tend to concomitant with depression than patients with non-pRBD. In this regard, we further analyzed the correlation between each subitem of the RBDSQ and depression. For patients with geriatric PD over 56 years old, several specific behaviors of RBD, including subitem 2 (aggressive or actionpacked dreams), subitem 4 (moving arms/legs during sleep), and subitems 6.2-6.4 (sudden limb movements, complex movements, and things falling down when sleep), and subitem 9 (disturbance of sleep), were significantly related to depressive symptoms, as measured by GDS. For patients with PD of all ages, subitem 5 (hurting bed partner), subitems 6.1, 6.2, and 6.4 (speaking in sleep, sudden limb movements, and things falling down when sleep), and subitem 9 (disturbance of sleep) showed significant positive correlations with depression, as measured by MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood. Accordingly, it has been reported that there is a close relationship between poor sleep quality in PD with depression (Rana et al., 2018). However, the causal relationship in the between remains to be further investigated.

In longitudinal analyses, for patients with geriatric PD over 56 years old, only subitem 9 (disturbance of sleep) of RBDSQ was a significant harbinger of depression, as measured by GDS. Individuals with PD with a higher RBDSQ score, pRBD or subitem 6.4 (things falling down when sleep) is of high possibility for depression incidence, basing on the scoring with MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood. For longitudinal analyses of daytime sleepiness with depression, we used the linear mixed-effects models and multiple linear regression models of change rates, respectively. Interestingly, we found that either the increased total score of ESS or the increased possibilities of daytime sleepiness on four occasions (sitting and reading, sitting inactive in public places, sitting quietly after lunch, and stopped in traffic in a car) are positively related with GDS scoring. Meantime, by using MDS-UPDRS Part I Depressed Mood, we observed that there is a significant correlation between the depression score with the high score of ESS, or the possibilities

of daytime sleepiness on six occasions (sitting and reading, sitting inactive in public places, staying in a car as a passenger for an hour without a break, sitting and talking to someone, sitting quietly after lunch, and stopped in traffic in a car). Together, we argue that patients with PD with pRBD and daytime sleepiness are more prone to depression, based on the evaluation results with GDS or MDS-UPDRS. In consistent with the finding it has been found that there is a high frequency of sleep disorders during PD progression (Xu et al., 2021). Here, our work provides a detailed and longitudinal relationship of RBD and daytime sleepiness with depression, which might be used for the depression prediction in patients with the early stage and prodromal PD.

A multivariate analysis showed that older age, longer disease duration, and worse quality of sleep were independently associated with a higher SCOPA-AUT scale score (Arnao et al., 2015). It has been reported that the autonomic dysfunction is related to the development of depression of PD (Sagna et al., 2014). Idiopathic RBD is also significantly related to the mild-to-moderate autonomic dysfunction (Lee et al., 2015). We herein seek to investigate whether the autonomic dysfunction is involved depression development associated with the sleep disorders. By using the baseline mediating effect analyses, we found that RBD affected depression partially through autonomic dysfunction, especially the dysfunction of cardiovascular, GI, thermoregulatory, or urinary systems.

Postmortem autopsy of patients with PD with depression found a decrease in dopamine neurons and in the density of serotonin neurons in the dorsal and ventral tegmental areas of the raphe nuclei (Maillet et al., 2016; Rutten et al., 2017; Park et al., 2020). The biochemical basis of depression in PD may be related to extensive serotonin and reduced dopaminergic changes (Maillet et al., 2016; Patterson et al., 2019). We further analyze possible mechanisms at the anatomical and molecular levels. Increased  $\alpha$ -syn oligomer in CSF and serum, and greater pathological density and range of synuclein could be observed in patients with PD with pRBD (Hu et al., 2015; Postuma et al., 2015a; Dušek et al., 2019). Areas involved in RBD are not only limited to the brainstem regions regulating REM sleep, but also may extend to other areas such as the olfactory system, the nigrostriatal system, and the autonomic system (Barone and Henchcliffe, 2018). Circadian rhythms affect the CSF production by regulating the accumulation and clearance of a-syn (Kudo et al., 2011; Benveniste et al., 2017; Sundaram et al., 2019). As a common symptom of circadian rhythm disruption, EDS manifests prior to Lewy pathology affects the topographic transmission of  $\alpha$ -syn (Abbott et al., 2005, 2019). Therefore,  $\alpha$ -syn is initially enriched in the lower brain stem, leading to sleep disturbances and autonomic dysfunction. In the later stage, the limbic system and neocortex are involved, followed by neuropsychiatric symptoms, such as depression (Braak et al., 2003, 2006; Beach et al., 2009; Park et al., 2020). It has been confirmed that RBD is associated with hyposmia, autonomic dysfunction, depression, cognitive impairment, and mild motor symptoms, which indicate diffuse  $\alpha$ -syn pathology (Dušek et al., 2019). The direct effect of sleep disorders is fatigue (Chung et al., 2013; Stocchi et al., 2014), which is related

to decreased serotonergic function in the basal ganglia and limbic structures (Remy et al., 2005; Pavese et al., 2010; Politis and Niccolini, 2015; Zuo et al., 2016). Depression in PD is attributable to serotonergic and noradrenergic lesions in the limbic system (Stocchi et al., 2014; Thobois et al., 2017; Jones et al., 2019). In addition, raphe serotonergic system is associated with sleep disorders and depression (Boileau et al., 2008; Politis et al., 2010; Xiao-Ling et al., 2020). Accumulation of phosphorylated  $\alpha$ -syn depositing in the raphe nuclei contributes to depression (Xiao-Ling et al., 2020). Similarly, norepinephrine denervation is also involved in autonomic dysfunction in patients with PD, indicating that depression and autonomic dysfunction share a common neurochemical substrate (Sharabi and Goldstein, 2011). Damaged noradrenergic function in PD was also associated with RBD (Sommerauer et al., 2018; Pilotto et al., 2019). Taken together, depression in PD may be attributed to the disruption of neurotransmitter systems, such as dopamine (SN), serotonin (raphe nuclei), and noradrenaline (locus coeruleus) (Maillet et al., 2016; Jin et al., 2017; Hustad and Aasly, 2020; Park et al., 2020; Bang et al., 2021).

The above analyses prove that monitoring RBD and daytime sleepiness contributes to predicting and identifying depressive symptoms in patients with early PD and prodromal PD at baseline and within 5 years. Few previous studies have investigated this association, in particular the various subitems of RBD and daytime sleepiness. Previous studies reported that both depression and sleep disorders trigger a negative spiral in patients with PD, where one enhances the other. Sleep disturbances and depression severity share a bidirectional association (Kay et al., 2018; Sklerov et al., 2020). Therefore, independent clinical attention should be paid to these symptoms in patients with PD (Rutten et al., 2017; Kay et al., 2018).

However, our research still has some shortcomings. First of all, RBDSQ and ESS are both self-report questionnaires, which lack objective measures such as the polysomnography system for sleep monitoring. Second, the sample size is not large enough, with some participants losing follow-up, which may affect the reliability of results to a certain extent. The results require to be further verified by expanding of sample size and strengthening the follow-up.

## CONCLUSION

Sleep disorders were significantly associated with the higher and increased score of questionnaires assessing depression, suggesting a higher risk of progression to PD. Sleep disorders are identified as potential risk factors in predicting the depression and monitoring the progression of PD.

## REFERENCES

Abbott, R. D., Ross, G. W., Duda, J. E., Shin, C., Uyehara-Lock, J. H., Masaki, K. H., et al. (2019). Excessive daytime sleepiness and topographic expansion of Lewy pathology. *Neurology* 93, e1425–e1432. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000008241

Abbott, R. D., Ross, G. W., White, L. R., Tanner, C. M., Masaki, K. H., Nelson, J. S., et al. (2005). Excessive daytime sleepiness and subsequent development of

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/ **Supplementary Material**.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Local Institutional Review Boards of the participating centers. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AX and ZY: conception and design of the study. JM, KD, and RL: acquisition and analysis of the data. JM, KD, and YL: drafting of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This study was supported by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81971192). Data used in the study were obtained from the Parkinson's Progression Markers Initiative (PPMI) database (https://www.ppmi-info.org/data). PPMI was funded by the Michael J. Fox Foundation for Parkinson's Research and funding partners, such as the Michael J. Fox Foundation for Parkinson's Research and funding partners, including Abbvie, Avid, Biogen, BioLegend, Bristol-Myers Squibb, GE Healthcare, Genentech, GlaxoSmithKline, Lilly, Lundbeck, Merck, Meso Scale Discovery, Pfizer, Piramal, Roche, Sanofi, Servier, Takeda, Teva, UCB, and Golub Capital.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all those who participated in this study. We also thank all of the PPMI funding partners.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi. 2022.898149/full#supplementary-material

Parkinson disease. Neurology 65, 1442–1446. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000183056. 89590.0d

Arnao, V., Cinturino, A., Valentino, F., Perini, V., Mastrilli, S., Bellavia, G., et al. (2015). In patient's with Parkinson disease, autonomic symptoms are frequent and associated with other non-motor symptoms. *Clin. Autonom. Res.* 25, 301–307. doi: 10.1007/s10286-015-0306-x

- Bang, Y., Lim, J., and Choi, H. J. (2021). Recent advances in the pathology of prodromal non-motor symptoms olfactory deficit and depression in Parkinson's disease: clues to early diagnosis and effective treatment. Arch. Pharm. Res. 44, 588–604. doi: 10.1007/s12272-021-01337-3
- Barone, D. A., and Henchcliffe, C. (2018). Rapid eye movement sleep behavior disorder and the link to alpha-synucleinopathies. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 129, 1551–1564. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2018.05.003
- Beach, T. G., Adler, C. H., Lue, L., Sue, L. I., Bachalakuri, J., Henry-Watson, J., et al. (2009). Unified staging system for Lewy body disorders: correlation with nigrostriatal degeneration, cognitive impairment and motor dysfunction. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 117, 613–634. doi: 10.1007/s00401-009-0538-8
- Benveniste, H., Lee, H., and Volkow, N. (2017). The Glymphatic Pathway: Waste Removal from the CNS via Cerebrospinal Fluid Transport. *Neuroscientist* 23, 454–465. doi: 10.1177/1073858417691030
- Bohnen, N., and Hu, M. (2019). Sleep Disturbance as Potential Risk and Progression Factor for Parkinson's Disease. J. Parkinson's Dis. 9, 603–614. doi: 10.3233/JPD-191627
- Boileau, I., Warsh, J. J., Guttman, M., Saint-Cyr, J. A., McCluskey, T., Rusjan, P., et al. (2008). Elevated serotonin transporter binding in depressed patients with Parkinson's disease: a preliminary PET study with [11C]DASB. *Mov. Disord.* 23, 1776–1780. doi: 10.1002/mds.22212
- Braak, H., Del Tredici, K., Rüb, U., de Vos, R. A., Jansen Steur, E. N., Braak, E., et al. (2003). Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 24, 197–211.
- Braak, H., Müller, C. M., Rüb, U., Ackermann, H., Bratzke, H., de Vos, R. A., et al. (2006). Pathology associated with sporadic Parkinson's disease–where does it end? J. Neural Transm. Suppl. 89–97. doi: 10.1007/978-3-211-45295-0\_15
- Chung, S., Bohnen, N. I., Albin, R. L., Frey, K. A., Müller, M. L., Chervin, R. D., et al. (2013). Insomnia and sleepiness in Parkinson disease: associations with symptoms and comorbidities. *J. Clin. Sleep Med.*. 9, 1131–1137. doi: 10.5664/ jcsm.3150
- Chwastiak, L., Ehde, D. M., Gibbons, L. E., Sullivan, M., Bowen, J. D., Kraft, G. H., et al. (2002). Depressive symptoms and severity of illness in multiple sclerosis: epidemiologic study of a large community sample. *Am. J. Psychiatr.* 159, 1862–1868. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.159.11.1862
- Cooney, J. W., and Stacy, M. (2016). Neuropsychiatric Issues in Parkinson's Disease. Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep. 16:49. doi: 10.1007/s11910-016-0647-4
- Dauvilliers, Y., Schenck, C. H., Postuma, R. B., Iranzo, A., Luppi, P. H., Plazzi, G., et al. (2018). REM sleep behaviour disorder. *Nat. Rev. Dis. Primers*. 4:19.
- Dolatshahi, M., Pourmirbabaei, S., Kamalian, A., Ashraf-Ganjouei, A., Yaseri, M., Aarabi, M. H., et al. (2018). Longitudinal Alterations of Alpha-Synuclein. Amyloid Beta, Total, and Phosphorylated Tau in Cerebrospinal Fluid and Correlations Between Their Changes in Parkinson's Disease. *Front. Neurol.* 9:560. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00560
- Durcan, R., Wiblin, L., Lawson, R. A., Khoo, T. K., Yarnall, A. J., Duncan, G. W., et al. (2019). Prevalence and duration of non-motor symptoms in prodromal Parkinson's disease. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 26, 979–985. doi: 10.1111/ene.13919
- Dušek, P., Ibarburu, V. L. Y. L., Bezdicek, O., Dall'antonia, I., Dostálová, S., Kovalská, P., et al. (2019). Relations of non-motor symptoms and dopamine transporter binding in REM sleep behavior disorder. *Sci. Rep.* 9:15463. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-51710-y
- Ferini-Strambi, L., Marelli, S., Galbiati, A., Rinaldi, F., and Giora, E. (2014). REM Sleep Behavior Disorder (RBD) as a marker of neurodegenerative disorders. *Arch. Italiennes de biologie* 152, 129–146. doi: 10.12871/000298292014238
- Ghazi Sherbaf, F., Rostam Abadi, Y., Mojtahed Zadeh, M., Ashraf-Ganjouei, A., Sanjari Moghaddam, H., Aarabi, M. H., et al. (2018). Microstructural Changes in Patients With Parkinson's Disease Comorbid With REM Sleep Behaviour Disorder and Depressive Symptoms. *Front. Neurol.* 9:441. doi: 10.3389/fneur. 2018.00441
- Goodarzi, Z., Mrklas, K. J., Roberts, D. J., Jette, N., Pringsheim, T., Holroyd-Leduc, J., et al. (2016). Detecting depression in Parkinson disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurology* 87, 426–437. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.000000000002898
- Grover, S., Somaiya, M., Kumar, S., and Avasthi, A. (2015). Psychiatric aspects of Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurosci. Rural Pract.* 6, 65–76.
- Hu, Y., Yu, S. Y., Zuo, L. J., Cao, C. J., Wang, F., Chen, Z. J., et al. (2015). Parkinson disease with REM sleep behavior disorder: features, alpha-synuclein, and inflammation. *Neurology* 84, 888–894. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000001308

- Hustad, E., and Aasly, J. O. (2020). Clinical and Imaging Markers of Prodromal Parkinson's Disease. *Front. Neurol.* 11:395. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.00395
- Jin, H., Zhang, J. R., Shen, Y., and Liu, C. F. (2017). Clinical Significance of REM Sleep Behavior Disorders and Other Non-motor Symptoms of Parkinsonism. *Neurosci. Bull.* 33, 576–584. doi: 10.1007/s12264-017-0164-8
- Jones, J. D., Kurniadi, N. E., Kuhn, T. P., Szymkowicz, S. M., Bunch, J., Rahmani, E., et al. (2019). Depressive symptoms precede cognitive impairment in de novo Parkinson's disease patients: Analysis of the PPMI cohort. *Neuropsychology*. 33, 1111–1120. doi: 10.1037/neu0000583
- Kay, D. B., Tanner, J. J., and Bowers, D. (2018). Sleep disturbances and depression severity in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Brain Behav.* 8:e00967. doi: 10. 1002/brb3.967
- Kudo, T., Loh, D. H., Truong, D., Wu, Y., Colwell, C. S., et al. (2011). Circadian dysfunction in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Exp. Neurol.* 232, 66–75.
- Lawrence, B. J., Gasson, N., Kane, R., Bucks, R. S., Loftus, A. M., et al. (2014). Activities of daily living, depression, and quality of life in Parkinson's disease. *PLoS One* 9:e102294. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0102294
- Lee, H., Cho, Y., and Kim, H. (2015). The Severity and Pattern of Autonomic Dysfunction in Idiopathic Rapid Eye Movement Sleep Behavior Disorder. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 1843–1848. doi: 10.1002/mds.26416
- Louis, E. D., Tang, M. X., Cote, L., Alfaro, B., Mejia, H., Marder, K., et al. (1999). Progression of parkinsonian signs in Parkinson disease. Arch. Neurol. 56, 334–337.
- Maillet, A., Krack, P., Lhommée, E., Météreau, E., Klinger, H., Favre, E., et al. (2016). The prominent role of serotonergic degeneration in apathy, anxiety and depression in de novo Parkinson's disease. *Brain J. Neurol.* 139, 2486–2502. doi: 10.1093/brain/aww162
- Miyamoto, T., Miyamoto, M., Iwanami, M., Kobayashi, M., Nakamura, M., Inoue, Y., et al. (2009). The REM sleep behavior disorder screening questionnaire: validation study of a Japanese version. *Sleep Med.* 10, 1151–1154. doi: 10.1016/ j.sleep.2009.05.007
- Moscovich, M., Heinzel, S., Postuma, R. B., Reilmann, R., Klockgether, T., Jacobi, H., et al. (2020). How specific are non-motor symptoms in the prodrome of Parkinson's disease compared to other movement disorders? *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 81, 213–218. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2020.10.003
- Neikrug, A. B., Maglione, J. E., Liu, L., Natarajan, L., Avanzino, J. A., Corey-Bloom, J., et al. (2013). Effects of sleep disorders on the non-motor symptoms of Parkinson disease. J. Clin. Sleep Med. 9, 1119–1129. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.3148
- Nilsson, F. M., Kessing, L. V., Sørensen, T. M., Andersen, P. K., Bolwig, T. G., et al. (2002). Major depressive disorder in Parkinson's disease: a register-based study. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 106, 202–211. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0447.2002.0 2229.x
- Nomura, T., Inoue, Y., Kagimura, T., Uemura, Y., Nakashima, K., et al. (2011). Utility of the REM sleep behavior disorder screening questionnaire (RBDSQ) in Parkinson's disease patients. *Sleep Med.* 12, 711–713. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2011. 01.015
- Park, J. H., Lee, S. H., Kim, Y., Park, S. W., Byeon, G. H., Jang, J. W., et al. (2020). Depressive symptoms are associated with worse cognitive prognosis in patients with newly diagnosed idiopathic Parkinson disease. *Psychogeriatrics* 20, 880–890. doi: 10.1111/psyg.12601
- Parkinson Progression, and Marker, I. (2011). The Parkinson Progression Marker Initiative (PPMI). Prog. Neurobiol. 95, 629–635.
- Patterson, L., Rushton, S. P., Attems, J., Thomas, A. J., Morris, C. M., et al. (2019). Degeneration of dopaminergic circuitry influences depressive symptoms in Lewy body disorders. *Brain Pathol.* 29, 544–557. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12697
- Pavese, N., Metta, V., Bose, S. K., Chaudhuri, K. R., Brooks, D. J., et al. (2010). Fatigue in Parkinson's disease is linked to striatal and limbic serotonergic dysfunction. *Brain J. Neurol.* 133, 3434–3443. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq268
- Pilotto, A., Romagnolo, A., Tuazon, J. A., Vizcarra, J. A., Marsili, L., Zibetti, M., et al. (2019). Orthostatic hypotension and REM sleep behaviour disorder: impact on clinical outcomes in α-synucleinopathies. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatr.* 90, 1257–1263. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2019-320846
- Politis, M., and Niccolini, F. (2015). Serotonin in Parkinson's disease. *Behav. Brain Res.* 277, 136–145.
- Politis, M., Wu, K., Loane, C., Turkheimer, F. E., Molloy, S., Brooks, D. J., et al. (2010). Depressive symptoms in PD correlate with higher 5-HTT binding in raphe and limbic structures. *Neurology* 75, 1920–1927. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 0b013e3181feb2ab

- Postuma, R. B., Berg, D., Stern, M., Poewe, W., Olanow, C. W., Oertel, W., et al. (2015b). MDS clinical diagnostic criteria for Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 1591–1601.
- Postuma, R. B., Adler, C. H., Dugger, B. N., Hentz, J. G., Shill, H. A., Driver-Dunckley, E., et al. (2015a). REM sleep behavior disorder and neuropathology in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 1413–1417. doi: 10.1002/mds.26347
- Postuma, R. B., and Berg, D. (2019). Prodromal Parkinson's Disease: The Decade Past, the Decade to Come. *Mov. Disord.* 34, 665–675. doi: 10.1002/mds.27670
- Rana, A. Q., Qureshi, A. R. M., Shamli Oghli, Y., Saqib, Y., Mohammed, B., Sarfraz, Z., et al. (2018). Decreased sleep quality in Parkinson's patients is associated with higher anxiety and depression prevalence and severity, and correlates with pain intensity and quality. *Neurol. Res.* 40, 696–701. doi: 10.1080/01616412. 2018.1462880
- Ravina, B., Camicioli, R., Como, P. G., Marsh, L., Jankovic, J., Weintraub, D., et al. (2007). The impact of depressive symptoms in early Parkinson disease. *Neurology*. 69, 342–347. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000268695.63392.10
- Remy, P., Doder, M., Lees, A., Turjanski, N., Brooks, D., et al. (2005). Depression in Parkinson's disease: loss of dopamine and noradrenaline innervation in the limbic system. *Brain J. Neurol.* 128, 1314–1322. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh445
- Rutten, S., Vriend, C., van der Werf, Y. D., Berendse, H. W., Weintraub, D., van den Heuvel, O. A., et al. (2017). The bidirectional longitudinal relationship between insomnia, depression and anxiety in patients with early-stage, medication-naïve Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism and Relat. Disord.* 39, 31–36. doi: 10.1016/j. parkreldis.2017.01.015
- Sagna, A., Gallo, J. J., and Pontone, G. M. (2014). Systematic review of factors associated with depression and anxiety disorders among older adults with Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 20, 708–715. doi: 10.1016/j. parkreldis.2014.03.020
- Schapira, A. H. V., Chaudhuri, K. R., and Jenner, P. (2017). Non-motor features of Parkinson disease. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 18:509.
- Sharabi, Y., and Goldstein, D. (2011). Mechanisms of orthostatic hypotension and supine hypertension in Parkinson disease. J. Neurol. Sci. 310, 123–128. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2011.06.047
- Simuni, T., Caspell-Garcia, C., Coffey, C., Chahine, L. M., Lasch, S., Oertel, W. H., et al. (2015). Correlates of excessive daytime sleepiness in de novo Parkinson's disease: A case control study. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 1371–1381. doi: 10.1002/mds. 26248
- Sklerov, M., Shih, C. H., Browner, N., Palma, J. A., Styner, M., Dayan, E., et al. (2020). Longitudinal change in autonomic symptoms predicts activities of daily living and depression in Parkinson's disease. *Clin. Auton. Res.* 30, 223–230. doi: 10.1007/s10286-020-00672-7
- Soh, S. E., Morris, M. E., and McGinley, J. L. (2011). Determinants of health-related quality of life in Parkinson's disease: a systematic review. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 17, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2010.08.012
- Sommerauer, M., Fedorova, T. D., Hansen, A. K., Knudsen, K., Otto, M., Jeppesen, J., et al. (2018). Evaluation of the noradrenergic system in Parkinson's disease: an 11C-MeNER PET and neuromelanin MRI study. *Brain J. Neurol.* 141, 496–504. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx348
- Stiasny-Kolster, K., Mayer, G., Schäfer, S., Möller, J. C., Heinzel-Gutenbrunner, M., Oertel, W. H., et al. (2007). The REM sleep behavior disorder screening questionnaire–a new diagnostic instrument. *Mov. Disord.* 22, 2386–2393. doi: 10.1002/mds.21740
- Stocchi, F., Abbruzzese, G., Ceravolo, R., Cortelli, P., D'Amelio, M., De Pandis, M. F., et al. (2014). Prevalence of fatigue in Parkinson disease and its

clinical correlates. Neurology 83, 215-220. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0000000000 00587

- Sundaram, S., Hughes, R. L., Peterson, E., Müller-Oehring, E. M., Brontë-Stewart, H. M., Poston, K. L., et al. (2019). Establishing a framework for neuropathological correlates and glymphatic system functioning in Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 103, 305–315. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019. 05.016
- Thobois, S., Prange, S., Sgambato-Faure, V., Tremblay, L., Broussolle, E., et al. (2017). Imaging the Etiology of Apathy, Anxiety, and Depression in Parkinson's Disease: Implication for Treatment. *Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep.* 17:76. doi: 10.1007/s11910-017-0788-0
- Visser, M., Marinus, J., Stiggelbout, A. M., Van Hilten, J. J., et al. (2004). Assessment of autonomic dysfunction in Parkinson's disease: the SCOPA-AUT. *Mov. Disord.* 19, 1306–1312. doi: 10.1002/mds.20153
- Wang, X. T., Yu, H., Liu, F. T., Zhang, C., Ma, Y. H., Wang, J., et al. (2021). Associations of sleep disorders with cerebrospinal fluid alpha-synuclein in prodromal and early Parkinson's disease. J. Neurol. 269, 2469–2478. doi: 10. 1007/s00415-021-10812-2
- Xiang, Y. Q., Xu, Q., Sun, Q. Y., Wang, Z. Q., Tian, Y., Fang, L. J., et al. (2019). Clinical Features and Correlates of Excessive Daytime Sleepiness in Parkinson's Disease. *Front. Neurol.* 10:121. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00121
- Xiao-Ling, Q., Gang, C., Bo, L., Zai-Li, L., Xue-Kui, L., Xue, L., et al. (2020). Depression Is Associated With Constipation in Patients With Parkinson's Disease. *Front. Neurol.* 11:567574. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.567574
- Xu, Z., Anderson, K. N., Saffari, S. E., Lawson, R. A., Chaudhuri, K. R., Brooks, D., et al. (2021). Progression of sleep disturbances in Parkinson's disease: a 5-year longitudinal study. *J. Neurol.* 268, 312–320. doi: 10.1007/s00415-020-1 0140-x
- Yousaf, T., Pagano, G., Niccolini, F., and Politis, M. (2018). Excessive daytime sleepiness may be associated with caudate denervation in Parkinson disease. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 387, 220–227. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2018.02.032
- Zuo, L. J., Yu, S. Y., Hu, Y., Wang, F., Piao, Y. S., Lian, T. H., et al. (2016). Serotonergic dysfunctions and abnormal iron metabolism: Relevant to mental fatigue of Parkinson disease. *Sci. Rep.* 6:19. doi: 10.1038/s41598-016-0018-z
- Zverev, Y. P., and Misiri, H. E. (2009). Perceived effects of rotating shift work on nurses' sleep quality and duration. *Malawi Med. J.* 21, 19–21. doi: 10.4314/mmj. v21i1.10984

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Ma, Dou, Liu, Liao, Yuan and Xie. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## New Understanding on the Pathophysiology and Treatment of Constipation in Parkinson's Disease

Jianli Xu<sup>1,2†</sup>, Lei Wang<sup>1,2†</sup>, Xi Chen<sup>1,2\*</sup> and Weidong Le<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Neurology, Sichuan Provincial People's Hospital, University of Electronic Science and Technology of China, Chengdu, China, <sup>2</sup>Chinese Academy of Sciences Sichuan Translational Medicine Research Hospital, Chengdu, China

OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Jifeng Guo, Central South University, China

#### Reviewed by:

Zhentao Zhang, Renmin Hospital of Wuhan University, China Pingyi Xu, First Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University, China

#### \*Correspondence:

Xi Chen cxde2018@163.com Weidong Le wdle@sibs.ac.cn

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Parkinson's Disease and Aging-related Movement Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

> Received: 11 April 2022 Accepted: 27 May 2022 Published: 22 June 2022

#### Citation:

Xu J, Wang L, Chen X and Le W (2022) New Understanding on the Pathophysiology and Treatment of Constipation in Parkinson's Disease. Front. Aging Neurosci. 14:917499. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.917499 Constipation, one of the most common prodromal non-motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease (PD), usually occurs several years earlier than the onset of motor symptoms. Previous studies have shown that constipation occurrence increases as the disease progresses. However, the mechanism underlying this pathologic disorder is not clear yet. Moreover, chronic constipation causes slowness in gastric emptying and, therefore, may lead to a delay in the absorption of medications for PD, including levodopa and dopamine agonists. Accordingly, it is necessary to understand how the pathophysiological factors contribute to constipation during PD as well as pursue precise and effective treatment strategies. In this review, we encapsulate the molecular mechanism of constipation underlying PD and update the progress in the treatments of PD-associated constipation.

Keywords: Parkinson's disease, constipation, molecular mechanism, non-pharmacological treatments, medication

## INTRODUCTION

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a complex chronic neurodegenerative disease highly prevalent with aging (Collaborators, 2019). Most PD cases are sporadic and less than 10% of them are familial. The prominent pathological feature of PD is the dopaminergic (DAergic) neuronal loss in the substantia nigra of the midbrain, leading to the significant reduction of DA content in the striatum and impairing the nigrostriatal projections (Carmichael et al., 2021). There are many contributing factors associated with the development of PD, including genetic and environmental factors (Samii et al., 2004; Simon-Sanchez et al., 2009). Currently, the diagnosis of PD mainly relies on its motor symptoms, such as resting tremor, bradykinesia, rigidity, and postural/gait abnormalities, based on the 2015 MDS clinical diagnostic criteria for PD (Postuma et al., 2015). However, these classical clinical features always occur at the advanced stage of disease progression. Recently, the non-motor symptoms of PD attract a special interest due to their early onset compared to motor symptoms and provide a promising perspective for early diagnosis and treatments of PD (Martinez-Martin et al., 2011; Bloem et al., 2021), including olfactory dysfunction, gastrointestinal (GI) dysfunction, mood symptoms, sleep disorders, autonomic dysfunction, and fatigue (Chaudhuri et al., 2006; Liu and Le, 2020). Constipation, a GI disturbance, is one of the most frequent non-motor symptoms and affects more than 80% of PD patients. Importantly, constipation may precede the motor symptoms of PD by at least 10 years (Fasano et al., 2015). Also, the colonic transit time is significantly prolonged in PD patients (Sakakibara et al., 2003; Knudsen et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2021).

The dysfunction of bowel movements undergoing PD may be contributed by many factors, such as neuro-humoral factors, intestinal microorganisms, intestinal inflammation, drugs, and lifestyle (Barichella et al., 2019). Currently, most of the therapeutic strategies for constipation applied in the general population are also effective for PD patients (Travagli et al., 2020). However, a better understanding of the pathophysiological mechanism underlying PD may promote the development of specialized treatments for constipation in PD patients. For example, deep brain stimulation (DBS) and vagal nerve stimulation (VNS), these two common surgical treatments for PD have been proven to mitigate constipation in PD patients as well, by facilitating intestinal emptying (Jost, 1997; Payne et al., 2019). In this review, we seek to encapsulate the molecular mechanisms discovered underlying constipation of PD, as well as update the progress of recent pharmacological and clinical findings.

# PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF CONSTIPATION IN PD

Constipation in PD may occur due to the improper functioning of the autonomic nervous system, i.e., the intestinal tract may operate slowly and trigger constipation (Metta et al., 2022). Pathophysiology of constipation in PD is to discover the intrinsic and extrinsic factors contributing to PD-associated constipation (Warnecke et al., 2022). Generally, the normal function of the colon depends on the orderly and controllable unidirectional movement of its contents under the impetus of intestinal motility. Many factors have been known to affect colonic movements and intestinal contents, including neuro-humoral factors, gut microbiota imbalance, intestinal inflammation, drugs, and lifestyle. Once they are dysregulated, the transportability of intestinal contents is altered, resulting in constipation ultimately (as shown in **Figure 1**).

## **Neuro-Humoral Factors**

The innervation of the digestive tract determines its movement pattern, regulates the fluid movement of the intestinal cavity, and releases intestinal hormones (Furness et al., 2014). Different from other peripheral organs, the movement of the intestine is controlled by two distinct types of nerves. One is the extrinsic nervous system, which is composed of sympathetic and parasympathetic nerves. Sympathetic postganglionic fibers release norepinephrine, which can inhibit the excitation of neurons and further repress their forward conduction activities; the parasympathetic nerve, especially the vagus nerve, has a role in facilitating digestion-related enzyme, hormone secretion, and smooth muscle peristalsis. The other type of intestinal nerve system is the extensive intrinsic nervous system, the enteric nervous system (ENS). ENS consists of the intestinal wall intermuscular plexus and the submucosal nerve plexus, where a large number of sensory and motor neurons are located (Furness et al., 2014; Walsh and Zemper, 2019). The function of ENS is mainly in charge of contractile activity, local blood flow, and transmucosal movement of fluids (Furness, 2012). In PD, GI dysfunction is largely caused by the abnormalities of ENS and the vagus nerve (Quigley, 1996).

Aggregated  $\alpha$ -Synuclein ( $\alpha$ -Syn) is the major constituent of Lewy bodies, which are a pathogenic hallmark of PD (Li and Le, 2020). The vagus nerve is considered to be the main route of transmission of  $\alpha$ -Syn. There is a degree of vagus nerve atrophy in the process of PD (Del Tredici and Braak, 2016), inhibiting gastric emptying and intestinal transport (Grijalva and Novin, 1990). Moreover, aggregate d $\alpha$ -Syn has also been found in the peripheral nerves including the ENS (Casini et al., 2021). The number of Lewy neurites in ENS is negatively correlated with neuron counts and positively correlated with constipation (Lebouvier et al., 2010). Therefore, aberrant accumulations of  $\alpha$ -Synmay trigger vagus neurodegeneration, slow down intestinal peristalsis, and promote constipation (Liddle, 2018).

The dysfunction of the intestinal nervous system may bring out the imbalance of secretion, and dysregulation of intestinal neurotransmitters, further aggravating the disorder of intestinal motility. Vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP), innervating the mucosa throughout the small and large intestines, plays a major role in the digestive system to relax intestinal smooth muscle and promote the secretion of intestinal fluid (Schwartz et al., 1974; Larsson et al., 1976). The studies from Giancola et al. (2017) showed that the impaired colonic motor and rectal sensory in most PD patients were associated with a decreased VIP expression in submucosal neurons. Such reduction of intestinal VIP potentially leads to intestinal diastolic disorder and loss of normal intestinal peristalsis mode, further limiting colonic transport and reducing intestinal fluid secretion. Secretory abnormalities may thereby affect the composition of the fecal water content, leading to hard stools and delayed colonic transit time (Lam et al., 2016).

Nitric oxide (NO), an inhibitory neurotransmitter secreted by NOS (nitric oxide synthase)—positive neurons in ENS, regulates the relaxation of smooth muscle, to maintain normal colon motility, colonic reflexes, and defecation (Stark et al., 1993). NOS is the key rate-limiting enzyme for NO production. In normal physiological conditions, NOS causes tissues to slowly release NO and maintains the body's physiological requirements. When the body is in a pathological state, deficient NO production will affect intestinal transport (Shah et al., 2004). Studies with the animal models of PD confirmed that loss of NOS impairs the expression of the antioxidant gene, which deregulates NO synthesis and increases abnormal aggregation of α-Syn in ENS, thereby contributing to the development of GI dysmotility and constipation (Sampath et al., 2019). Additionally, NO appears to be important to maintain DA synthesis in the colon. The signals from NOS-NO may influence DA neurotransmission, and loss of NOS-NO signaling in the GI system may induce DAergic neuronal degeneration via oxidative stress, aggravating the degree of dyskinesia and constipation (Sampath et al., 2019).

Cholinergic neurons are the most abundant neurons in the ENS. The cells of cholinergic excitatory nerves are scattered under the intestinal mucosa and in the myenteric plexus. Acetylcholine, the neurotransmitter released by cholinergic neurons, stimulates the muscarinic receptors on smooth muscles and nicotinic receptors on ganglion cells, affects GI



muscle excitatory and participates in intestinal peristalsis reflex (Picciotto et al., 2012). Therefore, alterations in excitatory cholinergic neurotransmitters have a significant impact on the movements of the distal colon. In PD, the loss of myenteric neuronal choline acetyltransferase and decreased acetylcholine release, likely contribute to the reduction of colonic transit rate by affecting the formation of excitatory electrical activity in the colon (Fornai et al., 2016), resulting in the impairment of fecal output and leading to constipation (Fidalgo et al., 2018).

DA is a key neurotransmitter for colon movements and is widely distributed to the intestine regions, including the colon muscle layer, intermuscular plexus, and mucosal epithelial cells. Therefore, dysfunction of DA receptors (DR) can affect GI transport (Li et al., 2006). It was reported that the rats with PD-related constipation show a significant reduction in D2R expression in the colon (Levandis et al., 2015). DA dysfunction is also closely related to DA transporter (DAT). DAT, a membrane protein, removes DA from the synaptic space, deposits it into surrounding cells, and terminates the signal of neurotransmitters. The neuroimaging data from PD patients showed that constipation is most closely associated with caudate-DAT reductions (Hinkle et al., 2018). Additionally, DA itself regulates GI transport as well. DA dysfunction weakens its inhibitory effect on gut motility and leads to spasms and hyper-contractility of colonic smooth muscles, which slows down intestinal transport (Anderson et al., 2007). In such a situation, an enteric DA deficit induces constipation in PD patients.

## **Gut Microbiota Imbalance**

The intestinal microbiota is a complex system composed of parasites, viruses, yeast, and bacteria (Gasbarrini et al., 2007; Jandhyala et al., 2015). The composition of the microbiota and the diverse metabolites they produce are widely related to the health of the host. Studies on gut microbiota have shown

that PD patients are prone to show intestinal flora imbalance. A lower proportion of the bacterial phylum Bacteroidetes and the bacterial family Prevotellaceae were both identified in fecal samples from PD, where Enterobacteriaceae were more abundant instead (Unger et al., 2016). Such microbiota imbalance has been associated with motor dysfunction, GI injury, and colon transport time increase via affecting neurotransmitters and microbial metabolites (Scheperjans et al., 2015; Vandeputte et al., 2016; Cirstea et al., 2020; Shao et al., 2021). Shortchain fatty acids (SCFAs) are the main product of bacterial fermentation of dietary fiber or glycosylated host proteins such as mucins in the colon (Cummings et al., 1987; Park et al., 2019). SCFAs play an important role in acting as an energy source for colonocytes (Kaiko et al., 2016), regulating the gut barrier (Kelly et al., 2015), influencing inflammatory responses (Inan et al., 2000), enhancing neuronal survival, and promoting enteric neurogenesis (Vicentini et al., 2021). Thus it is essential to maintain SCFA homeostasis in the gut microbiota (Yang and Chiu, 2017; Cirstea et al., 2020). Moreover, the SCFA concentrations were significantly reduced in fecal samples of PD patients, potentially contributing to GI dysmotility (Unger et al., 2016).

## Intestinal Inflammation

Intestinal inflammation has been proposed to mediate gut-tobrain PD progression (Sharma et al., 2019). It was reported that the expression levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and the markers of glial cells were significantly increased in the colon of PD patients (Devos et al., 2013), suggesting that GI inflammation is associated with PD. Furthermore, patients with PD-related constipation have shown the decreased content of SCFAs, the increased intestinal permeability, and the down-regulated regulatory T cells, all of which accelerate the neuronal inflammation in ENS (Hirayama and Ohno, 2021). Meanwhile, the induced inflammatory mediators promote the infiltration of neutrophils and macrophages into the smooth muscle layer and the production of NO, leading to the reduction of contractility of smooth muscle cells (Turler et al., 2006). Importantly, in the inflamed intestine, the increased expression of cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 resulted in a significant augment of prostaglandins within the circulation and peritoneal cavity, which aggravates the contractility dysfunction of GI smooth muscles and leads to constipation (Schwarz et al., 2001).

## Adverse Drug Reactions and Lifestyle

Constipation can be a side effect of PD drugs. A populationbased study investigated that constipation was slightly increased after 1 year of DA treatments in PD patients, most of whom were using Levodopa (Pagano et al., 2015). Thus, Levodopa may exacerbate delayed gastric emptying and constipation by affecting DR to slow down intestinal movements (Bestetti et al., 2017). Moreover, ropinirole, bromocriptine, and piribedil can promote a high incidence rate of constipation, accompanied by nausea, dyskinesia, hallucination, dizziness, and somnolence symptoms (Li et al., 2017). On the other hand, at the advanced stage of disease progression, PD patients move slowly with limited activity, and even stay in bed for a long time, which may lead to slow GI peristalsis and constipation. Dysphagia is commonly seen in older adults with PD, who usually experience dehydration (Thiyagalingam et al., 2021). Such dehydration may induce the release of antidiuretic hormone and aldosterone to increase the salt and water absorption in the colon, resulting in constipation in PD (Read et al., 1995).

## TREATMENTS

Currently, the treatments for idiopathic chronic constipation are equally effective in treating PD-associated constipation, including lifestyle alteration, diet control, and medication (Black and Ford, 2018; as shown in **Figure 2**). In recent years, DBS as an effective surgical procedure for PD, not only improves motor dysfunction but also alleviates constipation symptoms in PD patients (Hogg et al., 2017; Kahan et al., 2019). Thus, the development of drug and therapeutic strategies for PD will greatly benefit the treatments of constipation in PD patients.

### Non-pharmacological Treatments Diet and Lifestyle

Diet and lifestyle interventions play an important role in managing constipation (Fathallah et al., 2017). A large-scale lifestyle study found that PD patients consumed more energy and protein, compared to controls. It was known that protein can stimulate insulin and incretin hormone secretion as well as slow gastric emptying (Ma et al., 2009). Thus, the increased protein intake may reduce oral levodopa absorption and aggravate constipation symptoms (Fasano et al., 2015; Barichella et al., 2017). Additionally, another diet survey demonstrated that the sugar intake of PD patients increased significantly, accompanied by aggravated severity of constipation and a greater need for levodopa (Palavra et al., 2021). Thus, the management of protein and sugar intake should be considered an integral part of the care of PD patients. Furthermore, after providing a vegetarian diet and bowel cleansing for PD patients, UPDRS III (Unified Parkinson Disease Ratings Scale III) can be significantly improved, and levodopa usage was decreased (Hegelmaier et al., 2020). UPDRS III is an internationally well-established rating scale for assessing the motor symptoms of PD patients. Additionally, the Mediterranean diet is considered a combination of healthy foods and has been proved to be negatively correlated with multiple prodromal features of PD, including constipation. The studies indicated that the higher score for adherence to the Mediterranean diet, the more obvious probability of constipation relief. Thus, a healthy diet pattern can improve the constipation symptom of PD patients at the early stage (Maraki et al., 2019; Molsberry et al., 2020). Together, these findings suggest that dietary management may help to maintain nutritional status, optimize levodopa treatment, and minimize its related motor complications.

#### Surgical Treatment

The GI tract has substantial two-way neural interactions with the central nervous system through the vagus nerve (Powell et al., 2017). Thus, the vagus nerve, the channel of information exchange, is an attractive target of neurostimulation therapy for



the treatment of GI disorders (Breit et al., 2018). Utilization of bioelectronic therapy has been applied to the vagus nerve, called VNS. VNS activated the dorsal motor nucleus (DMV), reduced intestinal pro-inflammation cytokine expression, decreased leukocyte recruitment to the manipulated intestine segment, and eventually improved GI transit (Hong et al., 2019). Importantly, VNS is well tolerated with fewer relevant side effects (such as abdominal pain, flatulence, and bloating), and thereby is considered to be a promising non-invasive therapy to improve gastroenteric symptoms in PD (Kaut et al., 2019).

DBS is a surgical technique in which one or more electrodes are attached to leads and implanted in specific regions of the brain (Malek, 2019). Two specific sites in the brain have been the most common targets for DBS in PD: the subthalamic nucleus and the internal segment of the globus pallidus (Morishita et al., 2013). A follow-up evaluation found that DBS effectively ameliorated motor symptoms, and greatly adapted non-motor symptoms, including constipation (Zibetti et al., 2007). After DBS, the severity of constipation was significantly improved and the number of complete spontaneous bowel movements remarkably increased (Kola et al., 2021). Animal experiments also indicated that DBS in rats could accelerate colonic transit and increase colonic motor activity through the central DAergic pathway (Derrey et al., 2011).

Additionally, abdominal massage is perceived to be beneficial in relieving symptoms of constipation for PD patients (McClurg et al., 2016b). It can stimulate peristalsis, reduce colonic transit time, increase the frequency of bowel movements in constipated patients, and also alleviate the feelings of discomfort and pain that accompany constipation (Sinclair, 2011). Some experts believe that abdominal massage, an adjunct to the management of constipation, offers an acceptable and potentially beneficial intervention for PD patients (McClurg et al., 2016a).

#### **Medications**

Chronic constipation is the most frequent symptom of autonomic system involvement in PD, which becomes severe as the disease progress and greatly impairs the life quality of patients (Stocchi and Torti, 2017). Considering the efficacy and cost, management of constipation should begin with diet or laxatives. Laxatives are commonly used to treat constipation. Although initial observations suggested that long-term use of laxatives could induce ENS damage, more evidence and guidelines indicate that stimulant laxatives, such as polyethylene glycol, are safe and effective for chronic constipation (Siegel and Di Palma, 2005; Pare and Fedorak, 2014).

If patients are not responding to traditional laxatives, intestinal secretagogues or prokinetic agents can also be accounted for in the constipation treatment, such as prucalopride or lubiprostone (Black and Ford, 2018; Bharucha and Lacy, 2020). Prucalopride is a selective agonist of serotonin 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors. With a favorable safety profile, prucalopride is effective in many forms of constipation, such as opioid-

induced constipation usually appearing at the early stages of PD (Omer and Quigley, 2017). Lubiprostone, working by increasing fluid and electrolyte flux into the intestinal lumen, seemed to be well tolerated and effective for the short-term treatment of constipation in PD (Ondo et al., 2012). Cisapride, a prokinetic agent, can enhance the physiological release of acetylcholine from postganglionic nerve endings of the myenteric plexus and stimulate bowel movement (Neira et al., 1995). In addition, domperidone and mosapride can also stimulate digestive gastrointestinal tract motility, thereby ameliorating constipation in PD patients (Soykan et al., 1997; Liu et al., 2005).

Recently, several new drugs have been developed and are considered to be potential for the treatment of constipation in PD. Posiphen, an  $\alpha$ -Syn protein translation inhibitor, was confirmed to normalize the colonic motility in mouse models with GI dysfunction (Kuo et al., 2019). Further study in humans showed that posiphen is well tolerated and significantly lowers inflammatory markers (Maccecchini et al., 2012). Squalamine, a zwitterionic amphipathic amino sterol, originally isolated from the liver of the dogfish shark, dramatically affects a-Syn aggregation in vitro and in vivo (Perni et al., 2017). After taking squalamine in the PD mouse model, the excitability of intrinsic primary afferent neurons of ENS can be rapidly restored (West et al., 2020). A double-blind, placebo-controlled study also confirmed that oral tablets of squalamine are safe and significantly improve bowel function in PD-related constipation (Hauser et al., 2019). Together, these drugs may provide some promise in clinical trials but need to be evaluated further.

Besides chemicals, multi-strain probiotics are also considered an effective strategy for alleviating constipation, by restoring the balance of gut microbiota, increasing the intestinal opening frequency, and improving the whole intestinal transmission

## REFERENCES

- Anderson, G., Noorian, A. R., Taylor, G., Anitha, M., Bernhard, D., Srinivasan, S., et al. (2007). Loss of enteric dopaminergic neurons and associated changes in colon motility in an MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Exp. Neurol.* 207, 4–12. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2007.05.010
- Barichella, M., Cereda, E., Cassani, E., Pinelli, G., Iorio, L., Ferri, V., et al. (2017). Dietary habits and neurological features of Parkinson's disease patients: implications for practice. *Clin. Nutr.* 36, 1054–1061. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2016. 06.020
- Barichella, M., Pacchetti, C., Bolliri, C., Cassani, E., Iorio, L., Pusani, C., et al. (2016). Probiotics and prebiotic fiber for constipation associated with Parkinson disease: an RCT. *Neurology* 87, 1274–1280. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 000000000003127
- Barichella, M., Severgnini, M., Cilia, R., Cassani, E., Bolliri, C., Caronni, S., et al. (2019). Unraveling gut microbiota in Parkinson's disease and atypical parkinsonism. *Mov. Disord.* 34, 396–405. doi: 10.1002/mds.27581
- Bestetti, A., Capozza, A., Lacerenza, M., Manfredi, L., and Mancini, F. (2017). Delayed gastric emptying in advanced Parkinson disease: correlation with therapeutic doses. *Clin. Nucl. Med.* 42, 83–87. doi: 10.1097/RLU. 000000000001470
- Bharucha, A. E., and Lacy, B. E. (2020). Mechanisms, evaluation and management of chronic constipation. *Gastroenterology* 158, 1232–1249.e3. doi: 10.1053/j. gastro.2019.12.034

time (Westfall et al., 2017; Tan et al., 2021). The consumption of fermented milk containing multiple probiotic strains and prebiotic fiber was superior to placebo in improving constipation in patients with PD (Barichella et al., 2016). Such treatments can greatly improve the quality of life in PD patients with constipation (Ibrahim et al., 2020; Tan et al., 2021).

#### **Summary and Prospects**

Since the relationship between the pathogenesis of constipation and disease progression in PD patients is still unclear, no completely effective radical therapeutic method is identified yet. Currently, the clinical treatments of constipation in PD patients are similar to the treatments in the general population. Although these managements have limited effects in the short term, the long-term efficacy is still poor. Thus, more efforts in the studies of PD pathogenesis may be needed to expand the scope of research, provide new strategies, and improve the life quality of patients.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

LW conceptualized the manuscript. JX and WL drafted the manuscript. LW and XC revised and supervised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## **FUNDING**

This work was supported by funding from the Key Project of the Medical Science Department, University of Electronic Science and Technology of China (ZYGX2020ZB035 to LW), Guangdong Provincial Key R&D Program (2018B030337001 to LW), the Youth Program of National Natural Science Foundation of China (81901405 to XC), the Key Research and Development Program of Sichuan (2021YFS0382 to XC).

- Black, C. J., and Ford, A. C. (2018). Chronic idiopathic constipation in adults: epidemiology, pathophysiology, diagnosis and clinical management. *Med. J. Aust.* 209, 86–91. doi: 10.5694/mja18.00241
- Bloem, B. R., Okun, M. S., and Klein, C. (2021). Parkinson's disease. *Lancet* 397, 2284–2303. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00218-X
- Breit, S., Kupferberg, A., Rogler, G., and Hasler, G. (2018). Vagus nerve as modulator of the brain-gut axis in psychiatric and inflammatory disorders. *Front. Psychiatry* 9:44. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00044
- Carmichael, K., Sullivan, B., Lopez, E., Sun, L., and Cai, H. (2021). Diverse midbrain dopaminergic neuron subtypes and implications for complex clinical symptoms of Parkinson's disease. *Ageing Neurodegener. Dis.* 1:10.20517/and.2021.07. doi: 10.20517/and.2021.07
- Casini, A., Mancinelli, R., Mammola, C. L., Pannarale, L., Chirletti, P., Onori, P., et al. (2021). Distribution of alpha-synuclein in normal human jejunum and its relations with the chemosensory and neuroendocrine system. *Eur. J. Histochem.* 65:3310. doi: 10.4081/ejh.2021.3310
- Chaudhuri, K. R., Healy, D. G., Schapira, A. H., and National Institute for Clinical, E. (2006). Non-motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease: diagnosis and management. *Lancet Neurol.* 5, 235–245. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(06) 70373-8
- Cirstea, M. S., Yu, A. C., Golz, E., Sundvick, K., Kliger, D., Radisavljevic, N., et al. (2020). Microbiota composition and metabolism are associated with gut function in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 35, 1208–1217. doi: 10.1002/mds. 28052

- Collaborators, G. B. D. N. (2019). Global, regional and national burden of neurological disorders, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet Neurol.* 18, 459–480. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30499-X
- Cummings, J. H., Pomare, E. W., Branch, W. J., Naylor, C. P., and Macfarlane, G. T. (1987). Short chain fatty acids in human large intestine, portal, hepatic and venous blood. *Gut* 28, 1221–1227. doi: 10.1136/gut.28.10. 1221
- Del Tredici, K., and Braak, H. (2016). Review: sporadic Parkinson's disease: development and distribution of alpha-synuclein pathology. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 42, 33–50. doi: 10.1111/nan.12298
- Derrey, S., Ouelaa, W., Lecointre, M., Maltete, D., Chastan, N., Leroi, A. M., et al. (2011). Effect of unilateral subthalamic deep brain stimulation on rat digestive motor activity. *Neuroscience* 195, 89–99. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.08. 004
- Devos, D., Lebouvier, T., Lardeux, B., Biraud, M., Rouaud, T., Pouclet, H., et al. (2013). Colonic inflammation in Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 50, 42–48. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2012.09.007
- Fasano, A., Visanji, N. P., Liu, L. W., Lang, A. E., and Pfeiffer, R. F. (2015). Gastrointestinal dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. *Lancet Neurol.* 14, 625–639. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00007-1
- Fathallah, N., Bouchard, D., and de Parades, V. (2017). [Diet and lifestyle rules in chronic constipation in adults: from fantasy to reality...]. La Presse Médicale 46, 23–30. doi: 10.1016/j.lpm.2016.03.019
- Fidalgo, S., Patel, B. A., Ranson, R. N., Saffrey, M. J., and Yeoman, M. S. (2018). Changes in murine anorectum signaling across the life course. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 30:e13426. doi: 10.1111/nmo.13426
- Fornai, M., Pellegrini, C., Antonioli, L., Segnani, C., Ippolito, C., Barocelli, E., et al. (2016). Enteric dysfunctions in experimental Parkinson's disease: alterations of excitatory cholinergic neurotransmission regulating colonic motility in rats. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 356, 434–444. doi: 10.1124/jpet.115. 228510
- Furness, J. B. (2012). The enteric nervous system and neurogastroenterology. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 9, 286–294. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2012.32
- Furness, J. B., Callaghan, B. P., Rivera, L. R., and Cho, H. J. (2014). The enteric nervous system and gastrointestinal innervation: integrated local and central control. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 817, 39–71. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-0897-4\_3
- Gasbarrini, A., Lauritano, E. C., Gabrielli, M., Scarpellini, E., Lupascu, A., Ojetti, V., et al. (2007). Small intestinal bacterial overgrowth: diagnosis and treatment. *Dig. Dis.* 25, 237–240. doi: 10.1159/000103892
- Giancola, F., Torresan, F., Repossi, R., Bianco, F., Latorre, R., Ioannou, A., et al. (2017). Downregulation of neuronal vasoactive intestinal polypeptide in Parkinson's disease and chronic constipation. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 29:10.1111/nmo.12995. doi: 10.1111/nmo.12995
- Grijalva, C. V., and Novin, D. (1990). The role of the hypothalamus and dorsal vagal complex in gastrointestinal function and pathophysiology. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 597, 207–222. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1990.tb16169.x
- Hauser, R. A., Sutherland, D., Madrid, J. A., Rol, M. A., Frucht, S., Isaacson, S., et al. (2019). Targeting neurons in the gastrointestinal tract to treat Parkinson's disease. *Clin. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 1, 2–7. doi: 10.1016/j.prdoa. 2019.06.001
- Hegelmaier, T., Lebbing, M., Duscha, A., Tomaske, L., Tonges, L., Holm, J. B., et al. (2020). Interventional influence of the intestinal microbiome through dietary intervention and bowel cleansing might improve motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease. *Cells* 9:376. doi: 10.3390/cells9020376
- Hinkle, J. T., Perepezko, K., Mills, K. A., Mari, Z., Butala, A., Dawson, T. M., et al. (2018). Dopamine transporter availability reflects gastrointestinal dysautonomia in early Parkinson disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 55, 8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2018.08.010
- Hirayama, M., and Ohno, K. (2021). Parkinson's disease and gut microbiota. *Ann. Nutr. Metab.* 77, 28–35. doi: 10.1159/000518147
- Hogg, E., Wertheimer, J., Graner, S., and Tagliati, M. (2017). Deep brain stimulation and nonmotor symptoms. *Int. Rev. Neurobiol.* 134, 1045–1089. doi: 10.1016/bs.irn.2017.05.022
- Hong, G. S., Zillekens, A., Schneiker, B., Pantelis, D., de Jonge, W. J., Schaefer, N., et al. (2019). Non-invasive transcutaneous auricular vagus nerve stimulation prevents postoperative ileus and endotoxemia in mice. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 31:e13501. doi: 10.1111/nmo.13501

- Ibrahim, A., Ali, R. A. R., Manaf, M. R. A., Ahmad, N., Tajurruddin, F. W., Qin, W. Z., et al. (2020). Multi-strain probiotics (Hexbio) containing MCP BCMC strains improved constipation and gut motility in Parkinson's disease: a randomised controlled trial. *PLoS One* 15:e0244680. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0244680
- Inan, M. S., Rasoulpour, R. J., Yin, L., Hubbard, A. K., Rosenberg, D. W., and Giardina, C. (2000). The luminal short-chain fatty acid butyrate modulates NF-kappaB activity in a human colonic epithelial cell line. *Gastroenterology* 118, 724–734. doi: 10.1016/s0016-5085(00)70142-9
- Jandhyala, S. M., Talukdar, R., Subramanyam, C., Vuyyuru, H., Sasikala, M., and Reddy, D. N. (2015). Role of the normal gut microbiota. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 21, 8787–8803. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i29.8787
- Jost, W. H. (1997). Gastrointestinal motility problems in patients with Parkinson's disease. Effects of antiparkinsonian treatment and guidelines for management. *Drugs Aging* 10, 249–258. doi: 10.2165/00002512-199710040-00002
- Kahan, J., Mancini, L., Flandin, G., White, M., Papadaki, A., Thornton, J., et al. (2019). Deep brain stimulation has state-dependent effects on motor connectivity in Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 142, 2417–2431. doi: 10.1093/brain/awz164
- Kaiko, G. E., Ryu, S. H., Koues, O. I., Collins, P. L., Solnica-Krezel, L., Pearce, E. J., et al. (2016). The colonic crypt protects stem cells from microbiota-derived metabolites. *Cell* 165, 1708–1720. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.018
- Kaut, O., Janocha, L., Weismuller, T. J., and Wullner, U. (2019). Transcutaneous vagal nerve stimulation improves gastroenteric complaints in Parkinson's disease patients. *NeuroRehabilitation* 45, 449–451. doi: 10.3233/NRE -192909
- Kelly, C. J., Zheng, L., Campbell, E. L., Saeedi, B., Scholz, C. C., Bayless, A. J., et al. (2015). Crosstalk between microbiota-derived short-chain fatty acids and intestinal epithelial HIF augments tissue barrier function. *Cell Host Microbe* 17, 662–671. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2015.03.005
- Knudsen, K., Fedorova, T. D., Bekker, A. C., Iversen, P., Ostergaard, K., Krogh, K., et al. (2017). Objective colonic dysfunction is far more prevalent than subjective constipation in Parkinson's disease: a colon transit and volume study. J. Parkinsons Dis. 7, 359–367. doi: 10.3233/JPD-161050
- Kola, S., Prichard, D. O., Bharucha, A. E., and Hassan, A. (2021). A prospective pilot study of the effects of deep brain stimulation on olfaction and constipation in Parkinson's disease. *Clin. Neurol. Neurosurg.* 207:106774. doi: 10.1016/j. clineuro.2021.106774
- Kuo, Y. M., Nwankwo, E. I., Nussbaum, R. L., Rogers, J., and Maccecchini, M. L. (2019). Translational inhibition of alpha-synuclein by Posiphen normalizes distal colon motility in transgenic Parkinson mice. *Am. J. Neurodegener. Dis.* 8, 1–15.
- Lam, C., Chaddock, G., Marciani, L., Costigan, C., Paul, J., Cox, E., et al. (2016). Colonic response to laxative ingestion as assessed by MRI differs in constipated irritable bowel syndrome compared to functional constipation. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 28, 861–870. doi: 10.1111/nmo.12784
- Larsson, L. I., Fahrenkrug, J., Schaffalitzky De Muckadell, O., Sundler, F., Hakanson, R., and Rehfeld, J. R. (1976). Localization of vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP) to central and peripheral neurons. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S* A 73, 3197–3200. doi: 10.1073/pnas.73.9.3197
- Lebouvier, T., Neunlist, M., Bruley des Varannes, S., Coron, E., Drouard, A., N'Guyen, J. M., et al. (2010). Colonic biopsies to assess the neuropathology of Parkinson's disease and its relationship with symptoms. *PLoS One* 5:e12728. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0012728
- Levandis, G., Balestra, B., Siani, F., Rizzo, V., Ghezzi, C., Ambrosi, G., et al. (2015). Response of colonic motility to dopaminergic stimulation is subverted in rats with nigrostriatal lesion: relevance to gastrointestinal dysfunctions in Parkinson's disease. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 27, 1783–1795. doi: 10.1111/nmo.12691
- Li, B. D., Bi, Z. Y., Liu, J. F., Si, W. J., Shi, Q. Q., Xue, L. P., et al. (2017). Adverse effects produced by different drugs used in the treatment of Parkinson's disease: a mixed treatment comparison. CNS Neurosci. Ther. 23, 827–842. doi: 10.1111/cns.12727
- Li, T., and Le, W. (2020). Biomarkers for Parkinson's disease: how good are they? *Neurosci. Bull.* 36, 183–194. doi: 10.1007/s12264-019-00433-1
- Li, Z. S., Schmauss, C., Cuenca, A., Ratcliffe, E., and Gershon, M. D. (2006). Physiological modulation of intestinal motility by enteric dopaminergic neurons and the D2 receptor: analysis of dopamine receptor expression,

location, development and function in wild-type and knock-out mice. J. Neurosci. 26, 2798–2807. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4720-05.2006

- Liddle, R. A. (2018). Parkinson's disease from the gut. *Brain Res.* 1693, 201–206. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2018.01.010
- Liu, X., and Le, W. (2020). Profiling non-motor symptoms in monogenic Parkinson's disease. Front. Aging Neurosci. 12:591183. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2020. 591183
- Liu, Z., Sakakibara, R., Odaka, T., Uchiyama, T., Uchiyama, T., Yamamoto, T., et al. (2005). Mosapride citrate, a novel 5-HT4 agonist and partial 5-HT3 antagonist, ameliorates constipation in Parkinsonian patients. *Mov. Disord.* 20, 680–686. doi: 10.1002/mds.20387
- Ma, J., Stevens, J. E., Cukier, K., Maddox, A. F., Wishart, J. M., Jones, K. L., et al. (2009). Effects of a protein preload on gastric emptying, glycemia and gut hormones after a carbohydrate meal in diet-controlled type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 32, 1600–1602. doi: 10.2337/dc09-0723
- Maccecchini, M. L., Chang, M. Y., Pan, C., John, V., Zetterberg, H., and Greig, N. H. (2012). Posiphen as a candidate drug to lower CSF amyloid precursor protein, amyloid-beta peptide and tau levels: target engagement, tolerability and pharmacokinetics in humans. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 83, 894–902. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2012-302589
- Malek, N. (2019). Deep brain stimulation in Parkinson's disease. *Neurol. India* 67, 968–978. doi: 10.4103/0028-3886.266268
- Maraki, M. I., Yannakoulia, M., Stamelou, M., Stefanis, L., Xiromerisiou, G., Kosmidis, M. H., et al. (2019). Mediterranean diet adherence is related to reduced probability of prodromal Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 34, 48–57. doi: 10.1002/mds.27489
- Martinez-Martin, P., Rodriguez-Blazquez, C., Kurtis, M. M., Chaudhuri, K. R., and Group, N. V. (2011). The impact of non-motor symptoms on health-related quality of life of patients with Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 26, 399–406. doi: 10.1002/mds.23462
- McClurg, D., Hagen, S., Jamieson, K., Dickinson, L., Paul, L., and Cunnington, A. (2016a). Abdominal massage for the alleviation of symptoms of constipation in people with Parkinson's: a randomised controlled pilot study. *Age Ageing* 45, 299–303. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afw005
- McClurg, D., Walker, K., Aitchison, P., Jamieson, K., Dickinson, L., Paul, L., et al. (2016b). Abdominal massage for the relief of constipation in people with Parkinson's: a qualitative study. *Parkinsons Dis.* 2016:4842090. doi: 10.1155/2016/4842090
- Metta, V., Leta, V., Mrudula, K. R., Prashanth, L. K., Goyal, V., Borgohain, R., et al. (2022). Gastrointestinal dysfunction in Parkinson's disease: molecular pathology and implications of gut microbiome, probiotics and fecal microbiota transplantation. *J. Neurol.* 269, 1154–1163. doi: 10.1007/s00415-021 -10567-w
- Molsberry, S., Bjornevik, K., Hughes, K. C., Healy, B., Schwarzschild, M., and Ascherio, A. (2020). Diet pattern and prodromal features of Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 95, e2095–e2108. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000010523
- Morishita, T., Okun, M. S., Burdick, A., Jacobson, C. E. 4th, and Foote, K. D. (2013). Cerebral venous infarction: a potentially avoidable complication of deep brain stimulation surgery. *Neuromodulation* 16, 407–413. doi: 10.1111/ner. 12052
- Neira, W. D., Sanchez, V., Mena, M. A., and de Yebenes, J. G. (1995). The effects of cisapride on plasma L-dopa levels and clinical response in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 10, 66–70. doi: 10.1002/mds.870100111
- Omer, A., and Quigley, E. M. M. (2017). An update on prucalopride in the treatment of chronic constipation. *Ther. Adv. Gastroenterol.* 10, 877–887. doi: 10.1177/1756283X17734809
- Ondo, W. G., Kenney, C., Sullivan, K., Davidson, A., Hunter, C., Jahan, I., et al. (2012). Placebo-controlled trial of lubiprostone for constipation associated with Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 78, 1650–1654. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 0b013e3182574f28
- Pagano, G., Tan, E. E., Haider, J. M., Bautista, A., and Tagliati, M. (2015). Constipation is reduced by beta-blockers and increased by dopaminergic medications in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 21, 120–125. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2014.11.015
- Palavra, N. C., Lubomski, M., Flood, V. M., Davis, R. L., and Sue, C. M. (2021). Increased added sugar consumption is common in Parkinson's disease. *Front. Nutr.* 8:628845. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.628845

- Pare, P., and Fedorak, R. N. (2014). Systematic review of stimulant and nonstimulant laxatives for the treatment of functional constipation. *Can. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 28, 549–557. doi: 10.1155/2014/631740
- Park, J., Wang, Q., Wu, Q., Mao-Draayer, Y., and Kim, C. H. (2019). Bidirectional regulatory potentials of short-chain fatty acids and their Gprotein-coupled receptors in autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Sci. Rep.* 9:8837. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-45311-y
- Payne, S. C., Furness, J. B., and Stebbing, M. J. (2019). Bioelectric neuromodulation for gastrointestinal disorders: effectiveness and mechanisms. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 16, 89–105. doi: 10.1038/s41575-018-0078-6
- Perni, M., Galvagnion, C., Maltsev, A., Meisl, G., Muller, M. B., Challa, P. K., et al. (2017). A natural product inhibits the initiation of alpha-synuclein aggregation and suppresses its toxicity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 114, E1009–E1017. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1610586114
- Picciotto, M. R., Higley, M. J., and Mineur, Y. S. (2012). Acetylcholine as a neuromodulator: cholinergic signaling shapes nervous system function and behavior. *Neuron* 76, 116–129. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.08.036
- Postuma, R. B., Berg, D., Stern, M., Poewe, W., Olanow, C. W., Oertel, W., et al. (2015). MDS clinical diagnostic criteria for Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 1591–1601. doi: 10.1002/mds.26424
- Powell, N., Walker, M. M., and Talley, N. J. (2017). The mucosal immune system: master regulator of bidirectional gut-brain communications. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 14, 143–159. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2016.191
- Quigley, E. M. (1996). Gastrointestinal dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. Semin. Neurol. 16, 245–250. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1040981
- Read, N. W., Celik, A. F., and Katsinelos, P. (1995). Constipation and incontinence in the elderly. J. Clin. Gastroenterol. 20, 61–70. doi: 10.1097/00004836-199501000-00016
- Sakakibara, R., Odaka, T., Uchiyama, T., Asahina, M., Yamaguchi, K., Yamaguchi, T., et al. (2003). Colonic transit time and rectoanal videomanometry in Parkinson's disease. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 74, 268–272. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.74.2.268
- Samii, A., Nutt, J. G., and Ransom, B. R. (2004). Parkinson's disease. Lancet 363, 1783–1793. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16305-8
- Sampath, C., Kalpana, R., Ansah, T., Charlton, C., Hale, A., Channon, K. M., et al. (2019). Impairment of Nrf2- and nitrergic-mediated gastrointestinal motility in an MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 64, 3502–3517. doi: 10.1007/s10620-019-05693-5
- Scheperjans, F., Aho, V., Pereira, P. A., Koskinen, K., Paulin, L., Pekkonen, E., et al. (2015). Gut microbiota are related to Parkinson's disease and clinical phenotype. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 350–358. doi: 10.1002/mds.26069
- Schwartz, C. J., Kimberg, D. V., Sheerin, H. E., Field, M., and Said, S. I. (1974). Vasoactive intestinal peptide stimulation of adenylate cyclase and active electrolyte secretion in intestinal mucosa. J. Clin. Invest. 54, 536–544. doi: 10.1172/JCI107790
- Schwarz, N. T., Kalff, J. C., Turler, A., Engel, B. M., Watkins, S. C., Billiar, T. R., et al. (2001). Prostanoid production via COX-2 as a causative mechanism of rodent postoperative ileus. *Gastroenterology* 121, 1354–1371. doi: 10.1053/gast. 2001.29605
- Shah, V., Lyford, G., Gores, G., and Farrugia, G. (2004). Nitric oxide in gastrointestinal health and disease. *Gastroenterology* 126, 903–913. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2003.11.046
- Shao, Y., Li, T., Liu, Z., Wang, X., Xu, X., Li, S., et al. (2021). Comprehensive metabolic profiling of Parkinson's disease by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Mol. Neurodegener.* 16:4. doi: 10.1186/s13024-021-00425-8
- Sharma, S., Awasthi, A., and Singh, S. (2019). Altered gut microbiota and intestinal permeability in Parkinson's disease: pathological highlight to management. *Neurosci. Lett.* 712:134516. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2019. 134516
- Siegel, J. D., and Di Palma, J. A. (2005). Medical treatment of constipation. Clin. Colon Rectal Surg. 18, 76–80. doi: 10.1055/s-2005-870887
- Simon-Sanchez, J., Schulte, C., Bras, J. M., Sharma, M., Gibbs, J. R., Berg, D., et al. (2009). Genome-wide association study reveals genetic risk underlying Parkinson's disease. *Nat. Genet.* 41, 1308–1312. doi: 10.1038/ ng.487
- Sinclair, M. (2011). The use of abdominal massage to treat chronic constipation. *J. Bodywork Mov. Ther.* 15, 436–445. doi: 10.1016/j.jbmt.2010.07.007

- Soykan, I., Sarosiek, I., Shifflett, J., Wooten, G. F., and McCallum, R. W. (1997). Effect of chronic oral domperidone therapy on gastrointestinal symptoms and gastric emptying in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 12, 952–957. doi: 10.1002/mds.870120618
- Stark, M. E., Bauer, A. J., Sarr, M. G., and Szurszewski, J. H. (1993). Nitric oxide mediates inhibitory nerve input in human and canine jejunum. *Gastroenterology* 104, 398–409. doi: 10.1016/0016-5085(93)90407-4
- Stocchi, F., and Torti, M. (2017). Constipation in Parkinson's disease. Int. Rev. Neurobiol. 134, 811–826. doi: 10.1016/bs.irn.2017.06.003
- Tan, A. H., Lim, S. Y., Chong, K. K., MAA, A. M., Hor, J. W., Lim, J. L., et al. (2021). Probiotics for constipation in Parkinson disease: a randomized placebo-controlled study. *Neurology* 96, e772–e782. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 0000000000010998
- Thiyagalingam, S., Kulinski, A. E., Thorsteinsdottir, B., Shindelar, K. L., and Takahashi, P. Y. (2021). Dysphagia in older adults. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 96, 488–497. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2020.08.001
- Travagli, R. A., Browning, K. N., and Camilleri, M. (2020). Parkinson disease and the gut: new insights into pathogenesis and clinical relevance. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 17, 673–685. doi: 10.1038/s41575-020-0339-z
- Turler, A., Kalff, J. C., Moore, B. A., Hoffman, R. A., Billiar, T. R., Simmons, R. L., et al. (2006). Leukocyte-derived inducible nitric oxide synthase mediates murine postoperative ileus. *Ann. Surg.* 244, 220–229. doi: 10.1097/01.sla. 0000229963.37544.59
- Unger, M. M., Spiegel, J., Dillmann, K. U., Grundmann, D., Philippeit, H., Burmann, J., et al. (2016). Short chain fatty acids and gut microbiota differ between patients with Parkinson's disease and age-matched controls. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 32, 66–72. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016. 08.019
- Vandeputte, D., Falony, G., Vieira-Silva, S., Tito, R. Y., Joossens, M., and Raes, J. (2016). Stool consistency is strongly associated with gut microbiota richness and composition, enterotypes and bacterial growth rates. *Gut* 65, 57–62. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309618
- Vicentini, F. A., Keenan, C. M., Wallace, L. E., Woods, C., Cavin, J. B., Flockton, A. R., et al. (2021). Intestinal microbiota shapes gut physiology and regulates enteric neurons and glia. *Microbiome* 9:210. doi: 10.1186/s40168-021-01165-z
- Walsh, K. T., and Zemper, A. E. (2019). The Enteric nervous system for epithelial researchers: basic anatomy, techniques and interactions with the epithelium. *Cell. Mol. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 8, 369–378. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2019.05.003

- Warnecke, T., Schafer, K. H., Claus, I., Del Tredici, K., and Jost, W. H. (2022). Gastrointestinal involvement in Parkinson's disease: pathophysiology, diagnosis and management. *NPJ Parkinsons Dis.* 8:31. doi: 10.1038/s41531-022-00295-x
- West, C. L., Mao, Y. K., Delungahawatta, T., Amin, J. Y., Farhin, S., McQuade, R. M., et al. (2020). Squalamine restores the function of the enteric nervous system in mouse models of Parkinson's disease. J. Parkinsons Dis. 10, 1477–1491. doi: 10.3233/JPD-202076
- Westfall, S., Lomis, N., Kahouli, I., Dia, S. Y., Singh, S. P., and Prakash, S. (2017). Microbiome, probiotics and neurodegenerative diseases: deciphering the gut brain axis. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 74, 3769–3787. doi: 10.1007/s00018-017-2550-9
- Yang, N. J., and Chiu, I. M. (2017). Bacterial signaling to the nervous system through toxins and metabolites. J. Mol. Biol. 429, 587–605. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb. 2016.12.023
- Zhang, M., Yang, S., Li, X. C., Zhu, H. M., Peng, D., Li, B. Y., et al. (2021). Study on the characteristics of intestinal motility of constipation in patients with Parkinson's disease. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 27, 1055–1063. doi: 10.3748/wjg. v27.i11.1055
- Zibetti, M., Torre, E., Cinquepalmi, A., Rosso, M., Ducati, A., Bergamasco, B., et al. (2007). Motor and nonmotor symptom follow-up in parkinsonian patients after deep brain stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus. *Eur. Neurol.* 58, 218–223. doi: 10.1159/000107943

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Xu, Wang, Chen and Le. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## **Altered Prefrontal Blood Flow Related With Mild Cognitive** Impairment in Parkinson's Disease: A **Longitudinal Study**

Jian Wang<sup>1†</sup>, Wei Zhang<sup>2†</sup>, Ying Zhou<sup>3†</sup>, Jia Jia<sup>4</sup>, Yuanfang Li<sup>3</sup>, Kai Liu<sup>1</sup>, Zheng Ye<sup>2\*</sup> and Lirong Jin<sup>4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Radiology, Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, <sup>2</sup> Institute of Neuroscience, Center for Excellence in Brain Science and Intelligence Technology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Shanghai, China, <sup>3</sup> Department of **OPEN ACCESS** Neurology, XiaMen Branch, Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University, Xiamen, China, <sup>4</sup> Department of Neurology, Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, China

## Edited by:

Danling Wang, University of South China, China

#### Reviewed by:

Huifang Shang, Sichuan University, China Ilva Nasrallah, University of Pennsylvania, United States Shigehiko Ogoh, Toyo University, Japan

#### \*Correspondence:

Zheng Ye yez@ion.ac.cn Lirona Jin jinlr99@163.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Parkinson's Disease and Aging-related Movement Disorders, a section of the iournal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

> Received: 14 March 2022 Accepted: 25 May 2022 Published: 11 July 2022

#### Citation:

Wang J, Zhang W, Zhou Y, Jia J, Li Y, Liu K, Ye Z and Jin L (2022) Altered Prefrontal Blood Flow Related With Mild Cognitive Impairment in Parkinson's Disease: A Longitudinal Study. Front. Aging Neurosci. 14:896191. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.896191

Cognitive impairment is a common non-motor symptom in Parkinson's disease (PD), with executive dysfunction being an initial manifestation. We aimed to investigate whether and how longitudinal changes in the prefrontal perfusion correlate with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) in patients with PD. We recruited 49 patients with PD with normal cognition and 37 matched healthy control subjects (HCs). Patients with PD completed arterial spin labeling MRI (ASL-MRI) scans and a comprehensive battery of neuropsychological assessments at baseline (V0) and 2-year follow-up (V1). HCs completed similar ASL-MRI scans and neuropsychological assessments at baseline. At V1, 10 patients with PD progressed to MCI (converters) and 39 patients remained cognitively normal (non-converters). We examined differences in the cerebral blood flow (CBF) derived from ASL-MRI and neuropsychological measures (a) between patients with PD and HCs at V0 (effect of the disease), (b) between V1 and V0 in patients with PD (effect of the disease progression), and (c) between converters and non-converters (effect of the MCI progression) using t-tests or ANOVAs with false discovery rate correction. We further analyzed the relationship between longitudinal CBF and neuropsychological changes using multivariate regression models with false discovery rate correction, focusing on executive functions. At V0, no group difference was found in prefrontal CBF between patients with PD and HCs, although patients with PD showed worse performances on executive function. At V1, patients with PD showed significantly reduced CBF in multiple prefrontal regions, including the bilateral lateral orbitofrontal, medial orbitofrontal, middle frontal, inferior frontal, superior frontal, caudal anterior cingulate, and rostral anterior cingulate. More importantly, converters showed a more significant CBF reduction in the left lateral orbitofrontal cortex than non-converters. From V0 to V1, the prolonged completion time of Trail Making Test-B (TMT-B) negatively correlated with longitudinal CBF reduction in the right caudal anterior cingulate cortex. The decreased accuracy of the Stroop Color-Word Test positively correlated with longitudinal CBF reduction in the left medial orbitofrontal cortex. In addition, at V1, the completion time of TMT-B negatively

correlated with CBF in the left caudal anterior cingulate cortex. Our findings suggest that longitudinal CBF reduction in the prefrontal cortex might impact cognitive functions (especially executive functions) at the early stages of PD.

Keywords: Parkinson's disease, mild cognitive impairment, arterial spin labeling, longitudinal, prefrontal cortex

## INTRODUCTION

Cognitive impairment occurs at the early stages of Parkinson's disease (PD) and impacts the quality of life (Aarsland et al., 2017). The spectrum of cognitive impairment in PD encompasses subjective cognitive decline, mild cognitive impairment (PD-MCI), and dementia (PDD) (Aarsland et al., 2021). Approximately one-third of the newly diagnosed patients with PD exhibit PD-MCI (Broeders et al., 2013). About 38% of patients with PD with normal cognition convert to PD-MCI or PDD over 3 years (Nicoletti et al., 2019). Executive dysfunction is an initial manifestation of PD-MCI, including deficits in cognitive flexibility and inhibitory control (Svenningsson et al., 2012). The prefrontal cortex encompasses the lateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, and orbitofrontal cortex, which play a key role in executive cognitive functions (Jones and Graff-Radford, 2021). Dopaminergically mediated fronto-striatal executive impairment is to be considered partly accountable for cognitive deficit in PD (Kehagia et al., 2013). In this study, we aimed to investigate whether and how longitudinal changes in the prefrontal perfusion correlate with the progression of PD-MCI and executive dysfunction.

Cognitive impairment in PD is associated with cortical hypoperfusion, in addition to other cortical structure and function changes (Melzer et al., 2012; Al-Bachari et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2018). Cortical perfusion is often measured as cerebral blood flow (CBF) derived from the arterial spin labeling (ASL) MRI (Williams et al., 1992). CBF is thought to reflect neural activity and brain glucose metabolism at the capillary level (Musiek et al., 2012). Widespread CBF reduction in the prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, parietal cortex, and precuneus has been linked to global cognitive decline in PD (Fernandez-Seara et al., 2012; Al-Bachari et al., 2014). The frontal lobe has been reported to be associated with executive functions (Fuster, 2000). Patients with PDD showed reduced left inferior frontal CBF, compared with patients with PD with MCI or normal cognition (Azamat et al., 2021). CBF reductions in the right superior frontal gyrus, right middle frontal gyrus, and right anterior and medial orbitofrontal cortex are associated with global cognitive impairment in patients with PD (Liu et al., 2021). Moreover, CBF reduction in the left middle frontal gyrus is associated with executive dysfunction (Suo et al., 2019). Although many cross-sectional studies have demonstrated that lower CBF in patients with PD (relative to healthy adults) is associated with cognitive impairment, longitudinal studies allow us to look at cognitive decline over time in patients with PD. Confounding factors such as age, education, and socioeconomic status can be better controlled in longitudinal studies. In addition, frontal CBF predicts cognitive decline in a healthy aging cohort with 4-year follow-up (De Vis et al., 2018). Hence, the changes in frontal CBF associated with cognitive status alternations in patients with PD is worth verifying.

Therefore, in the longitudinal study herein, we aimed to investigate whether and how prefrontal CBF changes correlate with mild cognitive decline in patients with PD over 2 years. Patients with PD with normal cognition completed ASL-MRI scans and a comprehensive battery of neuropsychological assessments (executive functions, attention/working memory, visuospatial functions, memory, and language) at baseline (V0) and 2-year follow-up (V1). Matched healthy control subjects (HCs) were assessed once at baseline. First, we wanted to detect group differences in prefrontal CBF and neuropsychological measures between patients with PD and HCs at V0 (effect of the disease). Second, we wanted to examine whether prefrontal CBF decreased between V1 and V0 (effect of the disease progression). Third, we separated patients with PD who were converted to MCI (converters) and those who stayed cognitively normal at V1 (non-converters). We aimed to examine whether prefrontal CBF decreased more in converters than non-converters (effect of the MCI progression). Finally, we sought to identify relationships between prefrontal CBF reduction and executive dysfunction. In particular, we asked whether prefrontal CBF changes correlated with changes in the neuropsychological measures of cognitive flexibility or inhibitory control.

## METHODS AND MATERIALS

This study was approved by the ethics committee of the Fudan University Zhongshan Hospital, according to the Declaration of Helsinki. Before participating in this study, each participant signed a written informed consent.

## **Study Design**

It is a longitudinal study. In total, 49 patients with PD with normal cognition were recruited and measured at baseline (V0). All the patients completed ASL–MRI scans and a comprehensive battery of neuropsychological assessments. After 2 years (V1), 10 patients with PD converted to MCI (converters), and 39 patients stayed cognitively normal (non-converters). In total, 37 HCs completed similar ASL–MRI scans and neuropsychological assessments at V0.

## **Patients and Clinical Assessments**

In total 49 patients with PD were recruited from the movement disorders clinically at the Zhongshan Hospital from September 2016 to October 2018. Inclusion criteria included the following: (1) PD diagnosis, according to the Movement Disorder Society clinical diagnostic criteria for PD (Postuma et al., 2015); (2) cognitively normal at V0, not meeting the diagnostic criteria of PDD (Emre et al., 2007) or level 2 criteria of PD–MCI (i.e., 1.5 SDs below the normative score) (Litvan et al., 2012); (3) Hoehn and Yahr stages 1–2; (4) age 40–80 years; and (5) education >6 years. Exclusion criteria included the following: (1) a history of other neurologic or psychiatric diseases; (2) alcohol or drug abuse; or (3) contraindication to MRI. Six additional patients were excluded from data analysis because of excessive head motion during scanning (n = 1), MRI artifacts (n = 3), or poor MRI co-registration (n = 2).

## **Healthy Control Subjects**

In total, 37 HCs were recruited from the local community. Inclusion criteria included the following: (1) age 40–80 years and (2) education >6 years. Exclusion criteria included the following: (1) a history of significant neurologic or psychiatric disorders; (2) a family history of PD, essential tremor, or other movement disorders; or (3) contraindication to MRI. In total, three additional HCs were excluded from data analysis due to MRI artifacts.

## **Neuropsychological Assessments**

Neuropsychological tests measured executive functions (Stroop Color and Word Test, Trail Making Test-B), attention/working memory (Symbol Digit Modalities Test, Trail Making Test-A), visuospatial functions (Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure Test, Clock-Drawing Test), memory (Auditory Verbal Learning Test, delayed recall of the Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure Test), and language (Animal Fluency Test, Boston Naming Test).

First, we detected group differences between patients with PD and HCs at V0 using two-sample *t*-tests or the Mann-Whitney *U* tests, if the data were not normally distributed (p < 0.05 false-discovery-rate-corrected, FDR-corrected). Second, we detected differences between V0 and V1 in patients with PD using paired *t*-tests or the Wilcoxon signed-rank tests, if the data were not normally distributed (p < 0.05 FDR-corrected). Third, we detected subgroup differences between converters and non-converters using two-sample *t*-tests or the Mann–Whitney *U* tests, if the data were not normally distributed (p < 0.05, FDR-corrected).

## Acquisition of T1-MRI and ASL-MRI Data

Brain imaging data were acquired on a GE Discovery MR750 3T MR scanner. High-resolution T1-weighted images used a 3D brain volume imaging (BRAVO) sequence (136 axial slices; time of repetition, 8.2 ms; time of echo, 3.2 ms; inversion time, 450 ms; field-of-view,  $240 \times 240$  mm; slice thickness, 1.0 mm; no intersection gap; matrix,  $256 \times 256$ ; number of excitations, 1; flip angle,  $12^{\circ}$ ; bandwidth, 31.25 kHz).

Arterial spin labeling images used a three-dimensional pseudo-continuous ASL (3D pCASL) technique (Ding et al., 2014) with background suppression and outward-direction spiral readout (time of repetition, 4,830 ms; time of echo, 10.5 ms; labeling duration, 1,500 ms; post labeling delay, 2,025 ms; fieldof-view, 240  $\times$  240 mm; slice thickness, 4 mm; matrix, 128  $\times$ 128; number of excitations, 3; flip angle, 155°; eight spiral arms with 512 points in each arm; bandwidth, 62.5 kHz; the resolution,  $1.9 \times 1.9$  mm). An additional proton density-weighted image of absolute CBF quantification used the same acquisition parameters. Then, ASL images were transferred to the Advantage Workstation for Diagnostic Imaging 4.6 (GE Medical Systems, Milwaukee, WI, USA), and the quantitative CBF maps, in units of ml/100 g/min, were calculated using vender provided toolbox. There were no user-modifiable parameters for generating CBF maps in the toolbox for ASL images.

## Preprocessing and Analysis of MRI Data

MRI data were preprocessed and analyzed using Freesurfer v7.1.0 (Dale et al., 1999; Fischl et al., 2002; Reuter et al., 2012) and FMRIB Software Library v6.0 (Parker Jones et al., 2018) with a standard pipeline. T1 images were corrected for head motion, normalized to reduce signal intensity, non-uniformity, and fluctuation, and transformed into the Talairach space. Non-brain tissues (e.g., skull and neck) were removed. White matter and deep grey matter nuclei were segmented using an automated algorithm. Regions of interest were parcellated according to the Desikan–Killiany atlas, and their tissue volumes were computed. We monitored the potential effects of tissue volume. First, we examined whether patients with PD showed smaller prefrontal volumes than HCs at V0 and whether converters showed smaller prefrontal volumes than non-converters at V1 using two-sample



*t*-tests (FDR-corrected). Second, we examined whether patients with PD showed smaller prefrontal volumes at V1 than V0 using paired *t*-tests (FDR-corrected). Third, we examined whether longitudinal changes in the prefrontal volume correlated with those in the prefrontal CBF (FDR-corrected).

## Analysis of Cortical CBF and Statistical Analyses

Cerebral blood flow images were skull-stripped and automatically co-registered with reconstructed T1 images. Co-registration results were visually inspected and manually adjusted to ensure quality. Regional CBF was calculated according to the parcellation of T1 images. The regions of interest for this study included the lateral orbitofrontal cortex, medial orbitofrontal cortex, superior frontal cortex, middle frontal cortex, inferior frontal cortex, caudal anterior cingulate cortex, and rostral anterior cingulate cortex of both the hemispheres (**Figure 1**).

First, we examined whether patients with PD showed lower prefrontal CBF than HCs at V0 using two-sample *t*-tests or the Mann–Whitney *U* tests, if the data were not normally distributed (p < 0.05, FDR-corrected). Second,

we examined whether patients with PD showed lower prefrontal CBF at V1 than V0 using paired t-tests or the Wilcoxon signed-rank tests if the data were not normally distributed (p < 0.05, FDR-corrected). Third, we explored whether converters showed a more significant prefrontal CBF reduction than non-converters using repeated-measures ANOVAs (p < 0.05) with two factors, subgroups (converters and non-converters) and visit (V0 and V1). Forth, we identified the relationship between prefrontal CBF and neuropsychological measures of executive functions using stepwise linear regressions (p < 0.05, FDR-corrected). In particular, we asked whether longitudinal changes in the completion time of TMT-B or accuracy of Stroop Test between V1 and V0 correlated with prefrontal CBF changes, prefrontal volume changes, UPDRS motor score changes, depression score changes, cortical volume changes, age changes, or education. In addition, we asked whether the completion time of TMT-B or accuracy of Stroop Test at V0 or V1 correlated with prefrontal CBF, when prefrontal volume, UPDRS motor scores, depression scores, age, and education were controlled.

 TABLE 1 | Demographic, clinical, and neuropsychological data of PD patients and HCs (means, SDs, and statistic differences).

Features/Measures	HC (n = 37)	PD (n	= 49)	Statistic differences (p values)	
		VO	V1	PD at V0 vs. HC	PD at V1 vs. V
Male/Female	15/22	26/23	26/23	0.157	_
Age (years)	62.2 (6.9)	63.8 (9.0)	65.8 (9.0)	0.373	-
Education (years)	12.2 (2.6)	12.0 (3.3)	12.0 (3.3)	0.430	-
Disease duration (months)		42.7 (69.0)	66.9 (68.4)	-	-
Motor symptoms					
Hoehn and Yahr stage		1.3 (0.5)	1.6 (0.6)	-	0.005*
UPDRS III		16.7 (7.5)	18.7 (8.4)	-	0.011*
Non-motor symptoms					
REM Sleep Behavior Disorder Screening Questionnaire score		3.6 (3.4)	4.6 (3.0)	-	0.028
Geriatric Depression Scale score (30-items)		7.8 (6.4)	10.9 (5.4)	-	0.002*
Executive functions					
Stroop (completion time)	66.7 (17.2)	76.7 (19.0)	77.6 (22.0)	0.013*	0.604
Stroop (number of correct answers)	48.0 (2.3)	47.2 (3.1)	46.5 (3.4)	0.297	0.114
TMT-B (completion time)	111.3 (39.9)	138.8 (37.9)	144.1 (41.9)	0.002*	0.309
Attention/working memory					
Symbol Digit Modalities Test score	47.7 (10.3)	40.5 (10.3)	38.3 (10.2)	0.002*	0.040
TMT-A (completion time)	52.2 (20.2)	60.4 (17.1)	58.9 (19.5)	0.043	0.379
Visuospatial functions					
Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure Test score	32.9 (2.3)	32.4 (2.5)	31.9 (3.0)	0.441	0.126
Clock Drawing Test score	9.3 (0.7)	9.4 (0.8)	9.1 (1.5)	0.644	0.292
Memory					
Auditory Verbal Learning Test total score	32.4 (7.9)	31.2 (9.5)	32.5 (12.3)	0.540	0.283
Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure Test delayed recall score	16.8 (6.5)	16.7 (7.0)	15.6 (6.9)	0.901	0.094
Language					
Animal Fluency Test score	18.6 (4.9)	19.9 (5.3)	18.8 (5.7)	0.267	0.150
Boston Naming Test score (30-items)	25.7 (2.9)	25.8 (2.4)	25.6 (2.8)	0.965	0.564

Statistic differences, p values of two-sample t-tests, paired-sample t-tests, Mann-Whitney U tests or Wilcoxon signed-rank tests as appropriate; asterisks, p < 0.05 false-discovery-rate-corrected.

UPDRS, Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale; TMT, Trail Making Test.

Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience | www.frontiersin.org

## RESULTS

## **Group Differences and Longitudinal Changes in Neuropsychological Measures**

Table 1 shows neuropsychological data of patients with PD and HCs. At V0, patients with PD performed worse than HCs on executive functions and working memory. However, no significant longitudinal changes were found between V0 and V1. Table 2 illustrates neuropsychological data of converters and non-converters. Converters performed worse than non-converters on executive functions, visuospatial functions, and language at V1 but not V0. Converters performed worse than non-converters on working memory and memory at both visits.

# Prefrontal CBF Difference Between Patients With PD at V0 and V1

No significant difference was found between PD and HC at V0 (p > 0.36 for all the ROIs). Figure 2A, Table 3 show decreased prefrontal CBF in patients with PD at V1. Patients with PD

showed significantly lower CBF at V1 than V0 in multiple ROIs (p < 0.05).

# Prefrontal CBF Differences Between Converters and Non-converters

In patients with PD, converters showed a more significant CBF reduction (25.8%) than non-converters at V1(7.8%) in the left lateral orbitofrontal cortex (**Figure 2B**). A marginal subgroup difference was found in the left lateral orbitofrontal cortex, an interaction between subgroup and visit was found [F(1,96) = 4.66, p = 0.036, partial  $\eta^2 = 0.90$ ] in addition to an effect of visit [F(1) = 16.0, p < 0.001, partial  $\eta^2 = 0.254$ ]. No main effect of the subgroup was found (p = 0.256). No effect of the subgroup was found in any other prefrontal ROIs (ps > 0.145).

## Relationships Between Longitudinal CBF Reduction and Cognitive Decline

**Figures 2C,D** shows relationships between longitudinal CBF reduction and executive dysfunction. The stepwise regression model for cognitive flexibility (i.e., TMT-B

TABLE 2 Demographic, clinical, and neuropsychological data of converters and non-converters (means, SDs, and statistic differences).

Features/Measures	V0 ( <i>n</i> = 49)		V1 ( <i>n</i> = 49)		Subgroup differences (p values)	
	Non-converters	Converters	Non-converters	Converters	VO	V1
Male/Female	21/18	5/5	21/18	5/5	0.157	0.157
Age (years)	63.1 (9.6)	66.4 (5.8)	65.1 (9.6)	68.5 (5.8)	0.301	0.301
Education (years)	12.6 (3.2)	9.3 (1.9)	12.6 (3.2)	9.3 (1.9)	0.005*	0.005*
Disease duration (months)	45.3 (75.2)	32.5 (36.4)	69.8 (75.4)	58.0 (35.5)	0.634	0.634
Motor symptoms						
Hoehn and Yahr stage	1.3 (0.4)	1.6 (0.5)	1.5 (0.6)	1.8 (0.6)	0.039	0.163
UPDRS III	15.4 (6.1)	21.5 (10.5)	17.9 (7.6)	21.8 (11.0)	0.117	0.194
Non-motor symptoms						
REM Sleep Behavior Disorder Screening Questionnaire score	3.6 (3.5)	3.8 (3.0)	4.5 (3.1)	4.8 (3.1)	0.862	0.792
Geriatric Depression Scale score (30-items)	7.2 (5.9)	10.1 (7.9)	10.3 (5.1)	13.1 (6.4)	0.197	0.144
Executive functions						
Stroop (completion time)	74.3 (19.1)	86.2 (15.8)	74.0 (20.5)	98.9 (21.5)	0.076	0.001*
Stroop (number of correct answers)	47.2 (3.3)	47.3 (2.4)	47.3 (2.6)	42.6 (4.2)	0.914	<0.001*
TMT-B (completion time)	133.7 (37.7)	158.9 (35.1)	133.2 (35.6)	186.0 (37.9)	0.060	<0.001*
Attention/working memory						
Symbol Digit Modalities Test score	42.6 (10.0)	32.1 (6.2)	40.5 (9.8)	29.9 (6.9)	0.003*	0.003*
TMT-A (completion time)	59.4 (17.8)	64.3 (14.1)	54.1 (15.9)	77.7 (21.5)	0.427	<0.001*
Visuospatial functions						
Complex Figure Test score	32.8 (2.1)	30.7 (3.2)	17.4 (6.2)	28.8 (3.7)	0.018	0.002*
Clock Drawing Test score	9.5 (0.6)	8.9 (1.2)	9.2 (1.4)	8.7 (1.8)	0.041	0.308
Memory						
Auditory Verbal Learning Test total score	32.4 (10.0)	26.2 (4.9)	35.1 (11.5)	22.1 (9.9)	0.039	0.002*
Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure Test delayed recall score	18.5 (6.1)	9.6 (5.2)	17.4 (6.2)	8.2 (3.8)	<0.001*	<0.001*
Language						
Animal Fluency Test score	16.7 (3.5)	20.8 (5.4)	20.3 (5.1)	13.1 (4.2)	0.030	<0.001*
Boston Naming Test score (30-items)	26.0 (2.4)	24.7 (2.2)	26.3 (2.4)	23.0 (2.8)	0.114	<0.001*

Subgroup differences, p values of two-sample t-tests, paired-sample t-tests, Mann-Whitney U tests or Wilcoxon signed-rank tests as appropriate; asterisks, p < 0.05 false-discoveryrate-corrected.

UPDRS, Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale; TMT, Trail Making Test.



**FIGURE 2** | Reduced prefrontal cerebral blood flow and executive dysfunction over time in PD patients. (A) Significant CBF reduction in the lateral orbitofrontal cortex, medial orbitofrontal cortex, middle frontal cortex, inferior frontal cortex, superior frontal cortex, caudal anterior cingulate cortex and rostral anterior cingulate cortex of both hemispheres over 2 years. Asterisks indicate significant group difference (\*: p < 0.05, \*\*: p < 0.01). (B) Converters showed a more significant perfusion reduction in the left lateral orbitofrontal cortex than non-converters over 2 years. (C) The prolonged completion time of Trail Making Test-B (TMT-B) was negatively correlated with longitudinal CBF reduction in the right caudal anterior cingulate cortex. (D) Longitudinal CBF reduction in right caudal anterior cingulate cortex was significantly related to the progressive worse accuracy of Stroop test over time. (E) At V1, completion time of TMT-B had a significantly negative correlation with the CBF in left caudal anterior cingulate cortex.

completion time difference between V1 and V0) was significant  $[F(1,47) = 6.27, R^2 = 0.118, p = 0.016]$ . The model included longitudinal CBF changes in the right caudal anterior cingulate cortex (t = -2.50, p = 0.016) but no other factors (ps > 0.875). The stepwise regression model for inhibitory control (i.e., Stroop accuracy difference between V1 and V0) was also significant  $[F(1,47) = 5.52, R^2 = 0.105, p = 0.023]$ . The model included longitudinal CBF changes in the left medial orbitofrontal cortex (t = 2.35, p = 0.023) but no other factors (ps > 0.737). No such correlation was obtained for the TMT-A completion time difference (p = 0.569).

**Figure 2E** shows relationships between prefrontal CBF and cognitive flexibility at V1. The stepwise regression model for the TMT-B completion time was significant [F(4,44) = 17.3,  $R^2 = 0.536$ , p < 0.001]. The model included CBF in the left caudal anterior cingulate cortex (t = -3.71, p = 0.001), education (t = -3.07, p = 0.004), and age (t = 4.23, p < 0.001) but no other factors (ps > 0.052). No such correlation was obtained for the

TMT-A completion time. No significant correlation was found for either the TMT-A or TMT-B completion time at V0.

#### **Effects of Tissue Volume**

Finally, we excluded potential effects of tissue volume. Patients with PD were similar as HCs at V0 in the total intracranial volume (p = 0.856), total cortical grey matter volume (p = 0.885), the volume of prefrontal ROIs (ps > 0.173). Converters were similar to non-converters at V1 in the total intracranial volume (p = 0.452), total cortical grey matter volume (p = 0.737), and the volume of prefrontal ROIs (ps > 0.150). However, from V0 to V1, subjects with PD showed a significantly cortical atrophy in the bilateral lateral orbitofrontal cortex (left: t(48) = 2.91, p = 0.005; right: t(48) = 2.98, p = 0.005), left medial orbitofrontal cortex (t(48) = 2.98, p = 0.005), bilateral middle frontal cortex (left: t(48) = 2.98, p = 0.005; right: t(48) = 3.19, p = 0.002), bilateral inferior frontal cortex (left: t(48) = 3.62, p < 0.001), and bilateral rostral anterior cingulate cortex (left: t(48)

TABLE 3   The prefrontal perfusion significantly different between V0 and V1 in PD	
patients.	

Region	t-value	<i>p</i> -value
Left lateral orbitofrontal cortex	3.52	p = 0.002
Right lateral orbitofrontal cortex	4.52	p < 0.001
Left medial orbitofrontal cortex	3.57	p = 0.001
Right medial orbitofrontal cortex	3.88	p < 0.001
Left middle frontal cortex	2.85	p = 0.006
Right middle frontal cortex	3.01	p = 0.004
Left inferior frontal cortex	3.72	p = 0.001
Right inferior frontal cortex	4.55	p < 0.001
Left superior frontal cortex	3.16	p = 0.003
Right superior frontal cortex	3.11	p = 0.003
Left caudal anterior cingulate cortex	2.22	p = 0.031
Right caudal anterior cingulate cortex	2.53	p = 0.015
Left rostral anterior cingulate cortex	2.53	p = 0.015
Right rostral anterior cingulate cortex	3.32	p = 0.002

= 2.63, p = 0.011; right: t(48) = 2.82, p = 0.007). Importantly, longitudinal changes in the prefrontal CBF did not correlate with those in the prefrontal volume (ps > 0.369).

## DISCUSSION

Mild cognitive impairment is a common non-motor symptom in PD. Approximately 28% of patients with PD converted to PD-MCI and 6% converted to PDD over 1-16 years (Saredakis et al., 2019). However, biological mechanisms underlying the progression of cognitive impairment are still unclear. This longitudinal study investigated whether and how prefrontal perfusion changes correlate with mild cognitive decline in patients with PD using ASL-MRI. Patients with PD with normal cognition showed normal prefrontal perfusion at baseline but worse performance on executive functions than healthy controls. As the disease progressed, patients with PD showed decreased perfusion in multiple prefrontal regions over 2 years (effect of the disease progression). More importantly, patients with PD who converted to MCI showed a more significant perfusion reduction in the left lateral orbitofrontal cortex than those who stayed cognitively normal at 2-year follow-up (effect of the MCI progression). In particular, the impairment of cognitive flexibility (reflected as the prolonged completion time of TMT-B) correlated with perfusion reduction in the right caudal anterior cingulate cortex, and the impairment of inhibitory control (reflected as the fewer correct responses of the Stroop Test) correlated with perfusion reduction in the left medial orbitofrontal cortex. Although patients with PD showed additional cortical atrophy in the prefrontal cortex, prefrontal volumetric reduction did not significantly contribute to the progression of MCI or executive dysfunction. These findings suggest that longitudinal prefrontal perfusion reduction may be underlying the progression of cognitive impairment at the early stages of PD.

Parkinson's disease is a neurodegenerative and progressive disorder. However, autopsy studies are not sufficient to discover the underlying causes of the progression of PD-related pathology, especially in the early stages. Neuroimaging studies provide an alternative way that might help to reveal the pathophysiology of disease progression. In the present study, at baseline, no group difference was found in prefrontal CBF between patients with PD and HCs, while reduced CBF was shown in the bilateral lateral and medial orbitofrontal cortex, bilateral inferior, middle, and superior cortex and caudal, rostral anterior cingulate cortex over 2 years in patients with PD via ASL-MRI. A primary novel finding is that the converters showed progressive hypoperfusion in the left lateral orbitofrontal gyrus, compared with the non-converters between V0 and V1. In addition, there were subtle differences between converters and nonconverters at V0 in attention/working memory and memory. Our result was also consistent with Wilsen et al., which showed severer motor symptoms and poor performance on cognitive tests were associated with cognitive decline at the early stages of PD (Wilson et al., 2020). Overall, our results indicated the serial reduction of frontal perfusion along with disease progression and partly contribute to cognitive decline in the early stage of PD. The mechanisms/pathophysiology of cognitive decline in PD is not fully clear, and it is generally considered that multiple degenerations of neurotransmitter systems were associated with cognitive impairment (Aarsland et al., 2021). In addition to the fundamental pathological changes associated with cognitive impairment, some previous studies report cerebral perfusion deficiencies in PD (Fernandez-Seara et al., 2012; Al-Bachari et al., 2014), including our study. It is not known how CBF influences cognitive function. Several reviews summarize that hypoperfusion leads to cognitive impairment partly because of the neurovascular unit dysfunction, disrupted neurotransmitter circuits, and mitochondrial energy deficiency (Iadecola, 2017; de la Torre et al., 2020). One review demonstrated cerebral hypoperfusion, and glucose hypometabolism trigger neuroinflammation and oxidative stress that in turn decrease nitric oxide, upregulating amyloid, and tau in AD (Daulatzai, 2017). Brain perfusion was correlated with cerebrospinal fluid Aβ42 levels which reflected neurodegeneration in patients with amnestic MCI (Quattrini et al., 2021). Moreover, chronic cerebral hypoperfusion via stenosis of the bilateral common carotid arteries may exacerbate cognitive impairment in a mouse model of PD (Tang et al., 2017). To some extent, the current study might aid our understanding of the pathophysiology of cognitive conversion in PD.

In addition, neuroimaging features that can track changes in brain structure and functions and associate with neurobiological processes might be applied as longitudinal progression markers in clinical use in PD. Using dopamine transporter imaging, Kaasinen et al. reported progressive striatal dopamine loss (Kaasinen and Vahlberg, 2017). However, the cost, availability, and ceiling effect of dopaminergic deficit limited the use of dopamine transporter imaging in the follow-up study. In total, two recent longitudinal studies demonstrated serial neuromelanin signal loss in substantia nigra (SN), and associated were with changes in motor severity in patients with PD (Gaurav et al., 2021; Xing et al., 2022). Even so, SN neuronal loss might not play a key role in the pathophysiology of non-motor symptoms in PD. To date, several studies using voxel-based morphometry analyses have reported alternation of gray volume and thickness with follow-up period, but inconsistent results indicated that this biomarker was not sensitive to reflect small changes in the disease progression (Yang et al., 2018). Our longitudinal data suggested prefrontal CBF reduction over time and related to cognitive decline in PD, which might be a potential imaging marker associated with cognitive impairment. Along with the neuroimaging biomarker, we note that some neuropsychological tests were reported to be a predictor of developing PDD in the longitudinal cohort (Kim et al., 2019; Lawson et al., 2021). Byeon H also reported a random forest model including MMSE total score, MoCA total score, UPDRS motor score, and Clinical Dementia Rating (CDR) sum of boxes that can predict PD-MCI with an overall accuracy of 65.6% (Byeon, 2020). Since ASL-MRI is relatively low-cost neuroimaging and can be repeated many times for its non-invasion to quantify CBF objectively and quickly, we thought neuropsychological tests, together with an imaging marker or blood/ CSF-based marker might be more sensitive and accurate to predict PD-MCI and PDD in the future study. On the contrary, our results inferred that patients with PD should avoid cerebral hypoperfusion which might in turn cause disease progression in the clinical practice.

Executive dysfunction occurs at a relatively higher frequency in PD-MCI (Zalonis et al., 2008; Baiano et al., 2020). Our longitudinal analyses revealed that over 2 years, reduction of prefrontal CBF in the medial orbitofrontal cortex and caudal anterior cingulate cortex have a significant correlation with poorer performance on inhibitory control and cognitive flexibility, bypassing the potential confounding effects of tissue volume. This could suggest that the prefrontal hypoperfusion might partly be involved in executive dysfunction. Highlevel cognitive abilities involve cortical regions. TMT-B tests provide a measure of cognitive function associated with the working memory, sequencing, and set-shifting (Sánchez-Cubillo et al., 2009), while Stroop measures executive inhibition of irrelevant responses (Treisman and Fearnley, 1969). Consistently, Brück et al. revealed performance in the Stroop test negatively correlated with the Fdopa uptake in the medial frontal cortex of early PD using positron emission tomography scanning (Brück et al., 2005). Moreover, in an animal study, impaired cognitive flexibility may be partly because of the disruption of the anterior cingulate cortex and its neuromodulation with thalamic nuclei (Bubb et al., 2021). Further studies would be required to detect the role of the prefrontal cortex in large-scale networks or neural circuits.

A previous report by Zhou et al. showed progressive bilateral superior frontal lobe atrophy was found in the converters (Zhou et al., 2020). In the present study, significant prefrontal cortical atrophy was not found compared with the HCs at baseline, and significantly decreased between V1 and V0 in some prefrontal regions. However, we also found significant CBF reduction in the right medial orbitofrontal, right superior frontal, and bilateral caudal anterior cingulate cortex, while no cortical atrophy was observed. Furthermore, there were no correlations between the changes in cortical CBF and volume. Some cross-sectional studies report that the patients with PD showed hypoperfusion in the parietal lobule or occipital lobe with the absence of gray matter volume loss (Pelizzari et al., 2020). Combining our results and the abovementioned studies, it might suggest that functional changes may potentially be involved in neurodegeneration, independent of gray matter atrophy. Notably, there is evidence that insufficient CBF made a chronic and cumulative effect on brain atrophy (de la Torre, 2012). It would be interesting to test in future studies whether CBF reduction contributes to brain atrophy or synchronize with volume loss in the early stage of PD.

Moreover, our data suggested that CBF was not significantly different between HCs and early-stage PD at baseline. This result is consistent with Al-Bachari et al. (2014), but differs from the majority of studies (Derejko et al., 2006; Arslan et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2021), which showed decreased cortical perfusion in the early-stage PD cohort, compared with the healthy controls. This discrepancy may be partly due to the subjects recruited in the studies, as only patients with PD with the normal condition were recruited in our study. In addition, differences in the scanning sequence and measurement methods might be the reasons for inconsistent results.

Several limitations should be recognized in our study. First, the small patient pool subsequently led to fewer patients in the converter subgroup, thus, probably resulting in bias. The intrinsic difference of converter in both CBF and cognitive function may be revealed with a larger sample group, and the data from the PD-MCI cohort may also help to explain the differences. In addition, there seems to be a reasonable chance of types 1 and 2 errors in a small sample size. However, since this is a pilot longitudinal exploration studying the association between changes in CBF and cognition decline, we focused on sample quality rather than the sample size. Future studies, ideally from multiple centers and with more patients recruited, might help to confirm the results of our study and generalize to individuals. Second, a time-match follow-up data acquisition was not performed in HCs, which may provide information on the CBF and cognitive function changes under the effect of aging. Further study should recruit healthy controls, along with the data on patients with PD.

In conclusion, this study demonstrated that longitudinal changes in the prefrontal perfusion underlay the progression of cognitive impairment at the early stages of PD. Patients with PD with normal cognition did not show prefrontal hypoperfusion at baseline, but significant perfusion reductions as the disease progressed over 2 years. More importantly, patients with PD who were converted to MCI showed a more significant perfusion reduction in the left lateral orbitofrontal cortex than those who stayed cognitively normal over 2 years. In particular, declines in cognitive flexibility and inhibitory control were associated with perfusion reductions in the right caudal anterior cortex and the left medial orbitofrontal cortex, respectively.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of Fudan University Zhongshan Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

## REFERENCES

- Aarsland, D., Batzu, L., Halliday, G. M., Geurtsen, G. J., Ballard, C., Ray Chaudhuri, K., et al. (2021). Parkinson disease-associated cognitive impairment. *Nat. Rev. Dis. Primers* 7, 47. doi: 10.1038/s41572-021-00280-3
- Aarsland, D., Creese, B., Politis, M., Chaudhuri, K. R., Ffytche, D. H., Weintraub, D., et al. (2017). Cognitive decline in Parkinson disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 13, 217–231. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2017.27
- Al-Bachari, S., Parkes, L. M., Vidyasagar, R., Hanby, M. F., Tharaken, V., Leroi, I., et al. (2014). Arterial spin labelling reveals prolonged arterial arrival time in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *NeuroImage. Clin.* 6, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2014.07.014
- Arslan, D. B., Gurvit, H., Genc, O., Kicik, A., Eryurek, K., Cengiz, S., et al. (2020). The cerebral blood flow deficits in Parkinson's disease with mild cognitive impairment using arterial spin labeling MRI. *J. Neural Transm.* 127, 1285–1294. doi: 10.1007/s00702-020-02227-6
- Azamat, S., Betul Arslan, D., Erdogdu, E., Kicik, A., Cengiz, S., Eryürek, K., et al. (2021). Detection of visual and frontoparietal network perfusion deficits in Parkinson's disease dementia. *Eur. J. Radiol.* 144, 109985. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2021.109985
- Baiano, C., Barone, P., Trojano, L., and Santangelo, G. (2020). Prevalence and clinical aspects of mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: a metaanalysis. *Mov. Disord.* 35, 45–54. doi: 10.1002/mds.27902
- Broeders, M., de Bie, R. M. A., Velseboer, D. C., Speelman, J. D., Muslimovic, D., and Schmand, B. (2013). Evolution of mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 81, 346–352. doi: 10.1212/wnl.0b013e31829c5c86
- Brück, A., Aalto, S., Nurmi, E., Bergman, J., and Rinne, J. O. (2005). Cortical 6-[18F]fluoro-L-dopa uptake and frontal cognitive functions in early Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 26, 891–898. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2004.07.014
- Bubb, E. J., Aggleton, J. P., O'Mara, S. M., and Nelson, A. J. D. (2021). Chemogenetics reveal an anterior cingulate-thalamic pathway for attending to task-relevant information. *Cereb. Cortex* 31, 2169–2186. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhaa353
- Byeon, H. (2020). Is the random forest algorithm suitable for predicting Parkinson's disease with mild cognitive impairment out of Parkinson's disease with normal cognition? *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17, 2594. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17072594
- Dale, A. M., Fischl, B., and Sereno, M. I. (1999). Cortical surface-based analysis. I. Segmentation and surface reconstruction. *NeuroImage* 9, 179–194. doi: 10.1006/nimg.1998.0395
- Daulatzai, M. A. (2017). Cerebral hypoperfusion and glucose hypometabolism: key pathophysiological modulators promote neurodegeneration, cognitive

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

LJ: conceptualized and designed the study. JW, YZ, JJ, YL, KL, and LJ: collected data. WZ and LJ: analyzed the data. WZ, ZY, and LJ: wrote the original draft of the manuscript. JW, YZ, JJ, YL, and KL: edited and reviewed the manuscript. All authors approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (31961133025). LJ was supported by the State Key Laboratory of Neuroscience (SKLN-202107).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would thank GE Healthcare technologist Dr. Yong Zhang for his help on ASL–MRI optimization.

impairment, and Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurosci. Res. 95, 943-972. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23777

- de la Torre, J. C. (2012). Cardiovascular risk factors promote brain hypoperfusion leading to cognitive decline and dementia. *Cardiovasc. Psychiatry Neurol.* 2012, 367516. doi: 10.1155/2012/367516
- de la Torre, J. C., Olmo, A. D., and Valles, S. (2020). Can mild cognitive impairment be stabilized by showering brain mitochondria with laser photons? *Neuropharmacology* 171, 107841. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2019.107841
- De Vis, J. B., Peng, S. L., Chen, X., Li, Y., Liu, P., Sur, S., et al. (2018). Arterialspin-labeling (ASL) perfusion MRI predicts cognitive function in elderly individuals: a 4-year longitudinal study. J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 48, 449–458. doi: 10.1002/jmri.25938
- Derejko, M., Sławek, J., Wieczorek, D., Brockhuis, B., Dubaniewicz, M., and Lass, P. (2006). Regional cerebral blood flow in Parkinson's disease as an indicator of cognitive impairment. *Nucl. Med. Commun.* 27, 945–951. doi: 10.1097/01.mnm.0000243370.18883.62
- Ding, B., Ling, H. W., Zhang, Y., Huang, J., Zhang, H., Wang, T., et al. (2014). Pattern of cerebral hyperperfusion in Alzheimer's disease and amnestic mild cognitive impairment using voxel-based analysis of 3D arterial spin-labeling imaging: initial experience. *Clin. Interv. Aging* 9, 493–500. doi: 10.2147/cia.s58879
- Emre, M., Aarsland, D., Brown, R., Burn, D. J., Duyckaerts, C., Mizuno, Y., et al. (2007). Clinical diagnostic criteria for dementia associated with Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 22, 1689–1707. quiz 1837. doi: 10.1002/mds.21507
- Fernandez-Seara, M., Mengual, E., Vidorreta, M., Aznárez-Sanado, M., Loayza, F., Villagra, F., et al. (2012). Cortical hypoperfusion in Parkinson's disease assessed using arterial spin labeled perfusion MRI. *NeuroImage* 59, 2743–2750. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.10.033
- Fischl, B., Salat, D. H., Busa, E., Albert, M., Dieterich, M., Haselgrove, C., et al. (2002). Whole brain segmentation: automated labeling of neuroanatomical structures in the human brain. *Neuron* 33, 341–355. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(02)00569-x
- Fuster, J. M. (2000). Executive frontal functions. *Exp. Brain Res.* 133, 66–70. doi: 10.1007/s002210000401
- Gaurav, R., Yahia-Cherif, L., Pyatigorskaya, N., Mangone, G., Biondetti, E., Valabregue, R., et al. (2021). Longitudinal changes in neuromelanin MRI signal in Parkinson's disease: a progression marker. *Mov. Disord.* 36, 1592–1602. doi: 10.1002/mds.28531
- Iadecola, C. (2017). The neurovascular unit coming of age: a journey through neurovascular coupling in health and disease. *Neuron* 96, 17–42. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.07.030
- Jones, D. T., and Graff-Radford, J. (2021). Executive dysfunction and the prefrontal cortex. *Continuum* 27, 1586–1601. doi: 10.1212/con.000000000001009

- Kaasinen, V., and Vahlberg, T. (2017). Striatal dopamine in Parkinson disease: a meta-analysis of imaging studies. Ann. Neurol. 82, 873–882. doi: 10.1002/ana.25103
- Kehagia, A. A., Barker, R. A., and Robbins, T. W. (2013). Cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: the dual syndrome hypothesis. *Neurodegener. Dis.* 11, 79–92. doi: 10.1159/000341998
- Kim, H. M., Nazor, C., Zabetian, C. P., Quinn, J. F., Chung, K. A., Hiller, A. L., et al. (2019). Prediction of cognitive progression in Parkinson's disease using three cognitive screening measures. *Clin. Parkinson. Relat. Disord.* 1, 91–97. doi: 10.1016/j.prdoa.2019.08.006
- Lawson, R. A., Williams-Gray, C. H., Camacho, M., Duncan, G. W., Khoo, T. K., Breen, D. P., et al. (2021). Which neuropsychological tests? Predicting cognitive decline and dementia in Parkinson's disease in the ICICLE-PD cohort. J Parkinsons Dis. 11, 1297–1308. doi: 10.3233/JPD-212581
- Litvan, I., Goldman, J. G., Tröster, A. I., Schmand, B. A., Weintraub, D., Petersen, R. C., et al. (2012). Diagnostic criteria for mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: Movement Disorder Society Task Force guidelines. *Mov. Disord*. 27, 349–356. doi: 10.1002/mds.24893
- Liu, Z., Zhang, Y., Wang, H., Xu, D., You, H., Zuo, Z., et al. (2021). Altered cerebral perfusion and microstructure in advanced Parkinson's disease and their associations with clinical features. *Neurol. Res.* 44, 47–56. doi: 10.1080/01616412.2021.1954842
- Melzer, T. R., Watts, R., MacAskill, M. R., Pitcher, T. L., Livingston, L., Keenan, R. J., et al. (2012). Grey matter atrophy in cognitively impaired Parkinson's disease. J Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 83, 188–194. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2011-300828
- Musiek, E. S., Chen, Y., Korczykowski, M., Saboury, B., Martinez, P. M., Reddin, J. S., et al. (2012). Direct comparison of fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography and arterial spin labeling magnetic resonance imaging in Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's Dement.* 8, 51–59. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2011.06.003
- Nicoletti, A., Luca, A., Baschi, R., Cicero, C. E., Mostile, G., Davì, M., et al. (2019). Incidence of mild cognitive impairment and dementia in Parkinson's disease: the Parkinson's disease cognitive impairment study. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 11:21. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2019.00021
- Parker Jones, O., Alfaro-Almagro, F., and Jbabdi, S. (2018). An empirical, 21st century evaluation of phrenology. *Cortex* 106, 26–35. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2018.04.011
- Pelizzari, L., Di Tella, S., Rossetto, F., Laganà, M. M., Bergsland, N., Pirastru, A., et al. (2020). Parietal perfusion alterations in Parkinson's disease patients without dementia. *Front. Neurol.* 11:562. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.00562
- Postuma, R. B., Berg, D., Stern, M., Poewe, W., Olanow, C. W., Oertel, W., et al. (2015). MDS clinical diagnostic criteria for Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 1591–1601. doi: 10.1002/mds.26424
- Quattrini, G., Marizzoni, M., Pizzini, F. B., Galazzo, I. B., Aiello, M., Didic, M., et al. (2021). Convergent and discriminant validity of default mode network and limbic network perfusion in amnestic mild cognitive impairment patients. *J. Alzheimers Dis.* 82, 1797–1808. doi: 10.3233/JAD-210531
- Reuter, M., Schmansky, N. J., Rosas, H. D., and Fischl, B. (2012). Within-subject template estimation for unbiased longitudinal image analysis. *NeuroImage* 61, 1402–1418. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.02.084
- Sánchez-Cubillo, I., Periáñez, J. A., Adrover-Roig, D., Rodríguez-Sánchez, J. M., Ríos-Lago, M., Tirapu, J., et al. (2009). Construct validity of the Trail Making Test: role of task-switching, working memory, inhibition/interference control, and visuomotor abilities. *J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc.* 15, 438–450. doi: 10.1017/s1355617709090626
- Saredakis, D., Collins-Praino, L. E., Gutteridge, D. S., Stephan, B. C. M., and Keage, H. A. D. (2019). Conversion to MCI and dementia in Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Parkinson. Relat. Disord.* 65, 20–31. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2019.04.020

- Suo, X., Lei, D., Cheng, L., Li, N., Zuo, P., Wang, D. J. J., et al. (2019). Multidelay multiparametric arterial spin labeling perfusion MRI and mild cognitive impairment in early stage Parkinson's disease. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 40, 1317–1327. doi: 10.1002/hbm.24451
- Svenningsson, P., Westman, E., Ballard, C., and Aarsland, D. (2012). Cognitive impairment in patients with Parkinson's disease: diagnosis, biomarkers, and treatment. *Lancet Neurol.* 11, 697–707. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422 (12)70152-7
- Tang, H., Gao, Y., Zhang, Q., Nie, K., Zhu, R., Gao, L., et al. (2017). Chronic cerebral hypoperfusion independently exacerbates cognitive impairment within the pathopoiesis of Parkinson's disease via microvascular pathologys. *Behav. Brain Res.* 333, 286–294. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2017.05.061
- Treisman, A., and Fearnley, S. (1969). The Stroop test: selective attention to colours and words. *Nature* 222, 437–439. doi: 10.1038/222437a0
- Wang, Z., Jia, X., Chen, H., Feng, T., and Wang, H. (2018). Abnormal spontaneous brain activity in early Parkinson's disease with mild cognitive impairment: a resting-state fMRI study. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1093. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2018.01093
- Williams, D. S., Detre, J. A., Leigh, J. S., and Koretsky, A. P. (1992). Magnetic resonance imaging of perfusion using spin inversion of arterial water. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 89, 212–216. doi: 10.1073/pnas.89.1.212
- Wilson, H., Pagano, G., Yousaf, T., Polychronis, S., De Micco, R., Giordano, B., et al. (2020). Predict cognitive decline with clinical markers in Parkinson's disease (PRECODE-1). *J. Neural Transm.* 127, 51–59. doi: 10.1007/s00702-019-02125-6
- Xing, Y., Sapuan, A. H., Martin-Bastida, A., Naidu, S., Tench, C., Evans, J., et al. (2022). Neuromelanin-MRI to quantify and track nigral depigmentation in Parkinson's disease: a multicenter longitudinal study using template-based standardized analysis. *Mov. Disord.* 37, 1028–1039. doi: 10.1002/mds.28934
- Yang, J., Burciu, R. G., and Vaillancourt, D. E. (2018). Longitudinal progression markers of Parkinson's disease: current view on structural imaging. *Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep.* 18, 83–83. doi: 10.1007/s11910-018-0894-7
- Zalonis, I., Sgouropoulos, P., Kapaki, E., Papageorgiou, S., Kolovou, D., Paraskevas, G., et al. (2008). Neuropsychological evidence of conversion from mild cognitive impairment (MCI) to dementia. *Ann. Gen. Psychiatry* 7, S134. doi: 10.1186/1744-859X-7-S1-S134
- Zhou, C., Guan, X. J., Guo, T., Zeng, Q. L., Gao, T., Huang, P. Y., et al. (2020). Progressive brain atrophy in Parkinson's disease patients who convert to mild cognitive impairment. *CNS Neurosci. Ther.* 26, 117–125. doi: 10.1111/cns.13188

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Wang, Zhang, Zhou, Jia, Li, Liu, Ye and Jin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Association of Plasma and Electroencephalography Markers With Motor Subtypes of Parkinson's Disease

Xiaoxia Yang<sup>1†</sup>, Zhen Li<sup>1†</sup>, Lipeng Bai<sup>1</sup>, Xiao Shen<sup>1</sup>, Fei Wang<sup>1</sup>, Xiaoxuan Han<sup>1</sup>, Rui Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Zhuo Li<sup>1</sup>, Jinghui Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Mengmeng Dong<sup>1</sup>, Yanlin Wang<sup>1</sup>, Tingyu Cao<sup>1</sup>, Shujun Zhao<sup>2</sup>, Chunguang Chu<sup>3\*</sup>, Chen Liu<sup>3\*</sup> and Xiaodong Zhu<sup>1\*</sup>

## OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Jifeng Guo, Central South University, China

#### Reviewed by:

Yuhu Zhang, Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital, China Xiumin Li, Chongqing University, China

#### \*Correspondence:

Chunguang Chu ccg\_tina@tju.edu.cn Chen Liu liuchen715@tju.edu.cn Xiaodong Zhu zxd3516@tmu.edu.cn †These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Parkinson's Disease and Aging-related Movement Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

> **Received:** 02 April 2022 **Accepted:** 16 June 2022 **Published:** 12 July 2022

#### Citation:

Yang X, Li Z, Bai L, Shen X, Wang F, Han X, Zhang R, Li Z, Zhang J, Dong M, Wang Y, Cao T, Zhao S, Chu C, Liu C and Zhu X (2022) Association of Plasma and Electroencephalography Markers With Motor Subtypes of Parkinson's Disease. Front. Aging Neurosci. 14:911221. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.911221 <sup>1</sup> Department of Neurology, Tianjin Neurological Institute, Tianjin Medical University General Hospital, Tianjin, China, <sup>2</sup> National Health Commission Key Laboratory of Hormones and Development, Tianjin Key Laboratory of Metabolic Diseases, Chu Hsien-I Memorial Hospital & Tianjin Institute Endocrinology, Tianjin Medical University, Tianjin, China, <sup>3</sup> School of Electrical and Information Engineering, Tianjin University, Tianjin, China

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to investigate the correlations of plasma neurodegenerative proteins and electroencephalography (EEG) dynamic functional network (DFN) parameters with disease progression in early Parkinson's disease (PD) with different motor subtypes, including tremor-dominant (TD) and postural instability and gait disorder (PIGD).

**Methods:** In our study, 33 patients with PD (21 TD and 12 PIGD) and 33 healthy controls (HCs) were enrolled. Plasma neurofilament light chain (NfL),  $\alpha$ -synuclein ( $\alpha$ -syn), total-tau (t-tau),  $\beta$ -amyloid 42 (A $\beta$ 42), and  $\beta$ -amyloid 40 (A $\beta$ 40) levels were measured using an ultrasensitive single-molecule array (Simoa) immunoassay. All the patients with PD underwent EEG quantified by DFN analysis. The motor and non-motor performances were evaluated by a series of clinical assessments. Subsequently, a correlation analysis of plasma biomarkers and EEG measures with clinical scales was conducted.

**Results:** In the TD group, plasma NfL exhibited a significant association with MDS-UPDRS III and Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA). A higher A $\beta$ 42/40 level was significantly related to a decrease in Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAMD) and Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale (HAMA) in the PIGD group. In terms of the correlation between EEG characteristic parameters and clinical outcomes, trapping time (TT) delta was positively correlated with MDS-UPDRS III and MoCA scores in the TD group, especially in the prefrontal and frontal regions. For other non-motor symptoms, there were significant direct associations of  $k_{PLI}$  theta with HAMD and HAMA, especially in the prefrontal region, and  $k_{PLI}$  gamma was particularly correlated with Rapid Eye Movement Sleep Behavior Disorder Screening Questionnaire (RBDSQ) scores in the prefrontal, frontal, and parietal regions in the TD group. Furthermore, there was a significant positive correlation between plasma t-tau and  $k_{PLI}$ , and pairwise correlations were found among plasma NfL, theta TT, and MoCA scores in the TD group.

**Conclusion:** These results provide evidence that plasma neurodegenerative proteins and EEG measures have great potential in predicting the disease progression of PD subtypes, especially for the TD subtype. A combination of these two kinds of markers may have a superposition effect on monitoring and estimating the prognosis of PD subtypes and deserves further research in larger, follow-up PD cohorts.

Keywords: Parkinson's disease, motor subtype, TD, PIGD, EEG, biomarker, plasma

## INTRODUCTION

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a common chronic progressive neurodegenerative disease with a series of etiologies and clinical manifestations, and it eventually has an adverse impact on quality of life, with a range of physical, emotional, and economic consequences. The prevalence of PD is gradually increasing with age and tends toward the younger population, affecting approximately 1% of the population aged over 60 (Tysnes and Storstein, 2017). It is acknowledged that patients with PD are classified into three subtypes: tremor-dominant (TD), postural instability and gait disorder (PIGD), or indeterminate, derived from the defined and universally recognized algorithms utilizing the Movement Disorder Society Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale (MDS-UPDRS) (Stebbins et al., 2013). It is of vital importance to identify and verify reliable biomarkers that could mirror the preclinical and early stages of different PD motor subtypes, providing a reference for their correct and timely therapeutic management.

Parkinson's disease comprises a clinically heterogeneous group of motor subtypes with diverse progression patterns, characterized by different motor symptoms and non-motor symptoms (NMSs). NMSs precede motor dysfunction sometimes by several years, including hyposmia, sleep disorders, depression, bladder dysfunction, constipation, and even fatigue (Lee et al., 2013; Pfeiffer, 2016), which virtually are more crushing and crippling than motor symptoms. The utility of accessible and objective blood-based biomarkers, particularly correlated with motor or non-motor trajectories of PD phenotypes, could achieve an appropriate and credible correspondence with clinical consequences. Currently, several biomarkers associated with neurodegeneration, such as neurofilament light chain (NfL),  $\alpha$ -synuclein ( $\alpha$ -syn), total-tau (t-tau), and  $\beta$ -amyloid 42 (A $\beta$ 42) and β-amyloid 40 (Aβ40), have been investigated as potential predictors of disease progression. There is reliable evidence that higher NfL was associated with significantly worse global cognition and MDS-UPDRS motor scores in the PIGD group (Ng et al., 2020), and the plasma concentration of A $\beta$ 42 was significantly associated with the severity of PIGD score (Ding et al., 2017). Accordingly, plasma biomarkers may be reliable tools for predicting disease severity and progression in PD subtypes.

It is acknowledged that brain activity and network vary in different patients with PD with personalized motor symptoms and NMSs. Complexity and dynamic functional connectivity (dFC) within and between cerebral regions could mirror motor and cognition organization and functional changes to some extent (Chu et al., 2020; Yi et al., 2022). Accordingly, resting-state electroencephalography (EEG) recording at the scalp composed of electric potential discrepancy not only has particular attractions compared to MRI or PET imaging, such as non-invasiveness, low cost, and wide acceptability, but also directly reflects cortical rhythms and imperceptible network changes (Gratwicke et al., 2015). Previous studies implied that different PD motor subtypes have different degeneration of subcortical/cortical pathways and structures and influence the activity of multiple cortical functional regions, such as motor, cognition, emotions, and sleep (Jiang et al., 2016; Vervoort et al., 2016b). Changes in active brain regions linked to motor/sensorimotor areas have been exhibited in different PD motor subtypes (Orcioli-Silva et al., 2021). Vervoort et al. (2016a) have shown differential connectivity alterations in neural networks and between motor and cognitive control loops that correlated with the behavioral heterogeneity in patients with TD and PIGD. Similar to plasma biomarkers mentioned above, utility resting-state EEG for brain activity feature extraction is also a reliable and easily achievable method. Hence, a combination of blood-based and EEG measurements may have a synergistic effect to explore the predictors of disease progression in early PD with different motor subtypes.

The aim of this study was to investigate the association of plasma neurodegenerative proteins (NfL,  $\alpha$ -syn, t-tau, A $\beta$ 42, and A $\beta$ 40) and EEG signature with disease progression in early PD with different motor subtypes. In this study, we used an ultrasensitive single-molecule array (Simoa) immunoassay for plasma biomarker measurement and a novel electroencephalographic analysis technique-dynamic functional network (DFN) analysis for electroencephalographic feature extraction.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Study Participants**

A total of 36 patients with PD were recruited from the movement disorders outpatient clinics of the General Hospital of Tianjin Medical University. All of the patients with PD fulfilled the United Kingdom Parkinson's Disease Society Brain Bank (UKPDSBB) criteria (Hughes et al., 1992). Based on the MDS-UPDRS classification method, the ratio of the mean UPDRS tremor scores (11 items) to the mean UPDRS-PIGD scores (5 items) was used to define patients with TD (ratio  $\geq 1.15$ ), patients with PIGD (ratio  $\leq 0.9$ ), and "indeterminate" patients (ratios > 0.9 and <1.15) (Stebbins et al., 2013). Patients defined as "indeterminate" were excluded from our study. Eventually, 33 patients with PD (21 TD and 12 PIGD) were enrolled in our analysis. Simultaneously, 33 age-matched healthy controls (HCs) who showed no sign of neuropsychiatric and systemic

disorder were recruited from the local community during the same period. The research protocols were approved by the Ethics Committee of the General Hospital of Tianjin Medical University. All subjects provided informed written consent before entering the study.

## **Clinical Evaluation**

The motor symptoms of patients with PD were evaluated using the MDS-UPDRS (Goetz et al., 2008) and Hoehn and Yahr (H&Y) staging scale (Hoehn and Yahr, 1967) as measurements of clinical parkinsonian severity, which were performed during off medication, more than 12 h after the last dose of dopaminergic therapy. NMSs were examined with a series of neuropsychological assessments, including the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA), Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAMD), Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale (HAMA), Non-motor Symptoms Questionnaire (NMSQ), Rapid Eye Movement Sleep Behavior Disorder Screening Questionnaire (RBDSQ), and Parkinson's Disease Sleep Scale-2 (PDSS-2).

## **Measurement of Plasma Biomarkers**

A total of 10 ml of venous blood from all the participants was collected in tubes containing ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) and centrifuged (2,500 × g for 15 min) within 1 h after collection according to the recommendation by the manufacturer and previous reports. Plasma was stored in polypropylene tubes at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until analysis. The Simoa NfL Advantage kits (Quanterix, Lexington, MA, United States), Neurology 3-Plex A Advantage Kit (Lot 502473), and α-syn discovery kit (Lot 502566) were used for measurement of plasma NfL, t-tau, Aβ42, Aβ40, and α-syn concentrations assayed by researchers who were blinded to the diagnosis based on manufacturer's introductions and standard procedures.

# Electroencephalography Recording and Preprocessing

Electroencephalography was recorded for all patients with PD during off medication in an isolated low-light room at the General Hospital of Tianjin Medical University. Patients were requested to sit in a comfortable chair with their eyes closed but not fall asleep. According to the international standard 10/20 system, 19 Ag/AgCl electrodes were placed on the scalp, including channels Fp1, Fp2, F3, F4, C3, C4, P3, P4, O1, O2, F7, F8, T3, T4, T5, T6, Fz, Cz, and Pz. Meanwhile, electrooculogram (EOG), electromyogram (EMG), and electrocardiogram (ECG) signals were recorded through another four channels.

All of the EEG preprocessing was performed using the EEGLab toolbox in MATLAB software (MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, United States). First, EEG signals were processed by a 1–45 Hz band-pass zero-phase shift filter for filtering out the 50 Hz power frequency interference to ensure that the phase information of the original signal remained unchanged. To eliminate artifacts, fast independent component analysis (FastICA) (Hyvärinen, 1999) was then conducted. The FastICA algorithm decomposed 19-channel EEG signals into ICs that

are statistically independent of each other through a hybrid matrix. Subsequently, the correlation between the extracted ICs and the EOG, EMG, and ECG signals was analyzed. The IC whose absolute value of the correlation coefficient exceeds 0.5 was considered as the component that has a strong correlation with a certain artifact signal. We then zeroed out these ICs and multiplied them by the resulting mixture matrix to obtain the EEG signals with the artifacts removed. The manual screen was applied to remove noise interference signals. Finally, a band-pass finite impulse response (FIR) filter was used to filter the signals into five frequency bands: delta (1–4 Hz), theta (4–8 Hz), alpha (8–13 Hz), beta (13–30 Hz), and gamma (30–45 Hz).

# Construction of Dynamic Functional Networks

The empirical mode decomposition (EMD) method could well describe the local transient characteristics of time-varying nonlinear signals. EMD could divide different windows according to the signal characteristics of different patients, facilitating the finding of information with significant differences in timevarying signals (Chen et al., 2010). The sliding window method based on EMD could determine the dynamic window length by the frequency of EEG signals of patients at different times. A previous study reported that this adaptive window method could obtain better dynamic information about cognitive function and behavior (Zhuang et al., 2020). Hence, in this study, we utilized the adaptive sliding window based on EMD to seek out the local information on dynamic brain activity in patients with PD.

Based on the data after dividing windows by the above method, we used the phase lag index (PLI) to characterize DFNs. The PLI method, proposed by Stam et al. (2007), could estimate the phase synchronization between signals. We used PLI to calculate the phase coupling degree by calculating the instantaneous phase and the asymmetry of the phase difference distribution between two time signals, and the calculation formula is as follows:

$$PLI = \left| \left\langle \text{sign} \left[ \Delta \phi \left( t_k \right) \right] \right\rangle \right|, \quad k = 1, 2, ..., N,$$

where  $\Delta \phi(t_k)$  represents phase differences calculated at different times. *PLI* ranges from 0 to 1. The larger the *PLI*, the stronger the coupling strength between signals.

## Fluctuation Analysis of Dynamic Functional Connectivity

The noise of EEG signals could also produce random fluctuations of network connection, such that the existence of dFC could not be proved only by the FC fluctuations of EEG signals collected from patients. We used alternative data to observe if the fluctuations in FC were representative of the real dFC. We represented stationary processes by using suitable alternative data to verify the authenticity of fluctuations and used the amplitudeadjusted Fourier transform (AAFT) to construct alternative data (Kugiumtzis, 2002). The AAFT method was used to generate 20 groups of alternative data corresponding to real data, and then we used the window of real data selection to partition and constructed the dFN of alternative data. By calculating the time-series standard deviations of each edge in DFN's dynamic process of real data and alternative data, we obtained the dynamic fluctuation characteristics of brain connectivity for both. We calculated the average fluctuation of 20 sets of alternative data and the  $k_{PLI}$ , which was the ratio of standard deviation between fluctuations in real data and fluctuations in alternative data. The formula is given as follows:

$$k_{PLI}(v, w) = \frac{\sigma\left(D_{ture}\left(v, w\right)\right)}{1/M\sum_{i=1}^{M}\sigma\left(D_{rand}\left(v, w\right)\right)},$$

where *D* represents the DFNs of real data and alternative data, v and w are EEG channels, and *M* is the group number of alternative data. As the ratio of fluctuation of real data to the fluctuation of substitute data, if  $k_{PLI}$  was greater than 1, then there was a real fluctuation in dynamic brain FC, and  $k_{PLI}$  could represent the magnitude of fluctuation.

## **Network State Transition Analysis**

#### Time-by-Time Graph

We used the form of the weighted DFNs to define time in constructing the time-by-time graph (Medaglia et al., 2015). Each node represented a different time window of DFNs, and the different edges indicated the correlations between the corresponding time windows of DFNs. We utilized the Frobenius norm for distance measurement to calculate the similarity between networks (Kurmukov et al., 2016), and the distance measure was inversely proportional to similarity. The calculation formula is as follows:

$$d_F(P(t_1), P(t_2)) = \|P(t_1) - P(t_2)\|_F,$$
  
=  $\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^N \sum_{j=1}^N (p_{ij}(t_1) - p_{ij}(t_2))^2}$ 

where *P* represents DFNs of different patients, *p* represents the edge of DFNs, *i* and *j* are the EEG channels, and *N* represents the total number of EEG channels. The time-by-time graph *T* of each patient was obtained, through which we could get the necessary information on the same brain state during the evolution of dynamic brain functional networks (Chen et al., 2017).

#### **Recurrence Plot**

Based on the time-by-time graph obtained from the patient, we determined a threshold to define the upper limit of the distance between similar networks. When the calculated distance was less than a, we concluded that the two brain functional networks were in the same state and set the edge of the time-by-time graph  $T_{ij}$  to 1. On the contrary, we set it to 0. We could get the recurrence plot (RP) using this method, and the recurrence matrix R of DFNs is as follows:

$$R_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1, & T_{ij} < a \\ 0, & T_{ij} > a \end{cases}$$

where *i* and *j* are the different times of the brain's functional network, and  $T_{ij}$  is the distance measure of the functional network at two moments.

#### **Recurrence Quantification Analysis**

We used the recurrence quantification analysis (RQA) parameters, which were recurrence rate (RR) and trapping time (TT), to evaluate the degree of network state transition of DFNs (Marwan et al., 2007). RR indicated the number of times that a network in the same state occurred in DFNs. The RR is defined as follows:

$$RR = \frac{1}{N^2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} R_{ij},$$

where *N* represents the total number of brain functional networks at different time windows. *TT* represents the average duration of the same network state in DFNs. The larger the *TT*, the longer the same state lasts on the network. The *TT* is defined as follows:

$$TT = \frac{\sum_{h=h_{\min}}^{h_{\max}} hP(h)}{\sum_{h=h_{\min}}^{h_{\max}} P(h)},$$

where *h* was the length of the vertical line in *RP*, and *P*(*h*) is the number of vertical lines whose length is *h* in *RP*. The *P*(*h*) is calculated as follows:

$$P(h) = \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} (1 - R_{i,j-1}) (1 - R_{i,j+h}) \prod_{k=0}^{h-1} R_{i,j+k}$$

#### **Statistical Analysis**

All data were analyzed using SPSS 22.0 (IBM, Inc., Armonk, NK, United States) and GraphPad Prism 9 (La Jolla, CA, United States). The Shapiro–Wilk test was used to examine the Gaussian distribution of our data (p > 0.05). The demographic and clinical characteristics were displayed as mean  $\pm$  SD. Comparisons of continuous variables among different diagnostic groups were assessed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and the Mann–Whitney U test. A Chi-square test was used to compare categorical variables. Group comparisons of clinical assessments and marker measures were made using multiple linear regression analyses with sex, age, and disease duration at testing as covariates. The correlation among plasma neurodegenerative proteins, EEG characteristic parameters, and clinical outcomes was accessed using Spearman's rank correlation analysis. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

## RESULTS

## Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

A total of 66 participants consisting of 33 patients with PD and 33 age- and sex-matched normal control subjects were enrolled in this study. The demographic and clinical characteristics of study participants are presented in **Table 1**. There were no significant differences in gender and age between patients with PD and HC. Similarly, in terms of disease duration, H&Y stage, MDS-UPDRS II and III scores, global cognition status-MoCA, and other non-motor scales, no statistical differences were found between the

TABLE 1 | Demographic and clinical characteristics of study participants.

Characteristics	TD ( <i>n</i> = 21)	PIGD ( <i>n</i> = 12)	HC (n = 33)	P-value
Male, %	47.62	50.00	51.52	0.96
Age, years	$65.48 \pm 6.83$	$63.92\pm5.78$	$66.15\pm4.75$	0.74
Disease duration, years	$5.38\pm2.52$	$5.00\pm1.81$	NA	0.99
Hoehn and Yahr stage	$1.24\pm0.44$	$1.67\pm0.49$	NA	0.03
MDS-UPDRS I	$2.00\pm2.03$	$4.45\pm2.70$	NA	< 0.01**
MDS-UPDRS II	$4.21\pm3.99$	$5.09\pm5.20$	NA	0.87
MDS-UPDRS III	$19.71 \pm 11.71$	$18.58 \pm 11.12$	NA	0.90
MoCA	$26.32\pm2.96$	$25.73\pm3.74$	NA	0.93
NMSQ	$5.62\pm3.79$	$8.42\pm4.33$	NA	0.06
RBDSQ	$2.79\pm3.61$	$3.27\pm3.80$	NA	0.54
HAMD	$2.58\pm3.49$	$5.09 \pm 4.04$	NA	0.06
HAMA	$1.47\pm2.17$	$4.91\pm7.35$	NA	0.10
PDSS-2	$4.84 \pm 4.51$	$11.91\pm8.87$	NA	0.02

PD, Parkinson's disease; TD, tremor-dominant; PIGD, postural instability and gait disorder; HCs, healthy controls; MoCA, Montreal Cognitive Assessment; NfL, neurofilament light chain; MDS-UPDRS, Movement Disorder Society Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale; HAMD, Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; HAMA, Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale; NMSQ, Non-motor Symptoms Questionnaire; RBDSQ, Rapid Eye Movement Sleep Behavior Disorder Screening Questionnaire; PDSS-2, Parkinson's Disease Sleep Scale-2; NA, not available. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD. The p-values were obtained from comparisons

of variables between TD and PIGD using the Mann–Whitney U test. The Chi-square test was used to compare categorical variables. \*\*p < 0.01.

two motor phenotypes. In the PIGD group, the score of MDS-UPDRS I was significantly higher than the TD group (p < 0.01).

## **Plasma Biomarker Levels and** Electroencephalography Characteristic **Parameters in Different Groups**

Plasma biomarkers and EEG characteristic parameters are summarized in Table 2. The levels of plasma A $\beta$ 42, A $\beta$ 40, A $\beta$ 42/40, and  $\alpha$ -syn were significantly increased in patients with PD when compared to controls (A $\beta$ 42: TD vs. HC: p < 0.0001, PIGD vs. HC: p < 0.0001; A $\beta$ 40: TD vs. HC: p < 0.0001, PIGD vs. HC: p < 0.001; A $\beta$ 42/40: TD vs. HC: p < 0.05, PIGD vs. HC: p < 0.01;  $\alpha$ -syn: TD vs. HC: p < 0.0001, PIGD vs. HC: p < 0.001), while there was no significant difference between the TD and PIGD groups, after adjustment for age, sex, and disease duration. No differences were found in the concentrations of plasma NfL and t-tau among the TD, PIGD, and control groups (NfL, p = 0.65; t-tau, p = 0.39). Similarly, there was no difference in EEG characteristic parameters ( $k_{PLI}$ , TT, RR) between the TD and PIGD groups ( $k_{PLI}$ , p = 0.49; TT, p = 0.51; RR, p = 0.59, Table 2).

## Plasma Biomarker Correlations With **Clinical Outcomes**

For clarifying whether there was any relationship between plasma biomarkers and clinical features, we conducted the following correlation analysis. In the TD group, plasma NfL exhibited significant association with MDS-UPDRS III (r = 0.443, p < 0.05, TABLE 2 | The levels of plasma biomarkers and EEG characteristic parameters in patients with PD and HCs.

	TD ( <i>n</i> = 21)	PIGD ( <i>n</i> = 12)	HC (n = 33)	P-Value
Plasma bioma	arker			
NfL (pg/ml)	$18.01 \pm 10.16$	$25.32\pm22.10$	$15.99\pm5.18$	0.65
T-tau (pg/ml)	$1.05\pm0.57$	$0.87\pm0.23$	$0.93\pm0.63$	0.39
Aβ42 (pg/ml)	$9.93 \pm 2.58$	$10.48\pm2.58$	$5.26\pm2.01$	<0.01 <sup>a,b</sup>
Aβ40 (pg/ml)	$165.43\pm48.40$	$162.37 \pm 40.92$	$103.90 \pm 31.00$	<0.01 <sup>a,b</sup>
Αβ42/40	$0.06\pm0.01$	$0.07\pm0.01$	$0.05\pm0.01$	<0.01 <sup>a,b</sup>
α-Syn (pg/ml)	$49.27\pm41.06$	$41.39\pm24.37$	$10.36\pm 6.51$	<0.01 <sup>a,b</sup>
EEG paramete	er			
K <sub>PLI</sub>	$1.91\pm0.07$	$1.20\pm0.10$	NA	0.49
TT	$16.85 \pm 18.70$	$17.88\pm23.77$	NA	0.51
RR	$0.34\pm0.25$	$0.38\pm0.30$	NA	0.59

PD, Parkinson's disease; TD, tremor-dominant; PIGD, postural instability and gait disorder; HCs, healthy controls; NfL, neurofilament light chain; t-tau, total tau; Aβ42, β-amyloid 42; Aβ40, β-amyloid 40; α-syn, α-synuclein; NA, not available. <sup>a</sup>Differences were found between TD vs. control.

<sup>b</sup>Differences were found between PIGD vs. control.

**Figure 1A)** and MoCA (r = -0.555, p < 0.01, **Figure 1B**). Higher Aβ42/40 level significantly related to a decrease in HAMD (r = -0.590, p < 0.05, Figure 1C) and HAMA (r = -0.635,p < 0.05, Figure 1D) in the PIGD group. No relationship was found between any plasma biomarkers and NMSO, RBDSO, and PDSS-2 scores.

## Electroencephalography Correlations With Clinical Outcomes

#### Correlations Between Electroencephalography Signature and Motor Severity

We performed exploratory correlation analysis for the EEG signature as a marker for clinical features and disease progression. Meanwhile, EEG parameters were further refined into brain regions to explore the brain regions with specific changes in different motor subtypes of patients with PD with different clinical manifestations. The results suggested that TT delta was positively correlated with MDS-UPDRS III scores in the TD group (r = 0.585, p < 0.05, Figure 2A), especially in prefrontal (*r* = 0.638, *p* < 0.01, **Figure 2B**) and frontal (*r* = 0.685, *p* < 0.01) regions. No such association was found between EEG parameters and the H&Y stage.

#### **Correlations Between Electroencephalography** Signature and Cognition

We next investigated the relevance between EEG parameters and global cognitive status (MoCA). There were significant direct associations between  $k_{PLI}$  alpha (r = -0.466, p < 0.05,**Figure 3A**) and *TT* theta (r = 0.571, p < 0.01, **Figure 3B**) with MoCA scores, particularly in the prefrontal and frontal regions (Figures 3C,D).

#### Correlations Between Electroencephalography Signature and Other Non-motor Symptoms

In the TD group, both  $k_{PLI}$  delta (r = 0.539, p < 0.05, Figure 4A) and theta (r = 0.616, p < 0.01, Figure 4B)



**FIGURE 1** | Correlations between plasma biomarkers and clinical features in patients with PD. There were significant relationships between plasma NfL and MDS-UPDRS III (A) and MoCA (B) in the TD group. Plasma A $\beta$ 42/40 level was negatively correlated with HAMD (C) and HAMA (D) in PIGD. Significant correlation ( $\rho < 0.05$ ) is marked in solid red line.



were positively correlated with increases in HAMD, especially in the prefrontal region ( $k_{PLI}$  delta: r = 0.540, p < 0.05, **Figure 4E**;  $k_{PLI}$  theta: r = 0.476, p < 0.05, **Figure 4F**). Similarly, a relationship was found between  $k_{PLI}$  theta and HAMA in the prefrontal region (r = 0.620, p < 0.01, **Figures 4C,G**). We further analyzed the correlation between EEG and sleep quality (RBDSQ and PDSS-2).  $K_{PLI}$  gamma was particularly associated with RBDSQ scores in the prefrontal (r = 0.625, p < 0.01), frontal (r = 0.609, p < 0.01), and parietal (r = 0.542, p < 0.05, **Figures 4D,H**) regions in the TD group. No relationship was found between any of the EEG variables with PDSS-2.

## Correlations Between Electroencephalography Characteristic Parameters and Plasma Biomarkers

The relationship between plasma biomarkers and  $k_{PLI}$ , TT, and RR is presented in **Tables 3–5**, respectively. The level of NfL was negatively correlated with TT in the theta band in the TD group



**FIGURE 3** | Scatter plot illustrating the correlation between EEG signature and cognition in patients with PD. Upper row: correlations of EEG frequency bands with cognitive data (A,B). Lower row: correlations of EEG characteristic brain regions with cognitive data (C,D). A significant correlation (p < 0.05) is marked in solid red and black lines.



(H). A significant correlation (p < 0.05) is marked in solid red, black, and gray lines.

(r = -0.490, p < 0.05,**Table 4**) and with *RR* in the gamma band in the PIGD group (r = -0.727, p < 0.01,**Table 5**). In terms of plasma t-tau, there was a significant positive correlation with  $k_{PLI}$ in the delta (r = 0.571, p < 0.01), theta (r = 0.697, p < 0.001), beta (r = 0.483, p < 0.05), and gamma (r = 0.442, p < 0.05) frequency bands (**Table 3**), and a negative correlation with *TT* in the delta band (r = -0.552, p < 0.05, **Table 4**) in the TD group. A $\beta$ 42 showed an inverse association with *RR* delta in the TD group (r = -0.491, p < 0.05, **Table 5**). A close relationship of plasma  $\alpha$ -syn with *TT* in the beta frequency band (r = 0.983,

**TABLE 3** Correlation between plasma biomarkers and  $k_{Pll}$ .

**TABLE 4** | Correlation between plasma biomarkers and TT.

Plasma biomarker	Frequency band	TD	PIGD	Plasma biomarker
NfL	Delta	0.207	0.245	NfL
	Theta	0.347	0.132	
	Alpha	0.333	0.287	
	Beta	0.318	0.573	
	Gamma	0.187	0.552	
T-tau	Delta	0.571 <sup>b</sup>	0.098	T-tau
	Theta	0.697 <sup>c</sup>	-0.210	
	Alpha	0.100	0.308	
	Beta	0.483 <sup>a</sup>	0.175	
	Gamma	0.442 <sup>a</sup>	-0.203	
Αβ42	Delta	-0.097	-0.147	Αβ42
	Theta	0.063	-0.275	
	Alpha	-0.179	0.119	
	Beta	0.201	0.121	
	Gamma	-0.167	0.115	
Αβ40	Delta	-0.222	-0.089	Αβ40
	Theta	0.008	-0.241	
	Alpha	-0.035	-0.101	
	Beta	0.218	0.049	
	Gamma	0.231	-0.252	
Αβ42/40	Delta	-0.227	0.298	Αβ42/40
	Theta	-0.024	0.475	
	Alpha	0.217	0.060	
	Beta	-0.301	0.040	
	Gamma	-0.253	0.313	
α-Syn	Delta	0.093	-0.115	α-Syn
	Theta	0.096	-0.031	
	Alpha	0.353	-0.127	
	Beta	-0.002	-0.094	
	Gamma	-0.062	0.305	

Plasma biomarker	Frequency band	TD	PIGD
NfL	Delta	0.435	-0.350
	Theta	-0.490 <sup>a</sup>	-0.442
	Alpha	0.250	-0.190
	Beta	-0.120	-0.305
	Gamma	-0.183	-0.097
T-tau	Delta	-0.552 <sup>a</sup>	-0.168
	Theta	-0.138	-0.277
	Alpha	-0.223	-0.433
	Beta	-0.078	-0.189
	Gamma	0.081	-0.148
Αβ42	Delta	-0.168	-0.14
	Theta	0.050	0.006
	Alpha	-0.134	-0.00
	Beta	-0.044	-0.612
	Gamma	-0.131	-0.146
Αβ40	Delta	-0.018	-0.23
	Theta	0.048	-0.223
	Alpha	-0.161	-0.029
	Beta	-0.007	-0.302
	Gamma	-0.069	0.036
Αβ42/40	Delta	-0.160	0.219
	Theta	-0.147	0.462
	Alpha	0.203	0.084
	Beta	-0.169	-0.32
	Gamma	-0.076	0.026
α-Syn	Delta	0.095	0.013
	Theta	0.059	0.013
	Alpha	0.380	-0.12
	Beta	-0.254	0.983 <sup>b</sup>
	Gamma	0.004	0.456
TD, tremor-dominant;	PIGD, postural instabil	ity and gait dis	order; NfL

TD, tremor-dominant; PIGD, postural instability and gait disorder; NfL, neurofilament light chain; t-tau, total tau; Aβ42, β-amyloid 42; Aβ40, β-amyloid 40; α-syn, α-synuclein; r, Spearman's rho.

 $^{c}p < 0.001.$ 

p < 0.001) was found in the PIGD group (**Table 4**). No statistically significant correlation was found between AB42/40 level and EEG measures in patients with PD.

## DISCUSSION

In this study, we aimed to demonstrate the possible association of plasma neurodegenerative proteins and EEG signature with disease progression in early PD with different motor subtypes and explore whether there was a link between plasma biomarkers and EEG DFN signature. For this purpose, we measured several plasma proteins (e.g., NfL,  $\alpha$ -syn, t-tau, A $\beta$ 42, and A $\beta$ 40) quantified by high-sensitivity immunoassays and conducted characteristic DFN analysis for electroencephalographic feature extraction. We performed a correlation analysis between these two kinds of potential markers and a comprehensive clinical assessment battery. Our results

postural instability gait neurofilament light chain; t-tau, total tau; Aβ42, β-amyloid 42; Aβ40, β-amyloid 40; α-syn, α-synuclein; r, Spearman's rho.

 $^{a}p < 0.05.$ 

<sup>b</sup>p < 0.001.

suggested that plasma biomarkers and EEG parameters were found to be related to motor severity, cognition, and some NMS symptoms in patients with TD and PIGD. Furthermore, we investigated the correlation between plasma biomarkers and EEG characteristic parameters. Our findings indicated that there was a significant positive correlation between plasma t-tau and  $k_{PLI}$  and pairwise correlations were found among plasma NfL, theta TT, and MoCA scores in the TD group. Therefore, plasma biomarkers and EEG measures are considered to be potential tools to predict the disease progression of PD subtypes.

## Plasma Biomarkers and Disease Severity Correlations

As the neural-specific cytoskeletal component and structural component of axon and synapse, NfL plays an essential role in neural electrical signal transmission and posttranslational modification. It is highly expressed in large-caliber myelinated

 $<sup>^{</sup>a}p < 0.05.$ <sup>b</sup>p < 0.01.

TABLE 5   Correlation betwe	en plasma biomarkers and RR.
-----------------------------	------------------------------

Plasma biomarker	Frequency band	TD	PIGD
NfL	Delta	0.091	-0.399
	Theta	-0.251	-0.259
	Alpha	-0.013	-0.546
	Beta	0.048	0.228
	Gamma	0.281	-0.727 <sup>t</sup>
T-tau	Delta	0.023	-0.064
	Theta	-0.279	0.280
	Alpha	-0.248	0.227
	Beta	0.079	0.362
	Gamma	-0.012	-0.130
Αβ42	Delta	-0.491 <sup>a</sup>	-0.021
	Theta	0.099	0.031
	Alpha	0.037	-0.048
	Beta	0.191	0.127
	Gamma	-0.100	-0.390
Αβ40	Delta	-0.222	-0.089
	Theta	0.008	-0.241
	Alpha	-0.035	-0.101
	Beta	0.218	0.049
	Gamma	0.231	-0.252
Αβ42/40	Delta	-0.255	0.328
	Theta	-0.024	0.475
	Alpha	0.217	0.060
	Beta	-0.301	0.040
	Gamma	-0.253	0.313
α-Syn	Delta	0.093	-0.115
	Theta	0.096	-0.031
	Alpha	0.353	-0.127
	Beta	-0.002	-0.094
	Gamma	-0.062	0.305

TD, tremor-dominant; PIGD, postural instability and gait disorder; NfL, neurofilament light chain; t-tau, total tau; Aβ42, β-amyloid 42; Aβ40, β-amyloid 40; α-syn, α-synuclein; r, Spearman's rho. <sup>a</sup> p < 0.05.

axons and is the main byproduct of neurodegeneration (Yuan et al., 2017). There was a tendency that NfL levels increased as the H&Y stage increased in our PD cohort. No differences were found in the concentrations of NfL between the TD and PIGD groups in our results, consistent with a previous study at baseline (Ng et al., 2020), which suggested that NfL levels were significantly increased in the PIGD group compared with the TD group after a 2-year follow-up, however. Previous studies have reported that NfL levels were significantly elevated in patients with PIGD with worse cognition outcomes and were modestly correlated with MDS-UPDRS III scores, indicating that there was a relationship between NfL and disease severity and progression in PIGD-PD (Ng et al., 2020; Ye et al., 2021). Nevertheless, our results only showed that there was an association between plasma NfL and MDS-UPDRS III, as well as MoCA scores in the TD group, and the correlation was absent in the PIGD cohort. We speculate these conflicting results might be due to the limited

number of early-stage patients with PD we enrolled and the lack of follow-up.

It is considered that plasma and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) amyloid  $\beta$  are reflections of brain amyloidosis (Nakamura et al., 2018; Schindler et al., 2019). Aß peptides play a crucial role in neuronal information processing and are key components of amyloid plaques deposited in the brains of patients with neurodegenerative diseases, especially common in Alzheimer's disease and PD dementia (Gomperts et al., 2013). In our cohort, we found the levels of A $\beta$  (A $\beta$ 42, A $\beta$ 40, and A $\beta$ 42/40) were higher in patients with PD than HC, while there was no significant difference between the two motor subtypes, in accordance with another Chinese PD cohort (Ding et al., 2017). Moreover, we are pleasantly surprised that a higher  $A\beta 42/40$  level was significantly related to a decrease in HAMD and HAMA in the PIGD group, that is, the lower the  $A\beta 42/40$  level is, the greater the possibility of depression and anxiety the patients with PIGD have. Previous studies have confirmed that the plasma  $A\beta 42/40$  level was lower in older individuals with depression than in HCs, and  $A\beta$  was more inclined to aggregation and polymerization in depression and anxiety patients (Sun et al., 2007; Baba et al., 2012; Nascimento et al., 2015; Johansson et al., 2020). Whether AB42/40 level is associated with anxiety and depression emotions in PD subtypes deserves further research.

## Electroencephalographic Features and Disease Severity Correlations

The real relationship between electroencephalographic features and disease severity in patients with PD is not yet definite. To define and quantify brain dynamics and functional connectivity, we conducted a DFN analysis. We extracted three EEG characteristic parameters: TT, RR, and  $k_{PLI}$ . As a symbol of the average duration of the same network state in DFNs, the more the TT increased, the longer the same state lasted on the network. RR represented the number of times that a network in the same state occurred in DFNs. Both TT and RR were used to evaluate the degree of network state transition of DFNs (Marwan et al., 2007). In contrast, the  $k_{PLI}$ , which was the ratio of standard deviation between fluctuations in real data and fluctuations in alternative data, indicated the magnitude of dynamic fluctuation of brain connectivity. According to our findings, EEG characteristic parameters are proven to have correlations with motor, cognition, and emotions in patients with TD.

Based on our results, *TT* in the delta band was positively correlated with MDS-UPDRS III scores in the TD group, especially in the prefrontal and frontal regions. That means the longer the same state lasts on the network, the worse motor performance the patients with TD have. A possible explanation is that as the motor severity deteriorates, the maintenance of the network state gets longer; that is, the slower the brain network switches. Definitely, the supplementary motor area (SMA), the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), and the primary motor cortex (M1) are the prime cortical motor regions in the frontal lobe that have been extensively studied. Cortical motor region dysfunction may interpret the pathogenesis of bradykinesia and postural instability and gait disorder, which are the core motor

*b* = 0.01

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>p < 0.01.

manifestations of PD (Lefaucheur, 2005; Casarotto et al., 2019). This phenomenon is consistent with our findings that delta *TT* in the prefrontal and frontal areas were particularly relevant to motor severity in patients with TD. However, the reason why this correlation disappeared in the PIGD group may be the different mechanisms of altered brain network state in patients with PIGD.

Generally, patients with PD have a slowing tendency of global EEG activity observed to be significantly relevant to cognitive processes, including attention and working memory, executive function, emotion, and so on (Handojoseno et al., 2013). It has already been confirmed that as the cognitive status deteriorates, patients with PD have less stability and functional connectivity of the brain neuronal network, possibly resulting from pathological oscillations and dysregulation in the cortico-basal gangliathalamic-cortical pathways and synaptic degeneration (Aarsland et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2020). The frontal and prefrontal cortex assist us to make better decisions. Recent research on clarifying the definite role of neuronal oscillations in the frontal cortex as measured by EEG indicated that frontal theta was an essential integral mechanism in cognitive processes, especially in cognitive control (Cavanagh and Frank, 2014). Similarly, our study showed that TT in the theta band was positively correlated with MoCA score in the TD group, particularly in the prefrontal and frontal regions. In addition, alpha  $k_{PLI}$  in the prefrontal and frontal regions were significantly associated with global cognitive function. It could be speculated that the faster the network state switches and the greater the magnitude of dynamic fluctuation of brain connectivity in the frontal cortex is, the worse cognitive function the patients with TD have.

It is widely believed that dopamine (DA) system dysfunction in the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNc) is a trigger for the classical signs and symptoms in patients with PD (Wichmann, 2019). Recently, burgeoning data have connected dopamine system dysfunction to the pathophysiology and pathogenesis of depression and anxiety (Grace, 2016; Calipari, 2020), hence it could be assumed that patients with PD have a greater likelihood of suffering from mood disturbances. A neuroimaging metaanalysis implied increased neural activity and structural changes in the prefrontal regions in depressed and anxious patients with PD (Wen et al., 2016). EEG studies suggested spatiotemporal patterns of cortical activity and functional connectivity altered in patients with PD with affective symptoms (Iver et al., 2020). Consistent with the above studies, our results suggested a positive correlation between the Hamilton emotion scale with  $k_{PLI}$  in the theta band (especially in the prefrontal region) in patients with TD, further confirming that patients with TD who develop mood disturbances have a greater magnitude of dynamic fluctuation of brain connectivity.

Idiopathic RBD (iRBD) is supposed to be a prodromal stage of PD. Research on resting-state EEG functional connectivity to examine the cerebral network subtle variations in patients with iRBD pointed out that functional networks in iRBD were altered at the early stage of the disease (Sunwoo et al., 2017).  $K_{PLI}$  gamma was particularly associated with RBDSQ scores in the prefrontal, frontal, and parietal regions in the TD group, which have been proved to be decreased regional cerebral blood flow in iRBD in a single-photon emission computerized tomography (SPECT) cerebral blood flow study (Vendette et al., 2011). Accordingly, EEG characteristic parameters show promise to become potential markers for disease progression in patients with TD.

## Correlations Between Electroencephalography Characteristic Parameters and Plasma Biomarkers

In this study, it is the first time to explore the association between EEG features and plasma neurodegenerative proteins in different motor phenotypes of PD. One of the most crucial findings was the relationship of increased  $k_{PLI}$  (higher global dynamic fluctuation magnitude of brain connectivity) with higher t-tau levels in the TD group, which could be speculated that as tau pathology accumulates, so does the discordance of the dynamic brain network. In addition, plasma t-tau and Aβ42 were negatively associated with TT and RR in the delta band, respectively, which was especially involved in the slow-frequency band, speculating that the more the tau and amyloid pathology deposits in patients with TD, the faster the brain network state switches and the larger fluctuation the brain network has. Similar network alternations associated with biofluid markers have been put forward. For example, increased CSF p- and t-tau levels were correlated with EEG slowing and decreasing synchronization in patients with cognitive impairment (Smailovic et al., 2018; Tanabe et al., 2020); the combined p-tau/Aβ42 ratio exhibited a stronger correlation with the slow-frequency band in elderly individuals (Stomrud et al., 2010). Beyond plasma t-tau, we also found some specific correlations between other plasma biomarkers (NfL and  $\alpha$ -syn) and EEG parameters in individual band power. Until now, there is no clear evidence for the link between NfL and EEG variables in PD, and our study first proposed and explored the relationship between them. It is acknowledged that NfL is a byproduct of neurodegeneration, and with the increase in NfL, the severity of neuronal damage aggravates. Our study showed that plasma NfL was negatively correlated with TT theta in patients with TD and RR gamma in patients with PIGD, speculating that as the plasma NfL increases and the neurodegenerative changes exacerbate, the fluctuation of DFNs becomes wilder. Particularly, pairwise correlations were found among plasma NfL, theta TT, and MoCA scores in the TD group, suggesting that an integrated measurement of plasma NfL and theta TT may be a powerful predictor of cognitive impairment in patients with TD. Furthermore, it is widely accepted that a-syn accumulation leads to abnormal communication with neuronal, synaptic, and/or dendritic membranes, resulting in pathophysiological changes, which may explain its correlation with network state abnormalities (Caviness et al., 2016). Concurrently, we found  $\alpha$ -syn correlated strongly with TT beta in patients with PIGD, implying the anomalous network state switching in PIGD. Numerous studies support the hypothesis that positive correlation between blood  $\alpha$ -syn and motor severity in patients with PD (Chang et al., 2020; Fan et al., 2020) and our finding that the TT in the delta band was positively correlated with MDS-UPDRS III scores and plasma a-syn in the TD group strengthened the hypothesis, implying that motor function impairment might lead to the abnormal slowing of
brain state transition. A seemingly contradictory finding was that *TT* was positively correlated with motor impairment and  $\alpha$ -syn level while negatively correlated with the levels of NfL and tau. We speculate the probable cause is that the nerve damage characteristics represented by NfL and tau are different from syn since the NFL level mainly reflexes CNS axonal damage severity and tau itself may also have specific CNS damage pathology; that is, the damage of brain functional areas reflected by the accumulation of NfL and tau is different from that of  $\alpha$ -syn. Above all, our results support the close relationship between plasma biomarkers and EEG measures. However, the definite correlation between the two kinds of markers and whether quantitative EEG could become an economic and alternative method for the diagnosis and prognosis of PD subtypes require further research and confirmation.

# Limitations

This study has some limitations worth mentioning. First, due to the relatively restricted number of patients and short of EEG conducted among HCs, we cannot infer the definite correlation of EEG characteristic parameters and plasma biomarkers with disease severity in different motor subtypes and compare the discrepancy of EEG variables between PD and controls. Second, it is essential to track the dynamic changes in EEG and plasma protein profiles within individuals and over time to probe whether these could be potential instruments to monitor disease progression. Therefore, much more longitudinal research is badly needed. Finally, the detection of biomarkers in CSF has been extensively studied, which seems to better reflect the function of the central nervous system. In this study, we selected a more convenient blood-based detection means instead of CSF.

# CONCLUSION

Our study highlighted the reliable relationship of EEG characteristic parameters and plasma biomarkers with disease severity in different motor subtypes of PD and simultaneously explored the potential association between EEG characteristic parameters and plasma biomarkers. Results confirmed that an integrated measurement of plasma NfL and theta TT is a powerful predictor of cognitive impairment in patients

# REFERENCES

- Aarsland, D., Creese, B., Politis, M., Chaudhuri, K. R., Ffytche, D. H., Weintraub, D., et al. (2017). Cognitive decline in Parkinson disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 13, 217–231. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2017.27
- Baba, H., Nakano, Y., Maeshima, H., Satomura, E., Kita, Y., Suzuki, T., et al. (2012). Metabolism of amyloid-β protein may be affected in depression. J. Clin. Psychiatry 73, 115–120. doi: 10.4088/JCP.10m06766
- Calipari, E. S. (2020). Dopamine release in the midbrain promotes anxiety. *Biol. Psychiatry* 88, 815–817. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2020.08.016
- Casarotto, S., Turco, F., Comanducci, A., Perretti, A., Marotta, G., Pezzoli, G., et al. (2019). Excitability of the supplementary motor area in Parkinson's disease depends on subcortical damage. *Brain Stimul.* 12, 152–160. doi: 10.1016/j.brs. 2018.10.011

with TD. As a consequence, these two promising detection methods are expected to become potential markers to predict disease progression of PD subtypes, especially for patients with TD. A combination of these markers for monitoring and prognosis of PD progression deserves further research in larger, follow-up PD cohorts.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the General Hospital of Tianjin Medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

XY and ZeL drafted the manuscript for content, including medical writing for content, the acquisition of data, study concept or design, and analysis and interpretation of data, with contributions from LB, XS, FW, XH, RZ, ZuL, JZ, MD, YW, TC, and SZ. XZ, CL, and CC were responsible for the supervision, project administration, and funding acquisition. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

# **FUNDING**

This study was supported by the Science and Technology Development Fund of the Tianjin Education Commission for Higher Education (2017ZD10). XZ was additionally supported by the Ministry of Science and Technology of China (2016YFC1306500 and 2016YFC1306504), National Key R&D Program of China (2016YFC1306501), and Tianjin Health Commission (KJ20009). SZ was supported by the Tianjin Natural Science Foundation (19JCZDJC35300).

- Cavanagh, J. F., and Frank, M. J. (2014). Frontal theta as a mechanism for cognitive control. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 18, 414–421. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2014.04.012
- Caviness, J. N., Lue, L. F., Hentz, J. G., Schmitz, C. T., Adler, C. H., Shill, H. A., et al. (2016). Cortical phosphorylated α-Synuclein levels correlate with brain wave spectra in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 31, 1012–1019. doi: 10.1002/ mds.26621
- Chang, C. W., Yang, S. Y., Yang, C. C., Chang, C. W., and Wu, Y. R. (2020). Plasma and serum alpha-synuclein as a biomarker of diagnosis in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Front. Neurol.* 10:1388. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.01388
- Chen, R. H., Ito, T., Kulkarni, K. R., and Cole, M. W. (2017). Task-related multivariate activation states during task-free rest. *bioRxiv* [Preprint]. doi: 10. 1101/068221
- Chen, X., Wu, Z., and Huang, N. E. (2010). The time-dependent intrinsic correlation based on the empirical mode decomposition[J].

*Adv. Adapt. Data Anal.* 02:1000047. doi: 10.1142/S17935369100 00471

- Chu, C., Wang, X., Cai, L., Zhang, L., Wang, J., Liu, C., et al. (2020). Spatiotemporal EEG microstate analysis in drug-free patients with Parkinson's disease. *Neuroimage Clin.* 25:102132. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2019.102132
- Ding, J., Zhang, J., Wang, X., Zhang, L., Jiang, S., Yuan, Y., et al. (2017). Relationship between the plasma levels of neurodegenerative proteins and motor subtypes of Parkinson's disease. J. Neural Transm. 124, 353–360. doi: 10.1007/s00702-016-1650-2
- Fan, Z., Pan, Y. T., Zhang, Z. Y., Yang, H., Yu, S. Y., Zheng, Y., et al. (2020). Systemic activation of NLRP3 inflammasome and plasma  $\alpha$ -synuclein levels are correlated with motor severity and progression in Parkinson's disease. *J. Neuroinflamm.* 17:11. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1670-6
- Goetz, C. G., Tilley, B. C., Shaftman, S. R., Stebbins, G. T., Fahn, S., Martinez-Martin, P., et al. (2008). Movement disorder society UPDRS revision task force. movement disorder society-sponsored revision of the unified Parkinson's disease rating scale (MDS-UPDRS): scale presentation and clinimetric testing results. *Mov. Disord.* 23, 2129–2170. doi: 10.1002/mds.22340
- Gomperts, S. N., Locascio, J. J., Rentz, D., Santarlasci, A., Marquie, M., Johnson, K. A., et al. (2013). Amyloid is linked to cognitive decline in patients with Parkinson disease without dementia. *Neurology* 80, 85–91. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 0b013e31827b1a07
- Grace, A. A. (2016). Dysregulation of the dopamine system in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia and depression. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 17, 524–532. doi: 10.1038/ nrn.2016.57
- Gratwicke, J., Jahanshahi, M., and Foltynie, T. (2015). Parkinson's disease dementia: a neural networks perspective. *Brain* 138(Pt 6), 1454–1476. doi: 10. 1093/brain/awv104
- Handojoseno, A. M., Shine, J. M., Nguyen, T. N., Tran, Y., Lewis, S. J., and Nguyen, H. T. (2013). Using EEG spatial correlation, cross frequency energy, and wavelet coefficients for the prediction of Freezing of Gait in Parkinson's Disease patients. *Annu. Int. Conf. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.* 2013, 4263–4266. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2013.6610487
- Hoehn, M. M., and Yahr, M. D. (1967). Parkinsonism: onset, progression and mortality. *Neurology* 17, 427–442. doi: 10.1212/wnl.17.5.427
- Hughes, A. J., Daniel, S. E., Kilford, L., and Lees, A. J. (1992). Accuracy of clinical diagnosis of idiopathic Parkinson's disease: a clinico-pathological study of 100 cases. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 55, 181–184. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.55.3.181
- Hyvärinen, A. (1999). Fast and robust fixed-point algorithms for independent component analysis. *IEEE Trans. Neural. Netw.* 10, 626–634. doi: 10.1109/72. 761722
- Iyer, K. K., Au, T. R., Angwin, A. J., Copland, D. A., and Dissanayaka, N. N. (2020). Theta and gamma connectivity is linked with affective and cognitive symptoms in Parkinson's disease. J. Affect. Disord. 277, 875–884. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020. 08.086
- Jiang, S., Wang, M., Zhang, L., Yuan, Y., Tong, Q., Ding, J., et al. (2016). Regional homogeneity alterations differentiate between tremor dominant and postural instability gait difficulty subtypes of Parkinson's disease. J. Neural Transm. 123, 219–229. doi: 10.1007/s00702-015-1490-5
- Johansson, M., Stomrud, E., Lindberg, O., Westman, E., Johansson, P. M., van Westen, D., et al. (2020). Apathy and anxiety are early markers of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 85, 74–82. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2019.10.008

Kugiumtzis, D. (2002). Surrogate Data Test on Time Series. Berlin: Springer.

- Kurmukov, A., Dodonova, Y., and Zhukov, L. (2016). "Classification of normal and pathological brain networks based on similarity in graph partitions," in *Proceedings of the 2016 IEEE 16th International Conference on Data Mining Workshops (ICDMW)*, Barcelona.
- Lee, C. N., Kim, M., Lee, H. M., Jang, J. W., Lee, S. M., Kwon, D. Y., et al. (2013). The interrelationship between non-motor symptoms in Atypical Parkinsonism. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 327, 15–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2013.01.034
- Lefaucheur, J. P. (2005). Motor cortex dysfunction revealed by cortical excitability studies in Parkinson's disease: influence of antiparkinsonian treatment and cortical stimulation. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 116, 244–253. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph. 2004.11.017
- Marwan, N., Romano, M. C., Thiel, M., and Kurths, J. (2007). Recurrence plots for the analysis of complex systems[J]. *Phys. Rep.* 438, 237–329. doi: 10.1016/j. physrep.2006.11.001

- Medaglia, J. D., Satterthwaite, T. D., Moore, T. M., Ruparel, K., and Bassett, D. S. (2015). Flexible traversal through diverse brain states underlies executive function in normative neurodevelopment[J]. *Quant. Biol.* [Epub ahead of print]. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.1510.08780
- Nakamura, A., Kaneko, N., Villemagne, V. L., Kato, T., Doecke, J., Doré, V., et al. (2018). High performance plasma amyloid-β biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease. *Nature* 554, 249–254. doi: 10.1038/nature25456
- Nascimento, K. K., Silva, K. P., Malloy-Diniz, L. F., Butters, M. A., and Diniz, B. S. (2015). Plasma and cerebrospinal fluid amyloid-beta levels in late-life depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 69, 35–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2015.07.024
- Ng, A. S. L., Tan, Y. J., Yong, A. C. W., Saffari, S. E., Lu, Z., Ng, E. Y., et al. (2020). Utility of plasma Neurofilament light as a diagnostic and prognostic biomarker of the postural instability gait disorder motor subtype in early Parkinson's disease. *Mol. Neurodegener*. 15:33. doi: 10.1186/s13024-020-00385-5
- Orcioli-Silva, D., Vitório, R., Beretta, V. S., da Conceição, N. R., Nóbrega-Sousa, P., Oliveira, A. S., et al. (2021). Is cortical activation during walking different between Parkinson's disease motor subtypes? *J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 76, 561–567. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glaa174
- Pfeiffer, R. F. (2016). Non-motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinson. Relat. Disord.* 22(Suppl. 1), S119–S122. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.09.004
- Schindler, S. E., Bollinger, J. G., Ovod, V., Mawuenyega, K. G., Li, Y., Gordon, B. A., et al. (2019). High-precision plasma  $\beta$ -amyloid 42/40 predicts current and future brain amyloidosis. *Neurology* 93, e1647–e1659. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 00000000008081
- Smailovic, U., Koenig, T., Kåreholt, I., Andersson, T., Kramberger, M. G., Winblad, B., et al. (2018). Quantitative EEG power and synchronization correlate with Alzheimer's disease CSF biomarkers. *Neurobiol. Aging* 63, 88–95. doi: 10.1016/ j.neurobiolaging.2017.11.005
- Stam, C. J., Nolte, G., and Daffertshofer, A. (2007). Phase lag index: assessment of functional connectivity from multi channel EEG and MEG with diminished bias from common sources. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 28, 1178–1193. doi: 10.1002/ hbm.20346
- Stebbins, G. T., Goetz, C. G., Burn, D. J., Jankovic, J., Khoo, T. K., and Tilley, B. C. (2013). How to identify tremor dominant and postural instability/gait difficulty groups with the movement disorder society unified Parkinson's disease rating scale: comparison with the unified Parkinson's disease rating scale. *Mov. Disord.* 28, 668–670. doi: 10.1002/mds.25383
- Stomrud, E., Hansson, O., Minthon, L., Blennow, K., Rosén, I., and Londos, E. (2010). Slowing of EEG correlates with CSF biomarkers and reduced cognitive speed in elderly with normal cognition over 4 years. *Neurobiol. Aging* 31, 215–223. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2008.03.025
- Sun, X., Mwamburi, D. M., Bungay, K., Prasad, J., Yee, J., Lin, Y. M., et al. (2007). Depression, antidepressants, and plasma amyloid beta (Beta) peptides in those elderly who do not have cardiovascular disease. *Biol. Psychiatry* 62, 1413–1417. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.01.003
- Sunwoo, J. S., Lee, S., Kim, J. H., Lim, J. A., Kim, T. J., Byun, J. I., et al. (2017). Altered functional connectivity in idiopathic rapid eye movement sleep behavior disorder: a resting-state EEG Study. *Sleep* 40:zsx058. doi: 10.1093/ sleep/zsx058
- Tanabe, S., Bo, A., White, M., Parker, M., Farahbakhsh, Z., Ballweg, T., et al. (2020). Cohort study of electroencephalography markers of amyloidtau-neurodegeneration pathology. *Brain Commun.* 2:fcaa099. doi: 10.1093/ braincomms/fcaa099
- Tysnes, O. B., and Storstein, A. (2017). Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. J. Neural Transm. 124, 901–905. doi: 10.1007/s00702-017-1686-y
- Vendette, M., Gagnon, J. F., Soucy, J. P., Gosselin, N., Postuma, R. B., Tuineag, M., et al. (2011). Brain perfusion and markers of neurodegeneration in rapid eye movement sleep behavior disorder. *Mov. Disord.* 26, 1717–1724. doi: 10.1002/ mds.23721
- Vervoort, G., Alaerts, K., Bengevoord, A., Nackaerts, E., Heremans, E., Vandenberghe, W., et al. (2016a). Functional connectivity alterations in the motor and fronto-parietal network relate to behavioral heterogeneity in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinson. Relat. Disord.* 24, 48–55. doi: 10.1016/j. parkreldis.2016.01.016
- Vervoort, G., Leunissen, I., Firbank, M., Heremans, E., Nackaerts, E., Vandenberghe, W., et al. (2016b). Structural brain alterations in motor

subtypes of Parkinson's disease: evidence from probabilistic tractography and shape analysis. *PLoS One* 11:e0157743. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0157743

- Wang, Q., Meng, L., Pang, J., Zhu, X., and Ming, D. (2020). Characterization of EEG data revealing relationships with cognitive and motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease: a systematic review. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 12:587396. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2020.587396
- Wen, M. C., Chan, L. L., Tan, L. C., and Tan, E. K. (2016). Depression, anxiety, and apathy in Parkinson's disease: insights from neuroimaging studies. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 23, 1001–1019. doi: 10.1111/ene.13002
- Wichmann, T. (2019). Changing views of the pathophysiology of parkinsonism. *Mov. Disord.* 34, 1130–1143. doi: 10.1002/mds.27741
- Ye, R., Locascio, J. J., Goodheart, A. E., Quan, M., Zhang, B., and Gomperts, S. N. (2021). Serum NFL levels predict progression of motor impairment and reduction in putamen dopamine transporter binding ratios in de novo Parkinson's disease: an 8-year longitudinal study. *Parkinson. Relat. Disord.* 85, 11–16. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2021.02.008
- Yi, G., Wang, L., Chu, C., Liu, C., Zhu, X., Shen, X., et al. (2022). Analysis of complexity and dynamic functional connectivity based on resting-state EEG in early Parkinson's disease patients with mild cognitive impairment. *Cogn. Neurodyn.* 16, 309–323. doi: 10.1007/s11571-021-09722-w
- Yuan, A., Rao, M. V., Veeranna, and Nixon, R. A. (2017). Neurofilaments and neurofilament proteins in health and disease. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 9:a018309. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a018309

Zhuang, X., Yang, Z., Mishra, V., Sreenivasan, K., Bernick, C., and Cordes, D. (2020). Single-scale time-dependent window-sizes in sliding-window dynamic functional connectivity analysis: a validation study. *Neuroimage* 220:117111. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2020. 117111

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Yang, Li, Bai, Shen, Wang, Han, Zhang, Li, Zhang, Dong, Wang, Cao, Zhao, Chu, Liu and Zhu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jifeng Guo, Central South University, China

REVIEWED BY Hakan Gurvit, Istanbul University, Turkey

\*CORRESPONDENCE Ruey-Meei Wu robinwu@ntu.edu.tw

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Parkinson's Disease and Aging-related Movement Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

RECEIVED 13 May 2022 ACCEPTED 15 August 2022 PUBLISHED 06 September 2022

#### CITATION

Yu R-L and Wu R-M (2022) Mild cognitive impairment in patients with Parkinson's disease: An updated mini-review and future outlook. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 14:943438. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.943438

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Yu and Wu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Mild cognitive impairment in patients with Parkinson's disease: An updated mini-review and future outlook

#### Rwei-Ling Yu<sup>1</sup> and Ruey-Meei Wu<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>College of Medicine, Institute of Behavioral Medicine, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan, <sup>2</sup>Department of Neurology, College of Medicine, National Taiwan University Hospital, National Taiwan University, Taipei, Taiwan

Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) is one of the common non-motor symptoms in patients with Parkinson's disease (PD). MCI is the transition stage between normal aging and full-blown dementia and is also a powerful predictor of dementia. Although the concept of MCI has been used to describe some of the PD symptoms for many years, there is a lack of consistent diagnostic criteria. Moreover, because of the diverse patterns of the cognitive functions, each cognitive impairment will have a different progression. In this review, we overviewed the diagnostic criteria for PD-MCI, primarily focused on the heterogeneity of PD-MCI patients' cognitive function, including various types of cognitive functions and their progression rates. A review of this topic is expected to be beneficial for clinical diagnosis, early intervention, and treatment. In addition, we also discussed the unmet needs and future vision in this field.

#### KEYWORDS

Parkinson's disease, dementia, mild cognitive impairment, heterogeneity, cognitive function

# Introduction

Parkinson's disease (PD) is one of the common neurodegenerative diseases. Some critical clinical features include motor symptoms, such as tremors, bradykinesia, and rigidity (Obeso et al., 2017). Evidence showed that there were 6.1 million PD patients worldwide in 2016, and the prevalence continues to rise each year (Dorsey et al., 2018). PD is more common in males, and there is a slightly higher incidence and prevalence rate of PD in the West compared to the East (Abbas et al., 2018). The clinical diagnostic criteria of PD have been updated continuously (Gibbs and Lees, 1988; Gelb, 1999; Postuma et al., 2015; Marsili et al., 2018). New aspects are introduced in the updated diagnostic guidelines, such as the use of non-motor symptoms (NMSs) and

the application of the prodromal concept, which is essential for the early detection and treatment of the disease (Marsili et al., 2018).

In addition to motor symptoms, NMSs are common in patients with PD across cultures and countries (Yu et al., 2017). The NMSs may precede the development of motor features and have a more significant impact on a patient's quality of life (Liu et al., 2015; Pfeiffer, 2016). It may also serve as a predictor of mortality (Bugalho et al., 2019). PD's common NMSs include dementia, neuropsychiatric symptoms, autonomic failure, and sensory impairments (Gupta and Shukla, 2021). Among the NMSs, dementia has the most detrimental effect on patients' quality of life (Fan et al., 2020), caregivers' burden (Pantula and Vijay Harbishettar, 2012), and increases the need for hospitalization and mortality (Bugalho et al., 2019).

The clinical diagnostic criteria for PD patients with Dementia (PDD) were first published by the movement disorder society (MDS) task force (Emre et al., 2007), and then another practical guideline for diagnosing PDD using two-level criteria was proposed (Dubois et al., 2007). A review by Aarsland and Kurz (2010) showed that the point prevalence of dementia in the PD population is about 30%, and the incidence rate of dementia was 24.3/1,000 per year (95% confidence interval is 7.7-58.5) in a hospital-based PD cohort (Nicoletti et al., 2019). PD patients are 5~6 times more likely to develop dementia than healthy aging populations (Hobson and Meara, 2004). Moreover, the longitudinal studies showed that 15-20% of PD patients develop dementia after 5 years (Williams-Gray et al., 2009) and 46% after 10 years (Williams-Gray et al., 2013). Although dementia does not necessarily occur in PD, the 12-year (Buter et al., 2008) and 20-year follow-up studies (Hely et al., 2008) revealed that about eighty percent of PD patients are eventually diagnosed with dementia. Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) is believed to be one of the best indicators for early detection of PDD (Galtier et al., 2016; Hoogland et al., 2017; Nicoletti et al., 2019). Therefore, the number of studies investigating PD patients with MCI (PD-MCI) has been significantly growing for the past 20 years.

# Mild cognitive impairment in patients with Parkinson's disease

# The evolution of the concept and the diagnostic criteria of Parkinson's disease patients with mild cognitive impairment

The concept of MCI comes from Alzheimer's disease research, and it is believed to be the transition stage between normal aging and dementia (Petersen et al., 1999; Petersen, 2004). The concept of MCI is also incorporated into the last version (fifth edition) of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM) system of the mental disorder (Regier et al., 2013), in which neurocognitive disorders (NCD) are divided into major NCD and mild NCD according to whether the patient's independent living function is affected. Suppose the patient's social or occupational function is intact, but there is a deficit in cognitive function. In that case, the patient will be diagnosed with mild NCD, which is a synonym for MCI.

After the concept of MCI was introduced into PD research, many scholars and research teams began to explore the neurocognitive function profile of PD patients and its progression with the course of the disease through different definitions or diagnostic criteria of MCI. Most studies (Janvin et al., 2006; Monastero et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2012b) followed the diagnostic criteria from the original MCI criteria from Petersen (2004). In 2011, the Movement Disorder Society commissioned a Task Force to systematically review the literature and determine the PD-MCI patient's clinical characteristics (Litvan et al., 2011). After Litvan et al. (2012) proposed the standardized diagnostic criteria for PD-MCI, in the next 10 years, most of the PD-MCI related studies deployed this diagnostic criterion, and validation was conducted (Geurtsen et al., 2014). There is a two-level scheme (i.e., level I and II) in this standardized diagnostic criteria for PD-MCI (Litvan et al., 2012). In level I, the abbreviated testing tools are used to judge the patient's cognitive performance. Level II uses various cognitive domains (e.g., memory, executive, visuospatial function, etc.) to determine the patient's cognitive function; each cognitive domain contains at least two cognitive tests. Level II can be used to classify patients with PD-MCI to explore the heterogeneity of PD-MCI further. The classification methods include using the number of cognitive domain deficits as a classification, such as singledomain or multiple-domain subtypes. Another classification method is to use cognitive impairment content as a classification method, such as amnestic or non-amnestic subtypes. The Level I is often recommended for clinical practice, while Level II using comprehensive neuropsychological tests is recommended for research use. Recently, Goldman et al. (2018a) revisited the concept of MCI and the international Parkinson and MDS PD-MCI diagnostic criteria. They pointed out that using different diagnostic criteria (e.g., Level I or Level II) will lead to the different prevalence of PD-MCI. Which cognitive test is used and how the defect is defined (e.g., using 1 or 2 SD) can affect the diagnostic classification of PD-MCI. Most studies indicate that the use of -2SD will have the best sensitivity, and the proportion of PD-MCI with multiple domains was the most common. Delineation of PD-MCI cognitive subtypes is crucial for predicting cognitive decline and responding to associated pathological changes. Cognitive tests and other functional assessments play an essential role in the diagnosis, and Goldman et al. (2015) suggest related clinical and psychometric properties of scales should be considered in the diagnostic criteria.

# Prevalence, progression, and subtype of Parkinson's disease patients with mild cognitive impairment

Litvan et al. (2011) conducted a critical systematic review and disclosed that about 26.7% (18.9-38.2%) of non-demented PD patients have MCI. Yarnall et al. (2014) applied different cut-off criteria of cognitive tests and found various PD-MCI prevalence; their results showed that under 1, 1.5, and 2 standard deviations, the prevalence of PD-MCI was 65.8, 42.5, and 22.4%, respectively (Yarnall et al., 2014). Recently, Baiano et al. (2020) conducted a meta-analysis study to elucidate the prevalence of MCI in PD. The authors recruited forty-one studies (7,053 PD patients) and found that the prevalence of MCI in PD was around 40% (95% confidence interval is 36-44). Moreover, this meta-analysis study revealed that the multiple-domain subtype was the most common phenotype of PD-MCI (about 31%) (Baiano et al., 2020). Nicoletti et al. (2019) enrolled a hospitalbased cohort and showed the incidence rate of MCI among PD patients was 184.0/1,000 per year (95% confidence interval is 124.7-262.3).

Janvin et al. (2006) first used a small sample (72 nondemented PD patients) to explore this topic and found that sixty-two percent of PD-MCI patients developed PDD over 4 years (Janvin et al., 2006). Although it is difficult to compare all these studies due to the various research designs or methodologies, an updated review and meta-analysis article was done by Saredakis et al. (2019) to elucidate the conversion rate of PD-MCI to PDD. They included 39 articles (4,011 PD patients) in this study. They found that about 25% of PD patients converted to PD-MCI and 2% to dementia among the patients with intact cognitive function. Besides, 20% of PD-MCI converted to dementia, while 28% reverted to normal cognitive function. Here we summarized the primary longitudinal studies that elucidated the trajectory of cognitive function in patients with PD in Table 1 (Broeders et al., 2013; Pedersen et al., 2013, 2017; Hobson and Meara, 2015; Pigott et al., 2015; Santangelo et al., 2015; Galtier et al., 2016).

The heterogeneity of the PD-MCI patients has long been noted (Kehagia et al., 2010). The original MCI concept proposed the amnestic and non-amnestic or the single or multiple domains impaired (Petersen, 2004). The MDS PD-MCI diagnostic criteria proposed a two-level diagnostic method. Level I is suggested for clinical practice, and level II is for research. The most commonly used tests for level I are the Mini-mental state examination or Montreal Cognitive Assessment. The conversion equation between the two tests was recently proposed (Yu et al., 2020). Level II is a more comprehensive evaluation that examines various cognitive domains and can be applied to classify different subtypes of PD-MCI (Litvan et al., 2012). Although various studies investigated the neuropsychological profile in PD-MCI patients (Sollinger et al., 2010; Goldman et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2012b; Galtier et al., 2016; Kalbe et al., 2016; Lawrence et al., 2016; Monastero et al., 2018); the results were inconclusive. Some studies showed that single domain PD-MCI is the most frequent subtype (Sollinger et al., 2010), especially the non-amnestic type, and the executive and visuospatial functions were the most vulnerable (Goldman et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2012b; Kalbe et al., 2016). On the other hand, other studies demonstrated that multiple domain impairment was the most common subtype (Galtier et al., 2016; Lawrence et al., 2016; Monastero et al., 2018). Recently, a updated meta-analysis study conducted by Baiano revealed that the multiple domain subtype was the most common phenotype of PD-MCI (about 31%) (Baiano et al., 2020). Janvin et al. (2006) found that non-amnestic PD-MCI was associated with the later development of dementia, whereas amnestic PD-MCI was not (Janvin et al., 2006). However, this finding was not supported by other studies. Chung et al. (2019) found that amnestic PD-MCI patients exhibited a more rapid cognitive deterioration in executive function than non-amnestic PD-MCI patients. Moreover, the amnestic PD-MCI group had a higher risk of converting to dementia than the non-amnestic PD-MCI group (Chung et al., 2019). In addition, Vasconcellos et al. (2019) showed that the amnestic PD-MCI patients have the worst quality of daily life.

# The unmet need and future outlook

Different PD-MCI diagnostic criteria will generate different prevalence rates. The estimated prevalence of PD-MCI using MDS criteria is approximately 40% (Baiano et al., 2020). The prevalence may be overestimated (Monastero et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2012b) or underestimated (Muslimović et al., 2005; Aarsland et al., 2010) depending on the diagnostic criteria used. In recent years, most studies have used the diagnostic criteria which were proposed by the MDS Taskforce (Litvan et al., 2012); however, these criteria are still under modification. The PD-MCI diagnostic criteria can be revised and refined by considering other biomarkers and possible factors (e.g., gender or effective measurement) to increase the accuracy. For example, the Catechol-O-methyltransferase genotype was found to be related to executive-attention function (Foltynie et al., 2004; Williams-Gray et al., 2009; Fang et al., 2019), and the apolipoprotein E genotype is related to cognitive decline (Tropea et al., 2018), especially the posterior cortical dysfunction (Williams-Gray et al., 2009), in the PD population. Martinez-Horta and Kulisevsky first proposed two subtypes (i.e., frontostriatal and posterior-cortical cognitive defects) in patients with PD. They suggested that one subtype is frontostriatal cognitive dysfunction and the frontostriatal dopaminergic deficits leading to the dysexecutive syndrome and that this deficit may be a benign and non-progressive subtype. Furthermore, the other subtype is tissue damage due to the spread of Lewy bodies, while damage to specific functions (e.g., visuospatial and language functions) is dependent on posterior cortical areas and represents a malignant and progressive subtype (Martínez-Horta and Kulisevsky, 2011). That is, the posterior cortical dysfunction is related to the progression of dementia; however, this is not the case with the frontal-related dysfunction. Later, Kehagia et al. (2013) proposed the "dual syndrome hypothesis" to describe the heterogeneity of neurocognitive function in patients with PD. In addition, certain race-specific genes (e.g., Aldehyde Dehydrogenase) (Yu et al., 2016, 2021) and other genes (e.g.,  $\beta$ -glucocerebrosidase) (Szwedo et al., 2022) are associated with cognitive function should also be considered and further investigate.

Moreover, brain imaging is another potential biomarker. Evidence showed that PD-MCI patients' brain atrophy mainly occurs in the frontal, temporal and parietal regions and the basal forebrain (Delgado-Alvarado et al., 2016). Through whole-brain analysis (e.g., Voxel-based meta-analysis or coordinate-based meta-analysis), the cross-sectional studies revealed that PD-MCI patients have more atrophy in the left brain areas, including superior frontal gyrus, superior temporal lobe, and insula (Xu et al., 2016), left anterior insula extending to the inferior frontal gyrus, and orbital region (Zheng et al., 2019), angular gyrus, and right supramarginal gyrus, bilateral dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, and midcingulate cortex (Mihaescu et al., 2019). The longitudinal research showed that baseline volume of global white matter, global hippocampus, hippocampal sub-regions, thalamus, and accumbens nucleus are predictors of the PD patients with normal cognition (PDNC) conversion to PD-MCI (Atluri et al., 2013; Kandiah et al., 2014; Wen et al., 2015). While the baseline global gray matter volume cannot significantly predict the conversion rate to PD-MCI, one side to bilateral loss of gray matter volume is a predictor of progression from PD-MCI to PDD (Xu et al., 2016). The functional MRI studies

showed that the functional connectivity between the medial prefrontal and posterior cingulate cortex within the default mode network at baseline predicts PD patients' conversion to PD-MCI (Zarifkar et al., 2021). PD-MCI patients have reduced connectivity in specific brain regions that are part of the default mode network (Wolters et al., 2019), and the functional connectivity changes involving the parieto-temporal regions may predict the evolution of dementia in PD-MCI patients (Dubbelink et al., 2014). In addition, cerebral blood flow abnormality is a detection marker for PD-MCI patients. Nobili et al. (2009) used single-photon emission computed tomography to evaluate the perfusion in patients with PD and found that PD-MCI patients have the hypo-perfusion pattern in the posterior brain area (e.g., bilateral posterior parietal lobe and right occipital lobe) compared with healthy individuals. The parietal cerebral blood flow was found to be a potential early biomarker for PD-MCI (Pelizzari et al., 2020). Recently, Arslan et al. (2020) found a "posterior hypo-perfusion" pattern via arterial spin labeling imaging (ASL-MRI), and this pattern can be differentiated PD-MCI from healthy individuals with an accuracy of 92.6%. Moreover, PD patients with microtubuleassociated protein tau (MAPT) H1/H1 haplotype had decreased perfusion than the ones with H1/H2 haplotype in the posterior brain regions. They suggested that "posterior hypo-perfusion" in ASL-MRI could potentially be a biomarker for detecting cognitive dysfunction in the PD population (Arslan et al., 2020). Azamat et al. (2021) also found that the abnormities of cerebral blood flow are very different between PDD and non-demented PD patients (i.e., PDNC and PD-MCI). They found PDD patients especially have hypoperfusion in dopaminergicallymediated fronto-parietal and non-dopaminergically-mediated visual networks (Azamat et al., 2021). Those imaging studies suggest a dual characteristics of cognitive impairment (i.e., the dopaminergic fronto-striatal pathway and the parieto-temporal

TABLE 1 The longitudinal studies explore the trajectory of cognitive function in patients with PD.

References	Country	Center	Dropout rate	Follow-up year	PDCN→PD-MCI	$PD-MCI \rightarrow PDD$
Broeders et al. (2013)	Holland	Single	21.1%	3	36.5	17.6
			40.7%	5	_	_
Pedersen et al. (2013)	Norway	Multi	8.2%	3	_	27%
Pigott et al. (2015)	United States	Single	19.1%	4	36.1%	78.7%
Santangelo et al. (2015)	Italy	Single	18.4%	2	29.2%	0%
			27.6%	4	33.3%	15.3%
Hobson and Meara (2015)	United Kingdom	Single	37.3%	4	40.5%	85.7%
			45.2%	6	62.5%	53%
Galtier et al. (2016)	Spain	Single	9.3%	7	-	42.3%
Pedersen et al. (2017)	Norway	Multi	1.69%	1	10.1%	0%
			8.43%	3	21.5%	34.5%
			15.73%	5	14.3%	38.5%

PD, Parkinson's disease; PDCN, PD patients without dementia; PD-MCI, PD patients with mild cognitive impairment; PDD, PD patients with dementia.

pathway (Kehagia et al., 2010, 2013). Future studies could target the combination of multiple biomarkers (e.g., imaging and genetics) to detect the occurrence of PD-MCI and predict the subsequent development of PD-MCI.

The impact of gender on a patient's cognitive function should not be underestimated. Male sex is a significant predictor of early cognitive decline, and females have slower progression to cognitive impairment (Cholerton et al., 2018). Evidence showed that gender was a significant determinant of specific cognitive domains, with a differential pattern of decline in male and female PD patients. Moreover, how to efficiently measure the functional deficit is another crucial issue. One is that functional deficits other than cognitive function have yet to be developed, and the other is the method in which function is assessed. The former refers to the fact that, in addition to cognitive function, PD patients have many functional impairments in life, such as instrumental activities of daily living (Pirogovsky et al., 2014) or interpersonal/social function (Perepezko et al., 2019; Su et al., 2020; Chuang et al., 2021). A few studies have explored this topic; however, research in these areas still requires more relevant studies and the accumulation of empirical data.

Regarding the way to measurement, common assessment methods include self-report, performance-based measurement, or informant-based measurement. Self-report and family reports rely on the reporter's observation. Evidence showed that not all PD patients could be precisely aware of their dysfunction due to the brain basis of the disease (Yu et al., 2010). The informant-based measurement may have more uncontrollable factors, including family members not living together (patients live alone) or family members' poor observation. In addition, the biggest challenge for performance-based measurement is the ecological validity of the test (Lea et al., 2021). Ecological validity refers to the degree to which the test content can reflect the actual living environment of the patient. Good ecological validity can improve the usability of assessment for diagnosis or treatment. The ecological validity of performance-based measurement is a key that needs to be studied in depth.

Past diagnostic criteria have focused on the contents of cognitive tests (Hoogland et al., 2018) or the optimal cutoff score of the cognitive tests (Goldman et al., 2013, 2015), but how would cognitive impairments reflect difficulties in PD patients' life? This question needs to be explored urgently. The ecological validity of cognitive tests needs to be noted, and it is also essential to develop tools that can assess the distress experienced by patients in their life. For example, the social function deficits would escalate a person's risk of dementia (Fankhauser et al., 2015) and expedite the dementia process (Bennett et al., 2006). This issue has gradually been noticed in the PD group (Bettencourt and Sheldon, 2001; Perepezko et al., 2019). The tools for measuring PD patients' social functioning were developed (Su et al., 2020). Developing such measurement and in-depth knowledge of related fields will help tailor rehabilitation programs for PD patients. It is particularly worth noting that during the COVID-19 pandemic, PD patients may be at particular risk for developing new cognitive symptoms or worsening existing cognitive symptoms, even if the patients are not infected with COVID-19 (Brown et al., 2020). Brown et al. (2020) revealed that PD patients may experience worsening or new symptoms of cognitive function after being canceled or postponed exercise or social activities or being asked to self-isolate/quarantine during the COVID-19 pandemic. In the past  $2\sim3$  years, human-to-human contact has been limited. Under such conditions, the deterioration rate of the social function of PD patients may increase. Moreover, PD patients' social function performance in the post-epidemic period is also worth further study.

Since the brain pathology of each PD-MCI subtype may be different, the clinical characteristics of the PD-MCI subtype may be different too. PD patients have specific motor characteristics, and the correlation between these motor characteristics and PD-MCI subtypes needs to be explored. For example, a recent study demonstrated that multiple-domain PD-MCI and amnestic PD-MCI are related to gait disturbance, especially in the dual-task (Amboni et al., 2022). Our study also revealed that the PDspecific motor characteristic (e.g., hypomimia) might influence social cognition (i.e., facial emotion recognition) (Chuang et al., 2021). Based on the embodied simulation theory, the mechanism for understanding the thoughts and emotions of others is simulation through the mirror mechanism (Gallese et al., 2004). People can trigger sensorimotor neurons by simulating other people's facial expressions, followed by a series of responses to complete emotion recognition (e.g., triggering proprioceptive feedback, generating corresponding emotional states, recognizing emotions). Our findings revealed that PD patients with hypomimia had worse recognition of disgust than healthy aging, and hypomimia's severity was predictive of the recognition of disgust.

Different from other cognitive functions (e.g., memory, executive function, etc.), social cognition (e.g., facial emotion recognition, reading the mind in the eye, theory of mind, etc.) is an emerging research field (Regier et al., 2013) and has drawn more attention in neurodegenerative disease (Elamin et al., 2012), especially in the PD population (Lewis and Ricciardi, 2021). Social cognition refers to people's understanding and prediction of themselves and others by processing and using the information in social interaction and then forming the interactive behavior between people and themselves, including the cognitive and affective components. These components differentially served in distinct neural circuits (Shamay-Tsoory and Aharon-Peretz, 2007). Activity in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, posterior cingulate cortex, and the temporoparietal junction is responsible for the cognitive part of social cognition, while the affective domain relies on ventromedial, orbitofrontal cortices, and the mesolimbic circuit (Schurz et al., 2014). The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders

first juxtaposes social cognition with other cognitive functions (Regier et al., 2013). One main research directions in this field the N-m are the theory of mind (ToM) (Yu et al., 2012a, 2018; Yu and Wu, 2013a,b; Argaud et al., 2018; Adenzato et al., 2019; Foley were evidet al., 2019; Romosan et al., 2019; Coundouris et al., 2020). ToM

refers to individuals' ability to know what others think (cognitive ToM) and how they feel (affective ToM). Evidence showed that young-onset PD patients had preserved ToM (Yu et al., 2018); however, the idiopathic PD patients have impaired cognitive ToM, and the affective ToM will be affected in the advanced stages of the disease (Poletti et al., 2011; Bora et al., 2015).

Moreover, the deficits in affective ToM may make more significant in female than male PD patients (Yu et al., 2018). Recently, Coundouris et al. (2020) conducted a meta-analysis of 38 studies and revealed that cognitive or affective ToM only evident for performance-based tests. Moreover, Affect ToM in PD patients was less affected than cognitive ToM, but since there has been less research on this topic, the authors believe this finding still needs to be validated in future studies. Only a few studies were conducted to investigate the PD-MCI patient' theory of mind to the best of our knowledge. Adenzato et al. (2019) compared the ToM performance in twenty patients with PD-MCI and healthy controls. They found that PD-MCI patients' ToM performance was worse than that in the healthy controls. They also found that transcranial direct over the medial frontal cortex enhances ToM in PD-MCI patients; however, no effect on accuracy was observed. The limitation of the small sample size and methodology (e.g., classified PD-MCI on a global scale) may limit the application of results (Adenzato et al., 2019). The relationship between cognitive function and social cognition is still unclear. Some studies suggested that cognitive function and social cognition are two separate concepts that do not affect each other (Roca et al., 2010); however, other evidence showed that impairment in ToM might be explained by cognitive function (e.g., executive function and attention and visuospatial function) (Yu et al., 2012a; Bora et al., 2015; Foley et al., 2019; Romosan et al., 2019). If social cognition is inseparable from cognitive function, then it is conceivable that PD-MCI patients may have impaired social cognition. In the process of social cognition, cognitive function plays a key role is important. If expressing appropriate responses in social situations may require assistance with cognitive functions (e.g., inhibition or monitoring abilities), training these cognitive functions will help patients maintain good social cognition. Considering the heterogeneity of PD-MCI, it is also considered that preserved social cognition helps patients adhere to physician orders, maintain relationships with caregivers, and maintain quality of life during the disease course. Further research is needed to explore the relationship between cognitive function and social cognition.

Regarding the treatment of cognitive impairment in patients with PD, most of the treatment trials for dementia in patients with PD have focused on the development of drugs which was developed for the treatment of cognitive symptoms in Alzheimer's disease, including cholinesterase inhibitors and the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist, memantine (Goldman and Weintraub, 2015). The cholinesterase inhibitors were evidence-based for the symptomatic treatment for PDD; however, less evidence is available for memantine (Seppi et al., 2011; Dubois et al., 2012). A recent meta-analysis was conducted to examine the efficacy of cholinesterase inhibitors and memantine for PDD and Lewy body dementia. A total of fifteen trials were recruited, and the results showed that cholinesterase inhibitors had effects on some cognitive functions (e.g., attention, processing speed, executive function, memory, and language); however, there was no significant effect on improving visuospatial perception. Memantine also significantly affected attention, processing speed, and executive functions (Meng et al., 2019). However, the authors suggested further clinical trials are required to verify their conclusions due to the few studies included in this study. Given the side effect of the medication and the lack of pharmacological treatments for MCI in PD, non-pharmacological treatments have attracted great interest in recent years (Goldman et al., 2018b). We searched and screened the literature from 2012 to 2022 in the PubMed database through the keywords "Parkinson's disease "&" Cogni\* training," and excluded review articles, meta-analysis articles, articles that did not investigate cognitive training, and did not evaluate the changes of cognitive function. We found 1,679 articles in total, and the number of articles is increasing yearly (Figure 1).

The cognitive training methods can be divided into traditional cognitive training (or paper-pencil tasks training) and computerized cognitive training (Pupíková and Rektorová, 2020; Svaerke et al., 2020). Researchers began using computers from 2013 to 2014 to aid cognitive training. However, few studies were conducted on patients with PD-MCI (Costa et al., 2014; Angelucci et al., 2015). Three randomized controlled trials were conducted to evaluate the effect of cognitive training in the PD-MCI population. The research team of Costa et al. (2014) and Angelucci et al. (2015) recruited 15 and 17 PD-MCI patients, respectively, through the level II of the PD-MCI diagnostic criteria for paper-pencil cognitive training. The executive function (e.g., mental shifting) is the common focus of the two studies, while the study by Costa et al. (2014) additionally trained attention and working memory ability. After 4 weeks (12 sessions) of training, the patients' performance in the zoo map test, the trial-making test, and prospective memory were improved. In 2014, Cerasa et al. (2014) recruited 15 PD-MCI patients according to the level I of PD-MCI criteria; they used a computerized training program to train patients' attention ability. They found that after 6 weeks (12 sessions) of training, the patients' attention (e.g., digit span and the symbol digit modalities test) were improved. Although these studies revealed that cognitive training might help PD-MCI patients to improve their cognitive function; however, the evidence level of these articles was classified as "possibly effective or ineffective" (Pupíková and Rektorová, 2020). The limited FIGURE 2



The possible patterns and evolution of cognitive function in patients with Parkinson's disease. Before full-blown dementia, the PD patients' cognitive patterns may be in the "PDNC," "pre PD-MCI," or "PD-MCI." The pathway from PD-MCI to PDD is relatively stable; however, the three cognitive states may transition before entering into PDD. PDNC, PD patients with normal cognition; pre PD-MCI, PD patients do not achieve PD-MCI diagnosis but have cognitive impairment; PD-MCI, PD patients achieve PD-MCI diagnosis; PDD, PD patients with dementia.



Moreover, develop cognitive training programs through other equipment as a medium. For example, some researchers applied virtual reality technology (Pelosin et al., 2021) to enhance the sense of reality and used mobile applications (Yu et al., 2022) to improve the accessibility of cognitive training. Last, the prospective and longitudinal designed studies were also urgent to evaluate the long-term effects of cognitive training.

Last but not least, the cognitive state transitions during PD are noteworthy. We proposed possible transition states for

cognitive functions (see Figure 2). The state includes the "PD patients with normal cognition," "pre PD-MCI," "PD-MCI," and "PDD." Many studies have confirmed the pathway for the conversion of PD-MCI to PDD (Galtier et al., 2016; Hoogland et al., 2017; Nicoletti et al., 2019), and once a patient is diagnosed with PDD, it means that the course of the disease will not be reversed back to PD-MCI. However, before developing PDD, we assume that there is a possibility of mutual conversion between these stages. For example, "PD-MCI" state converts back to "pre PD-MCI" or "pre PD-MCI" reverse to "PDNC." According to the diagnostic criteria of PD-MCI in MDS (Litvan et al., 2012), there may also be a "pre PD-MCI" group of PD patients. The "pre PD-MCI" is a less mentioned group, this group of patients has not yet met the diagnostic criteria of PD-MCI, but they have cognitive deficits (with one test score falling within the deficit range) (Goldman et al., 2018a). To our knowledge, no study was conducted to elucidate this group's characteristics and conversion or reversion rate. Future research will be encouraged to explore the characteristics of different states and the transition of each state as a basis for brain pathology research, and the findings can also provide a reference for rehabilitation planning.

# Author contributions

R-MW and R-LY formed the concept and structure of the manuscript together. R-LY wrote the first draft of the manuscript. R-MW supervised, commented, revised, and critiqued this manuscript. Both authors approved the final version of the manuscript and agreed to be responsible for all aspects of the work.

# Funding

This research was supported by the National Taiwan University 111-UN0007 and Ministry of Technology (MOST), Science and Taipei, Taiwan (MOST 111-2628-B-006-020).

# References

Aarsland, D., Bronnick, K., Williams-Gray, C., Weintraub, D., Marder, K., Kulisevsky, J., et al. (2010). Mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson disease: a multicenter pooled analysis. *Neurology* 75, 1062–1069. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 0b013e3181f39d0e

Aarsland, D., and Kurz, M. W. (2010). The epidemiology of dementia associated with Parkinson disease. J. Neurol. Sci. 289, 18–22. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2009.08.034

Abbas, M. M., Xu, Z., and Tan, L. C. (2018). Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease—East versus West. *Mov. Disord. Clin. Pract.* 5, 14–28. doi: 10.1002/mdc3. 12568

Adenzato, M., Manenti, R., Enrici, I., Gobbi, E., Brambilla, M., Alberici, A., et al. (2019). Transcranial direct current stimulation enhances theory of mind in Parkinson's disease patients with mild cognitive impairment: a randomized, double-blind, sham-controlled study. *Trans. Neurodegen.* 8, 1–13. doi: 10.1186/ s40035-018-0141-9

Amboni, M., Ricciardi, C., Cuoco, S., Donisi, L., Volzone, A., Ricciardelli, G., et al. (2022). Mild cognitive impairment subtypes are associated with peculiar gait patterns in Parkinson's disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 14:781480. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.781480

Angelucci, F., Peppe, A., Carlesimo, G. A., Serafini, F., Zabberoni, S., Barban, F., et al. (2015). A pilot study on the effect of cognitive training on BDNF serum levels in individuals with Parkinson's disease. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 9:130. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015.00130

Argaud, S., Vérin, M., Sauleau, P., and Grandjean, D. (2018). Facial emotion recognition in Parkinson's disease: a review and new hypotheses. *Mov. Disord.* 33, 554–567. doi: 10.1002/mds.27305

Arslan, D. B., Gurvit, H., Genc, O., Kicik, A., Eryurek, K., Cengiz, S., et al. (2020). The cerebral blood flow deficits in Parkinson's disease with mild cognitive impairment using arterial spin labeling MRI. *J. Neural Trans.* 127, 1285–1294. doi: 10.1007/s00702-020-02227-6

Atluri, G., Padmanabhan, K., Fang, G., Steinbach, M., Petrella, J. R., Lim, K., et al. (2013). Complex biomarker discovery in neuroimaging data: Finding a needle in a haystack. *NeuroImage* 3, 123–131. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2013.07.004

Azamat, S., Arslan, D. B., Erdogdu, E., Kicik, A., Cengiz, S., Eryürek, K., et al. (2021). Detection of visual and frontoparietal network perfusion deficits in Parkinson's disease dementia. *Eur. J. Radiol.* 144:109985. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2021. 109985

Baiano, C., Barone, P., Trojano, L., and Santangelo, G. (2020). Prevalence and clinical aspects of mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: A metaanalysis. *Mov. Disord.* 35, 45–54. doi: 10.1002/mds.27902

Bennett, D. A., Schneider, J. A., Tang, Y., Arnold, S. E., and Wilson, R. S. (2006). The effect of social networks on the relation between Alzheimer's disease pathology and level of cognitive function in old people: a longitudinal cohort study. *Lancet Neurol.* 5, 406–412. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70417-3

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Bettencourt, B. A., and Sheldon, K. (2001). Social roles as mechanism for psychological need satisfaction within social groups. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 81, 1131–1143.

Bora, E., Walterfang, M., and Velakoulis, D. (2015). Theory of mind in Parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis. *Behav. Brain Res.* 292, 515–520. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2015.07.012

Broeders, M., De Bie, R., Velseboer, D. C., Speelman, J. D., Muslimovic, D., and Schmand, B. (2013). Evolution of mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 81, 346–352. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31829c5c86

Brown, E. G., Chahine, L. M., Goldman, S. M., Korell, M., Mann, E., Kinel, D. R., et al. (2020). The effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on people with Parkinson's disease. J. Parkinson's Dis. 10, 1365–1377. doi: 10.3233/JPD-202249

Bugalho, P., Ladeira, F., Barbosa, R., Marto, J. P., Borbinha, C., Salavisa, M., et al. (2019). Motor and non-motor function predictors of mortality in Parkinson's disease. *J. Neural Trans.* 126, 1409–1415. doi: 10.1007/s00702-019-02 055-3

Buter, T., Van Den Hout, A., Matthews, F., Larsen, J., Brayne, C., and Aarsland, D. (2008). Dementia and survival in Parkinson disease: a 12-year population study. *Neurology* 70, 1017–1022. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000306632.43 729.24

Cerasa, A., Gioia, M. C., Salsone, M., Donzuso, G., Chiriaco, C., Realmuto, S., et al. (2014). Neurofunctional correlates of attention rehabilitation in Parkinson's disease: an explorative study. *Neurol. Sci.* 35, 1173–1180. doi: 10.1007/s10072-014-1666-z

Cholerton, B., Johnson, C. O., Fish, B., Quinn, J. F., Chung, K. A., Peterson-Hiller, A. L., et al. (2018). Sex differences in progression to mild cognitive impairment and dementia in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 50, 29–36. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2018.02.007

Chuang, Y.-H., Tan, C.-H., Su, H.-C., Chien, C.-Y., Sung, P.-S., Lee, T.-L., et al. (2021). Hypomimia may influence the facial emotion recognition ability in patients with Parkinson's disease. *J. Parkinson's Dis.* 12, 185–197. doi: 10.3233/JPD-212830

Chung, S., Park, Y. H., Yun, H., Kwon, H., Yoo, H., Sohn, Y., et al. (2019). Clinical relevance of amnestic versus non-amnestic mild cognitive impairment subtyping in Parkinson's disease. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 26, 766–773. doi: 10.1111/ene. 13886

Costa, A., Peppe, A., Serafini, F., Zabberoni, S., Barban, F., Caltagirone, C., et al. (2014). Prospective memory performance of patients with Parkinson's disease depends on shifting aptitude: evidence from cognitive rehabilitation. *J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc.* 20, 717–726. doi: 10.1017/S1355617714000563

Coundouris, S. P., Adams, A. G., and Henry, J. D. (2020). Empathy and theory of mind in Parkinson's disease: A meta-analysis. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 109, 92–102. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.12.030

Delgado-Alvarado, M., Gago, B., Navalpotro-Gomez, I., Jiménez-Urbieta, H., and Rodriguez-Oroz, M. C. (2016). Biomarkers for dementia and mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 31, 861–881. doi: 10.1002/mds. 26662

Dorsey, E. R., Elbaz, A., Nichols, E., Abbasi, N., Abd-Allah, F., Abdelalim, A., et al. (2018). Global, regional, and national burden of Parkinson's disease, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet Neurol.* 17, 939–953. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30295-3

Dubbelink, K. T. O., Schoonheim, M. M., Deijen, J. B., Twisk, J. W., Barkhof, F., and Berendse, H. W. (2014). Functional connectivity and cognitive decline over 3 years in Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 83, 2046–2053. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 000000000001020

Dubois, B., Burn, D., Goetz, C., Aarsland, D., Brown, R. G., Broe, G. A., et al. (2007). Diagnostic procedures for Parkinson's disease dementia: recommendations from the movement disorder society task force. *Mov. Disord.* 22, 2314–2324. doi: 10.1002/mds.21844

Dubois, B., Tolosa, E., Katzenschlager, R., Emre, M., Lees, A. J., Schumann, G., et al. (2012). Donepezil in Parkinson's disease dementia: a randomized, doubleblind efficacy and safety study. *Mov. Disord.* 27, 1230–1238. doi: 10.1002/mds. 25098

Elamin, M., Pender, N., Hardiman, O., and Abrahams, S. (2012). Social cognition in neurodegenerative disorders: a systematic review. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 83, 1071–1079. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2012-302817

Emre, M., Aarsland, D., Brown, R., Burn, D. J., Duyckaerts, C., Mizuno, Y., et al. (2007). Clinical diagnostic criteria for dementia associated with Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 22, 1689–1707. doi: 10.1002/mds.21507

Fan, Y., Liang, X., Han, L., Shen, Y., Shen, B., Chen, C., et al. (2020). Determinants of quality of life according to cognitive status in Parkinson's disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 12:269. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2020.00269

Fang, Y.-J., Tan, C.-H., Tu, S.-C., Liu, C.-Y., and Yu, R.-L. (2019). More than an "inverted-U"? An exploratory study of the association between the catecholo-methyltransferase gene polymorphism and executive functions in Parkinson's disease. *PLoS One* 14:e0214146. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0214146

Fankhauser, S., Forstmeier, S., Maercker, A., Luppa, M., Luck, T., and Riedel-Heller, S. G. (2015). Risk of dementia in older adults with low versus high occupation-based motivational processes: differential impact of frequency and proximity of social network. *J. Geriatr. Psychiatry Neurol.* 28, 126–135. doi: 10. 1177/0891988714554706

Foley, J. A., Lancaster, C., Poznyak, E., Borejko, O., Niven, E., Foltynie, T., et al. (2019). Impairment in theory of mind in Parkinson's disease is explained by deficits in inhibition. *Parkinson's Dis.* 2019:5480913. doi: 10.1155/2019/5480913

Foltynie, T., Goldberg, T. E., Lewis, S. G., Blackwell, A. D., Kolachana, B. S., Weinberger, D. R., et al. (2004). Planning ability in Parkinson's disease is influenced by the COMT val158met polymorphism. *Mov. Disord.* 19, 885–891. doi: 10.1002/mds.20118

Gallese, V., Keysers, C., and Rizzolatti, G. (2004). A unifying view of the basis of social cognition. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 8, 396–403. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2004.07.002

Galtier, I., Nieto, A., Lorenzo, J. N., and Barroso, J. (2016). Mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: Diagnosis and progression to dementia. *J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol.* 38, 40–50. doi: 10.1080/13803395.2015.1087465

Gelb, D. (1999). Oliver e, Gilman S. Diagnostic criteria for Parkinson disease. Arch. Neurol. 56, 33-39. doi: 10.1001/archneur.56.1.33

Geurtsen, G. J., Hoogland, J., Goldman, J. G., Schmand, B. A., Tröster, A. I., Burn, D. J., et al. (2014). Parkinson's disease mild cognitive impairment: application and validation of the criteria. *J. Parkinson's Dis.* 4, 131–137. doi: 10.3233/JPD-130304

Gibbs, W., and Lees, A. (1988). The relevance of the Lewy body to the pathogenesis of idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 51, 745–752. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.51.6.745

Goldman, J. G., Holden, S., Bernard, B., Ouyang, B., Goetz, C. G., and Stebbins, G. T. (2013). Defining optimal cutoff scores for cognitive impairment using Movement Disorder Society Task Force criteria for mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 28, 1972–1979. doi: 10.1002/mds. 25655

Goldman, J. G., Holden, S., Ouyang, B., Bernard, B., Goetz, C. G., and Stebbins, G. T. (2015). Diagnosing PD-MCI by MDS task force criteria: How many and which neuropsychological tests? *Mov. Disord.* 30, 402–406. doi: 10.1002/mds. 26084

Goldman, J. G., Holden, S. K., Litvan, I., Mckeith, I., Stebbins, G. T., and Taylor, J. P. (2018a). Evolution of diagnostic criteria and assessments for Parkinson's disease mild cognitive impairment. *Mov. Disord.* 33, 503–510. doi: 10.1002/mds. 27323

Goldman, J. G., Vernaleo, B. A., Camicioli, R., Dahodwala, N., Dobkin, R. D., Ellis, T., et al. (2018b). Cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: a report from a multidisciplinary symposium on unmet needs and future directions to maintain cognitive health. *npj Parkinson's Dis.* 4, 1–11. doi: 10.1038/s41531-018-0055-3

Goldman, J. G., and Weintraub, D. (2015). Advances in the treatment of cognitive impairment in P arkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 1471–1489. doi: 10.1002/mds.26352

Goldman, J. G., Weis, H., Stebbins, G., Bernard, B., and Goetz, C. G. (2012). Clinical differences among mild cognitive impairment subtypes in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 27, 1129–1136. doi: 10.1002/mds.25062

Gupta, S., and Shukla, S. (2021). Non-motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease: Opening new avenues in treatment. *Curr. Res. Behav. Sci.* 2:100049. doi: 10.1016/ j.crbeha.2021.100049

Hely, M. A., Reid, W. G., Adena, M. A., Halliday, G. M., and Morris, J. G. (2008). The Sydney multicenter study of Parkinson's disease: the inevitability of dementia at 20 years. *Mov. Disord.* 23, 837–844. doi: 10.1002/mds.21956

Hobson, P., and Meara, J. (2004). Risk and incidence of dementia in a cohort of older subjects with Parkinson's disease in the United Kingdom. *Mov. Disord.* 19, 1043–1049. doi: 10.1002/mds.20216

Hobson, P., and Meara, J. (2015). Mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease and its progression onto dementia: a 16-year outcome evaluation of the Denbighshire cohort. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 30, 1048–1055. doi: 10.1002/gps. 4261

Hoogland, J., Boel, J. A., De Bie, R. M., Geskus, R. B., Schmand, B. A., Dalrymple-Alford, J. C., et al. (2017). Mild cognitive impairment as a risk factor for Parkinson's disease dementia. *Mov. Disord.* 32, 1056–1065. doi: 10.1002/mds. 27002

Hoogland, J., Van Wanrooij, L. L., Boel, J. A., Goldman, J. G., Stebbins, G. T., Dalrymple-Alford, J. C., et al. (2018). Detecting Mild Cognitive Deficits in P arkinson's D isease: C omparison of N europsychological T ests. *Mov. Disord.* 33, 1750–1759. doi: 10.1002/mds.110

Janvin, C. C., Larsen, J. P., Aarsland, D., and Hugdahl, K. (2006). Subtypes of mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: progression to dementia. *Mov. Disord.* 21, 1343–1349. doi: 10.1002/mds.20974

Kalbe, E., Rehberg, S. P., Heber, I., Kronenbuerger, M., Schulz, J. B., Storch, A., et al. (2016). Subtypes of mild cognitive impairment in patients with Parkinson's disease: evidence from the LANDSCAPE study. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 87, 1099–1105. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2016-313838

Kandiah, N., Zainal, N. H., Narasimhalu, K., Chander, R. J., Ng, A., Mak, E., et al. (2014). Hippocampal volume and white matter disease in the prediction of dementia in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Related Disord.* 20, 1203–1208. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2014.08.024

Kehagia, A. A., Barker, R. A., and Robbins, T. W. (2010). Neuropsychological and clinical heterogeneity of cognitive impairment and dementia in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Lancet Neurol.* 9, 1200–1213. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10) 70212-X

Kehagia, A. A., Barker, R. A., and Robbins, T. W. (2013). Cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: the dual syndrome hypothesis. *Neurodegen. Dis.* 11, 79–92. doi: 10.1159/000341998

Lawrence, B. J., Gasson, N., and Loftus, A. M. (2016). Prevalence and subtypes of mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease. *Sci. Rep.* 6, 1–9. doi: 10.1038/srep33929

Lea, R., Benge, J. F., Adler, C. H., Beach, T. G., Belden, C. M., Zhang, N., et al. (2021). An initial exploration of the convergent and ecological validity of the UDS 3.0 neuropsychological battery in Parkinson's Disease. *J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol.* 43, 918–925. doi: 10.1080/13803395.2022.2034753

Lewis, S., and Ricciardi, L. (2021). Social cognition in Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 85, 122-123. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2021.02.024

Litvan, I., Aarsland, D., Adler, C. H., Goldman, J. G., Kulisevsky, J., Mollenhauer, B., et al. (2011). MDS Task Force on mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: critical review of PD-MCI. *Mov. Disord.* 26, 1814–1824. doi: 10.1002/mds.23823

Litvan, I., Goldman, J. G., Tröster, A. I., Schmand, B. A., Weintraub, D., Petersen, R. C., et al. (2012). Diagnostic criteria for mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: Movement Disorder Society Task Force guidelines. *Mov. Disord.* 27, 349–356. doi: 10.1002/mds.24893

Liu, W.-M., Lin, R.-J., Yu, R.-L., Tai, C.-H., Lin, C.-H., and Wu, R.-M. (2015). The impact of nonmotor symptoms on quality of life in patients with Parkinson's disease in Taiwan. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat.* 11:2865. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S88968

Marsili, L., Rizzo, G., and Colosimo, C. (2018). Diagnostic criteria for Parkinson's disease: from James Parkinson to the concept of prodromal disease. *Front. Neurol.* 9:156. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00156 Martínez-Horta, S., and Kulisevsky, J. (2011). Is all cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease "mild cognitive impairment"? *J. Neural Trans.* 118, 1185–1190. doi: 10.1007/s00702-011-0675-9

Meng, Y. H., Wang, P. P., Song, Y. X., and Wang, J. H. (2019). Cholinesterase inhibitors and memantine for Parkinson's disease dementia and Lewy body dementia: A meta-analysis. *Exp. Ther. Med.* 17, 1611–1624. doi: 10.3892/etm. 2018.7129

Mihaescu, A. S., Masellis, M., Graff-Guerrero, A., Kim, J., Criaud, M., Cho, S. S., et al. (2019). Brain degeneration in Parkinson's disease patients with cognitive decline: a coordinate-based meta-analysis. *Brain Imaging Behav.* 13, 1021–1034. doi: 10.1007/s11682-018-9922-0

Monastero, R., Cicero, C. E., Baschi, R., Davì, M., Luca, A., Restivo, V., et al. (2018). Mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: the Parkinson's disease cognitive study (PACOS). *J. Neurol.* 265, 1050–1058. doi: 10.1007/s00415-018-8800-4

Monastero, R., Di Fiore, P., Ventimiglia, G. D., Ventimiglia, C. C., Battaglini, I., Camarda, R., et al. (2012). Prevalence and profile of mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease. *Neurodegen. Dis.* 10, 187–190. doi: 10.1159/000335909

Muslimović, D., Post, B., Speelman, J. D., and Schmand, B. (2005). Cognitive profile of patients with newly diagnosed Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 65, 1239–1245. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000180516.69442.95

Nicoletti, A., Luca, A., Baschi, R., Cicero, C. E., Mostile, G., Davì, M., et al. (2019). Incidence of mild cognitive impairment and dementia in Parkinson's disease: the Parkinson's disease cognitive impairment study. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 11:21. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2019.00021

Nobili, F., Abbruzzese, G., Morbelli, S., Marchese, R., Girtler, N., Dessi, B., et al. (2009). Amnestic mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: a brain perfusion SPECT study. *Mov. Disord.* 24, 414–421. doi: 10.1002/mds.22381

Obeso, J. A., Stamelou, M., Goetz, C. G., Poewe, W., Lang, A. E., Weintraub, D., et al. (2017). Past, present, and future of Parkinson's disease: A special essay on the 200th Anniversary of the Shaking Palsy. *Mov. Disord.* 32, 1264–1310. doi: 10.1002/mds.27115

Pantula, H., and Vijay Harbishettar, D. (2012). Cognitive impairment in Parkinson disease: impact on quality of life, disability, and caregiver burden. *J. Geriatr. Psychiatry Neurol.* 25, 208–214. doi: 10.1177/0891988712464823

Pedersen, K. F., Larsen, J. P., Tysnes, O.-B., and Alves, G. (2013). Prognosis of mild cognitive impairment in early Parkinson disease: the Norwegian ParkWest study. *JAMA Neurol.* 70, 580–586. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.2110

Pedersen, K. F., Larsen, J. P., Tysnes, O.-B., and Alves, G. (2017). Natural course of mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson disease: A 5-year population-based study. *Neurology* 88, 767–774. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000003634

Pelizzari, L., Di Tella, S., Rossetto, F., Laganà, M. M., Bergsland, N., Pirastru, A., et al. (2020). Parietal perfusion alterations in Parkinson's disease patients without dementia. *Front. Neurol.* 11:562. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.00562

Pelosin, E., Ponte, C., Putzolu, M., Lagravinese, G., Hausdorff, J. M., Nieuwboer, A., et al. (2021). Motor-cognitive treadmill training with virtual reality in Parkinson's disease: the effect of training duration. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 13:753381. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.753381

Perepezko, K., Hinkle, J. T., Shepard, M. D., Fischer, N., Broen, M. P., Leentjens, A. F., et al. (2019). Social role functioning in Parkinson's disease: a mixed-methods systematic review. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 34, 1128–1138. doi: 10.1002/gps.5137

Petersen, R. C. (2004). Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. J. Int. Med. 256, 183–194. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2796.2004.01388.x

Petersen, R. C., Smith, G. E., Waring, S. C., Ivnik, R. J., Tangalos, E. G., and Kokmen, E. (1999). Mild cognitive impairment: clinical characterization and outcome. *Arch. Neurol.* 56, 303–308. doi: 10.1001/archneur.56.3.303

Pfeiffer, R. F. (2016). Non-motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 22, S119–S122. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015. 09.004

Pigott, K., Rick, J., Xie, S. X., Hurtig, H., Chen-Plotkin, A., Duda, J. E., et al. (2015). Longitudinal study of normal cognition in Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 85, 1276–1282. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000002001

Pirogovsky, E., Schiehser, D. M., Obtera, K. M., Burke, M. M., Lessig, S. L., Song, D. D., et al. (2014). Instrumental activities of daily living are impaired in Parkinson's disease patients with mild cognitive impairment. *Neuropsychology* 28:229. doi: 10.1037/neu0000045

Poletti, M., Enrici, I., Bonuccelli, U., and Adenzato, M. (2011). Theory of Mind in Parkinson's disease. *Behav. Brain Res.* 219, 342–350. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2011.01. 010

Postuma, R. B., Berg, D., Stern, M., Poewe, W., Olanow, C. W., Oertel, W., et al. (2015). MDS clinical diagnostic criteria for Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 1591–1601. doi: 10.1002/mds.26424

Pupíková, M., and Rektorová, I. (2020). Non-pharmacological management of cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease. *J. Neural Trans.* 127, 799–820. doi: 10.1007/s00702-019-02113-w

Regier, D. A., Kuhl, E. A., and Kupfer, D. J. (2013). The DSM-5: Classification and criteria changes. *World Psychiatry* 12, 92–98. doi: 10.1002/wps.20050

Roca, M., Torralva, T., Gleichgerrcht, E., Chade, A., Arévalo, G. G., Gershanik, O., et al. (2010). Impairments in social cognition in early medicated and unmedicated Parkinson disease. *Cogn. Behav. Neurol.* 23, 152–158. doi: 10.1097/WNN.0b013e3181e078de

Romosan, A.-M., Dehelean, L., Romosan, R.-S., Andor, M., Bredicean, A. C., and Simu, M. A. (2019). Affective theory of mind in Parkinson's disease: the effect of cognitive performance. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat.* 15:2521. doi: 10.2147/NDT. S219288

Santangelo, G., Vitale, C., Picillo, M., Moccia, M., Cuoco, S., Longo, K., et al. (2015). Mild cognitive impairment in newly diagnosed Parkinson's disease: a longitudinal prospective study. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 21, 1219–1226. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.08.024

Saredakis, D., Collins-Praino, L. E., Gutteridge, D. S., Stephan, B. C., and Keage, H. A. (2019). Conversion to MCI and dementia in Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 65, 20–31. doi: 10.1016/j. parkreldis.2019.04.020

Schurz, M., Radua, J., Aichhorn, M., Richlan, F., and Perner, J. (2014). Fractionating theory of mind: a meta-analysis of functional brain imaging studies. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 42, 9–34. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.01.009

Seppi, K., Weintraub, D., Coelho, M., Perez-Lloret, S., Fox, S. H., Katzenschlager, R., et al. (2011). The Movement Disorder Society evidence-based medicine review update: treatments for the non-motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 26, S42–S80. doi: 10.1002/mds.23884

Shamay-Tsoory, S. G., and Aharon-Peretz, J. (2007). Dissociable prefrontal networks for cognitive and affective theory of mind: a lesion study. *Neuropsychologia* 45, 3054–3067. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.05.021

Sollinger, A. B., Goldstein, F. C., Lah, J. J., Levey, A. I., and Factor, S. A. (2010). Mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: subtypes and motor characteristics. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 16, 177–180. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis. 2009.11.002

Su, F.-T., Tai, C.-H., Tan, C.-H., Hwang, W.-J., and Yu, R.-L. (2020). The development of the social functioning scale for patients with Parkinson's disease. *J. Parkinson's Dis.* 10, 1143–1151. doi: 10.3233/JPD-201930

Svaerke, K., Niemeijer, M., and Løkkegaard, A. (2020). The effects of computerbased cognitive rehabilitation on working memory in patients with parkinson's disease: a systematic review. *J. Parkinson's Dis.* 10, 47–57. doi: 10.3233/JPD-191726

Szwedo, A. A., Dalen, I., Pedersen, K. F., Camacho, M., Bäckström, D., Forsgren, L., et al. (2022). GBA and APOE Impact Cognitive Decline in Parkinson's Disease: A 10-year population-based study. *Mov. Disord.* 37, 1016–1027. doi: 10.1002/mds. 28932

Tropea, T. F., Xie, S. X., Rick, J., Chahine, L. M., Dahodwala, N., Doshi, J., et al. (2018). APOE, thought disorder, and SPARE-AD predict cognitive decline in established Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 33, 289–297. doi: 10.1002/mds.27204

Vasconcellos, L. F. R., Pereira, J. S., Charchat-Fichman, H., Greca, D., Cruz, M., Blum, A. L., et al. (2019). Mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: Characterization and impact on quality of life according to subtype. *Geriatr. Gerontol. Int.* 19, 497–502. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13649

Wen, M.-C., Ng, A., Chander, R. J., Au, W. L., Tan, L. C., and Kandiah, N. (2015). Longitudinal brain volumetric changes and their predictive effects on cognition among cognitively asymptomatic patients with Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 21, 483–488. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015. 02.014

Williams-Gray, C. H., Evans, J. R., Goris, A., Foltynie, T., Ban, M., Robbins, T. W., et al. (2009). The distinct cognitive syndromes of Parkinson's disease: 5 year follow-up of the CamPaIGN cohort. *Brain* 132, 2958–2969. doi: 10.1093/brain/awp245

Williams-Gray, C. H., Mason, S. L., Evans, J. R., Foltynie, T., Brayne, C., Robbins, T. W., et al. (2013). The CamPaIGN study of Parkinson's disease: 10-year outlook in an incident population-based cohort. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 84, 1258–1264. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2013-305277

Wolters, A. F., Van De Weijer, S. C., Leentjens, A. F., Duits, A. A., Jacobs, H. I., and Kuijf, M. L. (2019). Resting-state fMRI in Parkinson's disease patients with cognitive impairment: a meta-analysis. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 62, 16–27. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2018.12.016

Xu, Y., Yang, J., Hu, X., and Shang, H. (2016). Voxel-based meta-analysis of gray matter volume reductions associated with cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurol.* 263, 1178–1187. doi: 10.1007/s00415-016-8122-3

Yarnall, A. J., Breen, D. P., Duncan, G. W., Khoo, T. K., Coleman, S. Y., Firbank, M. J., et al. (2014). Characterizing mild cognitive impairment in incident Parkinson disease: the ICICLE-PD study. *Neurology* 82, 308–316. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000066

Yu, R.-L., Chen, P. S., Tu, S.-C., Tsao, W.-C., and Tan, C.-H. (2018). Emotionspecific affective theory of mind impairment in Parkinson's disease. *Sci. Rep.* 8, 1–8. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-33988-6

Yu, R.-L., Lee, W.-J., Li, J.-Y., Chang, Y.-Y., Chen, C.-C., Lin, J.-J., et al. (2020). Evaluating mild cognitive dysfunction in patients with Parkinson's disease in clinical practice in Taiwan. *Sci. Rep.* 10, 1–9. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-58042-2

Yu, R.-L., Poon, S.-F., Yi, H.-J., Chien, C.-Y., and Hsu, P.-H. (2022). The Development of a Multi-Modality Emotion Recognition Test Presented via a Mobile Application. *Brain Sci.* 12:251. doi: 10.3390/brainsci12020251

Yu, R.-L., Tan, C.-H., Lu, Y.-C., and Wu, R.-M. (2016). Aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 is associated with cognitive functions in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Sci. Rep.* 6, 1–8. doi: 10.1038/srep30424

Yu, R.-L., Tan, C.-H., Wu, Y.-R., Wu, R.-M., Chiu, M.-J., and Hua, M.-S. (2015). Memory for gist and detail information in patients with Parkinson's disease. *BMJ open* 5:e009795. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-009795

Yu, R.-L., Tu, S.-C., Wu, R.-M., Lu, P.-A., and Tan, C.-H. (2021). Interactions of COMT and ALDH2 genetic polymorphisms on symptoms of Parkinson's disease. *Brain Sci.* 11:361. doi: 10.3390/brainsci11030361

Yu, R.-L., and Wu, R.-M. (2013a). Social brain dysfunctions in patients with Parkinson's disease: a review of theory of mind studies. *Trans. Neurodegen.* 2, 1–6. doi: 10.1186/2047-9158-2-7

Yu, R.-L., and Wu, R. (2013b). An exploration of relationships among emotional decoding ability, motor symptoms and non-motor experiences in non-demented Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 28:S105.

Yu, R. L., Wu, R. M., Chan, A. Y., Mok, V., Wu, Y. R., Tilley, B. C., et al. (2017). Cross-Cultural Differences of the Non-Motor Symptoms Studied by the Traditional Chinese Version of the International Parkinson and Movement Disorder Society-Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale. *Mov. Disord. Clin. Pract.* **4**, 68–77. doi: 10.1002/mdc3.12349

Yu, R.-L., Wu, R.-M., Chiu, M.-J., Tai, C.-H., Lin, C.-H., and Hua, M.-S. (2012a). Advanced Theory of Mind in patients at early stage of Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 18, 21–24. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2011.08.003

Yu, R.-L., Wu, R.-M., Tai, C.-H., Lin, C.-H., Cheng, T.-W., and Hua, M.-S. (2012b). Neuropsychological profile in patients with early stage of Parkinson's disease in Taiwan. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 18, 1067–1072. doi: 10.1016/j. parkreldis.2012.06.002

Yu, R. L., Wu, R. M., Tai, C. H., Lin, C. H., and Hua, M. S. (2010). Feelingof-knowing in episodic memory in patients with Parkinson's disease with various motor symptoms. *Mov. Disord.* 25, 1034–1039. doi: 10.1002/mds.23017

Zarifkar, P., Kim, J., La, C., Zhang, K., Yorkwilliams, S., Levine, T. F., et al. (2021). Cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease is associated with Default Mode Network subsystem connectivity and cerebrospinal fluid A $\beta$ . *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 83, 71–78. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2021.01.002

Zheng, D., Chen, C., Song, W., Yi, Z., Zhao, P., Zhong, J., et al. (2019). Regional gray matter reductions associated with mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis of voxel-based morphometry studies. *Behav. Brain Res.* 371:111973. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2019.111973

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jifeng Guo, Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, China

REVIEWED BY Milton Cesar Biagioni, UCB Pharma, Belgium Elisabetta Dell'Anna, Consultant, Milano, Italy

\*CORRESPONDENCE Tao Feng bxbkyjs@sina.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Parkinson's Disease and Aging-related Movement Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

RECEIVED 24 June 2022 ACCEPTED 23 August 2022 PUBLISHED 12 September 2022

#### CITATION

Li F-F, Cui Y-S, Yan R, Cao S-S and Feng T (2022) Prevalence of lower urinary tract symptoms, urinary incontinence and retention in Parkinson's disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 14:977572. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.977572

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Li, Cui, Yan, Cao and Feng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative

Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Prevalence of lower urinary tract symptoms, urinary incontinence and retention in Parkinson's disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Fang-Fei Li<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Yu-Sha Cui<sup>1,2</sup>, Rui Yan<sup>1,2</sup>, Shuang-Shuang Cao<sup>1,2</sup> and Tao Feng<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurology, Center for Movement Disorders, Beijing Tiantan Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, <sup>2</sup>China National Clinical Research Center for Neurological Diseases, Beijing, China, <sup>3</sup>Department of Neurology, Beijing Chaoyang Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

**Background:** Lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS) are common non-motor symptoms but are often overlooked in Parkinson's disease (PD). The prevalence of LUTS in PD is inconsistent among different studies.

**Objective:** To estimate the prevalence of LUTS, urinary incontinence, and urinary retention in PD patients, then, investigate potential sources of inconsistency in prevalence estimation.

**Methods:** We searched PubMed, EMBASE, and Web of Science databases from inception to May 2022. Studies reporting the prevalence of LUTS or LUTS subtypes in PD were included. Pooled prevalence of LUTS, LUTS subtypes, urinary incontinence, and urinary retention was calculated *via* random-effects models. Meta-regression and subgroup analyses were performed.

**Results:** Of 7,358 studies after duplicate removal, a total of 73 studies comprising 14,937 PD patients were included. The pooled prevalence of LUTS was 61% (95% CI 53–69; 27 studies; n = 5,179), while the pooled prevalence of storage symptoms and voiding symptoms was 59% (44–73; 9 studies; n = 798) and 24% (14–33; 11 studies; n = 886), respectively. The pooled prevalence of urinary incontinence, retention and post-void residual (PVR) volume  $\geq 100$  ml were 30% (95% CI 22–39; 21 studies; n = 6,054), 27% (17–37; 14 studies; n = 1,991), and 4% (1–7; 5 studies; n = 439), respectively. The prevalence of LUTS, urinary incontinence, or urinary retention was significantly associated with diagnostic methods.

**Conclusion:** LUTS and its subtypes present in a significant proportion of PD patients. It is necessary to use standardized and validated methods to detect and screen LUTS and its subtypes.

**Systematic review registration:** https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/ display\_record.php?ID=CRD42022311233, Identifier: CRD42022311233.

#### KEYWORDS

Parkinson's disease, urinary incontinence, urinary retention, meta-analysis, review, prevalence, lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS)

# Introduction

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most prevalent neurodegenerative disease characterized by both motor and non-motor symptoms. Lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS) are common non-motor symptoms of PD. However, they are frequently neglected (Chaudhuri et al., 2006). LUTS are group of symptoms related to the lower urinary tract. Typical LUTS include storage symptoms (including urinary incontinence) and voiding symptoms (including urinary retention), which often emerge 5-6 years after the onset of motor symptoms in PD (Bonnet et al., 1997). The mechanism of LUTS may be related to PD neuropathology, especially the disruption of the dopamine D1-GABAergic direct and bypass pathway (Sakakibara et al., 2016). α-synuclein, the pathological hallmark of PD, has been found in the pontine, sacral spinal cord, pelvic plexus, and genitourinary tract of PD patients (Wakabayashi and Takahashi, 1997; Beach et al., 2010). The structures responsible for normal bladder control, including pre-ganglionic, postganglionic sympathetic neurons, sacral parasympathetic nuclei, and frontal cortex were even proven to have PD neuropathology (Oyanagi et al., 1990; Braak et al., 2007; Tkaczynska et al., 2017).

LUTS exert immense impact on patients' life. The quality of life was physically and psychologically limited for PD patients with LUTS. The main effects were decline in selfesteem and social communication, in addition to depression, anxiety, deterioration of sexual life, and a decrease in physical activity (Farage et al., 2008). PD patients with LUTS showed elevated all-cause mortality and were more likely to develop severe complications including falls, disabling motor symptoms, cognitive dysfunction, and other non-motor dysfunction (Vaughan et al., 2013; Rana et al., 2015; Zhang and Zhang, 2015; Sakushima et al., 2016; Lee et al., 2018). Moreover, LUTS were correlated with increasing health-related costs. These can lead to serious burdens for PD patients, caregivers, and society (Mohammed and Ragab, 2010). This urges the need for an up-to-date estimation of the prevalence of LUTS. Establishing the prevalence of LUTS may not only raise awareness of early interventions but also help refine diagnostic criteria and differential diagnosis of PD and other parkinsonian syndromes. This may also guide effective planning of medical services.

However, there was considerable heterogeneity in the prevalence of LUTS in PD, ranging from 27 to 85% as shown in previous reports (Winge et al., 2006; Sakakibara et al., 2008; Jain, 2011; Martinez-Ramirez et al., 2020). Previous studies reporting the prevalence of LUTS were predominantly cross-sectional, with limited focus on the nature of LUTS. Furthermore, methods of determining the presence of LUTS are diverse, potentially leading to different reported rates. Urinary incontinence and retention are crucial symptoms of LUTS. PD patients were generally considered less likely to develop those two symptoms, and the presence of unexplained voiding difficulties with elevated post-void residual (PVR) volume  $\geq$  100 ml or unexplained urinary urge incontinence was often considered to support the diagnosis of multiple system atrophy (MSA) (Yamamoto et al., 2016; Wenning et al., 2022). However, urinary incontinence and retention are not rare, even PVR volume  $\geq$  100 ml can also occur in PD (Irene, 2019; Tateno et al., 2021). For example, one study with large sample size found that the prevalence of urinary incontinence was 43% in PD (Wüllner et al., 2007). Utilizing the Danish Prostate Symptom Score (Dan-PSS), the prevalence of urge incontinence in PD was up to 65.8% (Akkoç et al., 2017). Another study found the prevalence of incomplete bladder emptying was 75.5% in PD (Irene, 2019). Until now, no meta-analysis has been carried out to estimate the overall prevalence of LUTS, urinary incontinence, and retention in PD.

We aimed to conduct a systematic review and meta-analysis to determine the prevalence of the overall LUTS and its subtypes including urinary incontinence and retention in PD patients, as well as to explore potential sources of heterogeneity across prevalence estimates.

# Materials and methods

This systematic review and meta-analysis followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) guidelines (Barendregt et al., 2013) (Supplementary Table 1). The protocol has been registered on PROSPERP (registration number: CRD42022311233).

### Date source and strategy

We screened PubMed, EMBASE, and Web of Science databases to identify relevant research from the outset until May 2022 using the following MeSH (Medical Subject Heading) terms and keyword variations: ("urination disorders" OR "urinary bladder, neurogenic" OR "urinary retention" OR "overactive bladder symptom" OR "nocturia" OR "urinary bladder, overactive" OR "urinary incontinence" OR "lower urinary tract symptoms" OR "urinary dysfunction" OR "dysuria") AND ("Parkinson's disease" OR "Parkinsonism" OR "Parkinsonian" OR "Parkinson's disease"). Afterwards, endnote was utilized to integrate the citations from each database and additional eligible publications.

# Eligibility criteria and study selection

Studies were eligible if they met the following criteria: (1) published in peer-reviewed English journals; (2) participants were diagnosed according to UK Parkinson's Disease Society

123

Brain Bank Diagnostic Criteria (Hughes et al., 1992) or MDS clinical diagnostic criteria for Parkinson's disease (Postuma et al., 2015); (3) reporting the prevalence of LUTS or LUTS subtypes; (4) LUTS or LUTS subtypes assessed by validated scales administered by experienced clinicians, self-report questionnaire, or published criteria from classification codes/definition; (5) prospective cohort study or cross-sectional study.

The studies were excluded if they: (1) did not provide full text; (2) included insufficient or unclear fragmented data for analysis; (3) enrolled patients who have been diagnosed with prostate carcinoma, uncontrolled diabetes, as well as any other diseases that cause urinary problems, or taken drugs such as diuretics; (4) with small sample size (n < 20). (5) duplicated publications; (6) systematic reviews, meta-analyses, letters, protocols. When results on the same dataset were reported in several publications, only the most complete publication was included in the analysis. Two independent observers (FFL, YSC) evaluated the results and resolved any disagreement by discussion or with recourse to a third arbitrator (TF).

# Quality assessment

Two authors (FFL, YSC) independently assessed study quality and risk of bias using the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) (Stang, 2010) for cohort study and the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) (Williams et al., 2010) for cross-sectional study in Table 1. The highest score was 9 points for the cohort and case-control studies: low quality = 0-4 points; moderate quality = 5-7 points; high quality = 8-9 points. The highest score was 11 points for cross-sectional studies: low quality = 0-3 points; moderate quality = 4-7 points; high quality = 8-11 points. Higher score indicates better quality.

# Data extraction

Data extraction was performed independently by two authors (FFL, YSC), using a standardized data collection spreadsheet in EXCEL. The following items were extracted: study characteristics (first author, publication year, country/region, study design, source), participant characteristics (age, disease duration, sample size, number of patients with LUTS or LUTS subtypes, gender of participants and H&Y stage), and methods used to evaluate LUTS or its subtypes (definitions, urinary dysfunction questionnaires or clinical scales).

LUTS subtypes include urinary storage symptoms [urgency, Overactive bladder (OAB) syndrome, pollakiuria, frequency, nocturia, incontinence], urinary voiding symptoms (dysuria, hesitancy, prolongation, intermittency, weak stream, retention, straining to void), and post-voiding symptoms according to the International Continence Society (ICS) report (D'Ancona et al., 2019). The clinical scales contain the overactive bladder symptom score (OAB-SS) (Homma et al., 2006), the International Prostate Symptom Score (IPSS) (Araki and Kuno, 2000), the Non-Motor Symptom Scale (NMSS) (Koh et al., 2012), Scale for Outcomes in Parkinson's Disease for Autonomic Symptoms (SCOPA-AUT) (Kim et al., 2017), the Danish Prostate Symptom Score (Dan-PSS) (Akkoç et al., 2017), and the American Urological Association Symptom Index (AUA-SI) (Barry et al., 1992). If disagreements could not be resolved through careful discussion by two investigators (FFL, YSC), a consensus was achieved by the involvement of a third investigator (TF) when necessary.

### Statistical analysis

The meta-analysis was performed with Rx64 4.1.0 and RStudio using the "Matrix", "Meta," and "metaphor" packages to analyze pooled prevalence of LUTS or its subtypes with 95% confidence intervals (CIs). Heterogeneity for the pooled estimate of prevalence were quantified using the  $I^2$  statistic, and its significance was measured using the Q test p-value. The random-effects model was adopted if significant heterogeneity were detected ( $I^2 > 50\%$  or p > 0.1). Otherwise, the fixed-effects model was used. Meta-regression was performed to assess the effects of following variables: age, disease duration, regions of the participant, quality of studies and diagnostic method. We conducted subgroup analyses using diagnosis criteria (Scales, questionnaire, and definition), gender (proportion of female), H&Y stage (<3 and  $\geq$ 3), study site (single-center, multicenter, and community-based), study design (cross-sectional and cohort), mean age (<65 and  $\geq 65$ ) of participants, region (North American, European, and the other) and quality of studies (Low, moderate and high). Sensitivity analyses were performed to evaluated the robust of the synthesis results by leave-one-out method. Publication bias was checked by funnel plot and Egger's test. The trim-and-fill computation was used to estimate the effect of publication bias on the interpretation of the results. Statistical significance was set at two-tailed p < 0.05.

# Results

# Characteristics of the included studies

After duplicating removal, we identified 7,358 articles through the database searching. Screening titles and abstracts led to the elimination of 7,237 irrelevant articles, full-text versions of the remaining 121 potentially eligible articles were assessed. Of those, 79 articles were included in the qualitative synthesis. Overall, 73 studies comprising 14,937 PD patients were identified eligible for the meta-analysis

#### TABLE 1 Characteristics of studies included in the meta.

First author and year	Country	Region	Study design	Study site	LUTS diagnosis standard	Sample size	Male/female	Mean age (years)	Disease duration (years)	Quality assessment
Hattori (1992)	Japan	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	Definition	110	43/67	58.8	4.3	Low
Singe (1992)	USA	North American	Cross- sectional	Single-center	Questionnaire	48	48/0	65.9 (1.46)	7.76 (0.91)	Low
Araki (2000)	Japan	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	IPSS	208	82/121	66.6	9.2	Moderate
Sakakibara (2001)	Japan	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	Questionnaire	115	52/63	59	6	Low
Campos (2003)	Brazil	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	AUA-SI	61	31/30	59.6	4.9	Low
Hobson (2003)	UK	European	Cross- sectional	Community-based	Questionnaire	123	78/45	75.1 (9.3)	7.8 (8.01)	Low
Hahn (2005)	Germany	European	Cross- sectional	Single-center	Questionnaire	20	8/12	64.3 (6.7)	6.3 (4.2)	Low
Winge (2006)	Denmark	European	Cohort	Single-center	Dan-PSS/IPSS	107	64/43	62.8	8	High
Wüllner (2007)	Germany	European	Cross- sectional	Multicenter	Questionnaire	3,414	2,076/1,338	66.07	9.02 (6.36)	Moderate
Verbaan (2007)	Netherlands	European	Cohort	Single-center	SCOPA-AUT	420	269/151	61.6 (11.5)	10.5 (6.5)	Moderate
Cheon (2008)	Korea	The Other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	NMSS	74	28/46	64.9 (8.6)	6.4 (6.1)	Low
Coelho (2010)	Spain	European	Cross- sectional	Multicenter	Questionnaire	50	23/27	74.1 (7.0)	17.94 (6.3)	Moderate
Mohammed (2010)	Egypt	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	IPSS	49	31/18	63.73 (7.21)	7.81 (3.27)	Low
Swaminath (2010)	India	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	Questionnaire	150	111/39	57.4 (12)	1.9 (1.63)	Low
Muller (2011)	Norway	European	Cohort	Single-center	Questionnaire	207	122/85	67.9 (42.3-88.1)	2.3 (1.8)	Low
Ragab (2011)	Ghana	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	IPSS	49	31/18	63.73 (7.21)	7.81 (3.27)	Low

10.3389/fnagi.2022.977572

First author and year	Country	Region	Study design	Study site	LUTS diagnosis standard	Sample size	Male/female	Mean age (years)	Disease duration (years)	Quality assessment
Soliman (2011)	Egypt	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	IPSS	25	43/67	60.8 (8.3)	4.5 (2.7)	Moderate
Uchiyama (2011)	Japan	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	questionnaire	30	30/0	66.7 (8.4)	1.97 (1.93)	Low
Yamamoto (2011)	Japan	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	questionnaire	61	38/23	67	3.2	Low
Crosiers (2012)	Belgium	European	Cross- sectional	Community-based	NMSS	215	83/132	67.1 (10.4)	7.3 (6.3)	Low
Bostantjopoulou (2013)	Greece	European	Cross- sectional	Single-center	NMSS/questionnaire	166	109/55	59.5 (9.3)	7.09 (5.31)	Moderate
Guo (2013)	China	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	NMSS	616	347/269	61.54 (10.98)	4.76 (4.18)	Low
Khoo (2013)	UK	European	Cohort	Single-center	NMSS	159	347/269	66.6 (10.3)	0.36	Moderate
Špica (2013)	Serbia	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	NMSS	208	140/58	60.7 (11.4)	9.04 (6.02)	Low
Vaughan (2013)	USA	North American	Cross- sectional	Single-center	IPSS/definition	60	39/21	63.4 (8.99)	-	Moderate
Weerkamp (2013)	Netherlands	European	Cross- sectional	Multicenter	NMSS	73	33/40	78.8	10.1	Moderate
Zhou (2013)	China	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	NMSS	230	136/94	67.7	4.7	Moderate
Tsujimura (2014)	Japan	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	OABSS	161	161/0	71.4 (8.2)	8.9 (5.1)	Low
Vongvaivanich (2014)	Thailand	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	NMSS	165	60/55	68.77 (11.59)	4.64 (3.85)	Low

10.3389/fnagi.2022.977572

2
ž
¥
₩.
<u> </u>
S
Ξ.
2
2
<u>o</u>
3.
Q
-
~
e
1
o'
õ
0
<u>e</u> .
÷.
ō
ö

First author and year	Country	Region	Study design	Study site	LUTS diagnosis standard	Sample size	Male/female	Mean age (years)	Disease duration (years)	Quality assessment
de Souza (2015)	India	The other	Cross-	Single-center	definition	171	102/69	67.1	4.69	Moderate
			sectional							
M. Liu (2015)	Taiwan	The other	Cohort	Single-center	NMSS	210	101/70	66.1 (9.86)	6.11 (4.13)	Low
Z.Liu (2015)	China	The other	Cross-	Single-center	Questionnaire	58	35/23	66.8 (48-80)	5.4 (1-12)	Low
			sectional							
Raven (2015)	India	The other	Cross-	Single-center	NMSS	81	50/31	62.93 (10.93)	-	Moderate
			sectional							
Rana (2015)	Canada	European	Cross-	Community-based	Definition	314	177/137	75 (10.58)	-	Moderate
			sectional							
Telarovic (2015)	Croatia	European	Cross-	Single-center	Questionnaire	110	54/56	58 (11.49)	6 (4.72)	Low
			sectional							
Vale (2015)	Brazil	The other	Cross-	Single-center	Questionnaire	30	17/13	67.3 (7.5)	-	High
			sectional							
M. Zhang (2015)	China	The other	Cross-	Single-center	Definition	91	17/13	68.3	12.2	Low
			sectional							
Zis (2015)	UK	European	Cross-	Multicenter	NMSS	234	149/85	67.74 (11.23)	3.21 (1.43)	Low
			sectional							
Benli (2016)	Turkey	European	Cross-	Single-center	IPSS/OABSS	39	20/19	69.7 (7.4)	5.36 (3.5)	Low
			sectional							
Mekawichai (2016)	USA	North American	Cross-	Single-center	NMSS	136	73/63	63.1 (10.2)	4.99	Moderate
			sectional							
Mito (2016)	Japan	The other	Cross-	Single-center	OABSS	31	12/19	72 (6.7)	1.9 (1.8)	Low
			sectional							
Ou (2016)	China	The other	Cohort	Single-center	NMSS	117	68/49	60.1 (11.8)	3.9 (3.6)	High
Sakushima (2016)	Japan	The other	Cohort	Single-center	OABSS	97	40/57	71.5 (7.3)	7.63 (5.3)	Moderate

frontiersin.org

(Continued)

First author and year	Country	Region	Study design	Study site	LUTS diagnosis standard	Sample size	Male/female	Mean age (years)	Disease duration (years)	Quality assessment
Smith (2016)	UK	European	Cross- sectional	Single-center	Questionnaire	23	17/6	68.5 (50-85)	10.1	Low
Yamamoto (2016)	Japan	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	Questionnaire	218	134/84	66.2 (0.46)	3.2	Low
S. Zhang (2016)	China	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	NMSS	454	260/194	61.54 (10.98)	4.76 (4.18)	Moderate
Akkoç (2017)	Turkey	European	Cross- sectional	Multicenter	Dan-PSS	73	49/24	68 (35–87)	4 (1–19)	Moderate
Tkaczynska (2017)	Germany	European	Cross- sectional	Single-center	Questionnaire	94	60/34	71 (56–89)	6.4 (1.2–24.4)	Low
Radicati (2017)	Italy	European	Cross- sectional	Single-center	NMSS	100	60/40	69.19 (8.27)	3.83 (2.25)	Low
Yamamoto (2017)	Japan	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	Questionnaire	91	41/50	67.03 (0.76)	7.16 (0.54)	Low
Kim (2018)	Korea	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	IPSS	79	36/43	72.4 (8.0)	6.8 (4.4)	Moderate
Lee (2018)	Korea	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	SCOPA-AUT	163	93/70	68.9 (9.9)	1.0 (1.6)	Low
Mito (2018)	Japan	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	OABSS	31	12/19	71.2 (6.7)	2.4 (2.6)	Low
Mukhtar (2018)	Pakistan	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	NMSS	85	70/15	57.61 (10.64)	-	Moderate
Serra (2018)	Europe and Australia	Europe and Australia	Cross- sectional	Multicenter	SCOPA-AUT	423	275/148	61 (9.7)	-	Low
Valentino (2018)	Italy	European	Cross- sectional	Single-center	SCOPA-AUT	48	28/20	62.7 (10.6)	6.2 (4.2)	Moderate
Valldeoriola (2018)	Spain	European	Cohort	Multicenter	NMSS	378	215/163	70.2 (9.9)	6.1 (4.8)	Moderate
Aldaz (2019)	France	European	Cross- sectional	Single-center	NMSS	45	22/23	66.13 (9.95)	10.11 (6.7)	Low

(Continued)

First author and year	Country	Region	Study design	Study site	LUTS S diagnosis standard	Sample size	Male/female	Mean age (years)	Disease duration (years)	Quality assessment
Fanciulli (2019)	Italy	European	Cross- sectional	Single-center	Questionnaire	70	-	-	-	Low
Irene (2019)	Romania	European	Cross- sectional	Multicenter	SCOPA-AUT	86	48/38	70.6	6.33	Low
Sanchez (2019)	Spain	European	Cross- sectional	Single-center	NMSS	120	88/32	63.33 (8.6)	8 (5–13)	Moderate
Shin (2019)	Korea	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	Questionnaire	112	55/57	68	7.6 (4.6)	Moderate
Stanković (2019)	Serbia	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	SCOPA-AUT	107	59/48	61.5 (9.6)	2.2	Moderate
Xu (2019)	China	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	OABSS	100	55/45	65.97 (8.247)	4 (2.7)	Moderate
Zong (2019)	China	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	AUA-SI/OABSS	416	307/109	61.2 (5.9)	7.7 (4.1)	Moderate
Martinez (2020)	Mexico	North American	Cross- sectional	Multicenter	SCOPA-AUT	414	274/140	61.1 (9.7)	0.56 (0.55)	Moderate
Nakahara (2020)	Japan	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	Definition	91	34/57	75 (67–80)	9 (5–13)	Low
Schrag (2020)	Europe	European	Cross- sectional	Multicenter	NMSS	692	373/319	76.1 (8.4)	15.4 (7.7)	Moderate
Tkaczynska (2020)	Germany	European	Cross- sectional	Single-center	Questionnaire	189	93/96	64.7 (7.9)	5.1 (3.8)	Low
Ayele (2021)	Ethiopia	The other	Cross- sectional	Multicenter	NMSS	123	89/34	62.9 (10.4)	4 (2-6)	Low
Lichter (2021)	USA	North American	Cross- sectional	Multicenter	NMSS	164	112/52	72.05 (9.91)	8.9 (5.98)	Moderate
Ojo (2021)	Nigeria	The other	Cross- sectional	Multicenter	NMSS	825	604/221	63.7 (10.1)	3	High
Tateno et al. (2021)	Japan	The other	Cross- sectional	Single-center	OABSS/IPSS/questionnai	res 30	18/12	69.5	1.29	Low

10.3389/fnagi.2022.977572

IPSS, the International Prostate Symptom Score; AUA-SI, the American Urological Association Symptom Index; OABSS, the overactive bladder symptom score; NMSS, the Non-Motor Symptom Scale; SCOPA-AUT, Scale for Outcomes in Parkinson's Disease for Autonomic Symptoms; DAN-PSS, the Danish Prostate Symptom Score.



(Supplementary Table 2). The procedure was shown flow chart in Figure 1.

Sample size ranged from 20 to 3,414. Average age of participants ranged from 57.4 to 76.1 years. The average disease duration of PD ranged from 0.36 to 17.94 years. Forty-seven studies used the scales, 19 used questionnaire, 4 used definitions, and 3 applied mixed methods. We classified 4 studies as high quality, 29 studies as moderate, and 40 studies as low. The results indicated that the overall quality of the included articles was relatively low. There were 65 cross-sectional studies and 8 cohort studies in the included research. The studies were conducted in 29 countries, 27 performed in Europe, 5 in North American, while others were undertaken in the other regions (n = 40). Table 1 shows the characteristics of included study.

# Prevalence of LUTS in PD

The pooled prevalence of LUTS was 61% (95% CI 53-69;  $I^2 = 99\%$ ; 27 studies; n = 5,179; Figures 2A, 3).

For subgroup analyses, we found that H&Y stage, gender, and different diagnostic tools may be cause of heterogeneity related to the prevalence of LUTS (Table 2). The pooled prevalence of LUTS was 59% (95% CI 48–71;  $I^2 = 68\%$ ; 3 studies; n = 277) in PD with H&Y stage < 3, whereas 70% (95% CI 52– 88;  $I^2 = 92\%$ ; 4 studies; n = 194) in PD with H&Y stage  $\geq$  3. The pooled prevalence of LUTS was 62% (95% CI 47–77;  $I^2 = 96\%$ ; 6 studies; n = 839) in male PD patients, whereas 54% (95% CI 41–67;  $I^2 = 78\%$ ; 5 studies; n = 352) in female PD patients.

Different diagnostic tools also influenced prevalence of LUTS. The pooled prevalence of LUTS based on definitions was 58% (95% CI 51–65; 2 studies; n = 201) with considerable heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 0\%$ ; p = 0.47). Using NMSS, the pooled prevalence of LUTS was 60% (95% CI 48–72; 10 studies; n = 2,172), also with considerable heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 98\%$ ; p < 0.01). Using IPSS, the pooled prevalence of LUTS was 39% (95% CI 11–67) in 1,331 PD patients reported by 3 studies, with considerable heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 94\%$ ; p < 0.01). Using SCOPA-AUT, the pooled prevalence of LUTS was 79% (95% CI 50– 100) estimated from 569 PD patients, with considerable heterogeneity of these 3 studies ( $I^2 = 98\%$ ; p < 0.01). Using other questionnaires of LUTS diagnostic tools, the pooled prevalence





of LUTS was 60% (95% CI 48–71) of 638 PD reported by 6 studies, with considerable heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 90\%$ ; p < 0.01).

The prevalence of LUTS was 89% using OABSS (n = 100), 39% using AUA-SI (n = 61), and 88% using Dan-PSS (n = 107), respectively, all from one study (Supplementary Figure S1; Supplementary Table 3).

By meta-regression analyses, region (p = 0.016) and number of PD patients (p = 0.031) were causes of heterogeneity related to the prevalence of LUTS, while the study site, quality assessment, age, and disease duration were not.

No significant publication bias was found by Begg's funnel plot (p = 0.695).

# Prevalence of LUTS subtypes in PD

### Storage symptoms

The pooled prevalence of storage symptoms was 59% (95% CI 44–73; 9 studies; 798 PD;  $I^2 = 98\%$ ; p < 0.01; Table 3; Figure 3; Supplementary Figure S2).

#### Incontinence

The pooled prevalence of urinary incontinence was 30% (95% CI 22–39;  $l^2 = 98\%$ ; p < 0.01; 21 studies; n = 6,054;

Subgroup prevalence, % (95% CI), *n* studies, *N* number,  $I^2$ 

	LU'	ТS			Incontinence				Retention			
	Prevalence, % (95% CI)	n	N	<i>I</i> <sup>2</sup> (%)	Prevalence, % (95% CI)	n	N	<i>I</i> <sup>2</sup> (%)	Prevalence, % (95% CI)	n	N	<i>I</i> <sup>2</sup> (%)
Region												
North American	79 (54–100)	3	714	98	-	_	-	-	-	_	-	-
European	68 (57–79)	10	995	95	32 (18–46)	9	4,649	99	35 (16-54)	6	1,171	98
The other	52 (42-63)	14	3,470	98	29 (18–40)	12	1,405	96	21 (11-30)	8	820	94
	p = 0.05				p = 0.75				p = 0.19			
Methods												
Scales	62 (51–72)	19	4,340	99	34 (21–46)	11	1,898	98	28 (16-40)	11	1,771	97
Questionnaire	60 (48–71)	6	638	90	28 (14-42)	7	3,848	98	22 (7–37)	1	50	-
Definition	58 (51-65)	2	201	0	28 (20-38)	1	110	-	-	-	-	-
Urodynamic tests	-	-	-	-	21 (0-58)	2	203	98	27 (8-46)	2	170	88
	p = 0.84				p = 0.86				p = 0.08			
Disease severity												
H&Y stage < 3	59 (48-71)	3	277	68	20 (15–25)	3	256	0	16 (3–29)	2	240	76
H&Y stage $\geq 3$	70 (52–88)	4	194	92	48 (24–71)	3	266	84	41 (7–75)	2	256	97
	p = 0.33				p = 0.03				p = 0.19			
Age(mean)												
<65	64 (50–78)	12	2,436	99	20 (11–29)	8	1,848	96	19 (10–27)	8	1,234	95
≥65	58 (49–67)	15	2,743	98	37 (26–48)	13	4,206	98	37 (19–56)	6	757	96
	p = 0.47				p = 0.02				p = 0.07			
Gender												
Male	62 (47–77)	6	839	96	31 (20-41)	7	2,579	87	21 (1-41)	4	414	95
Female	54 (41–67)	5	352	78	43 (25–62)	6	1,555	94	25 (3-47)	3	87	81
	p = 0.44				p = 0.25				p = 0.78			
Study site												
Single-center	60 (51–68)	24	4,592	98	29 (20–37)	19	5,545	98	22 (14-30)	12	1,527	94
Multicenter	80 (50-100)	2	464	95	47 (7-87)	2	509	98	55 (16–95)	2	464	98
Community-based	51 (42–60)	1	123	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	p = 0.12				p = 0.38				p = 0.10			
Quality assessment												
High-moderate	58 (43-73)	12	3,175	100	27 (10-43)	7	1,243	97	28 (18–39)	7	1,526	96
Low	63 (55–71)	15	2,022	95	32 (23–42)	14	4,811	98	25 (7-43)	7	465	97
	p = 0.55				p = 0.58				p = 0.76			

Statistically significant values are reported in bold.

	n studies	N number	Range	Prevalence (%), 95% CI	I <sup>2</sup> (p)	Egger's funnel plot for Publication bias	Trim and Fill
Storage symptoms	9	798	32-95	59 (44–73)	98 (<0.01)	_	_
Urgency	42	7,292	11-77	46 (41–51)	97 (<0.01)	p = 0.097	0
OAB	7	388	35-100	62 (44-80)	96 (<0.01)	-	-
Pollakiuria	2	177	47-83	65 (30–100)	96 (<0.01)	-	-
Frequency	27	4,591	21-87	52 (44-60)	97 (<0.01)	p = 0.076	0
Daytime-frequency	12	1,044	5-80	41 (29–53)	96 (<0.01)	p < 0.001	6
Nighttime-frequency	9	806	19-87	53 (37–70)	98 (<0.01)	-	-
Nocturia	40	7,784	21-95	59 (54–65)	97 (<0.01)	p = 0.835	0
Incontinence	21	6,054	2-67	30 (22–39)	98 (<0.01)	p = 0.861	0
Urge incontinence	13	1,422	7-66	32 (23-41)	94 (<0.01)	p = 0.007	6
Voiding symptoms	11	886	7-59	24 (14-33)	93 (<0.01)	p = 0.027	5
Dysuria	4	671	11-36	22 (11-34)	94 (<0.01)	-	-
Hesitancy	6	724	2-40	20 (7-32)	96 (<0.01)	-	-
Prolongation	3	184	12-72	41 (7–75)	97 (<0.01)	-	-
Intermittency	8	563	6-87	30 (9–51)	97 (<0.01)	-	-
Weak stream	8	494	2-83	22 (4-39)	95 (<0.01)	-	-
Retention	14	1,991	8-76	27 (17–37)	96 (<0.01)	p = 0.492	0
PVR > 100ml	5	439	0-7	4 (1-7)	65 (0.02)	-	-

TABLE 3 Prevalence of LUTS subtypes in PD.

OAB, overactive bladder; PVR, post-void residual.

Figure 2B). The pooled prevalence of urge incontinence was 32% (95% CI 23–41;  $I^2 = 94\%$ ; p < 0.01; 13 studies; n = 1,422).

Using urodynamic tests, the pooled prevalence of urinary incontinence was 21% (95% CI 0–58; 2 studies; n = 203), with significant heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 98\%$ ; p < 0.01). Using clinical scales, the pooled prevalence of urinary incontinence was 34% (95% CI 21–46; 11 studies; n = 1,898), with significant heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 98\%$ ; p < 0.01); The pooled prevalence of urinary incontinence was 28% (95% CI 14–42;  $I^2 = 98\%$ ; p < 0.01; 7 studies; n = 3,843) using questionnaires and 28% using definition in one study.

The pooled prevalence of urinary incontinence was 20% (95% CI 15–25;  $I^2 = 0\%$ ; 3 studies; n = 256) in PD with H&Y stage < 3, whereas 48% (95% CI 24–71;  $I^2 = 84\%$ ; 3 studies; n = 266) in PD with H&Y stage  $\geq$  3. The pooled prevalence of urinary incontinence was 20% (95% CI 11–29;  $I^2 = 96\%$ ; 8 studies; n = 1,848) in PD with age < 65 years, whereas 37% (95% CI 26–48;  $I^2 = 98\%$ ; 13 studies; n = 4,206) in PD with age  $\geq$  65 years (Table 2).

By meta-regression analyses, age (p = 0.017) was a source of heterogeneity related to the prevalence of urinary incontinence, while the study site, quality assessment, region, number of PD patients, and disease duration were not.

**OAB** The pooled prevalence of OAB was 62% (95% CI 44–80;  $I^2 = 96\%$ ; p < 0.01; 7 studies; n = 388) (Supplementary Figure S3).

#### Urinary urgency

The pooled prevalence of urgency was 46% (95% CI 41–51;  $I^2 = 97\%$ ; p < 0.01; 46 studies; n = 7,292) (Supplementary Figure S4).

By subgroup analysis, we found that H&Y stage, sex, and different diagnostic tools may be factors affecting the prevalence of urgency. By meta-regression analyses, region (p = 0.046) was a source of heterogeneity, while the study site, quality assessment, age, number of PD patients, and disease duration were not.

#### Urinary frequency

The pooled prevalence of frequency was 52% (95% CI 44– 60;  $I^2 = 97\%$ ; p < 0.01; 27 studies; n = 4,591). The pooled prevalence of daytime frequency was 41% (95% CI 29–53;  $I^2 =$ 96%; p < 0.01; 12 studies; n = 1,044). The pooled prevalence of nighttime frequency was 53% (95% CI 37–70;  $I^2 = 98\%$ ; p <0.01; 9 studies; n = 806) (Supplementary Figure S5). By meta-regression analyses, age (p = 0.028) was a cause of heterogeneity related to the prevalence of frequency, while study site, quality assessment, region, number of PD patients, and disease duration were not.

#### Nocturia

The pooled prevalence of nocturia was 59% (95% CI 54-65;  $I^2 = 97\%$ ; p < 0.01; 40 studies; n = 7,784) (Supplementary Figure S6).

By subgroup analysis, we found that H&Y stage and different diagnostic tools may be factors affecting the prevalence of nocturia.

By meta-regression analyses, age (p = 0.026) was a cause of heterogeneity related to the prevalence of nocturia, while the study site, quality assessment, region, number of PD patients, and disease duration were not.

#### Pollakiuria

The pooled prevalence of pollakiuria was 65% (95% CI 30–100;  $I^2 = 96\%$ ; p < 0.01; 2 studies; n = 177) (Supplementary Figure S7).

#### Voiding symptoms

The pooled prevalence of voiding symptoms was 24% (95% CI 14–33; 11 studies; n = 886; Figure 3). There was significant heterogeneity across these studies ( $I^2 = 93\%$ ; p < 0.01) (Supplementary Figure S8). We did not find the factors such as study site, region, quality assessment, age, disease duration, number had effect on the heterogeneity of the prevalence of voiding symptoms by meta-regression.

#### Retention

A total of 14 studies investigated the prevalence of retention in 1,991 patients with PD ranging from 8 to 76% and yielding a pooled prevalence of 27% (95% CI 17–37;  $I^2 = 96\%$ ; p < 0.01; Figure 2C). The pooled prevalence of PVR volume  $\geq 100$  ml was 4% (95% CI 1–7;  $I^2 = 65\%$ ; p = 0.02; 5 studies; n = 439; Figure 2D).

Using the subgroup analysis, the pooled prevalence of urinary retention was 16% (95% CI 3–29;  $I^2 = 76\%$ ; 2 studies; n = 240) in PD with H&Y stage < 3, whereas 41% (95% CI 7–75;  $I^2 = 97\%$ ; 2 studies; n = 256) in PD with H&Y stage  $\geq 3$ . The pooled prevalence of urinary retention was 19% (95% CI 10–27;  $I^2 = 95\%$ ; 8 studies; n = 1,234) in PD with age < 65 years, whereas 37% (95% CI 19–56;  $I^2 = 96\%$ ; 6 studies; n = 757) in PD with age  $\geq 65$  years (Table 2).

Using urodynamic tests, the pooled prevalence of retention was 27% (95% CI 8–46) estimated from 170 PD patients, 2 studies, with considerable heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 88\%$ ; p <0.01). Using clinical scales, the pooled prevalence of urinary incontinence was 28% (95% CI 16–40) estimated from 1,771 PD patients, 11 studies, with significant heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 97\%$ ; p < 0.01); The pooled prevalence of urinary retention was 12% (95% CI 5–24; 1 study; n = 50) using questionnaires.

Further subgroup analysis showed that using urodynamic tests, the pooled prevalence of retention was 27% (95% CI 8–46) estimated from 170 PD patients, 2 studies, with considerable heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 88\%$ ; p < 0.01). I prevalence of retention in PD was 12% (95% CI 5–24) using questionnaire and 35% (95% CI 31–41) using NMSS, respectively, all from one study. Utilizing IPSS, the estimated pooled prevalence of urinary retention was 21% (95% CI 7–35), the heterogeneity across these 5 studies in 303 PD patients was considerable ( $I^2 = 90\%$ ; p < 0.01). Using SCOPA-AUT, the pooled prevalence of urinary retention was 35% (95% CI 0–75;  $I^2 = 99\%$ ; p < 0.01; 3 studies; n = 613). Using AUA, the pooled prevalence of retention was 31% (95% CI 6–56) estimated from 477 PD patients, 2 studies, with considerable heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 95\%$ ; p < 0.01) (Supplementary Figure S9; Supplementary Table 3).

Age was a source of heterogeneity related to the prevalence of retention (p = 0.024) by meta-regression.

#### Dysuria

The pooled prevalence of dysuria was 22% in PD (95% CI 11–34;  $I^2 = 94\%$ ; p < 0.01; 4 studies; n = 671) (Supplementary Figure S10).

#### Hesitancy

The pooled prevalence of hesitancy was 20% in PD (95% CI 7-32;  $I^2 = 96\%$ ; p < 0.01; 6 studies; n = 724) (Supplementary Figure S11).

#### Slow urinary stream/prolongation

The pooled prevalence of slow urinary stream was 41% in PD (95% CI 7–75;  $I^2 = 97\%$ ; p < 0.01; 3 studies; n = 184) (Supplementary Figure S12).

#### Intermittency

The pooled prevalence of intermittency was 30% in PD (95% CI 9–51;  $I^2 = 97\%$ ; p < 0.01; 8 studies; n = 563) (Supplementary Figure S13).

#### Spraying of urinary stream/weak stream of urine

The pooled prevalence of weak stream of urine was 22% in PD (95% CI 4–39;  $I^2 = 95\%$ ; p < 0.01; 8 studies; n = 494) (Supplementary Figure S14).

### Sensitivity analysis

This analysis validated the result's stability.

# Discussion

This meta-analysis study indicates that LUTS and its subtypes present in a significant proportion of PD patients,

occurring at rates much higher than those found in the general population. The pooled prevalence was 61% (95% CI 53–69) for LUTS, 59% (44–73) for storage symptoms, and 24% (14–33) for voiding symptoms. We found that urinary incontinence and retention have higher prevalence in PD than previously assumed. The pooled prevalence was 30% (95% CI 22–39) for urinary incontinence, 27% (17–37) for retention and 4% (1–7) for post-void residual (PVR) volume  $\geq$ 100 ml, respectively. Overall, we found considerable heterogeneity among studies. The wide variety of methods were used to assess LUTS and its subtypes. The prevalence of LUTS, urinary incontinence, and urinary retention was significantly associated with diagnostic methods.

# LUTS in PD

LUTS were found in more than half of PD patients in this meta-analysis. Previous studies showed that LUTS was ageassociated (Lee et al., 1998; Takahashi et al., 2022). However, it was found that patients with PD experienced significantly more LUTS than age-matched controls (10.8%) (Campos-Sousa et al., 2003). The prevalence of urinary incontinence (5.5%) in community-based elder people was lower than PD of the same age (Takahashi et al., 2022). Moreover, the prevalence of urinary retention (20.6%) in community-based men were also lower than PD in our meta-analysis (Lee et al., 1998).

However, the estimated prevalence rate of LUTS in PD was much lower than other neurodegenerative diseases, such as MSA (96%) (Sakakibara et al., 2000), progressive supranuclear palsy (PSP) (80%) (Xie et al., 2015), and dementia with Lewy bodies (91%) (Tateno et al., 2015). Previous study showed PD patients with LUTS demonstrated significantly lower dopamine transporter uptake in the striatum than patients without LUTS, according to single-photon emission computerized tomography (SPECT) imaging. LUTS were demonstrated to be correlated with putamen/caudate ratio and the degeneration of nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons in PD patients with severe LUTS, suggesting that LUTS was associated with the degeneration of the caudate nucleus in patients with severe bladder dysfunction (Winge et al., 2005). Besides, there were potential associations between frontal executive dysfunction and LUTS or its subtypes in PD (Tkaczynska et al., 2017, 2020; Xu et al., 2019). PD dementia (PDD) and dementia with Lewy bodies were diseases with high prevalence of LUTS and characterized by cognitive impairment. Cortical alpha synuclein deposition and dysfunction of frontal cortex-basal ganglia dopaminergic circuit were hallmarks for those diseases. This further illustrated the role of frontal cortex in cognitive impairment and LUTS (Sakakibara et al., 2014). Unlike motor symptoms, LUTS were levodopa refractory symptoms, which suggest complex pathophysiological mechanisms beyond the dopaminergic system.

There were significant variations among the 27 studies evaluating LUTS prevalence in this meta-analysis. The pooled prevalence of LUTS was 59% in PD patients with mild H&Y score, whereas result for patients with severe H&Y score was 70% in this meta-analysis. This was in line with previous studies. However, the prevalence of LUTS did not differ significantly by gender, age, study site, and quality assessment of articles by subgroup analyses.

This discrepancy could be attributed to the following reasons. Firstly, the inclusion criteria of LUTS were variable among prevalence studies. LUTS can be divided into three categories including urinary storage symptoms, urinary voiding symptoms and post-voiding symptoms according to the international continence society (ICS) report (D'Ancona et al., 2019). Some studies assessing prevalence of LUTS included both storage and voiding symptoms, whereas others did not. Second, considerable heterogeneity mainly originated from the diagnostic methodological difference of LUTS. Studies assessed the prevalence of LUTS by definitions, urinary dysfunction questionnaires, clinical scales and urodynamic tests. The current meta revealed those validated ways, particularly those based on Dan-PSS and SCOPA-AUT, had higher prevalence estimates than non-validated methods, suggesting that such an approach had advantages of LUTS screening. Prevalence of LUTS assessed by IPSS scale was relatively low, suggesting that the prevalence of LUTS may be underestimated. However, some of clinical scales such as OAB-SS and AUA-SI were not validated in PD domain. OAB-SS only evaluated storage symptoms, such as urgency, frequency, nocturia and urge incontinence. NMSS only assessed urgency, frequency and nocturia, suggesting inaccuracy in diagnosing LUTS. It is quite necessary to unify the research methods. Thirdly, the heterogeneity may equally have arisen from confounders within gender, age, and disease severity. Sex and H&Y stage has been shown to be potential modifiers in our study, while age, study site and quality assessment were not.

#### Storage symptoms in PD

The pooled prevalence of storage symptoms was 59%. Polyuria was the most prevalent type of LUTS in the patients with PD (65%) followed by OAB (62%), nocturia (59%), frequency (52%), urgency (46%), and incontinence (30%). The results were almost the same with those reported previously (Sakakibara et al., 2001; Tateno et al., 2021). OAB was the second most prevalent storage symptom. It was urinary urgency, usually accompanied by increased daytime frequency and/or nocturia, with urinary incontinence or without according to the International Continence Society (ICS) report (D'Ancona et al., 2019).

Storage symptoms were frequent in PD because degeneration of dopaminergic neurons might lead to urination irritative symptoms in PD (Mito et al., 2018). Striatum

functionally controlled the urine storage. Disruption of D1-GABAergic direct striatal output pathway may cause bladder hyperactivity in PD which had been validated in SPECT and animal studies (Sakakibara et al., 2002; Yamamoto et al., 2005; Tateno et al., 2021). Besides, objective assessment with urodynamics showed that detrusor overactivity (DO) occur in 45–93% of PD patients, which was the most prevalent cause to OAB in PD (Sakakibara et al., 2001).

This meta-analysis revealed that the pooled prevalence of urinary incontinence was 30% in PD. Severe urinary incontinence in the first 5 year of disease is a red flag according to the MDS clinical diagnostic criteria for PD. However, a postmortem study identifying 11 cases confirmed the prevalence of urinary incontinence in PD was 82%, similar to that of MSA (87%) (Wenning et al., 1999). Although the sample size was relatively small in this study, the high prevalence rate challenged the prevailing view that urinary incontinence tended to be an exclusion criteria for PD diagnosis. However, the mean disease duration of collected cases was 16.58 years, much longer than the "5 year" indicated in the MDS diagnostic criteria. The finding suggested the possibility that disease duration might influence prevalence rate of urinary incontinence. Indeed, converging evidence pointed that urinary incontinence mainly occurs in the advanced stage of PD,  $\sim$ 12-15.5 years after the onset of motor symptoms (Wenning et al., 1999; Uchiyama et al., 2011; Khoo et al., 2013), because urethral sphincter function was preserved in the early stages of PD (Stocchi et al., 1997). With the increasing age and disease duration, frontal lobe damage worsened accompanied with increase of alpha synuclein deposition, leading to cognitive dysfunction and LUTS (Tkaczynska et al., 2017). Among all the studies reporting urinary incontinence, the mean disease duration ranged from 1.29 to 12.2 years. One study showed that the frequency of urinary incontinence increased in the 1st (4.1%), 2nd (12%) and 3rd (15.1%) year of follow-up with mean 2.2 years of disease duration (Stanković et al., 2019). Another study showed that the prevalence of incontinence was 8.3, 30, 43.8, and 50% in PD patients with disease duration <2 years, 2-5 years, 5-10 years, and >10 years, respectively (Liu et al., 2015). The study with the largest sample size in this meta reported that incontinence prevalence was 43% in 3,414 PD patients with mean disease duration for 9 years (Wüllner et al., 2007). All of these suggested PD patients with longer disease duration may experience more urinary incontinence. H&Y score serves as a proxy for disease severity, which was closely correlated with disease duration. The pooled prevalence of urinary incontinence was 20% in PD patients with mild H&Y score, whereas 48% in patients with severe H&Y score in this meta-analysis. The consistent results indicate the severity of the disease should also be considered as a factor affecting prevalence in addition to the course of the disease.

Although severe urinary incontinence in the first 5 years of disease is a red flag of PD diagnosis, long-standing or small

amount stress incontinence in women should be excluded. Unexplained urge incontinence was a supportive diagnostic criterion of MSA according to the newest MSA diagnostic (Wenning et al., 2022). These criteria suggest simply functional incontinence alone is not enough to distinguish Parkinson's disease from multisystem atrophy. Of the 21 included studies, there were 13 studies involving urge incontinence. The pooled prevalence of urge incontinence was 32% in PD patients in this meta-analysis. Few studies reported the types of urinary incontinence in PD. Therefore, we should pay attention to the types of urinary incontinence in the analysis of urinary incontinence.

The current study also demonstrated age and gender difference in prevalence of urinary in continence. The pooled prevalence of urinary incontinence was 20% in PD patients with age < 65 years, whereas 37% in PD with age  $\geq$  65 years in this meta-analysis. We found that the mean age was the source of heterogeneity related to the prevalence of urinary incontinence by meta-regression. The average age of 6,054 PD patients in the 21 studies varied from 57.4 to 75 years. In the study with youngest mean age, the prevalence of urinary incontinence was only 7% (Swaminath et al., 2010). These results suggested that age of PD patients contributed to the prevalence variance of urinary incontinence.

We found that the prevalence of urinary incontinence was 31% in the male PD patients, whereas 43% in female patients with PD. These results suggest that both age and gender influence the outcome of estimated prevalence.

The heterogeneity was equally possible to generate from other confounders. In the study of urinary incontinence, the diagnostic methods were not uniform, and the objective indicators are seldom applied. Using urodynamic tests, the pooled prevalence of urinary incontinence was 21%, which was less than that using scales, questionnaires, and definition. It implied that application of scales, questionnaires, and definition may have overestimated the prevalence of urinary incontinence. However, there are only two studies combining urodynamic tests. No studies in this meta-analysis reporting the urinary incontinence of pathological confirmed PD which indicated the scarcity of research in this meta. No significant publication bias of urinary incontinence was found.

The majority of studies were rated as low quality because of small sample sizes and other reason, although the results were robust in sensitivity analysis. Accounting for aforementioned factors, the prevalence results of urinary incontinence should be interpreted with caution.

### Voiding symptoms in PD

The pooled prevalence of voiding symptoms was 24%. Prolongation was the most prevalent type of voiding symptoms in PD (41%) followed by the intermittency (30%), urinary

retention (27%), dysuria (22%), weak stream (22%), and hesitancy (20%). Some studies found that subclinical detrusor weakness during voiding may also occur in PD (Terayama et al., 2012; Sakakibara et al., 2016; Ogawa et al., 2017). These findings revealed that PD patients had both subclinical and clinical voiding symptoms. There was substantial heterogeneity in prevalence of voiding symptoms and its subtypes (intermittency, dysuria, weak stream, and hesitancy) among studies. The source of heterogeneity could be the limited number of articles, diverse diagnostic tools and different characteristic of participants.

Urinary retention is the most disabling voiding symptoms and often used to differentiate Parkinson's disease from multisystem atrophy. Previous studies have shown that the prevalence of urinary retention and large PVR was 43 and 14% in MSA (Ito et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2018) and PVR volume  $\geq$  100 ml might be an effective indicator to differentiate PD from MSA (Yamamoto et al., 2017; Lee et al., 2018; Wenning et al., 2022). Unexplained voiding difficulties with PVR volume  $\geq$  100 ml was one of the core clinical features to identify the clinically established MSA (Wenning et al., 2022). Furthermore, severe urinary retention in the first 5 year of disease is a red flag according to MDS clinical diagnostic criteria for PD.

Our study showed that the prevalence of retention was not low (27%) and the prevalence of large PVR ( $\geq$ 100 ml) was even higher than 4% in PD. Using urodynamic tests, the pooled prevalence of retention was 27% (95% CI 8-46%). Of the overall 14 studies involved urinary retention, the mean disease duration ranged from 1.97 to 12.2 years. One study revealed that the duration of disease in patients without residual urine was lower than PD patients with residual urine (4.6 vs. 7.1 years) (Zhang and Zhang, 2015). Another finding of our study was that the pooled prevalence of urinary retention was 16% in PD with H&Y stage < 3, whereas 41% in PD with H&Y stage  $\geq$  3. The pooled prevalence of urinary retention was 19% in PD patients with age < 65 years, whereas 37% in PD by age  $\geq$  65 years. Furthermore, we found that age was the source of heterogeneity related to the prevalence of urinary retention by meta-regression. Of 1,991 PD in the 14 studies, the median age of participants varied from 59.6 to 70.6 years. One study revealed that the patients without residual urine were younger than patients with residual urine (67.5 vs. 70.1 years) (Zhang and Zhang, 2015). A higher weighted prevalence was calculated in older people than younger people (76 vs. 18%) (Campos-Sousa et al., 2003; Irene, 2019), suggesting PD patients with older age might be more likely to experience urinary retention. Overall, when distinguishing PD from MSA with urinary retention symptoms, we should be more cautious and consider relevant factors such as age, disease duration, and disease severity.

Diagnostic tools influenced prevalence results. The prevalence of urinary retention diagnosed using questionnaire was lower than that using clinical scales and urodynamic tests., There was difference in the prevalence identified by different scales. The pooled prevalence of urinary retention was 21%

(using IPSS), 31% (using AUA) and 35% (using SCOPA-AUT), which was similar to 27% (using urodynamic tests).

No significant publication bias of urinary retention was found. The majority of articles evaluated with low-moderate quality were included due to the small number of research, but there was no significant difference between high-moderate and low quality of articles. Therefore, urinary retention requires attention and investigation in PD patients. Further research on mechanisms of urinary retention is also necessary.

# Limitations

There were some limitations of the current study constituting an overall weaker level of evidence. First, present meta-analysis might be misleading given the variations in diagnostic tools of LUTS and its subtypes between studies. The heterogeneity of diagnostic tools limited the generalizability of the results. Second, only a small number of studies investigating urinary incontinence or retention were enrolled, which also indicated the scarcity of research on this area. Third, given the effect of geographical location, risk of bias, and population, high heterogeneity was found among the included studies. LUTS is associated with cognitive impairment. However, many articles did not distinguish subjects according to cognitive function. We could not conclude the definitive prevalence of LUTS and its subtypes in patients with PD. Fourth, the variables associate with LUTS, such as the UPDRS scores, laboratory indicators and related treatment methods were not included in most studies. Fifth, there was no studies reporting the prevalence of LUTS in pathological confirmed PD patients. Finally, the majority of studies were rated as low quality, although the results were robust in sensitivity analysis.

# Conclusion

This meta-analysis showed that urinary incontinence and retention are not uncommon in PD. The high prevalence of LUTS confirmed the importance of LUTS as a notable non-motor characteristic of PD. LUTS were found in more than one-half of PD patients. It was evident that patients with PD experience significantly more urinary symptoms than age-matched controls. Overall, when distinguishing PD from MSA with urinary incontinence or retention, we should be more cautious and consider relevant factors such as age, disease duration, cognitive function and disease severity. The heterogeneity of diagnostic tools of LUTS and its subtypes limited the generalizability of the results. Therefore, future studies are warranted to address this issue by developing standardized diagnostic tools of LUTS, and the utility of which needs to be validated in larger prospective trials.

# Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

# Author contributions

TF conceived and designed the study. F-FL performed the meta analysis and wrote the manuscript. F-FL and Y-SC prepared the draft and figures. All authors have read, revised, and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

# Funding

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant Number: 82071422, 81771367, 81901151, 82020108012) and Beijing Municipal Natural Science Foundation (Grand Number: 7212031).

# References

Akkoç, Y., Gök, H., Karapolat, H., Ersöz, M., Sungur, U., Köklü, K., et al. (2017). Assessment of voiding dysfunction in Parkinson's disease: reliability and validity of the Turkish version of the Danish Prostate Symptom Score. *Neurourol. Urodyn.* 36, 1903–1909. doi: 10.1002/nau.23208

Araki, I., and Kuno, S. (2000). Assessment of voiding dysfunction in Parkinson's disease by the international prostate symptom score. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry. 68, 429–433. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.68.4.429

Barendregt, J. J., Doi, S. A., Lee, Y. Y., Norman, R. E., and Vos, T. (2013). Meta-analysis of prevalence. J. Epidemiol. Community Health. 67, 974–978. doi: 10.1136/jech-2013-203104

Barry, M. J., Fowler, F. Jr., O' Leary, M. P., Bruskewitz, R. C., Holtgrewe, H. L., Mebust, W. K., et al. (1992). The American Urological Association symptom index for benign prostatic hyperplasia. The Measurement Committee of the American Urological Association. J. Urol. 148, 1549–1557. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5347(17)36966-5

Beach, T. G., Adler, C. H., Sue, L. I., Vedders, L., Lue, L., White Iii, C. L., et al. (2010). Multi-organ distribution of phosphorylated alpha-synuclein histopathology in subjects with Lewy body disorders. *Acta Neuropathol.* 119, 689–702. doi: 10.1007/s00401-010-0664-3

Bonnet, A. M., Pichon, J., Vidailhet, M., Gouider-Khouja, N., Robain, G., Perrigot, M., et al. (1997). Urinary disturbances in striatonigral degeneration and Parkinson's disease: clinical and urodynamic aspects. *Mov. Disord.* 12, 509–513. doi: 10.1002/mds.870120406

Braak, H., Sastre, M., Bohl, J. R., de Vos, R. A., and Del Tredici, K. (2007). Parkinson's disease: lesions in dorsal horn layer J, involvement of parasympathetic and sympathetic pre- and postganglionic neurons. *Acta Neuropathol.* 113, 421–429. doi: 10.1007/s00401-007-0193-x

Campos-Sousa, R. N., Quagliato, E., da Silva, B. B., de Carvalho, R. M. Jr., Ribeiro, S. C., and de Carvalho, D. F. (2003). Urinary symptoms in Parkinson's disease: prevalence and associated factors. *Arq. Neuropsiquiatr.* 61, 359–363. doi:10.1590/S0004-282X200300030007

Chaudhuri, K. R., Healy, D. G., and Schapira, A. H. (2006). Non-motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease: diagnosis and management. *Lancet Neurol.* 5, 235–245. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70373-8

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

# Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi.2022.977572/full#supplementary-material

D'Ancona, C., Haylen, B., Oelke, M., Abranches-Monteiro, L., Arnold, E., Goldman, H., et al. (2019). The International Continence Society (ICS) report on the terminology for adult male. *Neurourol. Urodyn.* 38, 433–477. doi: 10.1002/nau.23897

Farage, M. A., Miller, K. W., Berardesca, E., and Maibach, H. I. (2008). Psychosocial and societal burden of incontinence in the aged population: a review. *Arch. Gynecol. Obstet.* 277, 285–290. doi: 10.1007/s00404-007-0505-3

Homma, Y., Yoshida, M., Seki, N., Yokoyama, O., Kakizaki, H., Gotoh, M., et al. (2006). Symptom assessment tool for overactive bladder syndrome-overactive bladder symptom score. *Urology* 68, 318–323. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2006.02.042

Hughes, A. J., Daniel, S. E., Kilford, L., and Lees, A. J. (1992). Accuracy of clinical diagnosis of idiopathic Parkinson's disease: a clinico-pathological study of 100 cases. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 55, 181–184. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.55.3.181

Irene, R. (2019). Genitourinary dysfunction prevalence in parkinson disease patients. ARS Medica Tomitana 25, 6–10. doi: 10.2478/arsm-2019-0002

Ito, T., Sakakibara, R., Yasuda, K., Yamamoto, T., Uchiyama, T., Liu, Z., et al. (2006). Incomplete emptying and urinary retention in multiple-system atrophy: when does it occur and how do we manage it? *Mov. Disord.* 21, 816–823. doi: 10.1002/mds.20815

Jain, S. (2011). Multi-organ autonomic dysfunction in Parkinson disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 17, 77–83. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2010.08.022

Khoo, T. K., Yarnall, A. J., Duncan, G. W., Coleman, S., O'Brien, J. T., Brooks, D. J., et al. (2013). The spectrum of nonmotor symptoms in early Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 80, 276–281. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31827deb74

Kim, J. Y., Song, I. U., Koh, S. B., Ahn, T. B., Kim, S. J., Cheon, S. M., et al. (2017). Validation of the Korean Version of the Scale for Outcomes in Parkinson's Disease-Autonomic. *J. Mov. Disord.* 10, 29–34. doi: 10.14802/jmd.16057

Koh, S. B., Kim, J. W., Ma, H. I., Ahn, T. B., Cho, J. W., Lee, P. H., et al. (2012). Validation of the korean-version of the nonmotor symptoms scale for Parkinson's disease. *J. Clin. Neurol.* 8, 276–283. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2012.8.4.276

Lee, E., Yoo, K. Y., Kim, Y., Shin, Y., and Lee, C. (1998). Prevalence of lower urinary tract symptoms in Korean men in a community-based study. *Eur. Urol.* 33, 17–21. doi: 10.1159/000019529

Lee, Y. H., Lee, J. E., Ryu, D. W., Oh, Y. S., Lee, K. S., Hong, S. H., et al. (2018). Urinary dysfunctions and post-void residual urine in typical and atypical Parkinson diseases. *J. Parkinsons Dis.* 8, 145–152. doi: 10.3233/JPD-171254

Liu, Z., Uchiyama, T., Sakakibara, R., and Yamamoto, T. (2015). Underactive and overactive bladders are related to motor function and quality of life in Parkinson's disease. *Int. Urol. Nephrol.* 47, 751–757. doi: 10.1007/s11255-015-0951-y

Martinez-Ramirez, D., Velazquez-Avila, E. S., Almaraz-Espinoza, A., Gonzalez-Cant, ú, A., Vazquez-Elizondo, G., Overa-Posada, D., et al. (2020). Lower urinary tract and gastrointestinal dysfunction are common in early parkinson's disease. *Parkinsons Dis.* 2020, 1694547. doi: 10.1155/2020/1694547

Mito, Y., Yabe, I., Yaguchi, H., Takei, T., Terae, S., and Tajima, Y. (2018). Relation of overactive bladder with motor symptoms and dopamine transporter imaging in drug-naïve Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 50, 37–41. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2018.02.017

Mohammed, E. S., and Ragab, M. M. (2010). Idiopathic Parkinson's disease: lower urinary tract dysfunctions and urodynamic abnormalities. *Egypt J. Neurol. Psychiatr. Neurosurg.* 47, 381–386. Available online at: https://www.researchgate. net/publication/332544887\_Idiopathic\_Parkinson%27s\_Disease\_Lower\_Urinary\_ Tract\_Dysfunctions\_and\_Urodynamic\_Abnormalities#fullTextFileContent

Ogawa, T., Sakakibara, R., Kuno, S., Ishizuka, O., Kitta, T., and Yoshimura, N. (2017). Prevalence and treatment of LUTS in patients with Parkinson disease or multiple system atrophy. *Nat. Rev. Urol.* 14, 79–89. doi: 10.1038/nrurol.2016.254

Oyanagi, K., Wakabayashi, K., Ohama, E., Takeda, S., Horikawa, Y., Morita, T., et al. (1990). Lewy bodies in the lower sacral parasympathetic neurons of a patient with Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neuropathol.* 80, 558–559. doi: 10.1007/BF00294619

Postuma, R. B., Berg, D., Stern, M., Poewe, W., Olanow, C. W., Oertel, W., et al. (2015). MDS clinical diagnostic criteria for Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 1591–1601. doi: 10.1002/mds.26424

Rana, A. Q., Paul, D. A., Qureshi, A. M., Ghazi, A., Alenezi, S., Rana, M. A., et al. (2015). Association between nocturia and anxiety in Parkinson's disease. *Neurol. Res.* 37, 563–567. doi: 10.1179/1743132815Y.0000000010

Sakakibara, R., Hattori, T., Uchiyama, T., Kita, K., Asahina, M., Suzuki, A., et al. (2000). Urinary dysfunction and orthostatic hypotension in multiple system atrophy: which is the more common and earlier manifestation? *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry.* 68, 65–69. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.68.1.65

Sakakibara, R., Nakazawa, K., Uchiyama, T., Yoshiyama, M., Yamanishi, T., and Hattori, T. (2002). Micturition-related electrophysiological properties in the substantia nigra pars compacta and the ventral tegmental area in cats. *Auton. Neurosci.* 102, 30–38. doi: 10.1016/S1566-0702(02)00180-7

Sakakibara, R., Panicker, J., Finazzi-Agro, E., Iacovelli, V., and Bruschini, H. (2016). A guideline for the management of bladder dysfunction in Parkinson's disease and. *Neurourol. Urodyn.* 35, 551–563. doi: 10.1002/nau.22764

Sakakibara, R., Shinotoh, H., Uchiyama, T., Sakuma, M., Kashiwado, M., Yoshiyama, M., et al. (2001). Questionnaire-based assessment of pelvic organ dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. *Auton. Neurosci.* 92, 76–85. doi: 10.1016/S1566-0702(01)00295-8

Sakakibara, R., Tateno, F., Nagao, T., Yamamoto, T., Uchiyama, T., Yamanishi, T., et al. (2014). Bladder function of patients with Parkinson's disease. *Int. J. Urol.* 21, 638–646. doi: 10.1111/iju.12421

Sakakibara, R., Uchiyama, T., Yamanishi, T., Shirai, K., and Hattori, T. (2008). Bladder and bowel dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. *J. Neural. Transm.* 115, 443–460. doi: 10.1007/s00702-007-0855-9

Sakushima, K., Yamazaki, S., Fukuma, S., Hayashino, Y., Yabe, I., Fukuhara, S., et al. (2016). Influence of urinary urgency and other urinary disturbances on falls in Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 360, 153–157. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2015.11.055

Stang, A. (2010). Critical evaluation of the Newcastle-Ottawa scale for the assessment of the. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* 25, 603–605. doi: 10.1007/s10654-010-9491-z

Stanković, I., Petrović, I., Pekmezović, T., Marković, V., Stojković, T., Dragašević-Mišković, N., et al. (2019). Longitudinal assessment of autonomic dysfunction in early Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 66, 74–79. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2019.07.008

Stocchi, F., Carbone, A., Inghilleri, M., Monge, A., Ruggieri, S., Berardelli, A., et al. (1997). Urodynamic and neurophysiological evaluation in Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 62, 507–511. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.62.5.507

Swaminath, P. V., Ragothaman, M., Koshy, S., Sarangmath, N., Adhyam, M., Subbakrishna, D. K., et al. (2010). Urogenital symptoms in Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy-Parkinsonism: at onset and later. *J. Assoc. Physicians India* 58, 86–90.

Takahashi, K., Tanaka, T., Yoshizawa, Y., Fujisaki-Sueda-Sakai, M., Son, B. K., and Iijima, K. (2022). Lower urinary tract symptoms and functional ability in

older adults: a community-based cross-sectional study. BMJ Open 12, e054530. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-054530

Tateno, F., Sakakibara, R., Ogata, T., Aiba, Y., Takahashi, O., and Sugiyama, M. (2021). The relationship between lower urinary tract function and (123)ioflupane scintigraphy in drug-naive Parkinson's disease. *Auton. Neurosci.* 233, 102813. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2021.102813

Tateno, F., Sakakibara, R., Ogata, T., Kishi, M., Tsuyusaki, Y., Takahashi, O., et al. (2015). Lower urinary tract function in dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB). *Mov. Disord.* 30, 411–415. doi: 10.1002/mds.25985

Terayama, K., Sakakibara, R., Ogawa, A., Haruta, H., Akiba, T., Nagao, T., et al. (2012). Weak detrusor contractility correlates with motor disorders in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 27, 1775–1780. doi: 10.1002/mds.25225

Tkaczynska, Z., Becker, S., Maetzler, W., Timmers, M., Van Nueten, L., Sulzer, P., et al. (2020). Executive function is related to the urinary urgency in non-demented patients with parkinson's disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 12, 55. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2020.00055

Tkaczynska, Z., Pilotto, A., Becker, S., Gräber-Sultan, S., Berg, D., and Liepelt-Scarfone, I. (2017). Association between cognitive impairment and urinary dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. *J. Neural. Transm.* 124, 543–550. doi:10.1007/s00702-017-1690-2

Uchiyama, T., Sakakibara, R., Yamamoto, T., Ito, T., Yamaguchi, C., Awa, Y., et al. (2011). Urinary dysfunction in early and untreated Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 82, 1382–1386. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2011.241075

Vaughan, C. P., Juncos, J. L., Trotti, L. M., Johnson Ii, T. M., and Bliwise, D. L. (2013). Nocturia and overnight polysomnography in Parkinson disease. *Neurourol. Urodyn.* 32, 1080–1085. doi: 10.1002/nau.22365

Wakabayashi, K., and Takahashi, H. (1997). Neuropathology of autonomic nervous system in Parkinson's disease. *Eur. Neurol.* 38, 2–7. doi: 10.1159/000113469

Wenning, G. K., Scherfler, C., Granata, R., Bösch, S., Verny, M., Chaudhuri, K. R., et al. (1999). Time course of symptomatic orthostatic hypotension and urinary incontinence in patients with postmortem confirmed parkinsonian syndromes: A clinicopathological study. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry. 67, 620–623. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.67.5.620

Wenning, G. K., Stankovic, I., Vignatelli, L., Fanciulli, A., Calandra-Buonaura, G., Seppi, K., et al. (2022). The movement disorder society criteria for the diagnosis of multiple system atrophy. *Mov. Disord.* 37, 1131–1148. doi: 10.1002/mds.29005

Williams, J. W., Plassman, B. L., Burke, J., and Benjamin, S. (2010). Preventing Alzheimer's disease and cognitive decline. *Evid. Rep. Technol. Assess.* 193, 1–727. doi: 10.1037/e554772010-001

Winge, K., Friberg, L., Werdelin, L., Nielsen, K., and Stimpel, H. (2005). Relationship between nigrostriatal dopaminergic degeneration, urinary symptoms, and bladder control in Parkinson's disease. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 12, 842–850. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2005.01087.x

Winge, K., Skau, A. M., Stimpel, H., Nielsen, K. K., and Werdelin, L. (2006). Prevalence of bladder dysfunction in Parkinsons disease. *Neurourol. Urodyn.* 25, 116–122. doi: 10.1002/nau.20193

Wüllner, U., Schmitz-Hübsch, T., Antony, G., Fimmers, R., Spottke, A., Oertel, W. H., et al. (2007). Autonomic dysfunction in 3414 Parkinson's disease patients enrolled in the German Network on Parkinson's disease (KNP e.V.): the effect of ageing. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 14, 1405–1408. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2007.01982.x

Xie, T., Kang, U., Kuo, S., Poulopoulos, M., Greene, P., and Fahn, S. (2015). Comparison of clinical features in pathologically confirmed PSP and MSA patients. *NPJ Parkinsons Dis.* 21, 15007. doi: 10.1038/npjparkd.2015.7

Xu, D., Han, S., Wang, J., and Feng, J. (2019). Relationship between lower urinary tract dysfunction and clinical features in Chinese parkinson's disease patients. *Parkinsons Dis.* 2019, 6820937. doi: 10.1155/2019/6820937

Yamamoto, T., Asahina, M., Yamanaka, Y., Uchiyama, T., Hirano, S., Fuse, M., et al. (2017). The utility of post-void residual volume versus sphincter electromyography to distinguish between multiple system atrophy and Parkinson's disease. *PLoS ONE* 12, e0169405. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169405

Yamamoto, T., Sakakibara, R., Hashimoto, K., Nakazawa, K., Uchiyama, T., Liu, Z., et al. (2005). Striatal dopamine level increases in the urinary storage phase in cats: an in vivo microdialysis study. *Neuroscience* 135, 299–303. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.06.007

Yamamoto, T., Tateno, F., Sakakibara, R., Furukawa, S., Asahina, M., Uchiyama, T., et al. (2016). Urinary dysfunction in progressive supranuclear palsy compared with other parkinsonian disorders. *PLoS ONE* 11, e0149278. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0149278

Zhang, L. M., and Zhang, X. P. (2015). Investigation of urination disorder in Parkinson's disease. Chin. Med. J. 128, 2906–2912. doi: 10.4103/0366-6999.168049

# **Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience**

Explores the mechanisms of central nervous system aging and age-related neural disease

# **Discover the latest Research Topics**



Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34

# Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00



